PLANTS AS ALTERNATIVE HOSTS FOR HUMAN AND ANIMAL PATHOGENS

EDITED BY: Nicola J. Holden, Robert W. Jackson and Adam Schikora PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Microbiology





Frontiers Copyright Statement

© Copyright 2007-2015 Frontiers Media SA. All rights reserved.

All content included on this site, such as text, graphics, logos, button icons, images, video/audio clips, downloads, data compilations and software, is the property of or is licensed to Frontiers Media SA ("Frontiers") or its licensees and/or subcontractors. The copyright in the text of individual articles is the property of their respective authors, subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this e-book, wherever published, as well as the compilation of all other content on this site, is the exclusive property of Frontiers. For the conditions for downloading and copying of e-books from Frontiers' website, please see the Terms for Website Use. If purchasing Frontiers e-books from other websites or sources, the conditions of the website concerned apply.

Images and graphics not forming part of user-contributed materials may not be downloaded or copied without permission.

Individual articles may be downloaded and reproduced in accordance with the principles of the CC-BY licence subject to any copyright or other notices. They may not be re-sold as an e-book.

As author or other contributor you grant a CC-BY licence to others to reproduce your articles, including any graphics and third-party materials supplied by you, in accordance with the Conditions for Website Use and subject to any copyright notices which you include in connection with your articles and materials.

> All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws.

> The above represents a summary only. For the full conditions see the Conditions for Authors and the Conditions for Website Use.

> ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88919-578-7 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88919-578-7

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: **researchtopics@frontiersin.org**

1

PLANTS AS ALTERNATIVE HOSTS FOR HUMAN AND ANIMAL PATHOGENS

Topic Editors:

Nicola J. Holden, The James Hutton Institute, UK Robert W. Jackson, University of Reading, UK Adam Schikora, University of Giessen, Germany



E. coli O157:H7 (Sakai) within a stomatal pore of *A. thaliana*. The bacteria are labeled with GFP (green) and *A. thaliana*, Wave line 138, are labeled with RFP fused to the intrinsic plasma membrane protein PIP1;4. Chloroplasts are false coloured in magenta. (Rossez et al., 2013, doi:10.1111/1462-2920.12315).

Many of the most prevalent and devastating human and animal pathogens have part of their lifecycle out-with the animal host. These pathogens have a remarkably wide capacity to adapt to a range of quite different environments: physical, chemical and biological, which is part of the key to their success. Many of the well-known pathogens that are able to jump between hosts in different biological kingdoms are transmitted through the faecal-oral and direct transmission pathways, and as such have become important foodborne pathogens. Some high-profile examples include fresh produceassociated outbreaks of Escherichia coli O157:H7 and Salmonella enterica. Other pathogens may be transmitted via direct contact or aerosols are include important zoonotic pathogens. It is possible to make a broad division between those pathogens that are passively transmitted via vectors and

need the animal host for replication (e.g. virus and parasites), and those that are able to actively interact with alternative hosts, where they can proliferate (e.g. the enteric bacteria). This research topic will focus on plants as alternative hosts for human pathogens, and the role of plants in their transmission back to humans. The area is particularly exciting because it opens up new aspects to the biology of some microbes already considered to be very well characterised. One aspect of cross-kingdom host colonisation is in the comparison between the hosts and how the microbes are able to use both common and specific adaptations for each situation.

The area is still in relative infancy and there are far more questions than answers at present. We aim to address important questions underlying the interactions for both the microbe and plant host in this research topic.

Citation: Holden, N. J., Jackson, R.W., Schikora, A., eds. (2015). Plants as Alternative Hosts for Human and Animal Pathogens. Lausanne: Frontiers Media. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88919-578-7

Table of Contents

- **05** *Editorial on plants as alternative hosts for human and animal pathogens* Nicola J. Holden, Robert W. Jackson and Adam Schikora
- **07** *Plant innate immunity against human bacterial pathogens* Maeli Melotto, Shweta Panchal and Debanjana Roy
- **19** Salmonella enterica *induces and subverts the plant immune system* Ana V. García and Heribert Hirt
- 25 Killing two birds with one stone: trans-kingdom suppression of PAMP/MAMPinduced immunity by T3E from enteropathogenic bacteria Malou Fraiture and Frédéric Brunner
- *32* The Salmonella effector protein SpvC, a phosphothreonine lyase is functional in plant cells

Christina Neumann, Malou Fraiture, Casandra Hernàndez-Reyes, Fidele N. Akum, Isabelle Virlogeux-Payant, Ying Chen, Stephanie Pateyron, Jean Colcombet, Karl-Heinz Kogel, Heribert Hirt, Frédéric Brunner and Adam Schikora

45 Interactions of Salmonella with animals and plants Agnès Wiedemann, Isabelle Virlogeux-Payant, Anne-Marie Chaussé, Adam Schikora and Philippe Velge

63 Techniques for transferring host-pathogen protein interactions knowledge to new tasks

Meghana Kshirsagar, Sylvia Schleker, Jaime Carbonell and Judith Klein-Seetharaman

76 Comparing human–Salmonella with plant–Salmonella protein–protein interaction predictions

Sylvia Schleker, Meghana Kshirsagar and Judith Klein-Seetharaman

86 An optimized method for the extraction of bacterial mRNA from plant roots infected with Escherichia coli *O*157:H7

Ashleigh Holmes, Louise Birse, Robert W. Jackson and Nicola J. Holden

93 Pyrosequencing detects human and animal pathogenic taxa in the grapevine endosphere

Sohail Yousaf, Daniela Bulgari, Alessandro Bergna, Michael Pancher, Fabio Quaglino, Paola Casati and Andrea Campisano

102 Colonization of plants by human pathogenic bacteria in the course of organic vegetable production

Andreas Hofmann, Doreen Fischer, Anton Hartmann and Michael Schmid



Editorial on plants as alternative hosts for human and animal pathogens

Nicola J. Holden^{1*}, Robert W. Jackson² and Adam Schikora³

¹ Human and Animal Pathogen - Plant Interactions, The James Hutton Institute, Dundee, UK, ² School of Biological Sciences, University of Reading, Reading, UK, ³ Institute of Phytopathology and Applied Zoology, Justus Liebig University of Giessen, Giessen, Germany

Keywords: Salmonella enterica, Escherichia coli, Arabidopsis thaliana, fresh produce, PAMP-triggered immunity, effectors, mRNA extraction, microbiome

Fresh produce, in the form of raw or minimally processed fruits and vegetables, is recognized to be an important source of food-borne disease. Sporadic cases or outbreaks can arise from bacterial, viral, or parasitic contamination. Importantly, while the latter both require animal hosts for proliferation and cannot grow on or within crop plants, bacteria can do so and are able to use plants as secondary hosts. This type of interaction means that human pathogenic bacteria need to undergo adaptation to the plant host, which presents an environment quite distinct to animals or humans. Important differences lie in both physiochemical and biological properties, e.g., physiology, immunity, native microflora, physical barriers, mobility, and temperature. There is now good published evidence to describe different aspects of the interactions between plants and human pathogenic bacteria, and the subsequent effects on the outcome of colonization. However, in comparison to the interactions between the pathogens and their animal hosts, for which we know a great deal about both host and microbial factors, this area is relatively new with many important knowledge gaps. Research in this area is of most relevance to food safety, since the results can be and indeed, are already applied by public health agencies and food producers. It also reveals fascinating aspects of the bacterial life-cycle that were hitherto under appreciated.

One of the important features of plant host colonization is the adaptation of pathogens to the host defense response. Innate immunity is the first line of defense with both physical barriers and biological recognition of human pathogens, and the different layers of the response are reviewed in Melotto et al. (2014). An intriguing aspect is the finding that some human pathogens are able to subvert the plant defense, shown using *Salmonella enterica* and *Arabidopsis* as an example (Garcia and Hirt, 2014). Perception of human pathogens is based on recognition of PAMPs (e.g., flagellin) similar to those in phytopathogens and other plant-associated bacteria; perhaps unsurprising given that the mechanisms of recognition tend to be based on evolutionary conserved proteins. What was unexpected was the fact that some *Salmonella* serovars encode flagellin variants that are no longer recognized by the plant, presumably as a result of evolutionary selection (Garcia and Hirt, 2014).

There are good parallels in microbial suppression of the innate response of animal and plant hosts, for example via effectors secreted through the type 3 secretion (T3S) apparatus. Despite structural differences in the apparatus between human- and phyto-pathogens, the general function of host subversion is shared. Commonalities (and differences) in which pathways in animal and plant hosts are targeted by human pathogens are highlighted in Brunner and Fraiture (2014), showing where there is evolutionary conservation in the cellular hubs. Detailed examination of the function for one of the T3S effectors from *S. enterica*, SpvC, shows that it targets a signaling pathway that is shared in plant and animal hosts (Neumann et al., 2014). This effector is a phosphothreonine lyase able to de-phosphorylate activated MAP kinases, therefore attenuating the immune response in *Arabidopsis*.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Giulia De Lorenzo, Sapienza Università di Roma, Italy

Reviewed by:

Simone Ferrari, Sapienza Università di Roma, Italy

> *Correspondence: Nicola J. Holden, nicola.holden@hutton.ac.uk

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Plant-Microbe Interaction, a section of the journal Frontiers in Microbiology

Received: 25 February 2015 Accepted: 17 April 2015 Published: 30 April 2015

Citation:

Holden NJ, Jackson RW and Schikora A (2015) Editorial on plants as alternative hosts for human and animal pathogens. Front. Microbiol. 6:397. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2015.00397

Examination of mechanisms of colonization shows that although some aspects are broadly the same, there are important differences in the interaction between S. enterica and either plant or animal hosts (Wiedemann et al., 2015). To better understand the molecular basis of the interaction, it is necessary to determine the protein-protein interactions (PPIs) between the pathogen and the plant host. An important comparison of PPIs between Salmonella and Arabidopsis proteins to known interactions between bacterial and animal proteins was presented in Schleker et al. (2015). In order to characterize the interactions on a global scale, an approach was used that combines several new as well as previously described algorithms predicting new PPIs (Kshirsagar et al., 2015). However, while this approach yields candidates worthy of further investigation, it also serves to highlight the paucity of reported functional data. To further explore the molecular interactions, methods must be developed that are appropriate to the bacteria-plant system, for example for the analysis of bacterial gene expression. An improved method for the extraction of RNA from mixed samples was presented in Holmes et al. (2014), which allows the analysis of expression patterns in bacteria and the plant host at the same time.

Colonization of plant hosts by human pathogens rarely, if ever, occurs in isolation and successful colonization is dependent on the ability of the bacteria to compete with the native microflora. Microbiome approaches show that crops not obviously associated with human pathogens may harbor potential pathogens. As shown with an example of grapevines, crop plants can support

References

- Brunner, F., and Fraiture, M. (2014). Killing two birds with one stone: trans-kingdom suppression of PAMP/MAMP-induced immunity by T3E from enteropathogenic bacteria. *Front. Microbiol.* 5:320. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2014.00320
- Garcia, A. V., and Hirt, H. (2014). Salmonella enterica induces and subverts the plant immune system. Front. Microbiol. 5:141. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2014.00141
- Hofmann, A., Fischer, D., Hartmann, A., and Schmid, M. (2014). Colonization of plants by human pathogenic bacteria in the course of organic vegetable production. *Front. Microbiol.* 5:191. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2014.00191
- Holmes, A., Birse, L., Jackson, R. W., and Holden, N. (2014). An optimised method for the extraction of bacterial mRNA from plant roots infected with *Escherichia coli* O157:H7. *Front. Microbiol.* 5:286. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2014.00286
- Kshirsagar, M., Schleker, S., Carbonell, J., and Klein-Seetharaman, J. (2015). Techniques for transferring host-pathogen protein interactions knowledge to new tasks. *Front. Microbiol.* 6:36. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2015.00036
- Melotto, M., Panchal, S., and Roy, D. (2014). Plant innate immunity against human bacterial pathogens. *Front. Microbiol.* 5:411. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2014. 00411
- Neumann, C., Fraiture, M., Hernàndez-Reyes, C., Akum, F. N., Virlogeux-Payant, I., Chen, Y., et al. (2014). The Salmonella effector protein SpvC, a

the endophytic growth of human pathogen, in this case *Propionibacterium acnes*, which probably arose from human contamination in the first place (Yousaf et al., 2014). Application of bulky organic fertilizers, such as manure, to crops may increase the chances of transmission of bacteria into the food chain. However, the potential for transmission clearly shows some specificity, not least from differences between species and sub-species of bacteria and the host plants (Hofmann et al., 2014). A combination of axenic system with susceptible plants (e.g., spinach) revealed that 400 bacteria in one ml are sufficient to successfully colonize the crop plant.

This collection of articles helps to highlight the underpinning mechanisms, but also shows the complexity of interactions between human pathogenic bacteria and plant hosts. It is becoming clear that it is not possible to apply a broad set of rules to these interactions: there is a great deal of specificity that depends on multiple factors. This is particularly important in the consideration of how to address issues related to food safety, for practices applied at the pre-harvest stage or for prevention of transmission and contamination during post-harvest processing.

Acknowledgments

NH is supported by Scottish Government's Rural and Environment Science and Analytical Services Division AS is supported by the Federal Office for Agriculture and Food (BLE), Germany.

phosphothreonine lyase is functional in plant cells. *Front. Microbiol.* 5:548. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2014.00548

- Schleker, S., Kshirsagar, M., and Klein-Seetharaman, J. (2015). Comparing human-Salmonella with plant-Salmonella protein-protein interaction predictions. Front. Microbiol. 6:45. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2015.00045
- Wiedemann, A., Virlogeux-Payant, I., Chaussé, A.-M., Schikora, A., and Velge, P. (2015). Interactions of *Salmonella* with animals and plants. *Front. Microbiol.* 5:791. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2014.00791
- Yousaf, S., Bulgari, D., Bergna, A., Pancher, M., Quaglino, F., Casati, P., et al. (2014). Pyrosequencing detects human and animal pathogenic taxa in the grapevine endosphere. *Front. Microbiol.* 5:327. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2014.00327

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Holden, Jackson and Schikora. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Plant innate immunity against human bacterial pathogens

Maeli Melotto¹*, Shweta Panchal² and Debanjana Roy²

¹ Department of Plant Sciences, University of California, Davis, CA, USA

² Department of Biology, University of Texas, Arlington, TX, USA

Edited by:

Adam Schikora, JLU Giessen, Germany

Reviewed by:

Jeri Barak, University of Wisconsin-Madison, USA Sima Yaron, Technion, Israel

*Correspondence:

Maeli Melotto, Department of Plant Sciences, University of California, Davis, One Shields Avenue, Davis, CA 95616, USA e-mail: melotto@ucdavis.edu Certain human bacterial pathogens such as the enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* and *Salmonella enterica* are not proven to be plant pathogens yet. Nonetheless, under certain conditions they can survive on, penetrate into, and colonize internal plant tissues causing serious food borne disease outbreaks. In this review, we highlight current understanding on the molecular mechanisms of plant responses against human bacterial pathogens and discuss salient common and contrasting themes of plant interactions with phytopathogens or human pathogens.

Keywords: leafy vegetables, fresh produce, Salmonella enterica, Escherichia coli O157:H7, plant defense

INTRODUCTION

Bagged greens in the market are often labeled "pre-washed," "triple-washed," or "ready-to-eat," and look shiny and clean. But are they really "clean" of harmful microbes? We cannot be so sure. Food safety has been threatened by contamination with human pathogens including bacteria, viruses, and parasites. Between 2000 and 2008, norovirus and *Salmonella* spp. contributed to 58 and 11% of forborne illnesses, respectively in the United States (Scallan et al., 2011). In those same years, non-typhoidal *Salmonella* alone was ranked as the topmost bacterial pathogen contributing to hospitalizations (35%) and deaths (28%) (Scallan et al., 2011). In 2007, 235 outbreaks were associated with a single food commodity; out of which 17% was associated with poultry, 16% with beef, and 14% with leafy vegetables that also accounted for the most episodes of illnesses (CDC, 2010).

Apart from the direct effects on human health, enormous economic losses are incurred by contaminated food products recalls. The 8-day recall of spinach in 2006 cost \$350 million to the US economy (Hussain and Dawson, 2013). It should be realized that this is not the loss of one individual, but several growers, workers, and distributors. This is a common scenario for any multistate foodborne outbreak. Additionally, the skepticism of the general public toward consumption of a particular food product can lead to deficiencies of an important food source from the diet. Less demand would in turn lead to losses for the food industry. Economic analysis shows that money spent on prevention of foodborne outbreak by producers is much less than the cost incurred after the outbreak (Ribera et al., 2012).

Contamination of plants can occur at any step of food chain while the food travels from farm to table. Both pre-harvest and post-harvest steps are prone to contamination. Contaminated irrigation water, farm workers with limited means of proper sanitation, and fecal contamination in the farm by animals can expose plants to human pathogens before harvest of the edible parts (Lynch et al., 2009; Barak and Schroeder, 2012).

After harvest, contamination can occur during unclean modes of transportation, processing, and bagging (Lynch et al., 2009). Mechanical damage during transport can dramatically increase the population of human pathogens surviving on the surface of edible plants (Aruscavage et al., 2008). Control measures to decrease pathogen load on plant surfaces have been defined by the Food Safety Modernization Act (US Food and Drug Administration) and Hazard Analysis and Critical Control Point system (HACCP). Using chlorine for post-harvest crop handling has been approved by US Department of Agriculture (USDA) under the National Organic Program. However, some studies indicated that internalized human pathogens escape sanitization (Seo and Frank, 1999; Saldaña et al., 2011). Thus, understanding the biology of human pathogen-plant interactions is now crucial to prevent pathogen colonization of and survival in/on plants, and to incorporate additional, complementing measures to control food borne outbreaks.

We reasoned that as plants are recognized vectors for human pathogens, enhancing the plant immune system against them creates a unique opportunity to disrupt the pathogen cycle. In this cross-kingdom interaction, the physiology of both partners contribute to the outcome of the interactions (i.e., colonization of plants or not). Bacterial factors important for interaction with plants have been discussed in recent, comprehensive reviews (Tyler and Triplett, 2008; Teplitski et al., 2009; Berger et al., 2010; Barak and Schroeder, 2012; Brandl et al., 2013). Plant factors contributing to bacterial contamination (or lack of) is much less studied and discussed. In this review, we highlight current knowledge on plants as vectors for human pathogens, the molecular mechanisms of plant responses to human bacterial pathogens, and discuss common themes of plant defenses induced by phytopathogens and human pathogens. We have focused on human bacterial pathogens that are not recognized plant pathogens such as Salmonella enterica and Escherichia coli (Barak and Schroeder, 2012; Meng et al., 2013), but yet are major threats to food safety and human health.

PLANT SURFACE: THE FIRST BARRIER FOR BACTERIAL INVADERS

The leaf environment has long been considered to be a hostile environment for bacteria. The leaf surface is exposed to rapidly fluctuating temperature and relative humidity, UV radiation, fluctuating availability of moisture in the form of rain or dew, lack of nutrients, and hydrophobicity (Lindow and Brandl, 2003). Such extreme fluctuations, for example within a single day, are certainly not experienced by pathogens in animal and human gut. Thus, it is tempting to speculate that animal pathogens may not even be able to survive and grow in an environment as dynamic as the leaf surface. However, the high incidence of human pathogens such as *S. enterica* and *E. coli* O157:H7 on fresh produce, sprouts, vegetables, leading to foodborne illness outbreaks indicate a certain level of human pathogen fitness in/on the leaf.

The plant surface presents a barrier to bacterial invaders by the presence of wax, cuticle, cell wall, trichomes, and stomata. All except stomata, present a passive defense system to prevent internalization of bacteria. Nonetheless, several bacteria are able to survive on and penetrate within the plant interior. The surface of just one leaf is a very large habitat for any bacteria. The architecture of the leaf by itself is not uniform and provides areas of different environmental conditions. There are bulges and troughs formed by veins, leaf hair or trichomes, stomata, and hydathodes that form microsites for bacterial survival with increased water and nutrient availability, as well as temperature and UV radiation protection (Leveau and Lindow, 2001; Miller et al., 2001; Brandl and Amundson, 2008; Kroupitski et al., 2009; Barak et al., 2011). Indeed, distinct microcolonies or aggregates of S. enterica were found on cilantro leaf surfaces in the vein region (Brandl and Mandrell, 2002) In addition, preference to the abaxial side of lettuce leaf by S. enterica may be is an important strategy for UV avoidance (Kroupitski et al., 2011). Conversion of cells to viable but non-culturable (VNBC) state in E. coli O157:H7 on lettuce leaves may also be a strategy to escape harsh environmental conditions (Dinu and Bach, 2011). Hence, localization to favorable microsites, avoidance of harsh environments, and survival by aggregation or conversion to non-culturable state may allow these human pathogens to survive and at times multiply to great extent on the leaf surface.

As stomata are abundant natural pores in the plant epidermis which serve as entrance points for bacteria to colonize the leaf interior (intercellular space, xylem, and phloem), several studies addressed the question as to whether human bacterial pathogens could internalize leaves through stomata. Populations of E. coli O157:H7 and S. enterica SL1344 in the Arabidopsis leaf apoplast can be as large as four logs per cm² of leaf after surface-inoculation under 60% relative humidity (Roy et al., 2013) suggesting that these bacteria can and access the apoplast of intact leaves. Several microscopy studies indicated association of pathogens on or near guard cells. For instance, S. enterica serovar Typhimurium SL1344 was shown to internalize arugula and iceberg lettuce through stomata and bacterial cells were located in the sub-stomatal space (Golberg et al., 2011). However, no internalization of SL1344 was observed into parsley where most cells were found on the leaf surface even though stomata

were partially open (Golberg et al., 2011). Cells of *S. enterica* serovar Typhimurium MAE110 (Gu et al., 2011), enteroaggregative *E. coli* (Berger et al., 2009b), and *E. coli* O157:H7 (Saldaña et al., 2011) were found to be associated with stomata in tomato, arugula leaves, and baby spinach leaves, respectively. In the stem *E. coli* O157:H7 and *Salmonella* serovar Typhimurium were found to be associated with the hypocotyl and the stem tissues including epidermis, cortex, vascular bundles, and pith when seedlings were germinated from contaminated seeds (Deering et al., 2011a,b).

The plant rhizosphere is also a complex habitat for microorganisms with different life styles including plant beneficial symbionts and human pathogens. Nutritionally rich root exudate has been documented to attract S. enterica to lettuce roots (Klerks et al., 2007a). Although bacteria cannot directly penetrate through root cells, sites at the lateral root emergence and root cracks provide ports of entry for S. enterica and E. coli O157:H7 into root tissues (Cooley et al., 2003; Dong et al., 2003; Klerks et al., 2007b; Tyler and Triplett, 2008), and in some instances between the epidermal cells (Klerks et al., 2007b). High colonization of S. enterica has been observed in the root-shoot transition area (Klerks et al., 2007b). Once internalized both bacterial pathogens have been found in the intercellular space of the root outer cortex of Medicago truncatula (Jayaraman et al., 2014). Salmonella enterica was found in the parenchyma, endodermis, pericycle, and vascular system of lettuce roots (Klerks et al., 2007b) and in the inner root cortex of barley (Kutter et al., 2006). A detailed study on the localization of E. coli O157:H7 in live root tissue demonstrated that this bacterium can colonize the plant cell wall, apoplast, and cytoplasm (Wright et al., 2013). Intracellular localization of E. coli O157:H7 seems to be a rare event as most of the microscopy-based studies show bacterial cells in the intercellular space only. Bacterial translocation from roots to the phyllosphere may be by migration on the plant surface in a flagellum-dependent manner (Cooley et al., 2003) or presumably through the vasculature (Itoh et al., 1998; Solomon et al., 2002). The mechanism for internal movement of enteric bacterial cells from the root cortex to the root vasculature through the endodermis and casparian strips and movement from the roots to the phyllosphere through the vascular system is yet to be demonstrated.

Several outbreaks of *S. enterica* have also been associated with fruits, especially tomatoes. *Salmonella enterica* is unlikely to survive on surface of intact fruits (Wei et al., 1995) raising the question: what are the routes for human pathogenic bacteria penetration into fruits? It has been suggested that *S. enterica* can move from inoculated leaves (Barak et al., 2011), stems, and flowers (Guo et al., 2001) to tomato fruits. However, the rate of internal contamination of fruits was low (1.8%) when leaves were surface-infected with *S. enterica* (Gu et al., 2011). The phloem has been suggested as the route of movement of bacteria to non-inoculated parts of the plant as bacterial cells were detected in this tissue by microscopy (Gu et al., 2011). **Figure 1** depicts the observed phyllosphere and rhizosphere niches colonized by bacteria in/on intact plants and probable sources of contamination.



FIGURE 1 | Schematic representation of human pathogen (HP) association with plants. (A) Pathogens are introduced to soil through contaminated irrigation water, fertilizers, manure, and pesticides (1). HPs are attracted to rhizosphere (2; Klerks et al., 2007a) and penetrate root tissues at the sites of lateral root emergence, root cracks as well as root-shoot transition area (3; Cooley et al., 2003; Dong et al., 2003; Klerks et al., 2007b; Tyler and Triplett, 2008). HPs were found to live on the leaf surface near veins (Brandl and Mandrell, 2002), in the leaf apoplast (intercellular space) (Brandl and Mandrell, 2002; Solomon et al., 2002; Niemira, 2007; Kroupitski et al., 2009; Barak et al., 2011; Dinu and Bach, 2011; Gu et al., 2011; Roy et al., 2013), and sometimes with affinity for abaxial side of leaf (e.g., S. enterica; (Kroupitski et al., 2011) (4). Salmonella enterica Typhimurium can enter tomato plants via leaves and move through vascular bundles (petioles and stems) (5) into non-inoculated leaves (6) and fruits (8) (Gu et al., 2011). HPs are also found to be associated with flower (7; Guo et al., 2001; Cooley et al., 2003). Salmonella could travel from infected leaves (4), stems (5), and flowers (7) to colonize the fruit interior (the diagram represents a cross-section of a fruit) and fruit calyx (8) Guo et al., 2001; Janes et al., 2005; Barak et al., 2011. Escherichia coli O157:H7 has also been observed in the internal parts of the apple and the seeds following contamination of the flower (8) (Burnett et al., 2000). Movement on the plant surface has also been observed (9: Coolev et al., 2003). Epiphytic Salmonella and E. coli O157:H7 can aggregate near stomata and sub-stomatal space (10; Shaw et al., 2008; Berger et al., 2009a,b; Golberg et al., 2011; Gu et al., 2011; Saldaña et al., 2011), reach the sub-stomatal cavity and survive/colonize in the spongy mesophyll (Solomon et al., 2002; Wachtel et al., 2002; Warriner et al., 2003; Jablasone et al., 2005; Franz et al., 2007). Salmonella cells were observed near trichomes (10; Barak et al., 2011; Gu et al., 2011). (B) Stem cross-section showing bacteria located in different tissues (Ep, epidermis; C, cortex; V, vascular tissue; Pi, pith) (Deering et al., 2011a,b). (C) Root cross-section showing bacteria on the root surface, internalizing between the epidermal cells, and colonizing root outer and inner cortex, endodermis (En), pericycle (P) and vascular system (Kutter et al., 2006; Klerks et al., 2007a,b; Jayaraman et al., 2014).

PERCEPTION OF HUMAN PATHOGENS BY THE PLANT IMMUNE SYSTEM

Plants possess a complex innate immune system to ward off microbial invaders (Jones and Dangl, 2006). Plants are able to mount a generalized step-one response that is triggered by modified/degraded plant products or conserved pathogen molecules. These molecules are known as damage or pathogen associated molecular patterns (DAMP/PAMP). In many cases, conserved PAMPs are components of cell walls and surface structures such as flagellin, lipopolysaccharides, and chitin (Zeng et al., 2010). Examples of intracellular PAMPs exist such as the elongation factor EF-Tu (Kunze et al., 2004). PAMPs are recognized by a diverse set of plant extracellular receptors called pattern-recognition receptors (PRRs) that pass intracellular signals launching an army of defense molecules to stop the invasion of the pathogens. This branch of the immune system known as pathogen-triggered immunity (PTI) is the first line of active defense against infection.

Human pathogen on plants (HPOP) is an emerging field that only recently has caught the attention of plant biologists and phytopathologists. A few studies have been reported in the last 5–10 years, which focused on the most well studied PAMPs, flagellin and lipopolysaccharide (LPS), in the interaction of human pathogens with plants. **Table 1** lists the plants, bacterial strains, and method details for such studies.

FLAGELLIN PERCEPTION

Flagellin, the structural component of flagellum in bacteria, is involved in bacterial attachment and motility on the plant (Cooley et al., 2003), is recognized by plant through the FLS2 receptor (Garcia et al., 2014), and induces plant defenses (Meng et al., 2013; Garcia et al., 2014). Similar to the well-studied PTI elicitor flg22 (Felix et al., 1999), the flg22 epitope of S. enterica serovar Typhimurium 14028 is also an effective PAMP and elicitor of downstream immune responses in Arabidopsis (Garcia et al., 2014), tobacco, and tomato plants (Meng et al., 2013). Flagellum-deficient mutants of S. enterica serovar Typhimurium 14028 are better colonizers of wheat, alfalfa, and Arabidopsis roots as compared to the wild type bacterium (Iniguez et al., 2005) further suggesting that the Salmonella flagellum induces plant defenses that may restrict bacterial colonization of several plant organs. However, the Salmonella flg22 peptide is not the only PAMP for elicitation of plant immune response as fls2 mutant of Arabidopsis still shows a low level of PTI activation in response to this PAMP (Garcia et al., 2014).

Purified flagellin or derived epitopes of *E. coli* O157:H7 has not been used to induce plant defenses. However, flagellum-deficient mutant of this strain does not activate the SA-dependent *BGL2* gene promoter as much as the wild type strain and shows larger population in Arabidopsis than the wild type strain (Seo and Matthews, 2012) further suggesting that surface structures in the bacterial cell are perceived by plants.

The differences in responses observed could be attributed to the presence of other microbial signatures eliciting plant defense. Variations in plant response to *S. enterica* flagellin could be owed to host-strain specificity as well. Although flagellin sequences from *S. enterica* strains and other bacteria are highly conserved, even a minor change of five amino acids in the flg22 epitope leads to reduced activation of PTI in Arabidopsis, tobacco, and tomato plants (Garcia et al., 2014). Adding to the specificity, it has also been shown that Brassicaceae and Solanocecae plants recognize specific flagellin (Robatzek et al., 2007; Clarke et al., 2013). Hence, evolving variations in flagellin sequences could be a strategy employed by the pathogens to avoid plant recognition, which in turn leads to the development of pathogen-specific immune responses in the plant.

Flagella also play an important role in bacterial behavior on the plant. Several studies have pointed out to the usefulness of

References	Plant	Plant genotype	Wild type bacterium	Mutant bacterium	Plant tissue used for detection	Inoculation method	Inoculum concentration	Surface sterilization	Methods	Intact plant tissue for infection
FLAGELLIN	FLAGELLIN AND LPS PERCEPTION	NOL								l
2003 et al.,	A. thaliana	Col-0	S. <i>enterica</i> serovar Newport (RM1655); <i>E. coli</i> 0157:H7 Odwalla (RM1484); <i>Enterobacter asburiae</i> (RM3638)	∆fihDC, fiaN	Roots and shoots of seedling and adult plants, leaves, flowers, seeds, chaff	Soil, seed, root inoculation	$\begin{array}{l} 1\times10^{4} \text{ or}\\ 1\times10^{6} \text{ cfu/ml for}\\ \text{root inoculation};\\ 1\times10^{8} \text{ cfu/ml for}\\ \text{seed inoculation}\\ \text{and }1\times10^{8} \text{ cfu/g}\\ \text{for soil}\\ \text{inoculation}\end{array}$	°Z	Microscopy, plating	Yes
*Iniguez et al., 2005	A. thaliana, M. truncatula, wheat, M. sativa	Wheat Trenton; <i>M. truncatula</i> Jester, Jermalong, Gaerten A17, Mutant Sickle; <i>M. sativa</i> CUS101; A. <i>thaliana</i> Col-0, <i>npr1-4, nahG</i>	<i>S. enterica</i> serovar Typhimurium 14028s	spaS, sipB, fliC, fijB	Root and hypocotyl	Seedling inoculation	dose response	Yes	Plating	Kes
*Shirron and Yaron, 2011	Tobacco		<i>S. enterica</i> serovar Typhimurium SL1344, 14028s	ΔinvA, ΔrfaH, ΔphoP	Leaf	Syringe infiltration; drip-irrigation	7.5 log cfu/ml	oZ	Microscopy	Yes
*Seo and Matthews, 2012	A. thaliana	Col-0, <i>npr1-1</i>	<i>E. coli</i> 0157:H7 43895, 86-24	ΔfliC, ΔcsgD, Δwaal	Whole plant	Dipping	1 × 10 ⁸ cfu/ml	oZ	Plating	Yes
*Garcia et al., 2014	A. thaliana	Col-0, <i>fis2</i>	<i>S. enterica</i> serovar Typhimurium 14028s, SL1344; <i>S. enterica</i> serovar Senftenberg 20070885	prgH, fliC, fljB, hrcC	Seedling	Seedling inoculation	2 × 10 ⁸ cfu/ml	0 Z	Plating	Yes
Meng et al., 2013	Tobacco, tomato		<i>S. enterica</i> serovar Typhimurium 14028s	ΔfliC, ΔfljB, ΔhilA, ΔhilD, ΔsirA, ΔssrAB, ΔsseA, ΔsseB, ΔinvA, ΔprgH	Leaf	Syringe infiltration	2 × 10 ⁴ cfu/ml	°Z	Plating	Yes
STOMATAL IMMUNITY	IMMUNITY								l	l
Melotto et al 2006	A. thaliana	Col-0, <i>fls2</i>	<i>E. coli</i> 0157:H7		Leaf	Epidermal peels	1×10^8 cfu/ml		Microscopy	No
0001										(Continued)

August 2014 | Volume 5 | Article 411 | 10

References	Plant	Plant genotype	Wild type bacterium	Mutant bacterium	Plant tissue used for detection	Inoculation method	Inoculum concentration	Surface sterilization	Methods	Intact plant tissue for infection
Kroupitski et al., 2009	Lettuce	Iceberg	<i>S. enterica</i> serovar Typhimurium SL1344	fliGHI, cheY	Leaf	Leaf pieces submersion	1×10^8 cfu/ml	oZ	Microscopy	No
*Roy et al., 2013	*Roy et al., A. <i>thaliana,</i> A. <i>th</i> 2013 lettuce ost1- Lettu	A. thaliana Col-0 ost1-2, Butter Lettuce	S. <i>enterica</i> serovar Typhimurium SL1344; <i>E. coli</i> 0157:H7		Leaf	Dipping	1 × 10 ⁸ cfu/ml	Yes	Microscopy, plating	Yes
Thilmony et al., 2006	AGCELLULAK KESP A. thaliana	Col-0	E. coli 0157:H7	fliC	Leaf	Vacuum infiltration	1×10^8 cfu/ml			
Klerks et al., 2007b	Lettuce	Tamburo	<i>S. enterica</i> serovars Dublin; <i>E. coli</i> JM109		Seedling phyllosphere	Manure contami- nationSeedling inoculation	1 × 10 ⁷ cfu/g manure or 1 × 10 ⁷ cfu/ml inoculum	Yes	Plating	Yes
Schikora et al., 2008	A. thaliana	Col-0	<i>S. enterica</i> serovar Typhimurium 14028s		Seedling, leaf	Seedling inoculation, leaf vacuum infiltration	3 × 10 ⁸ cfu/ml	Yes	Plating	Yes
Saldaña et al., 2011	Baby spinach		E. coli 0157:H7	escN, tir, eae, espFu, espP, fliC, qseB, hcpA, ecpA, elfA, csgA, csgD, bscA	Leaf	Leaf pieces submersion	1 × 10 ⁷ cells	Yes for some experiments	Microscopy, plating	°Z
Schikora et al., 2011	A. thaliana	Col-0	<i>S. enterica</i> serovar Typhimurium 14028s	prgH, invA, ssaV, ssaF	Leaf	Syringe infiltration	$1.7 \times 10^8 \mathrm{cfu/ml}$	Yes	Plating	Yes
Üstün et al., 2012	Tomato, tobacco, pepper	Tomato Money maker; tobacco Domin., pepper ECW-10R	Transient expression of <i>S. enterica</i> SseF in tobacco		Leaf	Transient expression by syringe infiltration of vector organism	2 × 10 ⁸ cfu/ml		Plating	Yes
Jayaraman et al., 2014	M. truncatula		<i>S. enterica.</i> serovars Schwarzengrund, Enteritidis, Mbandaka, Havana, Cubana; <i>E. coli</i> 0157:H7 serovars Odwalla, EDL933, H2439, C7927, 96A 13466		Root	seedling root	Dose response	Yes for some experiments	Microscopy, plating	Kes

August 2014 | Volume 5 | Article 411 | 11

lable 1 Continued	ntinued									
References	Plant	Plant genotype	Wild type bacterium	Mutant bacterium	Plant tissue used for detection	Inoculation method	Inoculum concentration	Surface sterilization	Methods	Intact plant tissue for infection
GENOTYPIC	GENOTYPIC VARIABILITY									
Barak et al., 2008	Radish, tomato, broccoli, turnip, carrot, lettuce, cilantro, parsley, spinach, radicchio, endive	Lettuce Balady Aswan, Salinas 88, Little Gem, Pl251246, Pavane, Valmaine, Iceburg, La Brillante, Paris Island, Parade, Calmar, Tomato Brandywine, Amish Paste, Money Maker, Rose, Soldacki, Stupics, Green Grape, San Marzano, Nyarous, Yellow Pear	S. enterica serovars Baildon 05x-02123, Cubana 98A9878, Enteritidis 99A-23, Havana 98A4399, Mbandaka 99A1670, Newport 96E01152C-TX, Poona 00A3563, Schwarzengrund 96E01152C		Seedling phyllosphere	Soil inoculation	1 × 10 ⁴ cfu/ml	°Z	Plating	Yes
Brandl and Amundson, 2008	Lettuce	Parris Island	<i>E. coli</i> 0157:H7 H1827; S. <i>enterica</i> serovar Thompson RM1987		Leaf	Dip inoculation	1 × 10 ⁵ cfu/ml	No	Microscopy, plating	Yes
Mitra et al., 2009	Spinach	Bordeaux, Tyee, Space	<i>E. coli</i> 0157:H7		Leaf, stem, root	Leaf drop, leaf infiltration, soil drench, stem puncture	1 × 10 ⁶ cfu/ml	Yes	Microscopy, plating, BAX PCR assay	Yes
Barak et al., 2011	Tomato	H7996, Yellow Pear, Nyagous, LA2838A, LA3172, LA3556, LA0337, LA1049, Micro-Tom, Money Maker	<i>S. enterica</i> serovars Baildon 99A 23, Cubana 98A 9878, Enteritidis 05x-02123, Havana 98A4399, Mbandaka 99A 1670, Newport 96 E01153c-TX, Poona 00A 3563, Schwarzenfrund 96 E01152c-TX		Seedling phyllosphere and leaf	Soil inoculation; water inoculation; leaf dipping	1 × 10 ⁸ cfu/ml	Ŝ	Microscopy, plating, BAX PCR assay	Yes
Golberg et al., 2011	Lettuce, arugula, parsley, tomato, basil	lceberg, Romaine, Red Ruby	<i>S. enterica</i> serovar Typhimurium SL1344		Leaf	Leaf pieces/leaf submersion	1×10^{8} cfu/ml	No	Microscopy	Leaf pieces and intact leaves
*Indicates an	ticles that have also n	eported plant intrace	*Indicates articles that have also reported plant intracellular responses to bacteria.	eria.						

August 2014 | Volume 5 | Article 411 | **12**

flagella for attachment to leaf surfaces and movement on plant surfaces (Berger et al., 2009a,b; Xicohtencatl-Cortes et al., 2009; Saldaña et al., 2011; Shaw et al., 2011).

LPS PERCEPTION

Lipopolysaccharide (LPS) is a component of the cell wall of Gram-negative bacterial pathogens of animals and plants. In the animal host, LPS is a well-characterized PAMP that is recognized by host Toll-like receptor 4 (de Jong et al., 2012). In plants however, receptors for LPS have not been discovered yet. Nonetheless, current evidence suggests that human pathogen-derived LPS can be perceived by plants resulting in PTI activation. For instance, on the leaf surface, purified LPS from *Pseudomonas aeruginosa, S. Minnesota* R595, and *E. coli* O55:B5 induces strong stomatal closure in Arabidopsis (Melotto et al., 2006). Purified LPS from *Salmonella* triggers of ROS production and extracellular alkalinization in tobacco cell suspension (Shirron and Yaron, 2011) but not on tomato leaves (Meng et al., 2013) suggesting that LPS recognition may be either dependent on experimental conditions or variable among plant species.

Genetic evidence suggests that the high activity of SAdependent *BGL2* gene promoter in Arabidopsis is dependent on the presence of LPS in *E. coli* O157:H7 as higher activity of this promoter was observed in the wild type bacterial as compared to its LPS mutant (Seo and Matthews, 2012). However, LPS-dependent responses seem not to be sufficient to restrict bacterial survival on plants as the population titer of *E. coli* O157:H7 LPS mutant or wild type in plant is essentially the same (Seo and Matthews, 2012). Additionally, live *S.* Typhimurium cells do not induce ROS in epidermal tissue of tobacco (Shirron and Yaron, 2011) suggesting that, at least *Salmonella*, can suppress LPS-induced ROS and extracellular alkalinization.

Similar to flagellin, the O-antigen moiety of LPS is not only important for plant perception of bacterial cells, but also for bacterial attachment, fitness, and survival on plants (Barak et al., 2007; Berger et al., 2011; Marvasi et al., 2013).

FUNCTIONAL OUTPUT OF BACTERIUM PERCEPTION

One of the earliest PTI responses in plants is stomatal closure that greatly decreases the rate of pathogen entry into plant's internal tissues. This response requires molecular components of PTI including such as flagellin and LPS perception and hormone perception and signaling (Melotto et al., 2006, 2008; Zeng and He, 2010; Sawinski et al., 2013). Stomatal immunity is also triggered by the presence of human pathogens S. enterica serovar Typhimurium SL1344 and E. coli O157:H7 (Melotto et al., 2006; Kroupitski et al., 2009; Roy et al., 2013), albeit at various levels. For instance, E. coli O157:H7 induces a strong stomatal immunity and Salmonella SL1344 elicits only a transient stomatal closure in both Arabidopsis (Melotto et al., 2006; Roy et al., 2013) and lettuce (Kroupitski et al., 2009; Roy et al., 2013) suggesting that the bacterial strain SL1344 can either induce weaker or subvert stomata-based defense. Active suppression of stomatal closure by SL1344 may be unlikely because it cannot re-open dark-closed stomata (Roy et al., 2013). However, it is possible that signaling pathways underlying bacterium-triggered and dark-induced stomatal closure are not entirely overlapping and

SL1344 acts on immunity-specific signaling to subvert stomatal closure.

PLANT INTRACELLULAR RESPONSE TO HUMAN PATHOGENS

Recognition of PAMPs by PRRs leads to several hallmark cellular defense responses that are categorized based on the timing of response. Zipfel and Robatzek (2010) have discussed that early responses occur within seconds to minutes of recognition including ion fluxes, extracellular alkalinization, and oxidative burst. Intermediate responses occur within minutes to hours including stomatal closure, ethylene production, mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) signaling, and transcriptional reprogramming. Late responses occur from hours to days and involve callose deposition, salicylic acid accumulation, and defense gene transcription.

These hallmark plant cellular defenses have also been tested for both *E. coli* and *S. enterica* (**Figure 2**). In particular, *S. enterica* infection results in the induction of *MPK3/MPK6* kinase activity and plant defense-associated genes *PDF1.2*, *PR1*, and *PR2* in Arabidopsis leaves (Schikora et al., 2008) as well as *PR1*, *PR4*, and *PR5* in lettuce (Klerks et al., 2007b). MPK6 activation in Arabidopsis is independent of FLS2 (Schikora et al., 2008), indicating that flagellin is not the only active PAMP of *Salmonella* and plant response to other PAMPs may converge at MAPK signaling. Direct comparison of the *PR1* gene expression in Arabidopsis indicated that both *E. coli* O157:H7 and *Salmonella* SL1344 are able to induce this defense marker gene, however at difference levels (Roy et al., 2013). The *PR1* gene induction is low in SL1344-infected plants indicating that immune responses are either weaker or are suppressed by *Salmonella*.

A few studies (**Table 1**) have addressed the role of plant hormones in response to endophytic colonization of human bacterial pathogens:

ETHYLENE SIGNALING

The ethylene-insensitive mutant of Arabidopsis, *ein2*, supports higher *Salmonella* 14028 inside whole seedlings as compared to the wild type Col-0 plants (Schikora et al., 2008). Furthermore, addition of a specific inhibitor of ethylene mediated signaling, 1-methylcyclopropene (1-MCP), to the growth medium resulted in increased *S. enterica* 14028 endophytic colonization of *Medicago truncatula*, but not *M. sativum*, roots and hypocotyls (Iniguez et al., 2005) suggesting that the role of endogenous ethylene signaling maybe be specific to each plant-bacterium interaction. However, ethylene signaling may play a contrasting role during fruit contamination. Tomato mutants (*rin* and *nor*) with defects in ethylene synthesis, perception, and signal transduction show significantly reduced *Salmonella* proliferation within their fruits as compared to the wild type control (Marvasi et al., 2014).

JASMONIC ACID

Similar to the *ein2* mutant, the coronatine-insensitive mutant of Arabidopsis, *coi1-16*, also supports high *Salmonella* 14028 inside whole seedlings (Schikora et al., 2008). Along with the induction of the jasmonate-responsive gene *PDF1.2* addressed in the same study and mentioned above, it seems that jasmonate signaling is



also an important component to restrict *Salmonella* infection in, at least, Arabidopsis. These results are surprising as *coi1* mutants are well known to have increased resistant to various bacterial pathogen of plants, such as *P. syringae*, but not to fungal or viral pathogens (Feys et al., 1994; Kloek et al., 2001).

SALICYLIC ACID

Two genetic lines of Arabidopsis has been extensively used to determine the role of salicylic acid (SA) in plant defenses against

phytopathogens, the transgenic *nahG* plant that cannot accumulate SA (Friedrich et al., 1995) and the null mutant *npr1* that is disrupted in both SA-dependent and -independent defense responses (Ton et al., 2002). Both of these plant lines support higher populations of *Salmonella* 14028 inside their roots (Iniguez et al., 2005) and seedlings (Schikora et al., 2008) as compared to the wild type plant. NPR1-dependent signaling is important reduce the population of the curli-negative strain of *E. coli* O157:H7 43895 but not for the curli-positive strain 86-24 in Arabidopsis leaves (Seo and Matthews, 2012). Although only a few strains of *Salmonella* and *E. coli* have been used, there is an emerging patterns suggesting that SA itself and activation of SA-signaling can potentially restrict HPOP.

In attempts to understand the overall cellular transcriptional response to human bacterial pathogens, global transcriptomic analyses have been used. Thilmony et al. (2006) showed that E. coli O157:H7 regulates PTI-associated genes in Arabidopsis leaves, albeit in a flagellin-independent manner. A similar transcriptomic analysis with medium-grown Arabidopsis seedlings 2h after inoculation with S. enterica serovar Typhimurium 14028, E. coli K-12, and P. syringae pv. tomato DC3000 showed a strong overlap among genes responsive to each bacterial infection suggesting a common mechanism of plant basal response toward bacteria (Schikora et al., 2011). Gene expression analysis of Medicago truncatula seedlings root-inoculated with only two bacterial cells per plant indicated that 83 gene probes (30-40% of each data set) were commonly regulated in response to S. enterica and E. coli O157:H7 (Jayaraman et al., 2014). All together, these studies indicate that each human pathogenic bacterium can modulate specific plant genes beyond a basal defense response; however the mechanisms for plant-bacterium specificity are largely unknown.

CAN HUMAN PATHOGENIC BACTERIA INDUCE ETI IN PLANT CELLS?

Successful virulent pathogens of plants are able to defeat this army plant defense by employing its own set of artillery (such as the type three secretion system effectors and phytotoxins) and cause disease in the host plant (Melotto and Kunkel, 2013; Xin and He, 2013). In incompatible interactions (i.e., low bacterial colonization and no disease on leaves), the host plant already has pre-evolved molecules (R proteins) that recognize these effectors and cause a specific defense response to this pathogen. This specific response is called effector-triggered immunity (ETI). Because the type 3-secretion system (T3SS) is important for the virulence of both animal and plant pathogenic bacteria on their natural hosts as evidenced by the use of bacterial mutants, it is reasonable to expect that T3SS would be important for HPOP as well. However, animal and plant cell surfaces are structurally different; the plant cells wall seems to be impenetrable by the secretion needle of the extracellular animal pathogens (Salmonella and E. coli) as discussed by He et al. (2004) raising the question of how these effectors can reach the plant cytoplasm and interfere with plant defenses. To date, there is no evidence for the ability of human pathogens to inject T3SS effectors inside plant cells. It is possible that the T3SS is still active on the plant cell surface and the effectors are secreted into the

plant apoplast. If that is the case, however, plant membrane receptors would be necessary to recognize the effectors and trigger plant cellular responses. Nevertheless, it has been observed that the T3SS mutant of E. coli O157:H7, escN, has reduced ability to attach to and colonize baby spinach leaves similar to the fliC mutant (Saldaña et al., 2011). Furthermore, apoplastic population of T3SS structural mutants of S. enterica serovar Typhimurium 14028 (invA, prgH, ssaV, and ssaJ) is smaller than that of the wild type bacterium in Arabidopsis leaves (Schikora et al., 2011) and plant defense-associated genes are up-regulated for longer time by the prgH mutant than wild type Salmonella in Arabidopsis seedlings (Garcia et al., 2014). Contrary to these findings, Iniguez et al. (2005) reported that two Salmonella 14028 T3SS-SPI1, the structural mutant spaS and the effector mutant sipB, hypercolonize roots and hypocotyls of M. sativum and fail to induce SA-dependent PR1 promoter in Arabidopsis leaves. More studies need to be conducted to conclude whether T3SS of Salmonella acts as "recognizable" surface structure similar to flagellum and/or as a conduit to deliver effectors in plant tissues and trigger ETI. It is worth mentioning that T3SS and effectors of the phytopathogen P. syringae pv. syringae have functions on ETI as well as bacterial fitness on plant surface (Lee et al., 2012) and the filamentous T3SS protein EspA is required for E. coli O157:H7 attachment to arugula leaves (Shaw et al., 2008).

The invA structural mutant, that is defective in all T3SS-1 system-associated phenotypes, induces high ROS and extracellular alkalinizing in tobacco BY-2 cell suspension and hypersensitive reaction (HR) in tobacco leaves as compared to the wild type strain (Shirron and Yaron, 2011) suggesting that T3SS is important for this suppression of immunity. However, Shirron and Yaron (2011) also reported that plant response to the regulatory mutant phoP that modulates the expression of many effector proteins and membrane components (Dalebroux and Miller, 2014), is no different to that of the wild type bacterium. These findings raised the question whether the phenotypes observed are due to the T3SS structure itself or due to the translocated effectors. A recent report shows that transient expression of the type three effector of Salmonella 14028 SseF in tobacco plants elicits HR, and this response is dependent on the SGT1 protein (Üstün et al., 2012). This study suggests that SseF can induce resistant-like response in plants and requires resistance (R) protein signaling components. Üstün et al. (2012) and Shirron and Yaron (2011) also showed that Salmonella 14028, which is able to deliver the SseF effector, cannot induce HR or any disease-like symptoms in tobacco leaves. Thus, it remains to be determined what would be the biological relevance of ETI in the Salmonella and other human pathogenic bacteria in their interaction with plants in nature.

GENOTYPIC VARIABILITY IN PLANT-*SALMONELLA* AND PLANT-*E. COLI* INTERACTIONS

Although *S. enterica* and *E. coli* O157:H7 have not been traditionally known to be closely associated with plants and modulate plant's physiology, the evidence tells us otherwise. An arms-race evolution in both the human pathogen and the plant is therefore, expected. A few studies (methodology details described in **Table 1**) have addressed whether genetic variability among plant species or within the same plant species (i.e., cultivars, varieties, and ecotypes) can be correlated with differential bacterial behavior and/or colonization of plants. Barak et al. (2011) described that different tomato cultivars can harbor different levels of S. enterica population after inoculation via water (sprinkler imitation) indicating plant factors may control the ability of bacterial to colonize the phyllosphere. However, they also found that the cultivar with the smallest S. enterica population also had the lowest number of speck lesions when infected with the tomato pathogen Pst DC3000 (Barak et al., 2011), suggesting that strong basal defense in this cultivar may account for low bacterial colonization. On a comparative study of S. enterica contamination of several crop species, Barak et al. (2008) reported that seedlings from Brassicaceae family have higher contamination than carrot, tomato, and lettuce when grown on contaminated soil. Seedling contamination correlated with the Salmonella population in the phyllosphere of all crop species, except tomato.

Golberg et al. (2011) reported variations in internalization of Salmonella SL1344 in different leafy vegetables and fresh herbs using confocal microscopy. Internalization incidence (% of microscopic fields containing bacterial cells) was high in iceberg lettuce and arugula, moderate in romaine lettuce, red lettuce, basil, and low in parsley and tomato. Attraction to stomata was seen in iceberg lettuce and basil, not in arugula, parsley, and tomato. Brandl and Amundson (2008) reported that the age of romaine lettuce leaves is correlated with population size of E. coli O157:H7 and S. enterica Thompson on leaves. Young leaves (inner) harbor greater number of cells than middle aged leaves. These authors also observed that exudates on the surface of younger leaves have higher nitrogen content than that of older leaves, which may contribute to determining the bacterial population size on the leaf. Thus, it is tempting to speculate that the genetic variability existent among plant genotypes regarding the chemical composition of their organ exudates may be a determinant for human pathogen behavior (such as chemotaxis and tropism toward stomata and roots) and ability to colonize plants.

Finally, Mitra et al. (2009) studied the effect of different methods of inoculation on internalization and survival of *E. coli* O157:H7 in three cultivars of spinach. Among the organs studied, the spinach phylloplane and the stem provided the most and least suitable niche for this bacterium colonization, respectively. Although the leaf surface was the best "territory" for *E. coli*, the leaf morphologies of each cultivar affected the ability of this bacterium to survive.

Collectively, all these studies point out that the plant genotype, age, leaf morphology, chemical composition of exudates, and the primarily infected organ affect the outcome of bacterial colonization of plants and the process may not be a generalized phenomenon, consequently shaping specific human pathogen and plant interactions.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

The fundamental understanding of plant association with human bacterial pathogens that do not cause visual or macroscopic symptom in the plant, but yet are major food contaminants, are in its infancy. Both plant and bacterial factors are critical for these cross-kingdom interactions and emerging evidence suggests an overlap between plant molecular responses to human pathogens

and phytopathogens. The future challenge will be to determine how these interactions differ. As this field of research is relatively new, we see differences in conclusions from different laboratories regarding multiplication vs. decline in bacterial populations overtime and disease-like symptoms vs. HR on inoculated plants. These differences are mainly associated with differences in methods of inoculation, bacterial strains, inoculum concentration, plant age, and plant cultivation methods (e.g., growth on medium, soil, or hydroponic solutions). Standard procedures for model systems, consensus, and collaborations must be developed among food scientists, microbiologists, plant pathologists, and molecular biologists to elucidate the specificity of each plantbacterium interaction and avoid discrepancies in making general conclusions. A major point to be resolved is whether the observed plant defenses against Salmonella and its PAMPs are due to low recognition and/or active suppression. If Salmonella suppression of the plant immunity is a cause of weak defense responses, the major question becomes what is the responsible factor? This line of research might lead to a whole new paradigm that otherwise could not be revealed by only studying plant associations with its own natural pathogens.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Work in our laboratory is supported by funding from the US National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Disease (R01AI068718).

REFERENCES

- Aruscavage, D., Miller, S. A., Lewis Ivey, M. L., Lee, K., and LeJeune, J. T. (2008). Survival and dissemination of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 on physically and biologically damaged lettuce plants. *J. Food Prot.* 71, 2384–2388. doi: 10.1111/j.1750-3841.2006.00157.x
- Barak, J. D., Jahn, C. E., Gibson, D. L., and Charkowski, A. O. (2007). The role of cellulose and O-antigen capsule in the colonization of plants by *Salmonella enterica. Mol. Plant Microbe Interact.* 20, 1083–1091. doi: 10.1094/MPMI-20-9-1083
- Barak, J. D., Kramer, L. C., and Hao, L. (2011). Colonization of tomato plants by *Salmonella enterica* is cultivar dependent, and type 1 trichomes are preferred colonization sites. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 77, 498–504. doi: 10.1128/AEM.01661-10
- Barak, J. D., Liang, A., and Narm, K.-E. (2008). Differential attachment and subsequent contamination of agricultural crops by *Salmonella enterica*. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 74, 5568–5570. doi: 10.1128/AEM.01077-08
- Barak, J. D., and Schroeder, B. K. (2012). Interrelationships of food safety and plant pathology: the life cycle of human pathogens on plants. *Annu. Rev. Phytopathol.* 50, 241–266. doi: 10.1146/annurev-phyto-081211-172936
- Berger, C. N., Brown, D. J., Shaw, R. K., Minuzzi, F., Feys, B., and Frankel, G. (2011). Salmonella enterica strains belonging to O serogroup 1, 3, 9 induce chlorosis and wilting of Arabidopsis thaliana leaves. Environ. Microbiol. 13, 1299–1308. doi: 10.1111/j.1462-2920.2011.02429.x
- Berger, C. N., Shaw, R. K., Brown, D. J., Mather, H., Clare, S., Dougan, G., et al. (2009a). Interaction of *Salmonella enterica* with basil and other salad leaves. *ISME J.* 3, 261–265. doi: 10.1038/ismej.2008.95
- Berger, C. N., Shaw, R. K., Ruiz-Perez, F., Nataro, J. P., Henderson, I. R., Pallen, M. J., et al. (2009b). Interaction of enteroaggregative *Escherichia coli* with salad leaves. *Environ. Microbiol. Rep.* 1, 234–239. doi: 10.1111/j.1758-2229.2009.00037.x
- Berger, C. N., Sodha, S. V., Shaw, R. K., Griffin, P. M., Pink, D., Hand, P., et al. (2010). Fresh fruit and vegetable as vehicles for the transmission of human pathogens. *Environ. Microbiol.* 12, 2385–2397. doi: 10.1111/j.1462-2920.2010.02297.x
- Brandl, M. T., and Amundson, R. (2008). Leaf age as a risk factor in contamination of lettuce with *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 and *Salmonella enterica*. *Appl. Environ*. *Microbiol*. 74, 2298–2306. doi: 10.1128/AEM.02459-07

- Brandl, M. T., Cox, C. E., and Teplitski, M. (2013). Salmonella interactions with plants and their associated microbiota. *Phytopathology* 103, 316–325. doi: 10.1094/PHYTO-11-12-0295-RVW
- Brandl, M. T., and Mandrell, R. E. (2002). Fitness of Salmonella enterica serovar Thompson in the cilantro phyllosphere. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 68, 3614–3621. doi: 10.1128/AEM.68.7.3614-3621.2002
- Burnett, S. L., Chen, J., and Beuchat, L. R. (2000). Attachment of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 to the surfaces and internal structures of apples as detected by confocal scanning laser microscopy. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 66, 4679–4687. doi: 10.1128/AEM.66.11.4679-4687.2000
- CDC. (2010). Surveillance for foodborne disease outbreaks: United States, 2007. *Morb. Mortal. Wkly. Rep.* 59, 973–1008. Available online at: http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/mm5931a1.htm?s_cid=mm59 31a1_w
- Clarke, C. R., Chinchilla, D., Hind, S. R., Taguchi, F., Miki, R., Ichinose, Y., et al. (2013). Allelic variation in two distinct *Pseudomonas syringae* flagellin epitopes modulates the strength of plant immune responses but not bacterial motility. *New Phytol.* 200, 847–680. doi: 10.1111/nph.12408
- Cooley, M. B., Miller, W. G., and Mandrell, R. E. (2003). Colonization of Arabidopsis thaliana with Salmonella enterica and enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli O157:H7 and competition by Enterobacter asburiae. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 69, 4915–4926. doi: 10.1128/AEM.69.8.4915-4926.2003
- Dalebroux, Z. D., and Miller, S. I. (2014). Salmonellae PhoPQ regulation of the outer membrane to resist innate immunity. *Curr. Opin. Microbiol.* 17, 106–113. doi: 10.1016/j.mib.2013.12.005
- Deering, A. J., Pruitt, R. E., Mauer, L. J., and Reuhs, B. L. (2011a). Identification of the cellular location of internalized *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in mung bean, *Vigna radiata*, using immunocytochemical techniques. *J. Food Prot.* 74, 1224–1230. doi: 10.4315/0362-028X.JFP-11-015
- Deering, A. J., Pruitt, R. E., Mauer, L. J., and Reuhs, B. L. (2011b). Examination of the internalization of *Salmonella* serovar Typhimurium in peanut, *Arachis hypogaea*, using immunocytochemical techniques. *Food Res. Int.* 45, 1037–1043. doi: 10.1016/j.foodres.2011.01.061
- de Jong, H. K., Parry, C. M., van der Poll, T., and Wiersinga, W. J. (2012). Hostpathogen interaction in invasive Salmonellosis. *PLoS Pathog.* 8:e1002933. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1002933
- Dinu, L. D., and Bach, S. (2011). Induction of viable but nonculturable Escherichia coli O157:H7 in the phyllosphere of lettuce: a food safety risk factor. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 77, 8295–8302. doi: 10.1128/AEM.05020-11
- Dong, Y., Iniguez, A. L., Ahmer, B. M., and Triplett, E. W. (2003). Kinetics and strain specificity of rhizosphere and endophytic colonization by enteric bacteria on seedlings of *Medicago sativa* and *Medicago truncatula*. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 69, 1783–1790. doi: 10.1128/AEM.69.3.1783-1790.2003
- Felix, G., Duran, J. D., Volko, S., and Boller, T. (1999). Plants have a sensitive perception system for the most conserved domain of bacterial flagellin. *Plant J.* 18, 265–276. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-313X.1999.00265.x
- Feys, B. J. F., Benedetti, C. E., Penfold, C. N., and Turner, J. G. (1994). Arabidopsis mutants selected for resistance to the phytotoxin coronatine are male sterile, insensitive to methyl jasmonate, and resistant to a bacterial pathogen. *Plant Cell* 6, 751–759. doi: 10.1105/tpc.6.5.751
- Franz, E., Visser, A. A., Van Diepeningen, A. D., Klerks, M. M., Termorshuizen, A. J., and van Bruggen, A. H. (2007). Quantification of contamination of lettuce by GFP-expressing *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 and *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium. *Food Microbiol.* 24, 106–112. doi: 10.1016/j.fm.2006. 03.002
- Friedrich, L., Vernooij, B., Gaffney, T., Morse, A., and Ryals, J. (1995). Characterization of tobacco plants expressing a bacterial salicylate hydroxylase gene. *Plant Mol. Biol.* 29, 959–968. doi: 10.1007/BF00014969
- Garcia, A. V., Charrier, A., Schikora, A., Bigeard, J., Pateyron, S., de Tauzia-Moreau, M., et al. (2014). Salmonella enterica flagellin is recognized via FLS2 and activates PAMP-triggered immunity in Arabidopsis thaliana. Mol. Plant 7, 657–674. doi: 10.1093/mp/sst145
- Golberg, D., Kroupitski, Y., Belausov, E., Pinto, R., and Sela, S. (2011). Salmonella Typhimurium internalization is variable in leafy vegetables and fresh herbs. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 145, 250–257. doi: 10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2010.12.031
- Gu, G., Hu, J., Cevallos-Cevallos, J. M., Richardson, S. M., Bartz, J. A., and van Bruggen, A. H. C. (2011). Internal colonization of *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium in tomato plants. *PLoS ONE* 6:e27340. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0027340

- Guo, X., Chen, J., Brackett, R. E., and Beuchat, L. R. (2001). Survival of Salmonellae on and in tomato plants from the time of inoculation at flowering and early stages of fruit development through fruit ripening. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 67, 4760–4764. doi: 10.1128/AEM.67.10.4760-4764.2001
- He, S. Y., Nomura, K., and Whittam, T. S. (2004). Type III protein secretion mechanism in mammalian and plant pathogens. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1694, 181–206. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2004.03.011
- Hussain, M. A., and Dawson, C. O. (2013). Economic impact of food safety outbreaks on food businesses. *Foods* 2, 585–589. doi: 10.3390/foods2040585
- Iniguez, A. L., Dong, Y., Carter, H. D., Ahmer, B. M. M., Stone, J. M., and Triplett, E. W. (2005). Regulation of enteric endophytic bacterial colonization by plant defenses. *Mol. Plant-Microbe Interact.* 18, 169–178. doi: 10.1094/MPMI-18-0169
- Itoh, Y., Sugita-Konishi, Y., Kasuga, F., Iwaki, M., Hara-Kudo, Y., Saito, N., et al. (1998). Enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 present in radish sprouts. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 64, 1532–1535.
- Jablasone, J., Warriner, K., and Griffiths, M. (2005). Interactions of Escherichia coli O157:H7, Salmonella typhimurium and Listeria monocytogenes plants cultivated in agnotobiotic system. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 99, 7–18. doi: 10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2004.06.011
- Janes, M. E., Kim, K. S., and Johnson, M. G. (2005). Transmission electron microscopy study of enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in apple tissue. J. Food Prot. 68, 216–224.
- Jayaraman, D., Valdés-López, O., Kaspar, C. W., and Ané, J.-M. (2014). Response of *Medicago truncatula* Seedlings to Colonization by *Salmonella enterica* and *Escherichia coli* O157:H7. *PLoS ONE* 9:e87970. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0087970
- Jones, J. D. G., and Dangl, J. L. (2006). The plant immune system. *Nature* 444, 323–329. doi: 10.1038/nature05286
- Klerks, M. M., Franz, E., vanGent-Pelzer, M., Zijlstra, C., and van Bruggen, A. H. C. (2007a). Differential interaction of *Salmonella enterica* serovars with lettuce cultivars and plant-microbe factors influencing the colonization efficiency. *ISME J.* 1, 620–631. doi: 10.1038/ismej.2007.82
- Klerks, M. M., vanGent-Pelzer, M., Franz, E., Zijlstra, C., and van Bruggen, A. H. C. (2007b). Physiological and molecular responses of *Lactuca sativa* to colonization by *Salmonella enterica* serovar Dublin. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 73, 4905–4914. doi: 10.1128/AEM.02522-06
- Kloek, A. P., Verbsky, M. L., Sharma, S. B., Schoelz, J. E., Vogel, J., Klessig, D. F., et al. (2001). Resistance to *Pseudomonas syringae* conferred by an *Arabidopsis thaliana* coronatine-insensitive (*coi1*) mutation occurs through two distinct mechanisms. *Plant J.* 26, 509–522. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-313x.2001.01050.x
- Kroupitski, Y., Golberg, D., Belausov, E., Pinto, R., Swartzberg, D., Granot, D., et al. (2009). Internalization of *Salmonella enterica* in leaves is induced by light and involves chemotaxis and penetration through open stomata. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 75, 6076–6086. doi: 10.1128/AEM.01084-09
- Kroupitski, Y., Pinto, R., Belausov, E., and Sela, S. (2011). Distribution of Salmonella typhimurium in romaine lettuce leaves. Food Microbiol. 28, 990–997. doi: 10.1016/j.fm.2011.01.007
- Kunze, G., Zipfel, C., Robatzek, S., Niehaus, K., Boller, T., and Felix, G. (2004). The N terminus of bacterial elongation factor Tu elicits innate immunity in Arabidopsis plants. *Plant Cell* 16, 3496–3507. doi: 10.1105/tpc.104.026765
- Kutter, S., Hartmann, A., and Schmid, M. (2006). Colonization of barley (*Hordeum vulgare*) with Salmonella enterica and Listeria spp. FEMS Microbiol. Ecol. 56, 262–271. doi: 10.1111/j.1574-6941.2005.00053.x
- Lee, J., Teitzel, G. M., Munkvold, K., del Pozo, O., Martin, G. B., Michelmore, R. W., et al. (2012). Type III secretion and effectors shape the survival and growth pattern on *Pseudomonas syringae* on leaf surfaces. *Plant Physiol*. 158, 1803–1818. doi: 10.1104/pp.111.190686
- Leveau, J. H., and Lindow, S. E. (2001). Appetite of an epiphyte: quantitative monitoring of bacterial sugar consumption in the phyllosphere. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 98, 3446–3453. doi: 10.1073/pnas.061629598
- Lindow, S. E., and Brandl, M. T. (2003). Microbiology of the phyllosphere. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 69, 1875–1883. doi: 10.1128/AEM.69.4.1875-1883.2003
- Lynch, M. F., Tauxe, R. V., and Hedberg, C. W. (2009). The growing burden of foodborne outbreaks due to contaminated fresh produce: risks and opportunities. *Epidemiol. Infect.* 137, 307–315. doi: 10.1017/S0950268808001969
- Marvasi, M., Cox, C. E., Xu, Y., Noel, J. T., Giovannoni, J. J., and Teplitski, M. (2013). Differential regulation of *Salmonella* typhimurium genes involved in Oantigen capsule production and their role in persistence within tomato fruit. *Mol. Plant-Microbe Interact.* 26, 793–800. doi: 10.1094/MPMI-09-12-0208-R

- Marvasi, M., Noel, J. T., George, A. S., Farias, M. A., Jenkins, K. T., Hochmuth, G., et al. (2014). Ethylene signaling affects susceptibility of tomatoes to Salmonella. *Microb. Biotechnol.* doi: 10.1111/1751-7915.12130. [Epub ahead of print].
- Melotto, M., and Kunkel, B. N. (2013). "Virulence strategies of plant pathogenic bacteria," in *The Prokaryotes—Prokaryotic Physiology and Biochemistry, 4th Edn.*, eds E. Rosenberg, E. Stackebrand, E. F. DeLong, F. Thompson, and S. Lory (Berlin; Heidelberg: Springer-Verlag), 61–82.
- Melotto, M., Underwood, W., and He, S. Y. (2008). Role of stomata in plant innate immunity and foliar bacterial diseases. *Ann. Rev. Phytopathol.* 46, 101–122. doi: 10.1146/annurev.phyto.121107.104959
- Melotto, M., Underwood, W., Koczan, J., Nomura, K., and He, S. Y. (2006). Plant stomata function in innate immunity against bacterial invasion. *Cell* 126, 969–980. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2006.06.054
- Meng, F., Altier, C., and Martin, G. B. (2013). *Salmonella* colonization activates the plant immune system and benefits from association with plant pathogenic bacteria. *Environ. Microbiol.* 9, 2418–2430. doi: 10.1111/1462-2920.12113
- Miller, W. G., Brandl, M. T., Quiñones, B., and Lindow, S. E. (2001). Biological sensor for sucrose availability: relative sensitivities of various reporter genes. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 67, 1308–1317. doi: 10.1128/AEM.67.3.1308-1317.2001
- Mitra, R., Cuesta-Alonso, E., Wayadande, A., Talley, J., Gilliland, S., and Fletcher, J. (2009). Effect of route of introduction and host cultivar on the colonization, internalization, and movement of the human pathogen *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in spinach. J. Food Prot. 72, 1521–1530.
- Niemira, B. A. (2007). Relative efficacy of sodium hypochlorite wash versus irradiation to inactivate *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 internalized in leaves of romaine lettuce and baby spinach. J. Food Prot. 70, 2526–2532.
- Ribera, L. A., Palma, M. A., Paggi, M., Knutson, R., Masabni, J. G., and Anciso, J. (2012). Economic analysis of food safety compliance costs and foodborne illness outbreaks in the United States. *Hort Technol.* 22, 150–156.
- Robatzek, S., Bittel, P., Chinchilla, D., Köchner, P., Felix, G., Shiu, S.-H., et al. (2007). Molecular identification and characterization of the tomato flagellin receptor LeFLS2, an orthologue of Arabidopsis FLS2 exhibiting characteristically different perception specificities. *Plant Mol. Biol.* 64, 539–547. doi: 10.1007/s11103-007-9173-8
- Roy, D., Panchal, S., and Melotto, M. (2013). Escherichia coli O157:H7 induces stronger plant immunity than Salmonella enterica Typhimurium SL1344. Phytopathology 103, 326–332. doi: 10.1094/PHYTO-09-12-0230-FI
- Saldaña, Z., Sánchez, E., Xicohtencatl-Cortes, J., Puente, J. L., and Girón, J. A. (2011). Surface structures involved in plant stomata and leaf colonization by shiga-toxigenic *Escherichia coli* O157:H7. *Front. Microbiol.* 2:119. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2011.00119
- Sawinski, K., Mersmann, S., Robatzek, S., and Böhmer, M. (2013). Guarding the green: pathways to stomatal immunity. *Mol. Plant-Microbe Interact.* 26, 626–632. doi: 10.1094/MPMI-12-12-0288-CR
- Scallan, E., Hoekstra, R. M., Angulo, F. J., Tauxe, R. V., Widdowson, M. A., Roy, S. L., et al. (2011). Foodborne illness acquired in the United States—major pathogens. *Emerg. Infect. Dis.* 17, 7–15. doi: 10.3201/eid1701.P11101
- Schikora, A., Carreri, A., Charpentier, E., and Hirt, H. (2008). The dark side of the salad: Salmonella Typhimurium overcomes the innate immune response of Arabidopsis thaliana and shows an endopathogenic lifestyle. PLoS ONE 3:e2279. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0002279
- Schikora, A., Virlogeux-Payant, I., Bueso, E., Garcia, A. V., Nilau, T., Charrier, A., et al. (2011). Conservation of *Salmonella* infection mechanisms in plants and animals. *PLoS ONE* 6:e24112. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0024112
- Seo, K. H., and Frank, J. F. (1999). Attachment of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 to lettuce leaf surface and bacterial viability in response to chlorine treatment as demonstrated by using confocal scanning laser microscopy. *J. Food Prot.* 62, 3–9.
- Seo, S., and Matthews, K. R. (2012). Influence of the plant defense response to *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 cell surface structures on survival of that enteric pathogen on plant surfaces. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 78, 5882–5889. doi: 10.1128/AEM.01095-12
- Shaw, R. K., Berger, C. N., Feys, B., Knutton, S., Pallen, M. J., and Frankel, G. (2008). Enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* exploits EspA filaments for attachment to salad leaves. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 74, 2908–2914. doi: 10.1128/AEM. 02704-07
- Shaw, R. K., Berger, C. N., Pallen, M. J., Sjöling, A., and Frankel, G. (2011). Flagella mediate attachment of enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* to fresh salad leaves. *Environ. Microbiol. Rep.* 3, 112–117. doi: 10.1111/j.1758-2229.2010.00195.x

- Shirron, N., and Yaron, S. (2011). Active suppression of early immune response in tobacco by the human pathogen *Salmonella* Typhimurium. *PLoS ONE* 6:e18855. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0018855
- Solomon, E. B., Yaron, S., and Matthews, K. R. (2002). Transmission of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 from contaminated manure and irrigation water to lettuce plant tissue and its subsequent internalization. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 68, 397–400. doi: 10.1128/AEM.68.1.397-400.2002
- Üstün, S., Müller, P., Palmisano, R., Hensel, M., and Börnke, F. (2012). SseF, a type III effector protein from the mammalian pathogen *Salmonella enterica*, requires resistance-gene-mediated signaling to activate cell death in the model plant *Nicotiana benthamiana*. *New Phytol.* 194, 1046–1060. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8137.2012.04124.x
- Teplitski, M., Barak, J. D., and Schneider, K. R. (2009). Human enteric pathogens in produce: un-answered ecological questions with direct implications for food safety. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.* 20, 166–171. doi: 10.1016/j.copbio.2009. 03.002
- Thilmony, R., Underwood, W., and He, S. Y. (2006). Genome-wide transcriptional analysis of the Arabidopsis thaliana interaction with the plant pathogen Pseudomonas syringae pv. tomato DC3000 and the human pathogen Escherichia coli O157:H7. Plant J. 46, 34–53. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-313X.2006. 02725.x
- Ton, J., De Vos, M., Robben, C., Buchala, A., Métraux, J. P., Van Loon, L. C., et al. (2002). Characterization of Arabidopsis enhanced disease susceptibility mutants that are affected in systemically induced resistance. *Plant J.* 29, 11–21. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-313x.2002.01190.x
- Tyler, H. L., and Triplett, E. W. (2008). Plants as a habitat for beneficial and/or human pathogenic bacteria. *Annu. Rev. Phytopathol.* 46, 53–73. doi: 10.1146/annurev.phyto.011708.103102
- Wachtel, M. R., Whitehand, L. C., and Mandrell, R. E. (2002). Association of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 with preharvest leaf lettuce upon exposure to contaminated irrigation water. J. Food Prot. 65, 18–25.
- Warriner, K., Ibrahim, F., Dickinson, M., Wright, C., and Waites, W. M. (2003). Interaction of *Escherichia coli* with growing salad spinach plants. *J. Food Prot.* 66, 1790–1797.
- Wei, C. I., Huang, J. M., Lin, W. F., Tamplin, M. L., and Bartz, J. A. (1995). Growth and survival of *Salmonella* Montevideo on tomatoes and disinfection with chlorinated water. *J. Food Prot.* 8, 829–836.

- Wright, K. M., Chapman, S., McGeachy, K., Humphrism, S., Campbell, E., Toth, I. K., et al. (2013). The endophytic lifestyle of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7: quantification and internal localization in roots. *Phytopathology* 103, 333–340. doi: 10.1094/PHYTO-08-12-0209-FI
- Xicohtencatl-Cortes, J., Sánchez Chacón, E., Saldaña, Z., Freer, E., and Girón, J. A. (2009). Interaction of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 with leafy green produce. *J. Food Prot.* 72, 1531–1537.
- Xin, X.-F., and He, S. Y. (2013). Pseudomonas syringae pv. tomato DC3000: a model pathogen for probing disease susceptibility and hormone signaling in plants. Annu. Rev. Phytopathol. 51, 473–498. doi: 10.1146/annurev-phyto-082712-102321
- Zeng, W., and He, S. Y. (2010). A prominent role of the flagellin receptor FLAGELLIN-SENSING2 in mediating stomatal response to *Pseudomonas syringae* pv. *tomato* DC3000 in Arabidopsis. *Plant Physiol.* 153, 1188–1198. doi: 10.1104/pp.110.157016
- Zeng, W., Melotto, M., and He, S. Y. (2010). Plant stomata: a checkpoint of host immunity and pathogen virulence. *Curr. Opin. Biotech.* 21, 599–603. doi: 10.1016/j.copbio.2010.05.006
- Zipfel, C., and Robatzek, S. (2010). Pathogen-associated molecular patterntriggered immunity: veni, vidi...? *Plant Physiol.* 154, 551–554. doi: 10.1104/pp.110.161547

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 31 March 2014; accepted: 21 July 2014; published online: 11 August 2014. Citation: Melotto M, Panchal S and Roy D (2014) Plant innate immunity against human bacterial pathogens. Front. Microbiol. **5**:411. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2014.00411 This article was submitted to Plant-Microbe Interaction, a section of the journal Frontiers in Microbiology.

Copyright © 2014 Melotto, Panchal and Roy. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Salmonella enterica induces and subverts the plant immune system

Ana V. García¹ * and Heribert Hirt^{1,2}

¹ Unité de Recherche en Génomique Végétale, Unité Mixte de Recherche Institut National de la Recherche Agronomique/Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique/Université Evry Val d'Essonne, Evry, France

² Center for Desert Agriculture, King Abdullah University of Science and Technology, Thuwal, Saudi Arabia

Edited by:

Nicola Holden, The James Hutton Institute, UK

Reviewed by:

Igor Kovalchuk, University of Lethbridge, Canada Katherine Denby, University of Warwick, UK

*Correspondence:

Ana V. García, Unité de Recherche en Génomique Végétale, Unité Mixte de Recherche Institut National de la Recherche Agronomique/Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique/Université Evry Val d'Essonne, 2 rue Gaston Crémieux, 91057 Evry, France e-mail: garcia@evry.inra.fr

Infections with Salmonella enterica belong to the most prominent causes of food poisoning and infected fruits and vegetables represent important vectors for salmonellosis. Although it was shown that plants raise defense responses against Salmonella, these bacteria persist and proliferate in various plant tissues. Recent reports shed light into the molecular interaction between plants and Salmonella, highlighting the defense pathways induced and the means used by the bacteria to escape the plant immune system and accomplish colonization. It was recently shown that plants detect Salmonella pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs), such as the flagellin peptide flg22, and activate hallmarks of the defense program known as PAMP-triggered immunity (PTI). Interestingly, certain Salmonella strains carry mutations in the flg22 domain triggering PTI, suggesting that a strategy of Salmonella is to escape plant detection by mutating PAMP motifs. Another strategy may rely on the type III secretion system (T3SS) as T3SS mutants were found to induce stronger plant defense responses than wild type bacteria. Although Salmonella effector delivery into plant cells has not been shown, expression of Salmonella effectors in plant tissues shows that these bacteria also possess powerful means to manipulate the plant immune system. Altogether, these data suggest that Salmonella triggers PTI in plants and evolved strategies to avoid or subvert plant immunity.

Keywords: S. enterica, flagellin, PAMP-triggered immunity, effector, plants

INTRODUCTION

Several reports have demonstrated that certain human pathogens can colonize plants both at pre- and post-harvest stages, which is the cause of various outbreaks of foodborne human illnesses (Fletcher et al., 2013). These findings have expanded the research interest on so-called human pathogens on plants (HPOPs) as a means to explore and develop new avenues to increase food safety. One important HPOP is the Gramnegative bacterium Salmonella enterica, the causative agent of diseases such as gastroenteritis and typhoid fever that every year is responsible of outbreaks related to the consumption of raw fruits and vegetables (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; http://www.cdc.gov/foodsafety/outbreaks/multistateoutbreaks/outbreaks-list.html). Indeed, non-typhoidal S. enterica serovars can be internalized and persist in several plant species. Using GFP-labeled bacteria, it was shown that S. enterica can enter plant leaves through natural openings, such as hydathodes in tomato (Gu et al., 2013) and stomata in lettuce (Kroupitski et al., 2009), or by forcing themselves into plant tissues via "weak points" such as lateral root junctions (Cooley et al., 2003). Once in the intercellular space named apoplast, S. enterica is safe from regular sanitizer treatments, but in order to persist inside plant tissues it needs to cope with the plant immune system.

Plants lack an adaptive immune system as exists in higher animals but they have multilayered defense mechanisms that resist infection by a large variety of potential pathogenic microorganisms. The first layer of induced defenses is mediated by plasma membrane localized pattern-recognition receptors (PRRs) that detect conserved microbial features termed pathogen- or microbe-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs or MAMPs). Most characterized PRRs possess an extracellular sensing domain, a transmembrane region and an intracellular protein kinase domain that activates a chain of signaling events upon recognition of external molecules (Monaghan and Zipfel, 2012). These signaling events start with the rapid formation of a receptor complex at the plasma membrane, the activation of kinase cascades involving mitogenactivated protein kinases (MAPKs) and the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) within minutes but also include slower events such as a transcriptional reprogramming and production of the defense hormones salicylic acid (SA) and ethylene (ET; Monaghan and Zipfel, 2012). Altogether these signaling events lead to the so-called pattern-triggered immunity (PTI) which is usually sufficient to stop microbial invasion. Host-adapted pathogens are able to deliver effectors to the apoplast or inside the host cell using delivery systems, such as the bacterial type III secretion system (T3SS), to inactivate PTI components and thereby enable host colonization. A second layer of plant immunity is mediated by intracellular nucleotide-binding leucine-rich repeat receptors (NLR) that recognize the presence or the activity of specific microbial effectors and initiate effector-triggered immunity (ETI). ETI amplifies PTI responses and is normally associated with the appearance of localized cell death lesions known as hypersensitive response (HR; Heidrich et al., 2012). Furthermore, plants need to tailor their defense responses according to the lifestyle of the pathogenic microorganism. Whereas SA-based defenses are efficient to fight biotrophic pathogens that depend on living cells, necrotrophic pathogens that feed on dead tissue induce defense responses mediated by the hormones jasmonic acid (JA) and ET and many other plant hormones further influence the outcome of plant—pathogen interactions (Robert-Seilaniantz et al., 2011).

Several reports have shown that plants are able to detect and mount defense responses to *S. enterica* and recent studies started to shed light on the bacterial features recognized and the plant receptors involved. Here we will review new data concerning the molecular interaction between *S. enterica* and plants, and highlight key aspects of the interaction that are still unclear.

Salmonella enterica INDUCES PTI IN PLANTS

The recognition of *S. enterica* in animals occurs through its O antigen, reflecting variation in the lipopolysaccharide (LPS), and its H antigen, reflecting variation in flagellin, and is essential for activating animal innate immunity (Broz et al., 2012). Most *S. enterica* serovars carry two flagellin-encoding genes, *fliC* and *fljB*, and have the capability of "phase variation" through which *Salmonella* alternate between the expression of the two flagellar genes (Silverman and Simon, 1980). Bacterial flagellin constitutes the best studied PAMP recognition system in plants, whereas LPS perception and induced signaling cascades are less characterized (Zipfel et al., 2004; Sun et al., 2012). In plants, flagellin is recognized through direct binding of a conserved N-terminal domain called flg22 by the LRR receptor kinase FLS2 (flagellin-sensing 2) (Gomez-Gomez and Boller, 2000; Zipfel et al., 2004). Recently, a second domain at the N-terminal region of *Pseudomonas syringae*

flagellin, termed flgII-28, was shown to be recognized in certain solanaceous species (Cai et al., 2011; Clarke et al., 2013). The N-terminal region spanning the plant recognized domains are identical in the two flagellin proteins encoded by *S. enterica* serovar *Typhimurium* (*S. Typhimurium*) and present some amino acid differences with respect to the sequences shown to be recognized in plants (Garcia et al., 2013; Meng et al., 2013).

Various studies indicated that S. enterica possesses PAMPs that are recognized in plants (Figure 1). In a similar approach to that used for the identification of flagellin as a PAMP in plants (Felix et al., 1999), the treatment of tobacco cell cultures with heat-killed S. Typhimurium elicited rapid ROS accumulation (Shirron and Yaron, 2011). Furthermore, inoculation of S. enterica serovars to Arabidopsis thaliana seedlings triggered MAPK activation and defense gene expression to a similar extent as that provoked by P. syringae inoculation (Schikora et al., 2008, 2011; Garcia et al., 2013). Using a cell death suppression assay Meng et al. (2013) further confirmed that S. enterica induces PTI when infiltrated into Nicotiana benthamiana leaves. The induction of PTI hallmarks was reduced in Arabidopsis fls2 mutant seedlings and in N. benthamiana leaves silenced for FLS2 (Garcia et al., 2013; Meng et al., 2013). Furthermore, S. enterica flagellin mutants triggered reduced defense responses in Arabidopsis and tomato, and colonized Medicago spp. to higher numbers compared to wild type bacteria (Iniguez et al., 2005; Garcia et al., 2013; Meng et al., 2013). Together, these results demonstrated that S. enterica flagellin is recognized in plants via FLS2. PTI induction was mostly dependent on the *fliC* gene, the most widespread flagellin-encoding gene in S. enterica populations (Meng et al., 2013). The S. enterica flg22 sequence shows five amino acid changes with respect to the



FIGURE 1 | Representation of the defense responses induced upon *S. enterica* perception in plants and the hypothetical mechanisms that could be used by *S. enterica* to accomplish plant colonization: (A) evasion of detection by PRRs through modification of PAMPs

such as flagellin and (B) delivery of effectors to modify cell responses. NLR, nucleotide-binding leucine-rich repeat receptor; PRR, pattern-recognition receptor; ROS, reactive oxygen species; SA, Salicylic Acid. canonical flg22 from P. aeruginosa but nevertheless the purified peptide corresponding to the S. enterica flg22 sequence (flg22-ST) activated several PTI hallmarks, such as ROS accumulation, callose deposition, growth reduction, and resistance, to a similar extent as Pseudomonas flg22 (Garcia et al., 2013; Meng et al., 2013). Interestingly, a recent report demonstrated that S. Typhimurium triggers stomatal closure, another PTI-related defense response that limits pathogen entry into the apoplast (Roy et al., 2013). Bacteria-induced stomatal closure is largely mediated by FLS2mediated recognition of flagellin (Melotto et al., 2006; Zeng and He, 2010). It is therefore intriguing that S. Typhimurium treatment of Arabidopsis and lettuce leaves triggered reduced stomatal closure as compared with Escherichia coli (Roy et al., 2013), even if both bacteria carry the same flg22 sequence (Garcia et al., 2013). Furthermore, Salmonella treated leaves showed stronger stomatal reopening 4 h after bacterial inoculation (Roy et al., 2013). These differences could be due to the action of effector molecules or phytotoxins of Salmonella that interfere with plant stomatal immunity and that may be absent or less efficient in E. coli. Otherwise, it is also possible that the stronger responses triggered by E. coli can be attributed to the recognition of other PAMPs such as LPS, which also trigger stomatal closure (Melotto et al., 2006).

Interestingly, previous studies suggested the existence of a different flg22 sequence in strains of *S. enterica* serovar Senftenberg that is more divergent from the canonical flg22 (Tankouo-Sandjong et al., 2008; Berger et al., 2011). The corresponding flg22 peptide (flg22-SS) displayed reduced PTI activity in *Arabidopsis* and therefore suggests that certain *S. enterica* strains may have evolved divergent flagellin sequences to avoid plant recognition (Garcia et al., 2013; **Figure 1**). Other reports have already shown the existence of intra-species variation in the flg22encoding regions of the *fliC* genes of *P. syringae* and *Xanthomonas campestris* (Sun et al., 2006; Cai et al., 2011; Clarke et al., 2013), providing evidence that PAMPs are less conserved than usually assumed and can evolve to avoid activation of plant defense responses.

The results gathered so far also indicate that other S. enterica PAMPs besides flagellin are recognized in plants, as certain PTI activation was still observed in the Arabidopsis fls2 mutant or after inoculation with S. enterica flagellin mutants (Garcia et al., 2013; Meng et al., 2013). In this line, it was reported that S. enterica strains carrying the O antigen 1,3,19 induce leaf chlorosis and wilting when infiltrated into Arabidopsis leaves (Berger et al., 2011). Furthermore, purified LPS from S. Typhimurium (carrying another O antigen) induced ROS accumulation in tobacco (Shirron and Yaron, 2011). On the contrary, LPS purified from other serovars did not activate PTI when infiltrated into N. benthamiana leaves or induce ROS in tomato (Meng et al., 2013). This suggests that either a specific O antigen is recognized only by a reduced group of plant species or that other molecule(s) in the strains carrying the O antigen 1,3,19 is recognized in Arabidopsis. Synthetic peptides representing conserved regions of cold shock proteins (CSPs) were also inactive in N. benthamiana but presented a mild activity in ROS assays in tomato (Meng et al., 2013). Altogether these results indicated that the flagellin flg22 domain is the most prominent PAMP from S. enterica recognized in plants. Other PAMPs such as CSPs and flgII-28 seem to contribute to PTI activation to a lesser extent (Meng et al., 2013) and the recognition of *S. enterica* LPS in plants is still unclear.

Data suggests that defense hormones are also involved in the interaction between S. enterica and plants. Indeed, Arabidopsis mutants or transgenic lines affected in SA as well as in JA and ET signaling pathways showed increased S. enterica colonization (Iniguez et al., 2005; Schikora et al., 2008). Furthermore, pretreatment with the ET precursor ACC (1-Aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylic acid) reduced the colonization of Arabidopsis and alfalfa (Medicago sativa) roots by S. Typhimurium, as well as by other bacterial endophytes (Iniguez et al., 2005). Recently, it was shown that treatment of Arabidopsis seedlings with S. Typhimurium wild type and prgH- mutant leads to a mild but significant increase in SA accumulation and the reprogramming of several marker genes of the SA pathway (Garcia et al., 2013; Figure 1). Phytohormones can mold plant-microbe interactions in a positive or negative way depending on the pathogen, which in turn can be exploited by microbes to induce susceptibility (Robert-Seilaniantz et al., 2011). Therefore, whereas it is clear that defense hormones play a role in the interaction between S. enterica and plants, further information is needed to depict which hormones contribute to resistance and if certain hormones are induced by S. enterica to increase host susceptibility.

A ROLE FOR *Salmonella enterica* EFFECTORS IN PLANT TISSUES

Salmonella has two pathogenicity islands, SPI-1 (Salmonella pathogenicity island 1) and SPI-2, which encode a T3SS (T3SS-1 and T3SS-2) and a suite of effectors. These two secretion systems contribute to different stages of the animal infection process: while the T3SS-1 is expressed at the extracellular stage the T3SS-2 is induced after internalization into animal cells. More than 30 Salmonella effectors have been studied and shown to play important functions for virulence in animal cells by manipulating diverse host cell functions (McGhie et al., 2009). Recently, Salmonella T3SSs and effectors were proposed to contribute to the plant colonization process. S. Typhimurium mutants in T3SS-1 and T3SS-2 induced stronger cell death and chlorosis symptoms and proliferated to lower levels in Arabidopsis leaves (Schikora et al., 2011). Furthermore, the S. Typhimurium prgH-mutant, carrying a mutation in a structural component of the SPI-1-encoded T3SS needle complex, triggered enhanced expression of defense genes in Arabidopsis seedlings (Schikora et al., 2011; Garcia et al., 2013). Besides, the S. Typhimurium invA- mutant, another T3SS-1 defective mutant, induced stronger ROS accumulation than wild type bacteria in tobacco BY-2 cells (Shirron and Yaron, 2011). These results suggested that S. enterica effector delivery may be important for plant colonization by dampening the plant immune system (Figure 1). On the contrary, the initial colonization of alfalfa roots was higher when using S. enterica mutants in the SPI-1-encoded spas and sipB genes, with defects in effector delivery, which indicates the possibility that certain SPI-1 encoded molecules are recognized and trigger defense responses in this host (Iniguez et al., 2005). Finally, it was recently reported that the *S. Typhimurium prgH*- mutant can multiply to similar levels as the wild type strain in tomato leaves, which led the authors to conclude that SPI-1 is not important for tomato colonization and that tomato plants do not recognize SPI-1 products (Meng et al., 2013). The different results obtained in different plant species are intriguing and may point to different mechanisms of interaction.

So far no study has demonstrated the Salmonella-mediated delivery of effectors into plant tissues but two recent studies suggest that S. enterica effectors are functional in plant cells. Ustun et al. (2012) used Agrobacterium tumefaciens to monitor the effect of several S. Typhimurium effectors when expressed in N. benthamiana and identified the SPI-2-encoded effector SseF as an inducer of HR-like cell death lesions. The appearance of cell death lesions was specific and accompanied by the upregulation of several cell death and defense-related genes. Furthermore, SseF also triggered HR-cell death and ETI when delivered into N. benthamiana leaves in a T3SS-dependent manner by inoculation with X. campestris pv. vesicatoria. Interestingly, the SseF-triggered cell death was compromised by silencing the N. benthamiana genes coding for the co-chaperone SGT1 (suppressor of G2 allele of skp1) and the plasma-membrane localized protein NDR1 (nonrace-specific disease resistance 1), two proteins normally required for resistance mediated by NLRs carrying an N-terminal coiledcoil domain (Austin et al., 2002; Knepper et al., 2011; Ustun et al., 2012). Altogether, these data suggested that the S. Typhimurium SseF effector is recognized by an NLR in N. benthamiana. Recently, another SPI-2-encoded effector, SspH2, was proposed to perform functions conserved in plant and animal cells (Bhavsar et al., 2013). It was demonstrated that SspH2, an E3 ubiquitin ligase, interacts with and increases the activity of animal and plant SGT1 proteins, which in turn increases NLR-mediated cell death (Bhavsar et al., 2013). The functional significance of this interaction is unclear, but it demonstrates that S. enterica effectors are able to manipulate plant and animal immune components (Figure 1).

FURTHER HOST ADAPTATION MECHANISMS

The colonization of plants can also lead to molecular and phenotypical changes in S. enterica cells, which can help us to identify the determining factors governing the interaction between S. enterica and plants. The genome sequences of several S. enterica serovars are known and transcriptome analyzes have successfully been used to assess gene expression changes in environmental conditions associated to the animal infection processes (Hébrard et al., 2011; Kroger et al., 2013). Recently, the first transcriptome analysis of S. enterica cells in contact with plants was reported (Goudeau et al., 2013). Given that S. enterica proliferation levels are higher in softrotted tissues, the authors analyzed the transcriptional changes in S. Typhimurium upon inoculation of Dickeya dadantii-macerated cilantro (Coriandrum sativum) and lettuce (Lactuca sativa) leaves. This analysis revealed significant changes in gene expression that includes the upregulation of various nutritional and metabolic pathways, suggesting that S. enterica reacts to and benefits from the enhanced nutrient availability in the soft-rotted leaves (Goudeau et al., 2013). It is still intriguing to know how the plant environment impacts on the expression of other virulence related genes, such as the *Salmonella* pathogenicity islands and the encoded T3SS and effectors. For instance, SPI-1 genes are known to be induced by high osmolarity, low oxygen levels and short chain fatty acids (Hautefort et al., 2003) and using a promoter-reporter fusion, it was recently shown that the SPI-1 gene *prgH* is expressed when in contact with *Arabidopsis* root cells (Garcia et al., 2013).

Furthermore, genetic screens monitoring the efficiency of S. enterica mutants in different steps of the plant colonization process have proved useful to identify bacterial genes that are important for the interaction with plants (Barak et al., 2005, 2009). These analyzes pointed to the synthesis of cellulose and aggregative fimbriae (curli), involved in the so-called "rdar" (red dry and rough) phenotype, as being important for plant attachment. Interestingly, several non-rdar mutants have been recovered from produce-related disease outbreaks (Brandl et al., 2013). Furthermore, S. Typhimurium non-rdar mutants originating by sequential passages through tomatoes showed enhanced fitness in plants as compared to the parental strain, despite being less competitive on common laboratory media (Zaragoza et al., 2012). Altogether these results indicate that S. enterica has the ability to rapidly evolve and adapt to specific host environments such as the hostile plant apoplast. Further gene expression analyzes and mutant screens will allow us to gain insight into the virulence mechanisms used by S. enterica to colonize and survive in plant tissues.

PERSPECTIVES

In the past few years, the research on HPOPs has expanded and demonstrated that *S. enterica* serovars are able to colonize and persist in different plant tissues and species. These studies have also suggested that the ability to colonize different hosts is variable and governed by various genetic and environmental factors. A few studies reported varied proliferation levels (one to five logs) of *S. Typhimurium* inside plant tissues (Cooley et al., 2003; Schikora et al., 2008, 2011; Barak et al., 2011; Garcia et al., 2013; Meng et al., 2013) and evidence suggests that *S. enterica* titers inside the plant apoplast are highly dependent on the environmental conditions (Cooley et al., 2003; Roy et al., 2013). It is clear that the increased interest in HPOPs will reveal the mechanisms used by these microorganisms to exploit plants as secondary hosts and should help to develop strategies to reduce *S. enterica* populations in plants and thereby disease outbreaks.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

This work was supported by the European Research Area Network (ERA-Net) through the ERASysBio PLUS project SHIPREC.

REFERENCES

- Austin, M. J., Muskett, P., Kahn, K., Feys, B. J., Jones, J. D., and Parker, J. E. (2002). Regulatory role of SGT1 in early R gene-mediated plant defenses. *Science* 295, 2077–2080. doi: 10.1126/science.1067747
- Barak, J. D., Gorski, L., Liang, A. S., and Narm, K. E. (2009). Previously uncharacterized Salmonella enterica genes required for swarming play a role in seedling colonization. *Microbiology* 155(Pt 11), 3701–3709. doi: 10.1099/mic.0.032029-0
- Barak, J. D., Gorski, L., Naraghi-Arani, P., and Charkowski, A. O. (2005). Salmonella enterica virulence genes are required for bacterial attachment to plant tissue. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 71, 5685–5691. doi: 10.1128/AEM.71.10.5685-5691.2005
- Barak, J. D., Kramer, L. C., and Hao, L. Y. (2011). Colonization of tomato plants by *Salmonella enterica* is cultivar dependent, and type 1 trichomes

are preferred colonization sites. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 77, 498–504. doi: 10.1128/AEM.01661-10

- Berger, C. N., Brown, D. J., Shaw, R. K., Minuzzi, F., Feys, B., and Frankel, G. (2011). Salmonella enterica strains belonging to O serogroup 1,3,19 induce chlorosis and wilting of Arabidopsis thaliana leaves. Environ. Microbiol. 13, 1299–1308. doi: 10.1111/j.1462-2920.2011.02429.x
- Bhavsar, A. P., Brown, N. F., Stoepel, J., Wiermer, M., Martin, D. D., Hsu, K. J., et al. (2013). The *Salmonella* type III effector SspH2 specifically exploits the NLR co-chaperone activity of SGT1 to subvert immunity. *PLoS Pathog.* 9:e1003518. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1003518
- Brandl, M. T., Cox, C. E., and Teplitski, M. (2013). Salmonella interactions with plants and their associated. microbiota *Phytopathology* 103, 316–325. doi: 10.1094/PHYTO-11-12-0295-RVW
- Broz, P., Ohlson, M. B., and Monack, D. M. (2012). Innate immune response to Salmonella typhimurium, a model enteric pathogen. Gut Microbes 3, 62–70. doi: 10.4161/gmic.19141
- Cai, R., Lewis, J., Yan, S., Liu, H., Clarke, C. R., Campanile, F., et al. (2011). The plant pathogen *Pseudomonas syringae* pv. tomato is genetically monomorphic and under strong selection to evade tomato immunity. *PLoS Pathog.* 7:e1002130. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1002130
- Clarke, C. R., Chinchilla, D., Hind, S. R., Taguchi, F., Miki, R., Ichinose, Y., et al. (2013). Allelic variation in two distinct *Pseudomonas syringae* flagellin epitopes modulates the strength of plant immune responses but not bacterial motility. *New Phytol.* 200, 847–860. doi: 10.1111/nph.12408
- Cooley, M. B., Miller, W. G., and Mandrell, R. E. (2003). Colonization of Arabidopsis thaliana with Salmonella enterica and enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli O157:H7 and competition by Enterobacter asburiae. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 69, 4915–4926. doi: 10.1128/AEM.69.8.4915-4926.2003
- Felix, G., Duran, J. D., Volko, S., and Boller, T. (1999). Plants have a sensitive perception system for the most conserved domain of bacterial flagellin. *Plant J.* 18, 265–276. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-313X.1999.00265.x
- Fletcher, J., Leach, J. E., Eversole, K., and Tauxe, R. (2013). Human pathogens on plants: designing a multidisciplinary strategy for research. *Phytopathology* 103, 306–315. doi: 10.1094/PHYTO-09-12-0236-IA
- Garcia, A. V., Charrier, A., Schikora, A., Bigeard, J., Pateyron, S., de Tauzia-Moreau, M. L., et al. (2013). Salmonella enterica flagellin is recognized via FLS2 and activates PAMP-triggered immunity in Arabidopsis thaliana. Mol. Plant doi: 10.1093/mp/sst145 [Epub ahead of print].
- Gomez-Gomez, L., and Boller, T. (2000). FLS2: an LRR receptor-like kinase involved in the perception of the bacterial elicitor flagellin in *Arabidopsis. Mol. Cell* 5, 1003–1011. doi: 10.1016/S1097-2765(00)80265-8
- Goudeau, D. M., Parker, C. T., Zhou, Y., Sela, S., Kroupitski, Y., and Brandl, M. T. (2013). The Salmonella transcriptome in lettuce and cilantro soft rot reveals a niche overlap with the animal host intestine. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 79, 250–62. doi: 10.1128/AEM.02290-12
- Gu, G., Cevallos-Cevallos, J. M., and van Bruggen, A. H. (2013). Ingress of Salmonella enterica Typhimurium into tomato leaves through hydathodes. PLoS ONE 8:e53470. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0053470
- Hautefort, I., Proença, M. J., and Hinton, J. C. (2003). Single-copy green fluorescent protein gene fusions allow accurate measurement of *Salmonella* gene expression in vitro and during infection of mammalian cells. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 69, 7480–7491. doi: 10.1128/AEM.69.12.7480-7491.2003
- Hébrard, M., Kröger, C., Sivasankaran, S. K., Händler, K., and Hinton, J. C. (2011). The challenge of relating gene expression to the virulence of *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.* 22, 200–210. doi: 10.1016/j.copbio.2011.02.007
- Heidrich, K., Blanvillain-Baufumé, S., and Parker, J. E. (2012). Molecular and spatial constraints on NB-LRR receptor signaling. *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.* 15, 385–391. doi: 10.1016/j.pbi.2012.03.015
- Iniguez, A. L., Dong, Y., Carter, H. D., Ahmer, B. M., Stone, J. M., and Triplett, E. W. (2005). Regulation of enteric endophytic bacterial colonization by plant defenses. *Mol. Plant Microbe Interact.* 18, 169–178. doi: 10.1094/MPMI-18-0169
- Knepper, C., Savory, E. A., and Day, B. (2011). Arabidopsis NDR1 is an integrin-like protein with a role in fluid loss and plasma membrane-cell wall adhesion. Plant Physiol. 156, 286–300. doi: 10.1104/pp.110.169656
- Kroger, C., Colgan, A., Srikumar, S., Händler, K., Sivasankaran, S. K., Hammarlöf, D. L., et al. (2013). An infection-relevant transcriptomic compendium for

Salmonella enterica Serovar Typhimurium. Cell Host Microbe 14, 683–695. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2013.11.010

- Kroupitski, Y., Golberg, D., Belausov, E., Pinto, R., Swartzberg, D., Granot, D., et al. (2009). Internalization of *Salmonella enterica* in leaves is induced by light and involves chemotaxis and penetration through open stomata. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 75, 6076–6086. doi: 10.1128/AEM.01084-09
- McGhie, E. J., Brawn, L. C., Hume, P. J., Humphreys, D., and Koronakis, V. (2009). Salmonella takes control: effector-driven manipulation of the host. Curr. Opin. Microbiol. 12, 117–124. doi: 10.1016/j.mib.2008.12.001
- Melotto, M., Underwood, W., Koczan, J., Nomura, K., and He, S. Y. (2006). Plant stomata function in innate immunity against bacterial invasion. *Cell* 126, 969–980. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2006.06.054
- Meng, F., Altier, C., and Martin, G. B. (2013). Salmonella colonization activates the plant immune system and benefits from association with plant pathogenic bacteria. Environ. Microbiol. 15, 2418–2430. doi: 10.1111/1462-2920. 12113
- Monaghan, J., and Zipfel, C. (2012). Plant pattern recognition receptor complexes at the plasma membrane. *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.* 15, 349–357. doi: 10.1016/j.pbi.2012.05.006
- Robert-Seilaniantz, A., Grant, M., and Jones, J. D. (2011). Hormone crosstalk in plant disease and defense: more than just jasmonate-salicylate antagonism. *Annu. Rev. Phytopathol.* 49, 317–343. doi: 10.1146/annurev-phyto-073009-114447
- Roy, D., Panchal, S., Rosa, B. A., and Melotto, M. (2013). Escherichia coli O157:H7 induces stronger plant immunity than Salmonella enterica Typhimurium SL1344. *Phytopathology* 103, 326–332. doi: 10.1094/PHYTO-09-12-0230-FI
- Schikora, A., Carreri, A., Charpentier, E., and Hir, H. (2008). The dark side of the salad: Salmonella typhimurium overcomes the innate immune response of Arabidopsis thaliana and shows an endopathogenic lifestyle. PLoS ONE 3:e2279. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0002279
- Schikora, A., Virlogeux-Payant, I., Bueso, E., Garcia, A. V., Nilau, T., Charrier. A., et al. (2011). Conservation of *Salmonella* infection mechanisms in plants and animals. *PLoS ONE* 6:e24112. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0024112
- Shirron, N., and Yaron, S. (2011). Active suppression of early immune response in tobacco by the human pathogen *Salmonella typhimurium*. *PLoS ONE* 6:e18855. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0018855
- Silverman, M., and Simon, M. (1980). Phase variation: genetic analysis of switching mutants. *Cell* 19, 845–854. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(80)90075-6
- Sun, A., Nie, S., and Xing, D. (2012). Nitric oxide-mediated maintenance of redox homeostasis contributes to NPR1-dependent plant innate immunity triggered by lipopolysaccharides. *Plant Physiol*. 160, 1081–1096. doi: 10.1104/pp.112.201798
- Sun, W., Dunning, F. M., Pfund, C., Weingarten, R., and Bent, A. F. (2006). Withinspecies flagellin polymorphism in *Xanthomonas campestris* pv campestris and its impact on elicitation of *Arabidopsis* FLAGELLIN SENSING2-dependent defenses. *Plant Cell* 18, 764–779. doi: 10.1105/tpc.105.037648
- Tankouo-Sandjong, B., Sessitsch, A., Stralis-Pavese, N., Liebana, E., Kornschober, C., Allerberger, F., et al. (2008). Development of an oligonucleotide microarray method for *Salmonella* serotyping. *Microb. Biotechnol.* 1, 513–522. doi: 10.1111/j.1751-7915.2008.00053.x
- Ustun, S., Müller, P., Palmisano, R., Hensel, M., and Börnke, F. (2012). SseF, a type III effector protein from the mammalian pathogen *Salmonella enterica*, requires resistance-gene-mediated signaling to activate cell death in the model plant *Nicotiana benthamiana*. *New Phytol.* 194, 1046–1060. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8137.2012.04124.x
- Zaragoza, W. J., Noel, J. T., and Teplitski, M. (2012). Spontaneous non-rdar mutations increase fitness of *Salmonella* in plants. *Environ. Microbiol. Rep.* 4, 453–458. doi: 10.1111/j.1758-2229.2012.00364.x
- Zeng, W., and He, S. Y. (2010). A prominent role of the flagellin receptor FLAGELLIN-SENSING2 in mediating stomatal response to *Pseudomonas syringae* pv tomato DC3000 in *Arabidopsis. Plant Physiol.* 153, 1188–1198. doi: 10.1104/pp.110.157016
- Zipfel, C., Robatzek, S., Navarro, L., Oakeley, E. J., Jones, J. D., Felix, G., et al. (2004). Bacterial disease resistance in *Arabidopsis* through flagellin perception. *Nature* 428, 764–767. doi: 10.1038/nature02485

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 31 January 2014; paper pending published: 21 February 2014; accepted: 19 March 2014; published online: 04 April 2014.

Citation: García AV and Hirt H (2014) Salmonella enterica induces and subverts the plant immune system. Front. Microbiol. **5**:141. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2014.00141

This article was submitted to Plant-Microbe Interaction, a section of the journal Frontiers in Microbiology.

Copyright © 2014 García and Hirt. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Killing two birds with one stone: trans-kingdom suppression of PAMP/MAMP-induced immunity byT3E from enteropathogenic bacteria

Malou Fraiture and Frédéric Brunner*

Plant Biochemistry, Centre for Plant Molecular Biology, Eberhard Karls University Tübingen, Tübingen, Germany

Edited by:

Nicola Holden, The James Hutton Institute, UK

Reviewed by:

Jens Staal, Ghent University, Belgium Delphine Chinchilla, University of Basel, Switzerland

*Correspondence:

Frédéric Brunner, Plant Biochemistry, Centre for Plant Molecular Biology , Eberhard Karls University Tübingen, Auf der Morgenstelle 32, 72076 Tübingen, Germany e-mail: frederic.brunner@zmbp.unituebingen.de Within the past decade, remarkable similarities between the molecular organization of animal and plant systems for non-self discrimination were revealed. Obvious parallels exist between the molecular structures of the receptors mediating the recognition of pathogenor microbe-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs/MAMPs) with plant pattern recognition receptors strikingly resembling mammalian Toll-like receptors. Mitogen-activated protein kinase cascades, leading to the transcriptional activation of immunity-associated genes, illustrate the conservation of whole molecular building blocks of PAMP/MAMP-induced signaling. Enteropathogenic *Salmonella* and *Escherichia coli* use a type three secretion system (T3SS) to inject effector proteins into the mammalian host cell to subvert defense mechanisms and promote gut infection. Lately, disease occurrence was increasingly associated with bacteria-contaminated fruits and vegetables and common themes have emerged with regard to whether and how effectors target innate immune responses in a trans-kingdom manner. We propose that numerous *Salmonella* or *E. coli* effectors may be active *in planta* and tend to target central components (hubs) of immune signaling pathways.

Keywords: PAMP/MAMP, innate immunity, mammals, plants, enteropathogenic bacteria, Salmonella, Escherichia coli, type three effectors

INTRODUCTION

Animals and plants are able to discriminate between self and non-self, which is the key feature to fight against microbial pathogens. The first line of the innate immune response in both animals and plants is induced by the perception of common pathogen or microbe-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs/MAMPs) that are absent from host cells (Nurnberger et al., 2004; Ausubel, 2005; Akira et al., 2006; Boller and Felix, 2009; Macho and Zipfel, 2014). PAMP/MAMP sensing is mediated by specific pattern recognition receptors (PRRs), localized in different sub-cellular compartments. In mammals, the transmembrane Toll-like receptor family (TLRs) and the cytoplasmic nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain (NOD)-like receptor family (NLRs) are the most representative PRRs (Kawai and Akira, 2011; Kumar et al., 2011). In plants, typical PRRs belong to the class of transmembrane receptor-like kinases or membrane bound- receptor like proteins with extracellular leucinerich repeat- (LRR-RLKs/LRR-RLPs) or lysine motif- (LysM-RLKs/LysM-RLPs) containing domains (Boller and Felix, 2009; Macho and Zipfel, 2014). PAMP/MAMP binding induces intracellular signaling cascades leading to cellular re-programming. In mammals, the immune response is associated with the transcriptional activation of immunity-associated genes and production of cytokines including interleukins (ILs) or tumor necrosis factors (TNFs) and antimicrobial peptides. In plants, anti-microbial metabolites (phytoalexins) and proteins (Pathogenesis-Related proteins) are produced in response to infection. The ultimate outcome of the process, called inflammatory response in animals and PAMP/MAMP-triggered immunity (PTI/MTI) in plants, is pathogen clearance.

Successful pathogens have learned to subvert PAMP/MAMP triggered immune responses by producing effectors that contribute to virulence. Many effectors originated from human pathogenic enterobacteria, e.g. Salmonella, shigella, Yersinia, and Escherichia coli or plant pathogenic bacteria e.g. Pseudomonads and Xanthomonads were shown to manipulate host PTI/MTI signaling (Gohre and Robatzek, 2008; Brodsky and Medzhitov, 2009; Dean, 2011; Dou and Zhou, 2012; Johannessen et al., 2013; Raymond et al., 2013). Although enterobacteria do not represent a threat to agriculture, cumulative evidence support the view that, against the general dogma, Salmonella and some E. coli strains (O157:H7 serogroup) can actively invade, proliferate and spread in plants (Holden et al., 2009; Schikora et al., 2012). A prerequisite for Salmonella or E. coli growth on host plants would be the ability to cope with the immune system, notably through the evolution of a functional type three secretion system (T3SS) capable to breach through the cell wall and inject type three effectors (T3E) that manipulate immunity-associated components.

Here, we will review the parallels (and differences) between PAMP/MAMP-induced immune signaling in plants and animals with emphasis on the molecular components that are functionally conserved between both kingdoms. Further, we will discuss the potential of candidate effectors from animal- and plant-adapted enteropathogenic bacteria to suppress the evolutionary conserved PAMP/MAMP-triggered immune response.

PAMP/MAMP-TRIGGERED IMMUNITY IS EVOLUTIONARY CONSERVED ACROSS KINGDOMS

The identification and functional characterization of PAMPs/ MAMPs and their corresponding PRRs in mammals and plants underwent a burst of interest in the past two decades, contributing to drastically increase our fundamental knowledge about the molecular mechanisms of host adaptation to microbial infection. Best-studied PAMPs/MAMPs in mammals are lipopolysaccharides (LPS) from Gram- bacteria, peptidoglycan (PGN) from Gram+ bacteria, flagellin (the major constituent of bacterial flagella), double stranded RNA of viruses or bacterial DNA. In mammals, transmembrane TLRs and cytoplasmic NOD proteins with leucine rich repeats (LRR) are responsible for the recognition of PAMPs/MAMPs (Akira et al., 2006; Kawai and Akira, 2011; Kumar et al., 2011). The heterodimerization between different TLRs increases the potential of recognized PAMPs/MAMPs (Ozinsky et al., 2000). TLR5 is a good representative of the TLR family in mammals (Figure 1). It senses flagellin from a variety of different Gram+ and Gram- bacteria (Nempont et al., 2008) by recognizing the highly conserved N-terminal 99 amino acids and C-terminal 416-444 amino acids of the protein (Smith et al., 2003). Flagellin-induced signaling recruits adaptor proteins such as MyD88 (Myeloid Differentiation primary response gene 88). The adaptor then recruits IRAK1 and IRAK4 (IL-1R-associated kinases) causing their autophosphorylation and the association with TRAF6 (TNF-receptor-associated factor 6). TRAF6 activates the TAK complex (TAB1,2-TAK1 binding protein 1,2- and TAK1-TGFB activated Kinase 1) which then induces the activation of MEK1/2, MKK3/6, 4, 7 (MAP kinase kinase 1/2, 3/6, 4, 7) and of the IKK γ (NEMO)/IKK α /IKK β complex (IKK complex). The activated MKKs in turn activate ERK (Extracellular signal Regulated Kinase), JNK (c-Jun N-terminal Kinase), and p38 MAP kinase which ultimately induce the expression of immunity-associated genes like IL-1 (interleukin-1), IL-2, IL-6, and IL-12 through stimulation of the transcription factor AP-1 (Activator Protein 1). The activation of the IKK complex results in the degradation of $I-\kappa B$ (Inhibitor of kappaB) and the translocation of NF- κB (Nuclear Factor-kappaB) to the nucleus where it regulates the expression of genes encoding TNFs (Akira et al., 2006; O'Neill and Bowie, 2007; Kumar et al., 2011).

Most of the PAMPs/MAMPs, which are recognized in mammals, also trigger defense responses in plants. Like in animals, the perception is executed by cell surface receptors that are structurally very similar to TLRs. One of the beststudied PRR in plants is FLS2 (Flagellin Sensitive 2) from *Arabidopsis thaliana*, a protein with an extracellular leucine rich repeat domain (LRR) responsible for flagellin binding and an intracellular kinase domain involved in signal transduction (Gomez-Gomez and Boller, 2000; **Figure 1**). FLS2 homologs are present in nearly all the plant species that were tested for responsiveness to flagellin (Boller and Felix, 2009). FLS2 binds a conserved 22 amino acid peptide (flg22) located in the N-terminal part of flagellin. Flg22 binding leads to the recruitment of BAK1 (BRI1-Associated Kinase 1), another transmembrane receptor-like kinase, to form a functional receptor complex (Chinchilla et al., 2007; Heese et al., 2007; Sun et al., 2013). The FLS2-BAK1 complex undergoes several events of cross-phosphorylation at multiple serine/threonine and tyrosine residues that are located in the kinase domain (Schulze et al., 2010; Schwessinger et al., 2011; Yan et al., 2012). These phosphorylation events are thought to contribute to signaling initiation and specificity but their functions remain largely hypothetical (Macho and Zipfel, 2014). The receptor-like cytoplasmic kinase BIK1, constitutively associated with FLS2 in absence of flg22 also becomes phosphorylated and dissociates from the receptor complex (Lu et al., 2010; Zhang et al., 2010). The NADPH oxidase RbohD has been identified recently as a substrate of BIK1. Thus, a direct mechanistic link could be established between the formation of the receptor complex and the production of reactive-oxygen species (Kadota et al., 2014; Li et al., 2014). In contrast, the activation mechanism of MAP kinase cascades comprising MEKK1, MKK1/MKK2, MPK4 and MKK4/MKK5, MPK3/MPK6 downstream of the FLS2 receptor remains elusive (Asai et al., 2002). Activated MAP kinases are translocated to the nucleus where they regulate the expression of immunity-associated genes, for example by activating the transcription of genes encoding pathogenesis-related (PR) proteins.

FLS2 and TLR5 recognize different epitopes in flagellin. Therefore it is considered that animals and plants have developed their perception systems for flagellin independently. It is generally admitted that the similarity between the components present in the plant and animal innate immune signaling pathways is likely based on convergent evolution. Plants do not have downstream signaling components homologous to the MyD88 adaptor protein and intracellular TIRAP (Toll-interleukin receptor containing adaptor protein). The Rel family of transcription factors, which includes NF- κ B in mammals, is also missing in plants. On the contrary, animals do not have transcription factors homologous to the WRKY family found in *Arabidopsis*.

BACTERIAL TYPE THREE EFFECTORS MANIPULATING PAMP/MAMP-TRIGGERED IMMUNE SIGNALING COMPONENTS

Successful pathogens are able to manipulate PAMP/MAMPtriggered immunity in both animals and plants by producing effectors. Most of the Gram- bacteria use a sec-independent protein delivery system, the so-called type three secretion apparatus (T3SS), to translocate type three effectors (T3E) into the cytosol of host cells.

The molecular mechanisms underlying *Salmonella* and *E. coli* infection in humans are well-studied and the functions of T3Es become apparent. More than thirty T3Es have been identified in *Salmonella* and some of them have been shown to manipulate key cellular functions implicated in immunity (McGhie et al., 2009; Dean, 2011; Figueira and Holden, 2012). Many effectors are GTPase-activating proteins (GAPs) that interact and alter the function of the Rho family GTPases, proteins regulating numerous cellular processes including immune responses and



FIGURE 1 | Overview of the PTI/MTI-suppressing function of type three effectors from enterobacteria and phytopathogenic bacteria. The perception of pathogen/microbe-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs/MAMPs) by pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) triggers signaling pathways conferring immunity (PTI/MTI) that are conserved in mammals and plants. Host-adapted bacterial pathogens use the type three secretion system (T3SS) to inject effectors (T3E) that compromise PTI/MTI. Components of basic plant defense and interfering pathogen effectors (black box) are depicted. See main text for additional details. Abbreviations used in the figure: TLR5, Toll-like receptor 5; FLS2, Flagellin Sensitive 2; MyD88, Myeloid Differentiation primary response gene 88;

BAK1, BRI1-Associated receptor Kinase 1; BIK1, Botrytis-Induced Kinase 1; PBS1, AvrPphB susceptible 1; PBL, AvrPphB susceptible 1-like; IRAK1,4, II-1 receptor associated kinase 1,4; TRAF6, TNF receptor associated factor 6; TAB1,2, TAK1 binding protein 1,2; TAK1, TGFβ activated Kinase 1; MEKKs, mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase kinases; MEKs/MKKs, mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase kinases; MEKs/MKKs, mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase kinases; MEKs/MKKs, mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase kinase; IKKs, IkapaB kinases; JNK, c-Jun N-terminal kinase; p38, p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase; Erk, extracellular signal regulated kinase; IKKs, IkapaB kinases; IkB, inhibitor of kappa B; NFκB, nuclear factor-kappa B; AP-1, activator protein 1; WRKY, WRKY transcription factor; MYB30, MYB domain protein 30. cytoskeleton re-arrangements (Bokoch, 2005; Aktories, 2011). The *Salmonella* effector SptP contains a GAP domain and was shown to inhibit the downstream activity of Rac1 and Cdc42, two Rho family GTPases (Fu and Galan, 1999; Bruno et al., 2009). In addition, the C-terminal domain of SptP displays tyrosine phosphatase activity that blocks the MAP kinase pathway by inhibiting Raf kinase activation (Lin et al., 2003).

SpvC, a homolog of OspF from *Shigella flexneri*, is an effector with phosphothreonine lyase activity that exerts its inhibitory action on active MAP kinases and downregulates the expression of cytokines in infected cells (Mazurkiewicz et al., 2008). The MAP kinases are irreversibly inactivated through β -elimination of the phosphate group from a conserved phosphothreonine residue in the activation loop (Li et al., 2007; Zhu et al., 2007).

Another well-studied Salmonella effector, AvrA, is a close homolog of YopJ from Yersinia spp. It was shown that AvrA possesses acetyltransferase activity. Through its interaction with MKK4 and MKK7, it inhibits the activation of the JNK pathway without interfering with the activation of the NF-kB or p38 pathways (Jones et al., 2008). Interestingly, AvrA itself is activated through phosphorylation that is dependent on the stimulation of the extracellular signal-regulated kinases 1/2 (Erk 1/2) pathway upon Salmonella infection (Jones et al., 2008; Du and Galan, 2009). In addition, it was reported that AvrA has deubiquitinase activity and removes ubiquitin from IkB and β -catenin, two inhibitors of NF- κ B, thereby preventing their degradation by the proteasome. The resulting increase of association with NF-kB attenuates the translocation of the transcription factor to the nucleus and attenuates the inflammatory response and cellular apoptosis (Ye et al., 2007). NF-kB functions as an important cellular hub of immune responses that is preferentially targeted by many effectors. Hence, Salmonella SseL is acting via a similar mechanism than AvrA (Le Negrate et al., 2008).

E. coli is producing a range of effectors with different functions and acting on different targets of the NF-κB signaling pathway. NleE displays methyltransferase activity and methylates TAB2/3, which in turn inhibits TRAF6-induced activation of the NF-κB pathway (Nadler et al., 2010; Newton et al., 2010; Vossenkamper et al., 2010). NleC is a zinc metallo-protease that degrades the NFκB p65 subunit, thus blocking the induction of IL-8 (Yen et al., 2010). Another effector, NleH, blocks translocation of NF-κB into the nucleus without affecting IkBα degradation (Gao et al., 2009; Pham et al., 2012). NleD is a zinc-dependent metallo-protease specifically targeting the MAP kinases JNK and p38 but not Erk1/2, thereby blocking the nuclear translocation of the transcription factor AP-1 (Baruch et al., 2011).

Like *Salmonella* and *E. coli*, typical plant pathogenic bacteria such as *Pseudomonas spp.* or *Xanthomonas spp.* produce effectors that are translocated into the host cell via the T3SS. Genetic and functional analyzes have shown that a large number of T3E suppress defense responses that are normally induced by T3SS-deficient bacteria or by flg22 (Gohre and Robatzek, 2008; Dou and Zhou, 2012). These T3E affect PAMP/MAMPinduced signaling at different steps, from the early recognition events at the plasma membrane involving the PAMP/MAMP receptor complex to the late defense responses associated with the de novo synthesis of anti-microbial metabolites and proteins or callose deposition for cell wall reinforcement. AvrPto from Pseudomonas syringae interacts with the kinase domain of FLS2 (and other PAMP/MAMP receptors) in planta (Xiang et al., 2008) and/or with its co-receptor BAK1 (Shan et al., 2008). This interaction causes the inhibition of the kinase activity that is essential for the initiation of the signaling cascade (Xing et al., 2007). Very recently, it was shown that the tyrosine phosphatase activity of HopAO1 affects early immune signaling triggered by the receptor-like kinase EF-Tu Receptor (EFR) - and potentially FLS2 -, which perceives the elf18 peptide derived from the bacterial elongation factor Tu (EF-Tu) (Macho et al., 2014). Another effector from P. syringae, AvrPtoB, is a E3 ubiquitin ligase that causes degradation of FLS2 (Gohre et al., 2008). BIK1 is targeted by effectors originated from different phytopathogenic bacteria. P. syringae AvrPphB is a cysteine protease that causes degradation of BIK1 and related receptor-like cytoplasmic kinases such as PBS1 and PBLs (Zhang et al., 2010) whereas Xanthomonas campestris AvrAC displays uridylyl-transferase activity to interfere with the activation of BIK1 upon FLS2-BAK1 association (Feng and Zhou, 2012). Many T3E were shown to suppress PAMP/MAMP-dependent signal transduction downstream of the PRR complex. HopAI1, an effector with phosphothreonine lyase activity inactivates MPK3, MPK6, and MPK4 by dephosphorylating them (Zhang et al., 2007). HopF2 inhibits PAMP/MAMP-induced signaling by targeting MKK5 via its ADP-ribosyltransferase activity (Wang et al., 2010). There are increasing evidence that the nuclear transcriptional and post-transcriptional machinery represent a key target of bacterial effectors for the suppression of immunity-associated genes. For example, X. campestris XopD blocks the activity of the transcription factor MYB30 resulting in the suppression of basal immune responses (Kim et al., 2008; Canonne et al., 2011).

EVOLUTIONARY CONSERVED CELLULAR HUBS OF IMMUNE RESPONSES AS PUTATIVE TARGETS OF ENTEROBACTERIA TYPE THREE EFFECTORS

A large yeast two-hybrid interaction matrix analysis with effectors from P. syringae and the filamentous oomycete Hyaloperonospora arabidopsisdis, both pathogens of Arabidopsis, suggests that taxonomically distant microorganisms have independently evolved effectors targeting an overlapping subset of proteins that are central components of the plant immune network (Mukhtar et al., 2011). By extension, cellular hubs that are evolutionary conserved among kingdoms are potentially prime choice targets of effectors. So far, a few studies show experimental evidence in favor of enterobacteria T3E being functional in plant cells. Notably, Ustün et al. (2012) showed that SseF from S. enterica induces a hypersensitive response (HR)-like cell death when transiently expressed in Nicotiana benthamiana (Ustün et al., 2012). Importantly, the HR-like phenotype is dependent on the co-chaperone SGT1 (Suppressor of G2 allele of skp1) and the protein NDR1 (Non-race specific Disease Resistance 1), which are essential for effector-triggered immunity, a form of race-cultivar specific resistance that is mediated by the recognition of effectors (mostly T3E) from adapted phytopathogenic bacteria by cytoplasmic plant resistance (R) proteins of the CC-NB-LRR (coiled-coil - nucleotide binding – leucine rich repeat domain) type. The function of R proteins is to monitor changes occurring to cellular components that are modulated by effectors. In the case of SseF, no plant interactors have been reported yet, thus, the virulence function of SseF, especially its ability to interfere with PTI/MTI remains elusive. SGT1 is conserved in both mammals and plants and in another study, it was shown that SspH2, an E3 ubiquitin ligase, interacts and modifies the activity of SGT1 to subvert immunity (Bhavsar et al., 2013). Effector-mediated protein ubiquitination to trigger degradation seems to be a common strategy adopted by mammals and plant pathogens to re-program cellular functions. SspH2 and other Salmonella ubiquitin ligases, e.g., SspH1, SlrP, or SopA might very well work in planta and target components of the PTI/MTI signaling pathway, like AvrPtoB does at the level of the PRR complex.

The MAP kinase cascades represent an obvious target of T3E action. SpvC interacts with *Arabidopsis* MPK6 by blocking the flg22-dependent post-translational activation of MPK3/6 and consequently the induction of the expression of typical PAMP/MAMP-induced marker genes (A. Schikora, personal communication). Because of the functional similarity with HopAI1, it is assumable that SpvC inactivates the plant MAP kinases through its phosphothreonine lyase activity.

Enterobacteria produce many effectors that modulate the function of the Rho family GTPases. Also the ROP (Rho of plant) family of GTPases is playing a determinant role in plant defense to pathogen attack (Moeder et al., 2005; Chen et al., 2010; Hoefle et al., 2011). It will be a very exciting challenge to elucidate to what extent the interaction between SptP and the *Arabidopsis* Rac1 homolog AtROP2 (A. Schikora, personal communication) affects the biochemical and biological function of this protein.

Overall these research findings give rise to the concept that *Salmonella* has deployed an arsenal of effectors able to manipulate both animal and plant basal immune defenses, which would be requested for successful growth and host colonization.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

Until very recently it was assumed that disease caused by fruits and vegetables contaminated by enteropathogenic bacteria was due to post-harvesting handling. However, reports indicating that Salmonella and E. coli are able to actively grow and replicate in soil-grown vegetables suggest that plants may provide a niche for these bacteria (Holden et al., 2009; Schikora et al., 2012). In the case of Salmonella, it is still controversial whether the bacterium is able to enter the plant cell and replicate in specialized structures (the Salmonella-containing vacuoles) as it does in human epithelial cells. To date, none of the common plant pathogenic Grambacteria (Pseudmonads, Xanthomonads) was reported to penetrate into the cell but rather grow in the apoplast in an epiphytic modus. The reason for that is the presence of the plant cell wall, which may prevent bacterial uptake by macropinocytosis. Also, it is not proven whether the T3SS from Salmonella is adapted for translocation of effectors into plant cells. A major function of the T3E is to manipulate PAMP/MAMP-triggered immunity. As the molecular blocks

of the signaling cascades are conserved between mammals and plants, it is tempting to speculate that *Salmonella* and *E. coli* have evolved effectors targeting components of the immune signaling pathway that are conserved among plants and animals. The biological relevance of pathogenic enterobacteria T3E manipulating signaling components of the plant immune system needs, however, to be addressed. Besides this aspect, these effectors can represent useful molecular tools to study the function of interacting plant proteins in their natural genetic background. This also suggests to search for the potential of effectors from other human and animal pathogens to re-program cellular functions in plants.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

We acknowledge support by Open Access Publishing Fund of Tübingen University.

REFERENCES

- Akira, S., Uematsu, S., and Takeuchi, O. (2006). Pathogen recognition and innate immunity. Cell 124, 783–801. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2006.02.015
- Aktories, K. (2011). Bacterial protein toxins that modify host regulatory GTPases. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 9, 487–498. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro2592
- Asai, T., Tena, G., Plotnikova, J., Willmann, M. R., Chiu, W. L., Gomez-Gomez, L., et al. (2002). MAP kinase signalling cascade in *Arabidopsis* innate immunity. *Nature* 415, 977–983. doi: 10.1038/415977a
- Ausubel, F. M. (2005). Are innate immune signaling pathways in plants and animals conserved? *Nat. Immunol.* 6, 973–979. doi: 10.1038/ni1253
- Baruch, K., Gur-Arie, L., Nadler, C., Koby, S., Yerushalmi, G., Ben-Neriah, Y., et al. (2011). Metalloprotease type III effectors that specifically cleave JNK and NF-kappaB. *EMBO J.* 30, 221–231. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2010.297
- Bhavsar, A. P., Brown, N. F., Stoepel, J., Wiermer, M., Martin, D. D., Hsu, K. J., et al. (2013). The *Salmonella* type III effector SspH2 specifically exploits the NLR co-chaperone activity of SGT1 to subvert immunity. *PLoS Pathog.* 9:e1003518. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1003518
- Bokoch, G. M. (2005). Regulation of innate immunity by Rho GTPases. *Trends cell Biol*. 15, 163–171. doi: 10.1016/j.tcb.2005.01.002
- Boller, T., and Felix, G. (2009). A renaissance of elicitors: perception of microbe-associated molecular patterns and danger signals by pattern-recognition receptors. *Annu. Rev. Plant Biol.* 60, 379–406. doi: 10.1146/annurev.arplant. 57.032905.105346
- Brodsky, I. E., and Medzhitov, R. (2009). Targeting of immune signalling networks by bacterial pathogens. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 11, 521–526. doi: 10.1038/ncb0509-521
- Bruno, V. M., Hannemann, S., Lara-Tejero, M., Flavell, R. A., Kleinstein, S. H., and Galan, J. E. (2009). Salmonella Typhimurium type III secretion effectors stimulate innate immune responses in cultured epithelial cells. PLoS Pathog. 5:e1000538. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1000538
- Canonne, J., Marino, D., Jauneau, A., Pouzet, C., Briere, C., Roby, D., et al. (2011). The Xanthomonas type III effector XopD targets the Arabidopsis transcription factor MYB30 to suppress plant defense. *Plant Cell* 23, 3498–3511. doi: 10.1105/tpc.111.088815
- Chen, L., Shiotani, K., Togashi, T., Miki, D., Aoyama, M., Wong, H. L., et al. (2010). Analysis of the Rac/Rop small GTPase family in rice: expression, subcellular localization and role in disease resistance. *Plant Cell Physiol.* 51, 585–595. doi: 10.1093/pcp/pcq024
- Chinchilla, D., Zipfel, C., Robatzek, S., Kemmerling, B., Nurnberger, T., Jones, J. D., et al. (2007). A flagellin-induced complex of the receptor FLS2 and BAK1 initiates plant defence. *Nature* 448, 497–500. doi: 10.1038/nature05999
- Dean, P. (2011). Functional domains and motifs of bacterial type III effector proteins and their roles in infection. *FEMS Microbiol. Rev.* 35, 1100–1125. doi: 10.1111/j.1574-6976.2011.00271.x
- Dou, D., and Zhou, J. M. (2012). Phytopathogen effectors subverting host immunity: different foes, similar battleground. *Cell Host Microbe* 12, 484–495. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2012.09.003
- Du, F., and Galan, J. E. (2009). Selective inhibition of type III secretion activated signaling by the Salmonella effector AvrA. PLoS Pathog. 5:e1000595. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1000595

- Feng, F., and Zhou, J. M. (2012). Plant-bacterial pathogen interactions mediated by type III effectors. *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.* 15, 469–476. doi: 10.1016/j.pbi.2012.03.004
- Figueira, R., and Holden, D. W. (2012). Functions of the Salmonella pathogenicity island 2 (SPI-2) type III secretion system effectors. *Microbiology* 158, 1147–1161. doi: 10.1099/mic.0.058115-0
- Fu, Y., and Galan, J. E. (1999). A Salmonella protein antagonizes Rac-1 and Cdc42 to mediate host-cell recovery after bacterial invasion. Nature 401, 293–297. doi: 10.1038/45829
- Gao, X., Wan, F., Mateo, K., Callegari, E., Wang, D., Deng, W., et al. (2009). Bacterial effector binding to ribosomal protein s3 subverts NF-kappaB function. *PLoS Pathog.* 5:e1000708. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1000708
- Gohre, V., and Robatzek, S. (2008). Breaking the barriers: microbial effector molecules subvert plant immunity. *Annu. Rev. Phytopathol.* 46, 189–215. doi: 10.1146/annurev.phyto.46.120407.110050
- Gohre, V., Spallek, T., Haweker, H., Mersmann, S., Mentzel, T., Boller, T., et al. (2008). Plant pattern-recognition receptor FLS2 is directed for degradation by the bacterial ubiquitin ligase AvrPtoB. *Curr. Biol.* 18, 1824–1832. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2008.10.063
- Gomez-Gomez, L., and Boller, T. (2000). FLS2: an LRR receptor-like kinase involved in the perception of the bacterial elicitor flagellin in *Arabidopsis. Mol. Cell.* 5, 1003–1011. doi: 10.1016/S1097-2765(00)80265-8
- Heese, A., Hann, D. R., Gimenez-Ibanez, S., Jones, A. M., He, K., Li, J., et al. (2007). The receptor-like kinase SERK3/BAK1 is a central regulator of innate immunity in plants. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 104, 12217–12222. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0705306104
- Hoefle, C., Huesmann, C., Schultheiss, H., Bornke, F., Hensel, G., Kumlehn, J., et al. (2011). A barley ROP GTPase ACTIVATING PROTEIN associates with microtubules and regulates entry of the barley powdery mildew fungus into leaf epidermal cells. *Plant Cell* 23, 2422–2439. doi: 10.1105/tpc.110. 082131
- Holden, N., Pritchard, L., and Toth, I. (2009). Colonization outwith the colon: plants as an alternative environmental reservoir for human pathogenic enterobacteria. *FEMS Microbiol. Rev.* 33, 689–703. doi: 10.1111/j.1574-6976.2008.00153.x
- Johannessen, M., Askarian, F., Sangvik, M., and Sollid, J. E. (2013). Bacterial interference with canonical NFkappaB signalling. *Microbiology* 159, 2001–2013. doi: 10.1099/mic.0.069369-0
- Jones, R. M., Wu, H., Wentworth, C., Luo, L., Collier-Hyams, L., and Neish, A. S. (2008). Salmonella AvrA coordinates suppression of host immune and apoptotic defenses via JNK pathway blockade. Cell Host Microbe 3, 233–244. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2008.02.016
- Kadota, Y., Sklenar, J., Derbyshire, P., Stransfeld, L., Asai, S., Ntoukakis, V., et al. (2014). Direct regulation of the NADPH oxidase RBOHD by the PRRassociated kinase BIK1 during plant immunity. *Mol. Cell* 54, 43–55. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2014.02.021
- Kawai, T., and Akira, S. (2011). Toll-like receptors and their crosstalk with other innate receptors in infection and immunity. *Immunity* 34, 637–650. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2011.05.006
- Kim, J. G., Taylor, K. W., Hotson, A., Keegan, M., Schmelz, E. A., and Mudgett, M. B. (2008). XopD SUMO protease affects host transcription, promotes pathogen growth, and delays symptom development in *Xanthomonas*-infected tomato leaves. *Plant Cell* 20, 1915–1929. doi: 10.1105/tpc.108.058529
- Kumar, H., Kawai, T., and Akira, S. (2011). Pathogen recognition by the innate immune system. *Int. Rev. Immunol.* 30, 16–34. doi: 10.3109/08830185.2010.529976
- Le Negrate, G., Faustin, B., Welsh, K., Loeffler, M., Krajewska, M., Hasegawa, P., et al. (2008). Salmonella secreted factor L deubiquitinase of Salmonella typhimurium inhibits NF-kappaB, suppresses IkappaBalpha ubiquitination and modulates innate immune responses. J. Immunol. 180, 5045–5056. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.180.7.5045
- Li, H., Xu, H., Zhou, Y., Zhang, J., Long, C., Li, S., et al. (2007). The phosphothreonine lyase activity of a bacterial type III effector family. *Science* 315, 1000–1003. doi: 10.1126/science.1138960
- Li, L., Li, M., Yu, L., Zhou, Z., Liang, X., Liu, Z., et al. (2014). The FLS2-associated kinase BIK1 directly phosphorylates the NADPH oxidase RbohD to control plant immunity. *Cell Host Microbe* 15, 329–338. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2014.02.009
- Lin, S. L., Le, T. X., and Cowen, D. S. (2003). SptP, a Salmonella typhimurium type III-secreted protein, inhibits the mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway

by inhibiting Raf activation. *Cell. Microbiol.* 5, 267–275. doi: 10.1046/j.1462-5822.2003.t01-1-00274.x

- Lu, D., Wu, S., Gao, X., Zhang, Y., Shan, L., and He, P. (2010). A receptorlike cytoplasmic kinase, BIK1, associates with a flagellin receptor complex to initiate plant innate immunity. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 107, 496–501. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0909705107
- Macho, A. P., Schwessinger, B., Ntoukakis, V., Brutus, A., Segonzac, C., Roy, S., et al. (2014). A bacterial tyrosine phosphatase inhibits plant pattern recognition receptor activation. *Science* 343, 1509–1512. doi: 10.1126/science.1248849
- Macho, A. P., and Zipfel, C. (2014). Plant PRRs and the activation of innate immune signaling. *Mol. Cell.* 54, 263–272. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2014.03.028
- Mazurkiewicz, P., Thomas, J., Thompson, J. A., Liu, M., Arbibe, L., Sansonetti, P., et al. (2008). SpvC is a Salmonella effector with phosphothreonine lyase activity on host mitogen-activated protein kinases. *Mol. Microbiol.* 67, 1371–1383. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2008.06134.x
- McGhie, E. J., Brawn, L. C., Hume, P. J., Humphreys, D., and Koronakis, V. (2009). Salmonella takes control: effector-driven manipulation of the host. Curr. Opin. Microbiol. 12, 117–124. doi: 10.1016/j.mib.2008.12.001
- Moeder, W., Yoshioka, K., and Klessig, D. F. (2005). Involvement of the small GTPase Rac in the defense responses of tobacco to pathogens. *Mol. Plant Microbe Interact*. 18, 116–124. doi: 10.1094/MPMI-18-0116
- Mukhtar, M. S., Carvunis, A. R., Dreze, M., Epple, P., Steinbrenner, J., Moore, J., et al. (2011). Independently evolved virulence effectors converge onto hubs in a plant immune system network. *Science* 333, 596–601. doi: 10.1126/science. 1203659
- Nadler, C., Baruch, K., Kobi, S., Mills, E., Haviv, G., Farago, M., et al. (2010). The type III secretion effector NleE inhibits NF-kappaB activation. *PLoS Pathog.* 6:e1000743. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1000743
- Nempont, C., Cayet, D., Rumbo, M., Bompard, C., Villeret, V., and Sirard, J. C. (2008). Deletion of flagellin's hypervariable region abrogates antibody-mediated neutralization and systemic activation of TLR5-dependent immunity. *J. Immunol.* 181, 2036–2043. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.181.3.2036
- Newton, H. J., Pearson, J. S., Badea, L., Kelly, M., Lucas, M., Holloway, G., et al. (2010). The type III effectors NleE and NleB from enteropathogenic *E. coli* and OspZ from *Shigella* block nuclear translocation of NF-kappaB p65. *PLoS Pathog.* 6:e1000898. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1000898
- Nurnberger, T., Brunner, F., Kemmerling, B., and Piater, L. (2004). Innate immunity in plants and animals: striking similarities and obvious differences. *Immunol. Rev.* 198, 249–266. doi: 10.1111/j.0105-2896.2004.0119.x
- O'Neill, L. A., and Bowie, A. G. (2007). The family of five: TIR-domain-containing adaptors in Toll-like receptor signalling. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 7, 353–364. doi: 10.1038/nri2079
- Ozinsky, A., Underhill, D. M., Fontenot, J. D., Hajjar, A. M., Smith, K. D., Wilson, C. B., et al. (2000). The repertoire for pattern recognition of pathogens by the innate immune system is defined by cooperation between toll-like receptors. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 97, 13766–13771. doi: 10.1073/pnas.250476497
- Pham, T. H., Gao, X., Tsai, K., Olsen, R., Wan, F., and Hardwidge, P. R. (2012). Functional differences and interactions between the *Escherichia coli* type III secretion system effectors NleH1 and NleH2. *Infect. Immun.* 80, 2133–2140. doi: 10.1128/IAI.06358-11
- Raymond, B., Young, J. C., Pallett, M., Endres, R. G., Clements, A., and Frankel, G. (2013). Subversion of trafficking, apoptosis, and innate immunity by type III secretion system effectors. *Trends Microbiol.* 21, 430–441. doi: 10.1016/j.tim.2013.06.008
- Schikora, A., Garcia, A. V., and Hirt, H. (2012). Plants as alternative hosts for Salmonella. Trends Plant Sci. 17, 245–249. doi: 10.1016/j.tplants.2012.03.007
- Schulze, B., Mentzel, T., Jehle, A. K., Mueller, K., Beeler, S., Boller, T., et al. (2010). Rapid Heteromerization and phosphorylation of ligand-activated Ppant transmembrane receptors and their associated kinase BAK1. J. Biol. Chem. 285, 9444–9451. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.096842
- Schwessinger, B., Roux, M., Kadota, Y., Ntoukakis, V., Sklenar, J., Jones, A., et al. (2011). Phosphorylation-dependent differential regulation of plant growth, cell death, and innate immunity by the regulatory receptor-like kinase BAK1. *PLoS Genet.* 7:e1002046. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1002046
- Shan, L., He, P., Li, J., Heese, A., Peck, S. C., Nurnberger, T., et al. (2008). Bacterial effectors target the common signaling partner BAK1 to disrupt multiple MAMP receptor-signaling complexes and impede plant immunity. *Cell Host Microbe* 4, 17–27. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2008.05.017

- Smith, M. F. Jr., Mitchell, A., Li, G., Ding, S., Fitzmaurice, A. M., Ryan, K., et al. (2003). Toll-like receptor (TLR) 2 and TLR5, but not TLR4, are required for Helicobacter pylori-induced NF-kappa B activation and chemokine expression by epithelial cells. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 32552–32560. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M305536200
- Sun, Y., Li, L., Macho, A. P., Han, Z., Hu, Z., Zipfel, C., et al. (2013). Structural basis for flg22-induced activation of the *Arabidopsis* FLS2-BAK1 immune complex. *Science* 342, 624–628. doi: 10.1126/science.1243825
- Ustün, S., Muller, P., Palmisano, R., Hensel, M., and Bornke, F. (2012). SseF, a type III effector protein from the mammalian pathogen *Salmonella enterica*, requires resistance-gene-mediated signaling to activate cell death in the model plant *Nicotiana benthamiana*. *New Phytol.* 194, 1046–1060. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8137.2012.04124.x
- Vossenkamper, A., Marches, O., Fairclough, P. D., Warnes, G., Stagg, A. J., Lindsay, J. O., et al. (2010). Inhibition of NF-kappaB signaling in human dendritic cells by the enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* effector protein NleE. *J. Immunol.* 185, 4118–4127. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1000500
- Wang, Y. J., Li, J. F., Hou, S. G., Wang, X. W., Li, Y. A., Ren, D. T., et al. (2010). A *Pseudomonas syringae* ADP-Ribosyltransferase Inhibits Arabidopsis Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase Kinases. *Plant Cell* 22, 2033–2044. doi: 10.1105/tpc.110.075697
- Xiang, T., Zong, N., Zou, Y., Wu, Y., Zhang, J., Xing, W., et al. (2008). *Pseudomonas syringae* effector AvrPto blocks innate immunity by targeting receptor kinases. *Curr. Biol.* 18, 74–80. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2007.12.020
- Xing, W., Zou, Y., Liu, Q., Liu, J., Luo, X., Huang, Q., et al. (2007). The structural basis for activation of plant immunity by bacterial effector protein AvrPto. *Nature* 449, 243–247. doi: 10.1038/nature06109
- Yan, L. M., Ma, Y. Y., Liu, D., Wei, X. C., Sun, Y. N., Chen, X. Y., et al. (2012). Structural basis for the impact of phosphorylation on the activation of plant receptor-like kinase BAK1. *Cell Res.* 22, 1304–1308. doi: 10.1038/cr.2012.74
- Ye, Z., Petrof, E. O., Boone, D., Claud, E. C., and Sun, J. (2007). Salmonella effector AvrA regulation of colonic epithelial cell inflammation by deubiquitination. Am. J. Pathol. 171, 882–892. doi: 10.2353/ajpath.2007.070220

- Yen, H., Ooka, T., Iguchi, A., Hayashi, T., Sugimoto, N., and Tobe, T. (2010). NleC, a type III secretion protease, compromises NF-kappaB activation by targeting p65/RelA. *PLoS Pathog.* 6:e1001231. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat. 1001231
- Zhang, J., Li, W., Xiang, T., Liu, Z., Laluk, K., Ding, X., et al. (2010). Receptor-like cytoplasmic kinases integrate signaling from multiple plant immune receptors and are targeted by a Pseudomonas syringae effector. *Cell Host Microbe* 7, 290–301. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2010.03.007
- Zhang, J., Shao, F., Cui, H., Chen, L. J., Li, H. T., Zou, Y., et al. (2007). A Pseudomonas syringae effector inactivates MAPKs to suppress PAMP-Induced immunity in plants. Cell Host Microbe 1, 175–185. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2007.03.006
- Zhu, Y., Li, H., Long, C., Hu, L., Xu, H., Liu, L., et al. (2007). Structural insights into the enzymatic mechanism of the pathogenic MAPK phosphothreonine lyase. *Mol. Cell* 28, 899–913. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2007.11.011

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 05 May 2014; paper pending published: 28 May 2014; accepted: 11 June 2014; published online: 22 July 2014.

Citation: Fraiture M and Brunner F (2014) Killing two birds with one stone: trans-kingdom suppression of PAMP/MAMP-induced immunity by T3E from enteropathogenic bacteria. Front. Microbiol. 5:320. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2014.00320

This article was submitted to Plant–Microbe Interaction, a section of the journal Frontiers in Microbiology.

Copyright © 2014 Fraiture and Brunner. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



The *Salmonella* effector protein SpvC, a phosphothreonine lyase is functional in plant cells

Christina Neumann^{1‡}, Malou Fraiture^{2‡}, Casandra Hernàndez-Reyes¹, Fidele N. Akum¹, Isabelle Virlogeux-Payant^{3,4}, Ying Chen^{2†}, Stephanie Pateyron⁵, Jean Colcombet⁵, Karl-Heinz Kogel¹, Heribert Hirt⁵, Frédéric Brunner² and Adam Schikora¹*

¹ Research Center for BioSystems, Land Use and Nutrition, Institute for Phytopathology and Applied Zoology, Justus-Liebig University Giessen, Giessen, Germany

² Department of Plant Biochemistry, Center for Plant Molecular Biology (ZMBP), Eberhard Karls University Tübingen, Tübingen, Germany

³ Institut National de la Recherche Agronomique, UMR1282 Infectiologie et Santé Publique, Nouzilly, France

⁴ Université François Rabelais de Tours, UMR1282 Infectiologie et Santé Publique, Tours, France

⁵ Unité de Recherche en Génomique Végétale, Plant Genomics, Evry, France

Edited by:

Nicola Holden, The James Hutton Institute, UK

Reviewed by:

Frederik Börnke, Leibniz-Institute for Vegetable and Ornamental Crops (IGZ), Germany Jeri Barak, University of Wisconsin-Madison, USA

*Correspondence:

Adam Schikora, Research Center for BioSystems, Land Use and Nutrition, Institute for Phytopathology and Applied Zoology, Justus-Liebig University Giessen, Heinrich-Buff-Ring 26-32, Giessen 35392, Germany e-mail: adam.schikora@ agrar.uni-giessen.de

[†]Present address:

Ying Chen, Laboratory of Forest Genetics and Gene Engineering, Nanjing Forestry University, Nanjing, China

[‡]These authors have contributed equally to this work.

INTRODUCTION

Various pathogenic bacteria such as *Salmonella enterica*, *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, *Staphylococcus aureus*, *Escherichia coli* O157:H7, and *Listeria monocytogenes* are able to proliferate on both animal and plant organisms (Prithiviraj et al., 2005; Milillo et al., 2008; Schikora et al., 2008, 2011; Haapalainen et al., 2009; Holden et al., 2009). *Salmonella* is a genus of Gram-negative enteropathogenic bacteria that colonizes a wide range of hosts, including humans. These bacteria are the causal agents of gastroenteritis and typhoid fever (Pang et al., 1995). The most common mode of infection in humans is the ingestion of contaminated food or water. Whereas 0.3% of fresh products were contaminated with *Salmonella* bacteria in 2007 in the European Union (Westrell et al., 2009), the proportion of raw-food related outbreaks reached 25% in the USA in recent years (Rangel et al., 2005).

The study of the *Salmonella* infection mechanism was until recently mainly driven by its medical aspect; therefore the mouse

Salmonella is one of the most prominent causes of food poisoning and growing evidence indicates that contaminated fruits and vegetables are an increasing concern for human health. Successful infection demands the suppression of the host immune system, which is often achieved via injection of bacterial effector proteins into host cells. In this report we present the function of Salmonella effector protein in plant cell, supporting the new concept of trans-kingdom competence of this bacterium. We screened a range of Salmonella Typhimurium effector proteins for interference with plant immunity. Among these, the phosphothreonine lyase SpvC attenuated the induction of immunity-related genes when present in plant cells. Using in vitro and in vivo systems we show that this effector protein interacts with and dephosphorylates activated Arabidopsis Mitogen-activated Protein Kinase 6 (MPK6), thereby inhibiting defense signaling. Moreover, the requirement of Salmonella SpvC was shown by the decreased proliferation of the $\Delta spvC$ mutant in Arabidopsis plants. These results suggest that some Salmonella effector proteins could have a conserved function during proliferation in different hosts. The fact that Salmonella and other Enterobacteriaceae use plants as hosts strongly suggests that plants represent a much larger reservoir for animal pathogens than so far estimated.

Keywords: T3SS, trans-kingdom pathogenicity, Salmonella, plant infection

and human epithelial cell models are the best studied to date. Today, it is still poorly understood how these bacteria successfully proliferate in such diversified hosts as animals or plants. However, important insights were obtained during last years. Stomata openings were identified as possible entry points of bacteria into the inner layers of the mesophyll (Kroupitski et al., 2009). Interestingly, while some plant species (e.g., arugula) allow the *Salmonella enterica* subsp. *enterica* ser. Typhimurium (*S*. Typhimurium) strain SL1344 to internalize, some others (e.g., parsley) seem to be capable of preventing internalization (Golberg et al., 2011). In a previous report, we showed that in *Arabidopsis thaliana*, roots and especially root hair cells can be colonized by *Salmonella* (Schikora et al., 2008).

Studies of the infection mechanisms in animals revealed that, besides remodeling the host cell architecture, *Salmonella* actively suppresses the host immune system by injecting a cocktail of effector proteins. These effectors are delivered by Type III Secretion Systems (T3SSs). *S.* Typhimurium possesses two distinct T3SSs, T3SS-1, and T3SS-2, encoded by two *Salmonella* Pathogenicity Islands, SPI-1 and SPI-2, respectively. To date, about 44 *Salmonella* effectors have been described and the function of many of them is known [reviewed in Heffron et al. (2011)]. In addition to SPIs, some *Salmonella* serovars carry plasmids with a common locus called salmonella plasmid virulence (*spv*) (Boyd and Hartl, 1998). The *spv* operon encodes further effector proteins responsible for full virulence in humans and in the mouse model (Montenegro et al., 1991; Fierer et al., 1992; Gulig and Doyle, 1993; Chu and Chiu, 2006).

Even though some Salmonella effectors have homologs in plant pathogenic bacteria, the role of Salmonella T3SS-dependent effectors in the modulation of the plant immune system and their contribution to plant host susceptibility are less understood. Plants induce defense mechanisms after recognition of pathogens. This recognition may occur at two levels: (i) at the cell surface, where Pattern Recognition Receptors (PRRs) recognize conserved microbial structures called Pathogen-Associated Molecular Patterns (PAMPs), and (ii) in the cytoplasm where Resistance (R) proteins recognize bacterial effectors injected into plant cells. Both recognition events initiate immune responses referred to as Pattern-Triggered Immunity (PTI) [renamed from PAMP-triggered immunity (Boller, 2012)] or Effector-Triggered Immunity (ETI), respectively. An activation of MAPKs and enhanced expression of Pathogenesis Related (PR) genes are hallmarks of both: the PTI and the ETI responses. Both responses were already observed after inoculation with Salmonella (Schikora et al., 2008; Meng et al., 2013; Garcia et al., 2014). Recently, the suppression of plant defense by Salmonella was reported in two different systems. In contrast to living S. Typhimurium, treatment with dead or chloramphenicol-treated bacterial cells elicited an oxidative burst and changes in apoplastic pH in tobacco (Shirron and Yaron, 2011). Similar responses were provoked by inoculation with the invA mutant, which has no functional T3SS-1, showing that T3SS-deficient or dead bacteria induce defense reactions while living wild-type bacteria actively suppress their induction. We observed a very similar phenomenon in Arabidopsis plants (Schikora et al., 2011). Inoculation with wild-type S. Typhimurium strain 14028s provoked changes in expression of 249 and 1318 genes at 2 and 24 h after infection, respectively (Schikora et al., 2011). However, inoculation with the prgH mutant, which has no functional T3SS-1, changed the expression of over 1600 genes at 24 h. Gene ontology (GO) term enrichment analysis of the 649 prgH-specific genes revealed an overrepresentation of genes related to pathogen responses and ubiquitin-mediated protein degradation (Schikora et al., 2011; Garcia et al., 2014). Interestingly, this set includes BAK1, BIK1, WRKY18, WRKY33, EIN3, PR4, FRK1, 4CL, Sec61, and PUB23, all of which are up-regulated upon inoculation with pathogen or PAMP treatment. The higher expression levels of these genes after inoculation with the *prgH* mutant compared to the wild-type imply that the mutant is lacking an effective suppression mechanism to hinder plant defense. A powerful response to pathogen attack is the hypersensitive response (HR). This induced cell death is often the reaction to bacterial proteins present in the host cytoplasm (Jones and Dangl, 2006). In respect to Salmonella effector proteins, SseF was the first effector reported to induce HR-like

symptoms in tobacco plants (Ustun et al., 2012). The fact that SseF-induced HR-like symptoms can be suppressed by RNAimediated silencing of *SGT1* (*Suppressor of G2 allele of Skip1*) indicates an R-protein-mediated response, identical to ETI.

In this report, we present two functional screens of *Salmonella* effector proteins and virulence factors in plants. Our screens resulted in the identification of the phosphothreonine lyase SpvC, which was able to suppress PTI. Using *in vitro* and *in vivo* systems we showed that this effector protein actively interacts with and dephosphorylates activated *Arabidopsis* Mitogen-activated Protein Kinase 6 (MPK6). MAPKs are important regulators of the immune response in animals and plants and the dephosphorylation of MPK6 hinders the induction of defense-related genes in *Arabidopsis*. Moreover, we showed that bacterial fitness on *Arabidopsis* plants is compromised in mutants lacking the *SpvC* gene. These results strengthen the notion that some *Salmonella* effectors may be equally applied in plant and animal systems to suppress the respective host immune systems.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

PLANT GROWTH CONDITIONS

Arabidopsis thaliana Colombia-0 (N60000) plants were cultivated on soil under stable climate conditions: 8 h light/16 h dark at 20°C, 40–60% humidity, \sim 120 µE m-2 s-1 light intensity. Leaves from 4-week old plants were used for protoplast preparation and analysis of transient gene expression. Alternatively *Arabidopsis* seedlings were germinated on sterile half-strength MS agar medium and cultivated for 2 weeks in short-day conditions (at 21°C, 60% humidity) in growing chambers. *Nicotiana benthamiana* plants were germinated and cultivated on soil, in a greenhouse under long-day conditions (16 h light at 22°C, 40–60% humidity) for 4 weeks.

CLONING OF *SALMONELLA* VIRULENCE FACTORS AND SPI-DEPENDENT EFFECTOR PROTEINS

Fifty-four Salmonella virulence genes, which when mutated caused the attenuation of virulence in the mouse model, and genes coding 18 SPI-1- or SPI-2-encoded effectors from Salmonella enterica subsp. enterica serovar Typhimurium strain 14028s (S. Typhimurium) were cloned into the versatile Gateway (Invitrogen) vector system. All open reading frames (ORFs) were constructed in two versions: one including the native stop codon: the STOP version and a second without the stop codon: the END version. Cloning was based on the ATOME cloning strategy (http://urgv.evry.inra.fr/ATOMEdb). The consequential entry clones were sequenced and those with correct ORFs were used for further studies. For the screen in Arabidopsis protoplasts, the ORFs were further recombined into p2GW7 (VIB, University of Ghent). SpvC was additionally cloned into p2FGW7 (VIB, University of Ghent) for expression of the N-terminal GFP fusion protein GFP-SpvC.

BACTERIAL MUTAGENESIS

The *SpvC* mutant $\Delta spvC$ of the *S*. Typhimurium 14028 strain was obtained using the λ -Red mutagenesis system as described by Datsenko and Wanner (2000). The sequences of the primers used were: 5'ATGCCCATAAATAGGCC

TAATCTAAATCTAAACATCCCTCCTTTGAATATGTGTAGGCT GGAGCTGCTTC3' and 5'TTACTCTGTCATCAAACGATAAAAC GGTTCCTCACGTAAAGCCTGTCTCTCATATGAATATCCTCCT TAG3'.

AGROBACTERIUM-MEDIATED TRANSFORMATION

The Gateway compatible pGreen derivative vectors pJC005 and pJC001 for expression of 10xMyc- or 3xHA-tagged recombinant proteins, respectively, carrying *Salmonella* ORFs, were transformed into the *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* strain GV3101, pMP90. Transformed bacteria were cultivated until stationary phase, washed in infiltration medium (10 mM MgCl₂, 10 mM MES-KOH, pH 5, 4, 200 μ M acetosyringone) and incubated for 2 h in the dark. OD₆₀₀ of the infiltration solution was then adjusted to 0.3. Leaves of *N. benthamiana* were infiltrated one-sided.

PROTOPLAST TRANSFORMATION

The preparation of *Arabidopsis* mesophyll protoplasts was performed according to the protocol from Yoo et al. (2007) with minor changes (Fraiture et al., 2014). Briefly, thin leaf stripes were dipped into 1.5% cellulose "Onozuka" R10—0.4% macerozyme R10 solution (Yakult Pharmaceutical Industry), vacuum-infiltrated for 30 min and digested for 3 h at 20°C in the dark. After two subsequent washing steps with W5 buffer *Arabidopsis* protoplasts were suspended to a concentration of 2×10^5 cells/ml in MMG buffer and subjected to polyethylene glycol-mediated transfection. 100 µg plasmid DNA/ml protoplast suspension was used during transfection. Protoplasts samples were then incubated in W1 buffer at 20°C in the dark for 12–16 h allowing plasmid gene expression.

LUCIFERASE REPORTER GENE ASSAYS

Luciferase gene assays were conducted to screen for immunitysuppressing effects of effector proteins from *Salmonella* (Fraiture et al., 2014). For this, *Arabidopsis* protoplasts were co-transfected with *pFRK1-Luciferase* (*pFRK1-Luc*) and a candidate effector gene in p2GW7 (or empty p2FGW7 serving as GFP control). For the assay, luciferin was added to 600 µl transfected protoplast solution to a final concentration of 200 µM. Protoplasts were transferred to an opaque 96-well plate (100 µl per well). For each sample, flg22 was added to 3 wells to a final concentration of 500 nM. The remaining 3 replicates were left untreated. The luminescence reflecting the luciferase activity was measured at different time-points using a Berthold Mithras LB 940 luminometer.

RNA ISOLATION AND QUANTITATIVE REAL-TIME PCR

Total RNA from 400 μ l protoplast solution was extracted with TRI reagent (Ambion) and treated with DNase I (Macherey-Nagel) following the suppliers' protocols. Poly A-tailed RNA (1 μ g) was converted to cDNA using the RevertAid reverse transcriptase (Fermentas) and oligo-dT primers. qRT-PCR reactions were performed in triplicates with the Maxtra SYBR Green Master Mix (Fermentas) and run on a Biorad iCycler according to the manufacturer's instructions. The primers used for the qRT-PCR are presented in Supplementary Table S1. Relative gene expression was determined with a serial cDNA dilution standard curve.

The actin transcript was used as an internal control in all experiments. Data was processed with the iQ software (Biorad) (Zheng et al., 2014).

IMMUNOBLOT ANALYSIS

To monitor the activation of MAPKs, *Salmonella* effector-gene transformed protoplasts were challenged with 500 nM flg22 (Zheng et al., 2014). Pellets from 100 μ l protoplast solution were collected 0, 15, and 30 min after treatment and dissolved in denaturating protein loading buffer. Proteins were separated by SDS-PAGE, blotted onto nitrocellulose membranes (Hybond–ECL, Amersham) and stained with 0.1% Ponceau S to visualize equal sample loading. The membranes were incubated with anti-phospho-p44/42 MAPK antibody (Cell Signaling Technology) diluted 1/1000 in 5% BSA TBS-T. The expression of GFP-tagged *Salmonella* virulence proteins and effectors was assessed in *Arabidopsis* protoplasts collected 24 h after transformation using an anti-GFP antibody. The immunoblot was revealed in NBT/BCIP detection solution.

PROTEIN PURIFICATION

Recombinant GST-SpvC and 6xHis-SpvC proteins were produced in *E. coli* BL21 bacteria using the pDEST15 and pDEST17 vectors (Invitrogen). Protein expression was induced with 1 mM IPTG overnight at 30°C. Cells were lysed and protein purified accordingly to the manufacturers' protocols (Macherey-Nagel for GTH-beads and Qiagen for Ni-beads purifications).

PULL-DOWN ASSAY

For the pull-down assay 50 μ g of purified recombinant proteins were incubated with 50 μ g of total *Arabidopsis* protein extract in the presence (or absence) of 80 μ g BSA for 30 min in a final volume of 200 μ l at 21°C together with the corresponding beads. Beads were washed 3 times and Ni- or GTH- binding complexes separated by SDS-PAGE. Anti-MPK6, anti-MPK3, or anti-MPK4 antibodies (Sigma-Aldrich) were used to visualize the binding between SpvC and MAPKs.

BiFC

Bimolecular fluorescence complementation (BiFC) assay was performed using the full-length versions of *MAPKs* and *SpvC* cloned down-stream of N-terminal or C-terminal part of gene coding for the *Yellow Fluorescent Protein* (*YFP*) in both combinations, using pBIFC1-4 vectors. *Arabidopsis* epidermal cells were cotransformed with vectors carrying those constructs and vector carrying *p35S-mCherry*. Fluorescence was observed 24–48 h after transformation. Expression of *mCherry* was used as readout for successful transformation. Reconstitution of functional YFP was observed with the 510–540 nm band pass filter on a Leica SP2 confocal laser-scanning microscope.

IN VITRO DEPHOSPHORYLATION ASSAY

The phosphatase activity of SpvC on activated MAPKs was assessed using 25 μ g purified recombinant GST-SpvC or 6xHis-SpvC proteins and 50 μ g of total protein extract from *Arabidopsis* seedlings treated or not (control) with 1 μ M flg22 for 15 min. Recombinant effector proteins and *Arabidopsis* proteins were coincubated for 30 min at 21°C. Samples were precipitated using a chloroform/methanol procedure and separated by SDS-PAGE. The presence of the phosphorylated pTEpY epitope was probed with anti-pERK1/2 antibody (see above).

PATHOGENICITY ASSAY

To assess the *Salmonella* proliferation rate in plants, soil-grown, 4-week old *Arabidopsis* Col-0 plants were infiltrated with wildtype *Salmonella enterica* subsp. *enterica* ser. Typhimurium strain 14028s or its isogenic mutant $\Delta spvC$, using syringe infiltration. Bacteria were grown in LB medium until early log phase, washed and re-suspended in 10 mM MgCl₂. Infiltration solution was adjusted to OD₆₀₀ = 0.01 (1.7 × 10⁶ bacteria/ml). Bacterial population was monitored during 4 days post-infiltration as described in Schikora et al. (2008).

INCOMPATIBLE INTERACTION

To test the breach of non-host resistance, leaves from soil-grown *Arabidopsis* plants were transformed with *p35S-GFP-SpvC* or *mCherry* via particle bombardment and inoculated with *Blumeria* graminis f. sp. hordei (Bgh) conidia. After 48 h, leaves were stained with calcofluor to visualize fungal growth. The outcome of interaction was counted on cells transformed either with *mCherry* (control) or plasmid carrying *GFP-SpvC*.

RESULTS

A DUAL SCREEN FOR *SALMONELLA* VIRULENCE FACTORS AND EFFECTOR PROTEINS ACTIVE IN PLANT CELLS

To identify the important factors for Salmonella pathogenicity on plants we decided to follow a two-screening-strategy through a set of Salmonella virulence factors (SVFs) and Salmonella Pathogenicity Islands (SPIs)-encoded effector proteins. We chose 54 SVF genes, which when mutated caused an attenuation of virulence in the mouse model (PHI-base, www.phi-base.org), and 18 SPI-1- or SPI-2-encoded effectors (Heffron et al., 2011) from Salmonella enterica subsp. enterica ser. Typhimurium strain 14028s (S. Typhimurium) for cloning into the versatile Gateway (Invitrogen) vector system. Cloned genes resulted in a set of Salmonella ORFs used for further studies. In a first step, 37 ORFs were successfully cloned into binary vectors for Agrobacteriummediated expression in tobacco (Nicotiana benthamiana) leaves. Salmonella SVFs and effectors were expressed as N-terminal 10xMyc or 3xHA fusion proteins and symptoms caused by the expression were observed during 5 days after infiltration. We identified eight proteins (SseF, OrgA, Orf4, SsaI, SsaQ, HilC, SicA, and SseG), which caused chlorosis, wilting or hypertrophy on tobacco leaves (Figure 1), while the expression of the others, provoked no visible symptoms (Table 1).

Next, we tested the potential of the proteins inducing visible changes in tobacco leaves for suppressing early defense responses. Additionally, we tested 5 selected *Salmonella* effectors (AvrA, SptP, SlrP, SseL, SpvC) for which the biochemical function and/or suppression of immunity in mammals has well been characterized (Heffron et al., 2011). We used a protoplast-based system in *Arabidopsis* in which transiently expressed effectors were evaluated for their capability to suppress PAMP-triggered activation of luciferase (Luc) activity. In our screen *Luc* expression was driven by the *FRK1* promoter, which is strongly induced upon

treatment with the PAMP flg22, a 22 amino acid long peptide derived from the N-terminal part of flagellin and conserved in many pathogenic bacteria including Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Escherichia coli and S. Typhimurium (Felix et al., 1999). Out of the 13 tested Salmonella proteins, a strong suppression of pFRK1-Luc activity 6 h after flg22 treatment was observed when co-expressing the SpvC effector protein (p < 0.01, oneway ANOVA and Dunnett's test) compared to the GFP control (Figure 2A and Supplementary Figure S1). The suppression effect was comparable (p > 0.05) with AvrPto from *Pseudomonas* syringe, an effector that is known to interfere with early PAMP signaling (He et al., 2006). In addition, significant suppression (p < 0.01) was observed when expressing SseL, SseG, and SseF (Figure 2A). In order to confirm our observations we performed a time-course experiment, in which we analyzed pFRK1-Luc activity in SpvC-transformed protoplasts during 8 h after induction with flg22 (Figure 2B). SpvC and AvrPto have similar effects on the activity of pFRK1 suggesting that SpvC may, similarly to AvrPto, affect PAMP signaling at an early stage (4 h or earlier). Comparable observations were made when the fusion protein Green Fluorescent Protein-SpvC (GFP-SpvC) protein was expressed (Figure 2A). The localization analysis performed with GFP-SpvC fusion protein indicated that the effector protein localizes to the cytoplasm and nucleus when present in plant cells (Figure 2C). In the following experiments we decided to focus on SpvC, because of its well-known inhibitory effect on immunity during animal infection (Mazurkiewicz et al., 2008).

SALMONELLA SpvC EFFECTOR SUPPRESSES THE EXPRESSION OF PAMP-INDUCED GENES

In a next step, we analyzed the effect of SpvC on the activity of the endogenous FRK1 promoter. To this end, we measured the expression of FRK1 in Arabidopsis protoplasts transformed with SpvC, AvrPto, or GFP after 1 and 3 h challenge with flg22. Equally to previous experiments and in accordance with the literature (Asai et al., 2002), expression of FRK1 was induced upon treatment with flg22. Expression of AvrPto efficiently suppressed this induction in Arabidopsis protoplasts (He et al., 2006). Likewise, SpvC also abolished the induction of endogenous FRK1 expression after flg22 treatment (Figure 3). We extended our analysis to other PAMP-induced genes. Similar to FRK1, the transcription factor WRKY17 and the gene encoding for the protein transport protein Sec61 were induced upon flg22 treatment and hindered in their inductions by AvrPto and SpvC (Figure 3). Remarkably, SpvC did not suppress all tested PAMP-induced genes. The 4CL gene encoding a 4-coumarate-CoA ligase was induced after flg22 treatment and repressed in the presence of AvrPto. However, in contrast to AvrPto, SpvC was not able to restrain its flg22-driven induction (Figure 3). These results suggest that the Salmonella effector SpvC interferes only with a subset of flg22-induced defense related genes (FRK1, WRKY17, and Sec61, but not 4CL).

INTERACTION BETWEEN ARABIDOPSIS MPK6 AND SALMONELLA SpvC

Inhibition of flg22-induced gene expression by bacterial effectors can occur at many levels from the flg22 receptor complex


(FLS2-BAK1), through the MAPK cascade, down to transcriptional regulation of defense genes. MAPK cascades play a key role in flg22 signal transduction and in pathogen defense. Among the 20 Arabidopsis MAPKs, MPK3, MPK4, and MPK6 are strongly activated by flg22 (Asai et al., 2002; Pitzschke et al., 2009). Based on the functional characteristics of SpvC during animal infection as well as the function of other members of the OspF family [e.g., HopAI1 (Zhang et al., 2007)], we hypothesized that SpvC targets plant MAPKs. To test our hypothesis, we analyzed possible protein-protein interactions between SpvC and Arabidopsis MAPKs. Recombinant 6xHis-SpvC and GST-SpvC proteins were expressed and purified from E. coli BL21 cells. The recombinant proteins were subsequently co-incubated with total protein extract from Arabidopsis seedlings and either Ni- or GTH-coated beads were used to precipitate the respective Ni- or GTH-binding complexes. Pull-down samples were probed for the presence of MAPKs in immunoblot assays. In the presence of His-tagged, but not GST-tagged SpvC, we detected the MPK6 in the pulleddown protein complex (Figure 4A), suggesting the interaction

between SpvC and MPK6. This interaction was observed even in the presence of an excess of BSA. However, we did not detect MPK3 or MPK4, indicating a specific interaction between SpvC and MPK6.

The *in vitro* SpvC-MPK6 interaction was tested also in bimolecular fluorescent complementation (BiFC) assays. Fulllength cDNAs of *SpvC* and the three *MAPKs* were cloned downstream of sequences encoding either the N- or C-terminal part of the Yellow Fluorescent Protein (YFP) and subsequently transiently expressed in *Arabidopsis* epidermal cells via particle bombardment. Both tested combinations: (i) *YFPn-MPK6* with *YFPc-SpvC* and (ii) *YFPn-SpvC* with *YFPc-MPK6*, when expressed together, resulted in reconstitution of a functional YFP protein (**Figure 4B**). We co-expressed the constructs with *p35S-mCherry* plasmid, allowing normalization of the interaction events (**Figure 4C**). Eighteen percent of all transformed cells showed visible interaction between SpvC and MPK6 when *YFPn-MPK6* was co-expressed with *YFPc-SpvC*, and 34% of all cells when *YFPn-SpvC*, and *YFPc-MPK6* were used as interaction

Table 1	Salmonella	ORFs cloned for	screens in plants.
---------	------------	------------------------	--------------------

Gene	Tobacc	o assay	Protoplast assay	
	10xMyc	3xHA		
Salmon	ella VIRULENCE F/	ACTORS		
ssrB	-	-		
ssaB	-	-		
sseE	-	-		
sseF	HR	HR	PTI suppression	
sifA	-	-		
sirA	_	_		
orgA	Hypertrophy	Hypertrophy	-	
orf2	_	_		
ttrB	_	_		
ssaM	_	_		
orf2	_	_		
orf4	Hypertrophy	Hypertrophy	-	
ssaE	_	-		
sseD	_	-		
sscB	_	-		
ssal	Hypertrophy	Hypertrophy	-	
ssaJ	_	-		
ssaK	-	-		
ssaM	-	-		
ssaQ	Hypertrophy	Hypertrophy	-	
yscR	_	-		
ssaS	-	-		
ssaT	-	-		
hilC	Hypertrophy	Hypertrophy	-	
prgK	-	-		
prgJ	_	_		
iagB	-	-		
sicA	Hypertrophy	Hypertrophy	Weak PTI suppressior	
invl	-	-		
invE	-	-		
spvR	-	-		
	ella T3SS-1 AND T	3SS-2 DEPENDEN	T EFFECTORS	
avrA	_	_	_	
sptP	_	-	_	
slrP	_	_	_	
sseL	-	-	PTI suppression	
spvC	_	_	PTI suppression	
sseG	Yellowing	Yellowing	PTI suppression	

Symptoms observed on tobacco leaves 5 days after infiltration with Agrobacterium tumefaciens (tobacco assay) or suppression of the pFRK1-Luc activity in protoplasts challenged with flg22 (protoplast assay). HR, hypersensitive response; –, represents no difference to controls.

partners. *Arabidopsis* MPK6 localizes to the cytoplasm and nucleus, but accumulates in the nuclear compartment after activation (Bethke et al., 2009). The observed cytoplasmic and nuclear localization of SpvC-MPK6 complex had similar localization. Moreover, this localization overlapped with the localization of the GFP-tagged versions of SpvC in epidermal cells (**Figure 2C**). Similarly to the *in vitro* assay, we did not observe

an interaction between SpvC and the other MAPKs (MPK3 and MPK4) (**Figure 4B**). Hence, these results indicate that SpvC interacts with *Arabidopsis* MPK6.

ACTIVATED MAPKs ARE DEPHOSPHORYLATED BY SpvC

By monitoring in vitro the phosphorylation status of MAPKs after activation with flg22 in the presence of SpvC, we tested the assumption that SpvC might dephosphorylate the double phosphorylated active forms of MAPKs. The recombinant proteins 6xHis-SpvC and GST-SpvC were expressed in E. coli BL21 cells and purified with the respective affinity chromatography (Nisepharose or GTH-agarose columns, respectively). Arabidopsis MAPKs were activated by challenge of intact seedlings with flg22. Total proteins from those seedlings were incubated with recombinant SpvC protein (Figure 5A). The activation of the MAP kinases can be efficiently detected by means of an anti-pERK1/2 antibody that recognizes the phosphorylated T and Y residues in the activation loop (pTEpY) of MAPKs (Hamel et al., 2005). In Figure 5, the upper panel presents the phosphorylation status of MPK6 (upper band) and MPK3 (lower band) as detected by means of the anti-pERK1/2 antibody (apERK1/2). Twenty minutes after treatment of Arabidopsis seedlings with flg22, the detected signals indicated active, phosphorylated MAPKs. It should be noted that the 30 min incubation time, which is necessary to carry out this assay, did not affect the phosphorylation on the TEY epitope. When 6xHis-SpvC or GST-SpvC proteins were added to the Arabidopsis protein extract, the phosphorylated pTEpY epitope of the MAPK was no longer detectable (Figure 5A, apERK1/2 blot). This result suggests that SpvC is able to dephosphorylate activated plant MAPKs in vitro.

In the next step we sought to verify the result in an *in vivo* system. To achieve this aim, we expressed *SpvC* as native or GFP-tagged protein in *Arabidopsis* protoplasts, and subsequently assessed the phosphorylation status of MAPKs after flg22 treatment. As controls we transformed the protoplasts with *GFP* or the effector *AvrPto*, which is known to inhibit MPK6 phosphorylation (He et al., 2006). In *GFP*-expressing protoplasts, flg22-triggered transient activation of MAPKs was peaking after 15 min (**Figure 5B**). In contrast, protoplasts expressing *AvrPto*, *SpvC* as well as *GFP-SpvC* showed complete inhibition of MAPK activity (**Figures 5B,C**). These results are in line with the dephosphorylation activity of SpvC observed *in vitro*, as well as the suppressing effect on defense gene activation. Moreover, they support the idea that SpvC interferes with plant defense signaling upstream or at the level of the MAPKs.

EXPRESSION OF SpvC BREACHES THE NON-HOST RESISTANCE IN ARABIDOPSIS

MAPKs are key components of immune signaling in plants. Accordingly, we assumed that manipulation and inactivation of MAPKs by SpvC might affect plant resistance. To verify this, we analyzed the resistance of epidermal cells transformed with *SpvC* toward the fungal pathogen *Blumeria graminis f. sp. hordei* (*Bgh*). *Arabidopsis* is a non-host for *Bgh* and copes easily with this fungus either by papillae formation or by hypersensitive response (HR) at the infection site. *SpvC* was transiently expressed in *Arabidopsis* epidermal cells under the control of the constitutive 35S promoter



FIGURE 2 | Suppression of fig22-induced *pFRK1-Luc* **expression by** *Salmonella* **proteins. (A)** Mesophyll protoplasts from *Arabidopsis thaliana* Col-0 were co-transformed with pFRK1-Luc and p35S-Salmonella-ORF plasmids. Co-transformations of pFRK1-Luc with p2FGW7 (GFP) and with p2GW7-AvrPto (AvrPto) plasmids served as controls. Protoplasts were subsequently treated with fig22 or left untreated. The ability to suppress the flg22-driven activation of *pFRK1-Luc* of chosen virulence factors and effectors was assessed 6 h later by measuring luciferase (Luc) activity. Results are presented as ratio between flg22-treated and non-treated samples (+flg22/-flg22). For each effector, at least four independent experiments with three technical replicates were carried out. All data were pooled. Mean values \pm SD are plotted. One-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's multiple comparison test was performed to assess significant differences between *(Continued)*

FIGURE 2 | Continued

the GFP control and the virulence factor- and effector- protein-producing samples. An asterisk marks data sets with p < 0.01. The same test was performed to assess the difference between *Salmonella* effectors and AvrPto. A diamond represents those proteins, which have similar effects to AvrPto at p > 0.05. (**B**) Representative time-course experiment of flg22-mediated *pFRK1-Luc* activity in *Arabidopsis* protoplasts expressing

GFP, AvrPto or *SpvC*. Luciferase activity was measured every 2 h for 8 h after flg22 challenge. The data represents mean values \pm SD from three technical replicates. rlu; relative light units. **(C)** Localization study of a GFP-SpvC fusion protein produced under the 35S promoter in *Arabidopsis* leaves transformed via particle bombardment. Cytoplasmic and nuclear localized dsRED protein was used as a control. Images present two exemplary cells (lower and upper panels, respectively) expressing the GFP-SpvC fusion protein.



as a GFP-tagged version (*GFP-SpvC*) and transformed leaves were inoculated with *Bgh* conidia. On control-transformed (*mCherry*) cells about 48% of *Bgh* conidia germinated 24 h after inoculation, though all of the germinated conidia died or did not develop any further in the following 24 h (**Figure 6A**). In contrast, in cells expressing *GFP-SpvC* the percentage of germinated conidia increased to 66% and the later developed into secondary hyphae was observed in 11% of the transformed cells (**Figure 6A**). These results suggest that *Bgh* successfully penetrated into part of the epidermal cells that expressed *GFP-SpvC*. We conclude that the efficient defense mechanism against *Bgh* is at least partially compromised when SpvC is present in the cell, most likely due to its effect on MAPKs and the subsequent inhibition of PTI.

SpvC IS REQUIRED FOR FULL VIRULENCE OF *SALMONELLA* TOWARD PLANTS

The $\Delta spvC$ mutant is characterized by attenuated virulence in the mouse model (Mazurkiewicz et al., 2008) and SpvC is thought to play a crucial role in systemic bacteremia in humans [reviewed in Guiney and Fierer, 2011]. To assess the question whether



FIGURE 4 | Arabidopsis MPK6 interacts with the SpvC effector. (A) In a pull-down assay, recombinant 6xHis-SpvC or GST-SpvC proteins were co-incubated with total protein extract from *Arabidopsis* seedlings and Ni- or GTH-coated beads, respectively, as indicated by "+". Anti-MPK6, anti-MPK3, and anti-MPK4-specific antibodies were used to visualize the presence of the respective kinases in Ni- or GTH-binding complexes in an immunoblot analysis. Only MPK6 was detected, indicating a specific binding between MPK6 and 6xHis-SpvC, however not GST-SpvC, proteins. (B) Bimolecular fluorescence complementation (BiFC) assay was performed with full-length

versions of *MAPKs* and *SpvC* cloned down-stream of a portion of the *Yellow Fluorescent Protein* (*YFP*) gene encoding the N-terminal or C-terminal part of YFP in all four possible combinations. *Arabidopsis* epidermal cells were co-transformed with vectors carrying those constructs and vector carrying *35S-mCherry* via particle bombardment. Fluorescence was observed 48 h after transformation. **(C)** Quantification of the interaction between SpvC and MAPKs as percentage of the transformed cells. mCherry-positive cells from four independent experiments were counted. The diagram represents the percentage of YFP-positive cells among transformed cells.

SpvC plays a significant role during proliferation in plants, we tested the performance of the $\Delta spvC$ mutant on *Arabidopsis* plants. The $\Delta spvC$ mutant was constructed by replacing the *SpvC* gene with a chloramphenicol resistance cassette in the

wild-type *S*. Typhimurium strain 14028s (Datsenko and Wanner, 2000). Six-week old, soil-grown *Arabidopsis* plants were syringe-infiltrated and the bacterial populations were monitored during 4 days. The wild-type *S*. Typhimurium 14028s strain reached about



FIGURE 5 | Active MAPKs are dephosphorylated by SpvC. (A) MAPKs were activated by treatment of 2-week old seedlings with flg22 for 20 min prior to the extraction of total soluble proteins. Extracted proteins were then incubated for 30 min with purified recombinant 6xHis-SpvC or GST-SpvC proteins. The phosphorylation status of *Arabidopsis* MAPKs was analyzed by immunoblotting using an antibody raised against the phosphorylated form of EKR1/2 (α pERK1/2). The recombinant proteins were probed with anti-His and anti-GST antibodies (α His and α GST, respectively). Specific anti-MPK6 (α MPK6) antibody was used to assess the presence of MPK6. CCB stain was

used to monitor the equal sample loading. **(B)** *Arabidopsis* protoplasts were transformed with p2FGW7 (GFP), p2GW7-AvrPto (AvrPto) or p2GW7-SpvC (SpvC) and subsequently treated with flg22 for 0, 15 or 30 min. The phosphorylation status of MAPKs was assessed with the α pERK1/2 antibody. Treatment with flg22 caused phosphorylation of MPK6 and MPK3 as visible by the appearing bands at 15 and 30 min after treatment. However, signals are missing in protoplasts expressing *AvrPto* or *SpvC*. **(C)** Expression and stability of GFP-SpvC fusion protein in *Arabidopsis* protoplasts. Ponceau S staining was used to show equal sample loading.



 10^7 colony-forming units (cfu) in a leaf disc. In contrast to the wild-type, the $\Delta spvC$ mutant showed a decreased ability to proliferate in *Arabidopsis* (**Figure 6B**), suggesting that SpvC plays a important role for *Salmonella* when present in a plant host.

DISCUSSION

In this report we performed a functional screen of *Salmonella* effector proteins and virulence factors in plants. We demonstrated that the function of the *Salmonella* effector protein SpvC is conserved in hosts originating from different kingdoms. In analogy to the infection in the animal system, SpvC interacts with plant MAPKs and dephosphorylates their active form, thus attenuating defense mechanisms. The presence of *SpvC* in *Arabidopsis* cells repressed the induction of several defense-related genes and breached the non-host resistance toward *B. graminis*. Moreover, the mutant lacking *SpvC* was less virulent on *Arabidopsis* plants when compared to the wild-type strain *S*. Typhimurium 14028s.

Among known Salmonella effectors, some are encoded on plasmids within a shared common locus called salmonella

plasmid virulence (spv) (Boyd and Hartl, 1998). The spv operon is absolutely required for the development of a lethal systemic infection in the mouse model (Montenegro et al., 1991; Fierer et al., 1992; Gulig and Doyle, 1993). The expression of the spv operon (encoding five proteins: SpvR, A, B, C, and D) is strongly induced in intracellular bacteria and is regulated by the positive transcriptional regulator SpvR and the sigma factor RpoS (Fang et al., 1991; Krause et al., 1992). SpvC is a phosphothreonine lyase that dephosphorylates the double phosphorylated pTXpY activation loop in the kinases ERK1/2, as well as in p38 and probably JNK (Li et al., 2007; Mazurkiewicz et al., 2008; Haneda et al., 2012). In consequence, SpvC blocks the proinflammatory function of the MAPK pathway, facilitating the cell-to-cell spread of bacteria. In contrast to the dual-specificity phosphatases, which cleave the C-P bond, SpvC cleaves the C-O bond, promoting the formation of β -methyldehydroalanine, which cannot be re-phosphorylated. The enzymatic activity of SpvC is common to the OspF family, named after the first characterized effector protein OspF from Shigella flexneri (Arbibe et al., 2007; Li et al., 2007; Smith et al., 2009). Interestingly, also plant pathogens possess members of the OspF family. HopAI1 from Pseudomonas syringe is a close homolog to OspF/SpvC, and has similarly to the Salmonella protein, a phosphothreonine lyase activity. Previously, HopAI1 has been shown to dephosphorylate activated MPK3 and MPK6 in Arabidopsis plants (Zhang et al., 2007). Recently, MPK4 was also shown to be targeted and dephosphorylated by HopAI1 (Zhang et al., 2012).

Here, we demonstrate that SpvC dephosphorylates three activated MAPKs (MPK3, MPK4, and MPK6) in Arabidopsis. In both performed tests, the presence of SpvC caused loss of the phosphorylated pTEpY epitope on the MAPKs. On the one hand, the assumption that the biochemical action (cleavage of C-O bond) of SpvC on active plant MAPKs is similar to its action on pERK1/2 is very tempting, remains however to be verified. On the other hand, the dephosphorylation of MAPK3/4/6 by SpvC is clearly coupled to the attenuation of the plant defense responses. When present in Arabidopsis protoplasts, SpvC hinders the expression of several defense-associated genes. It also lowers the resistance of Arabidopsis cells against the biotrophic, non-host pathogen Bgh, a phenomenon observed in defensecompromised mutants [reviewed in Lipka et al., 2008)]. Similarly to the situation in animal cells, where SpvC blocks the proinflammatory pathway and therefore the actual defense response, inhibition of MAPKs in plants seems to block the otherwise efficient defense strategy. How specific the particular MAPKs are targeted by SpvC could not be answered. The dephosphorylation assays clearly showed the possibility to dephosphorylate MPK3, MPK4, and MPK6, a situation similar to HopAI1 (Zhang et al., 2012). Nevertheless, in contrast to MPK6, interaction of SpvC with MPK3 or MPK4 could be verified neither in BiFC nor in pull-down assays, which indicates a high affinity of SpvC toward MPK6 or that interaction with MPK3 or MPK4 requires yet other components.

During animal infection, SpvC induces late macrophage apoptosis. However, no cell death-inducing activity could be detected in plants. In contrast to macrophage apoptosis used by *Salmonella* to facilitate the cell-to-cell spread in animal organism, cellular death in plants (hypersensitive response; HR) is very often a defense mechanism induced by recognition of pathogen effector proteins by the plant intracellular R proteins. Despite the fact that SpvC is a T3SS-translocated effector in mammalian cells, the described above screen in tobacco leaves suggests that SpvC does not induce the hallmark of effector-triggered immunity (ETI) in plants, the HR, implying that SpvC is not recognized by R protein(s). We also exclude the possibility that SpvC is recognized by surface located receptors by testing its PAMP activity. Growth inhibition and production of reactive oxygen species, both hallmarks of pattern-triggered immunity (PTI), were studied in plants after contact with SpvC (Supplementary Figure S2). Our results suggest that SpvC is not toxic for plant cells when externally present and that plants do not recognize SpvC by potential surface receptor(s).

As described above, the intracellular presence of SpvC attenuated the activation of MPK3/4/6 and expression of several defense-related genes. Whether, besides inhibition of those two aspects of plant defense, SpvC actively suppresses the HR response remains to be verified in future experiments. Furthermore, the translocation of Salmonella effector proteins into plant cytoplasm was not yet demonstrated. The function of SpvC requires its presence in the host cytoplasm, therefore a direct evidence of translocation of this effector (or/and others) needs to be provided in future work, as this would certainly help to understand how these bacteria suppress plant immune responses. Interesting was the observation that expression of other Salmonella effectors in planta induced visible changes. SseF and SseG, both SPI-2 encoded effector proteins involved in the trafficking of Salmonella Containing Vacuole (SCV) in animal cells, induced HR-like (SseF) or yellowing (SseG) symptoms in tobacco leaves, when expressed via Agrobacterium-mediated transformation. It confirms the observation made by Ustun et al. (2012), who showed that SseF from S. enterica triggers HR-like symptoms in tobacco plants when expressed transiently via Agrobacterium infiltration or delivered via the T3SS from Xanthomonas campestris pv. vesicatoria. Moreover, the ability of SseF to trigger HR-like symptoms was lost upon silencing of SGT1 (suppressor of G2 allele of skp1), which is required for HR induction in tobacco. These results indicate that Salmonella SseF is recognized in N. benthamiana via an R protein-mediated mechanism and triggers ETI in consequence. Surprisingly, expression of SptP or SlrP, both postulated to be key effectors of Salmonella with the highest number of predicted protein-protein interactions (Schleker et al., 2012), induced no visible symptoms in tobacco leaves nor had an effect on the induction of pFRK1-Luc in Arabidopsis protoplasts.

In summary, an increasing number of evidence indicates that plants evolved diverse mechanisms to recognize *Salmonella* bacteria using surface receptors as well as intracellular R proteins. Our study supports the view that *Salmonella* also evolved means to interfere with plant immunity by efficiently employing its repertoire of effector proteins to succumb plant immune responses. Consequently, *Salmonella*, and possibly other human pathogenic bacteria, seems to possess effective tools for suppression of the plant immune system.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The work of Casandra Hernàndez-Reyes was supported by CONACYT fellowship from the Mexican Ministry for Science. Heribert Hirt was supported by a grant of the ERANET Systems Biology project SHIPREC (*Salmonella* Host Interaction Project European Consortium).

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: http://www.frontiersin.org/journal/10.3389/fmicb. 2014.00548/abstract

REFERENCES

- Arbibe, L., Kim, D. W., Batsche, E., Pedron, T., Mateescu, B., Muchardt, C., et al. (2007). An injected bacterial effector targets chromatin access for transcription factor NF-kappaB to alter transcription of host genes involved in immune responses. *Nat. Immunol.* 8, 47–56. doi: 10.1038/ni1423
- Asai, T., Tena, G., Plotnikova, J., Willmann, M. R., Chiu, W. L., Gomez-Gomez, L., et al. (2002). MAP kinase signalling cascade in Arabidopsis innate immunity. *Nature* 415, 977–983. doi: 10.1038/415977a
- Bethke, G., Unthan, T., Uhrig, J. F., Poschl, Y., Gust, A. A., Scheel, D., et al. (2009). Flg22 regulates the release of an ethylene response factor substrate from MAP kinase 6 in *Arabidopsis thaliana* via ethylene signaling. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 106, 8067–8072. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0810206106
- Boller, T. (2012). Experimental evidence of a role for RLKs in innate immunity. *Signal. Commun. Plants* 13, 67–77. doi: 10.1007/978-3-642-23044-8_4
- Boyd, E. F., and Hartl, D. L. (1998). Salmonella virulence plasmid. Modular acquisition of the spv virulence region by an F-plasmid in *Salmonella enterica* subspecies I and insertion into the chromosome of subspecies II, IIIa, IV and VII isolates. *Genetics* 149, 1183–1190.
- Chu, C., and Chiu, C. H. (2006). Evolution of the virulence plasmids of nontyphoid Salmonella and its association with antimicrobial resistance. *Microbes Infect.* 8, 1931–1936. doi: 10.1016/j.micinf.2005.12.026
- Datsenko, K. A., and Wanner, B. L. (2000). One-step inactivation of chromosomal genes in *Escherichia coli* K-12 using PCR products. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 97, 6640–6645. doi: 10.1073/pnas.120163297
- Fang, F. C., Krause, M., Roudier, C., Fierer, J., and Guiney, D. G. (1991). Growth regulation of a Salmonella plasmid gene essential for virulence. *J. Bacteriol.* 173, 6783–6789.
- Felix, G., Duran, J. D., Volko, S., and Boller, T. (1999). Plants have a sensitive perception system for the most conserved domain of bacterial flagellin. *Plant J.* 18, 265–276. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-313X.1999.00265.x
- Fierer, J., Krause, M., Tauxe, R., and Guiney, D. (1992). Salmonella typhimurium bacteremia: association with the virulence plasmid. J. Infect. Dis. 166, 639–642. doi: 10.1093/infdis/166.3.639
- Fraiture, M., Zheng, X., and Brunner, F. (2014). An Arabidopsis and tomato mesophyll protoplast system for fast identification of early MAMP-triggered immunity-suppressing effectors. *Methods Mol. Biol.* 1127, 213–230. doi: 10.1007/978-1-62703-986-4_17
- Garcia, A. V., Charrier, A., Schikora, A., Bigeard, J., Pateyron, S., De Tauzia-Moreau, M. L., et al. (2014). Salmonella enterica flagellin is recognized via FLS2 and activates PAMP-triggered immunity in Arabidopsis thaliana. Mol. Plant 7, 657–674. doi: 10.1093/mp/sst145
- Golberg, D., Kroupitski, Y., Belausov, E., Pinto, R., and Sela, S. (2011). Salmonella typhimurium internalization is variable in leafy vegetables and fresh herbs. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 145, 250–257. doi: 10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro. 2010.12.031
- Guiney, D. G., and Fierer, J. (2011). The role of the spv genes in Salmonella pathogenesis. Front. Microbiol. 2:129. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2011.00129
- Gulig, P. A., and Doyle, T. J. (1993). The Salmonella typhimurium virulence plasmid increases the growth rate of salmonellae in mice. Infect. Immun. 61, 504–511.
- Haapalainen, M., Van Gestel, K., Pirhonen, M., and Taira, S. (2009). Soluble plant cell signals induce the expression of the type III secretion system of *Pseudomonas* syringae and upregulate the production of pilus protein HrpA. *Mol. Plant Microbe Interact.* 22, 282–290. doi: 10.1094/MPMI-22-3-0282

- Hamel, L. P., Miles, G. P., Samuel, M. A., Ellis, B. E., Seguin, A., and Beaudoin, N. (2005). Activation of stress-responsive mitogen-activated protein kinase pathways in hybrid poplar (Populus trichocarpa x Populus deltoides). *Tree Physiol.* 25, 277–288. doi: 10.1093/treephys/25.3.277
- Haneda, T., Ishii, Y., Shimizu, H., Ohshima, K., Iida, N., Danbara, H., et al. (2012). Salmonella type III effector SpvC, a phosphothreonine lyase, contributes to reduction in inflammatory response during intestinal phase of infection. *Cell. Microbiol.* 14, 485–499. doi: 10.1111/j.1462-5822.2011.01733.x
- He, P., Shan, L., Lin, N. C., Martin, G. B., Kemmerling, B., Nurnberger, T., et al. (2006). Specific bacterial suppressors of MAMP signaling upstream of MAPKKK in Arabidopsis innate immunity. *Cell* 125, 563–575. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2006.02.047
- Heffron, F., Niemann, G., Yoon, H., Kidwai, A., Brown, R., McDemrott, J., et al. (2011). "Salmonella-secreted virulence factors," in *Salmonella from Genom to Function*, ed S. Porwollik (San Diego, CA: Caister Academic Press), 187–223.
- Holden, N., Pritchard, L., and Toth, I. (2009). Colonization outwith the colon: plants as an alternative environmental reservoir for human pathogenic enterobacteria. *FEMS Microbiol. Rev.* 33, 689–703. doi: 10.1111/j.1574-6976.2008.00153.x
- Jones, J. D., and Dangl, J. L. (2006). The plant immune system. *Nature* 444, 323–329. doi: 10.1038/nature05286
- Krause, M., Fang, F. C., and Guiney, D. G. (1992). Regulation of plasmid virulence gene expression in Salmonella dublin involves an unusual operon structure. *J. Bacteriol.* 174, 4482–4489.
- Kroupitski, Y., Golberg, D., Belausov, E., Pinto, R., Swartzberg, D., Granot, D., et al. (2009). Internalization of *Salmonella enterica* in leaves is induced by light and involves chemotaxis and penetration through open stomata. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 75, 6076–6086. doi: 10.1128/AEM.01084-09
- Li, H., Xu, H., Zhou, Y., Zhang, J., Long, C., Li, S., et al. (2007). The phosphothreonine lyase activity of a bacterial type III effector family. *Science* 315, 1000–1003. doi: 10.1126/science.1138960
- Lipka, U., Fuchs, R., and Lipka, V. (2008). Arabidopsis non-host resistance to powdery mildews. *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.* 11, 404–411. doi: 10.1016/j.pbi.2008.04.004
- Mazurkiewicz, P., Thomas, J., Thompson, J. A., Liu, M., Arbibe, L., Sansonetti, P., et al. (2008). SpvC is a Salmonella effector with phosphothreonine lyase activity on host mitogen-activated protein kinases. *Mol. Microbiol.* 67, 1371–1383. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2008.06134.x
- Meng, F., Altier, C., and Martin, G. B. (2013). Salmonella colonization activates the plant immune system and benefits from association with plant pathogenic bacteria. *Environ. Microbiol.* 15, 2418–2430. doi: 10.1111/1462-2920.12113
- Milillo, S. R., Badamo, J. M., Boor, K. J., and Wiedmann, M. (2008). Growth and persistence of *Listeria monocytogenes* isolates on the plant model *Arabidopsis thaliana. Food Microbiol.* 25, 698–704. doi: 10.1016/j.fm.2008.03.003
- Montenegro, M. A., Morelli, G., and Helmuth, R. (1991). Heteroduplex analysis of Salmonella virulence plasmids and their prevalence in isolates of defined sources. *Microb. Pathog.* 11, 391–397. doi: 10.1016/0882-4010(91)90035-9
- Pang, T., Bhutta, Z. A., Finlay, B. B., and Altwegg, M. (1995). Typhoid fever and other salmonellosis: a continuing challenge. *Trends Microbiol.* 3, 253–255. doi: 10.1016/S0966-842X(00)88937-4
- Pitzschke, A., Schikora, A., and Hirt, H. (2009). MAPK cascade signalling networks in plant defence. *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.* 12, 421–426. doi: 10.1016/j.pbi.2009.06.008
- Prithiviraj, B., Bais, H. P., Jha, A. K., and Vivanco, J. M. (2005). Staphylococcus aureus pathogenicity on Arabidopsis thaliana is mediated either by a direct effect of salicylic acid on the pathogen or by SA-dependent, NPR1-independent host responses. Plant J. 42, 417–432. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-313X.2005.02385.x
- Rangel, J. M., Sparling, P. H., Crowe, C., Griffin, P. M., and Swerdlow, D. L. (2005). Epidemiology of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 outbreaks, United States, 1982-2002. *Emerg. Infect. Dis.* 11, 603–609. doi: 10.3201/eid1104.040739

- Schikora, A., Carreri, A., Charpentier, E., and Hirt, H. (2008). The dark side of the salad: Salmonella typhimurium overcomes the innate immune response of *Arabidopsis thaliana* and shows an endopathogenic lifestyle. PLoS ONE 3:e2279. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0002279
- Schikora, A., Virlogeux-Payant, I., Bueso, E., Garcia, A. V., Nilau, T., Charrier, A., et al. (2011). Conservation of Salmonella infection mechanisms in plants and animals. *PLoS ONE* 6:e24112. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0024112
- Schleker, S., Garcia-Garcia, J., Klein-Seetharaman, J., and Oliva, B. (2012). Prediction and comparison of salmonellahuman and salmonellaarabidopsis interactomes. *Chem. Biodivers.* 9, 991–1018. doi: 10.1002/cbdv.201 100392
- Shirron, N., and Yaron, S. (2011). Active suppression of early immune response in tobacco by the human pathogen Salmonella typhimurium. PLoS ONE 6:e18855. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0018855
- Smith, G. K., Ke, Z., Hengge, A. C., Xu, D., Xie, D., and Guo, H. (2009). Active-site dynamics of SpvC virulence factor from *Salmonella typhimurium* and density functional theory study of phosphothreonine lyase catalysis. *J. Phys. Chem. B* 113, 15327–15333. doi: 10.1021/jp9052677
- Ustun, S., Muller, P., Palmisano, R., Hensel, M., and Bornke, F. (2012). SseF, a type III effector protein from the mammalian pathogen *Salmonella enterica*, requires resistance-gene-mediated signalling to activate cell death in the model plant *Nicotiana benthamiana*. *New Phytol.* 194, 1046–1060. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8137.2012.04124.x
- Westrell, T., Ciampa, N., Boelaert, F., Helwigh, B., Korsgaard, H., Chriel, M., et al. (2009). Zoonotic infections in Europe in 2007: a summary of the EFSA-ECDC annual report. *Euro Surveill*. 14. Available online at: http://www.eurosurveillance.org/ViewArticle.aspx?ArticleId=19100
- Yoo, S. D., Cho, Y. H., and Sheen, J. (2007). Arabidopsis mesophyll protoplasts: a versatile cell system for transient gene expression analysis. *Nat. Protoc.* 2, 1565–1572. doi: 10.1038/nprot.2007.199
- Zhang, J., Shao, F., Li, Y., Cui, H., Chen, L., Li, H., et al. (2007). A Pseudomonas syringae effector inactivates MAPKs to suppress PAMP-induced immunity in plants. Cell Host Microbe 1, 175–185. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2007.03.006
- Zhang, Z., Wu, Y., Gao, M., Zhang, J., Kong, Q., Liu, Y., et al. (2012). Disruption of PAMP-induced MAP kinase cascade by a *Pseudomonas syringae* effector activates plant immunity mediated by the NB-LRR protein SUMM2. *Cell Host Microbe* 11, 253–263. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2012.01.015
- Zheng, X., McLellan, H., Fraiture, M., Liu, X., Boevink, P. C., Gilroy, E. M., et al. (2014). Functionally redundant RXLR effectors from *Phytophthora infestans* act at different steps to suppress early flg22-triggered immunity. *PLoS Pathog.* 10:e1004057. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1004057

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 29 April 2014; accepted: 01 October 2014; published online: 17 October 2014. Citation: Neumann C, Fraiture M, Hernàndez-Reyes C, Akum FN, Virlogeux-Payant I, Chen Y, Pateyron S, Colcombet J, Kogel K-H, Hirt H, Brunner F and Schikora A (2014) The Salmonella effector protein SpvC, a phosphothreonine lyase is functional in plant cells. Front. Microbiol. **5**:548. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2014.00548

This article was submitted to Plant-Microbe Interaction, a section of the journal Frontiers in Microbiology.

Copyright © 2014 Neumann, Fraiture, Hernàndez-Reyes, Akum, Virlogeux-Payant, Chen, Pateyron, Colcombet, Kogel, Hirt, Brunner and Schikora. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Interactions of *Salmonella* with animals and plants

Agnès Wiedemann^{1,2}*, Isabelle Virlogeux-Payant^{1,2}, Anne-Marie Chaussé^{1,2}, Adam Schikora³ and Philippe Velge^{1,2}

¹ Institut National de la Recherche Agronomique, UMR1282 Infectiologie et Santé Publique, Nouzilly, France

² UMR1282 Infectiologie et Santé Publique, Université François Rabelais, Tours, France

³ Institute for Phytopathology, Research Center for BioSystems, Land Use and Nutrition (IFZ), Justus Liebig University Giessen, Giessen, Germany

Edited by:

Nicola Holden, The James Hutton Institute, UK

Reviewed by:

Ariena H. C. Van Bruggen, University of Florida, USA Fanhong Meng, Texas A&M University, USA

*Correspondence:

Agnès Wiedemann, Institut National de la Recherche Agronomique, UMR1282 Infectiologie et Santé Publique, F-37380 Nouzilly, France e-mail: agnes.wiedemann@tours. inra.fr Salmonella enterica species are Gram-negative bacteria, which are responsible for a wide range of food- and water-borne diseases in both humans and animals, thereby posing a major threat to public health. Recently, there has been an increasing number of reports, linking *Salmonella* contaminated raw vegetables and fruits with food poisoning. Many studies have shown that an essential feature of the pathogenicity of *Salmonella* is its capacity to cross a number of barriers requiring invasion of a large variety of cells and that the extent of internalization may be influenced by numerous factors. However, it is poorly understood how *Salmonella* successfully infects hosts as diversified as animals or plants. The aim of this review is to describe the different stages required for *Salmonella* interaction with its hosts: (i) attachment to host surfaces; (ii) entry processes; (iii) multiplication; (iv) suppression of host defense mechanisms; and to point out similarities and differences between animal and plant infections.

Keywords: Salmonella infections, adhesion, invasion mechanisms, multiplication, host defense strategies

INTRODUCTION

The genus *Salmonella* consists of only two species, *S. bongori* and *S. enterica*, and the latter is divided into six subspecies: *enterica*, *salamae*, *arizonae*, *diarizonae*, *houtenae*, *indica*. *S. enterica* subsp. *enterica* includes more than 1,500 serotypes, which despite their high genetic similarity vary greatly in their host range and disease outcome ranging from enteritis to typhoid fever (Ohl and Miller, 2001). *Salmonella enterica* subsp. *enterica* is an important economic and public health problem throughout the world.

The degree of adaptation to hosts varies between Salmonella serotypes and determines the pathogenicity. Serotypes adapted to humans, such as S. Typhi and S. Paratyphi A, B, C, cause systemic typhoid fever. These serotypes are not pathogenic for animals. Similarly, S. Gallinarum and S. Abortusovis, which are specifically adapted to poultry and ovine, respectively, are responsible for severe systemic infections in these animals. However, S. Choleraesuis, for which pigs are the primary hosts, also causes severe systemic illness in humans. Ubiquitous serotypes, such as S. Enteritidis or S. Typhimurium, generally cause gastrointestinal infections in humans but can induce other diseases in animals (Hoelzer et al., 2011). For example, they can produce typhoid-like infections in mice, systemic infection in humans or asymptomatic intestinal colonization in chickens and pigs (Velge et al., 2012). Some of them are responsible for chlorosis on plant leaves sometimes causing death (Klerks et al., 2007b; Schikora et al., 2008, 2011; Gu et al., 2013b).

Disease in mammals occurs after ingestion of contaminated food or water. *Salmonella* infection of animals and humans depends on the ability of bacteria to survive the harsh conditions of the gastric tract before entering the intestinal epithelium and subsequently colonizing the mesenteric lymph nodes and internal organs in the case of systemic infections. In order to enter non-phagocytic cells and survive within the host environment, *Salmonella* has evolved mechanisms to interact with host cells and to induce its own internalization (Vazquez-Torres et al., 1999; Rosselin et al., 2012).

Salmonella usually enters agricultural environments via animal feces. Animals can directly contaminate plants or surface water used for irrigation and pesticide or fertilizer diluent through contaminated feces. Recently, there has been an increasing number of reports, linking Salmonella contaminated raw vegetables and fruits with food poisoning (Heaton and Jones, 2008). Salmonella is able to adapt to different external conditions including low pH or high temperature, allowing it to survive outside the host organism (Samelis et al., 2003; Semenov et al., 2007). Indeed, Salmonella is able to attach and adhere to plant surfaces before actively infecting the interior of different plants, leading to colonization of plant organs (Klerks et al., 2007a; Gu et al., 2011), and suppression of the plant immune system (Schikora et al., 2012). In addition, Salmonella originating from plants retains virulence toward animals (Schikora et al., 2011). Thus, plants are an alternative host for Salmonella pathogens, and have a role in its transmission back to animals.

Currently it is poorly understood how *Salmonella* successfully infects hosts as diversified as humans, animals, or plants. Here, our current understanding of the strategies used by *Salmonella* to colonize mammals and plants will be summarized. The gap in our knowledge about the differences in host colonization between animals and plants will be discussed.

COLONIZATION

Salmonella infection requires different stages: attachment and adhesion to host surfaces, and production of bacterial factors, which facilitate invasion, initial multiplication, and ability to overcome or bypass host defense mechanisms.

ADHESION TO HOST SURFACES

One of the first crucial events in successful colonization by Salmonella is adhesion to tissues. Two steps can be distinguished in the adhesion process: an initial adhesion that is reversible followed by a tight attachment which depends on bacterial factors and that is irreversible (Cevallos-Cevallos et al., 2012). This first contact is decisive whatever the host infected. However, this step is not exactly the same in animals and plants. In animals, bacterial adhesion occurs when Salmonella interacts with eukaryotic cells prior to invasion or when bacteria initiate biofilm formation on host surfaces, such as the intestinal epithelium or gallstones. In contrast, to date bacterial adhesion has been described only at the plant surface level and not at the plant cell level. Nevertheless, as in animals, biofilm formation on plant tissue has been observed to play an important role in plant colonization by Salmonella often in association with other plant pathogens as described in Section "The Different Multiplication Areas of Salmonella." To strongly adhere to surfaces, Salmonella serotypes use several surface components depending on the surface to which they will attach. The different adhesive structures of Salmonella, their host receptor when known and the current knowledge about their role in the interaction of Salmonella with animals and plants are described below.

Fimbrial structures

Fimbriae are proteinaceous surface appendages of $0.5-10 \ \mu$ m in length and 2–8 nm in width (**Figure 1**), which have, at their distal part, a protein which interacts with its host receptor thus mediating the adhesion of the bacteria to the host or inert surfaces. So far, more than 10 fimbrial operons have been identified in *Salmonella* genomes and the number and types of fimbrial operons depends on the serotype (van Asten and van Dijk, 2005). Horizontal gene transfer and deletion events have created unique combinations of fimbrial operons among *Salmonella* serotypes (Baumler et al., 1997; Townsend et al., 2001). The combination of adhesins used



FIGURE 1 |Transmission electron microscopy image showing fimbriae of S. Enteritidis after culture on Sven Gard plates. Bar represents $0.5 \ \mu m$.

by each serotype affects its ability to adhere to different cell types and therefore contributes to the ability of this serotype to colonize different niches or hosts. Thirteen fimbrial operons have been identified in S. Typhimurium: agf (also called csg), fim, pef, lpf, bcf, saf, stb, stc, std, stf, sth, sti, and stj. Until now, studies of fimbriae have been slowed down by the fact that only one of them, the Type I fimbriae (also called Fim fimbriae or SEF21), is expressed in commonly used laboratory culture conditions. This can in part be related to a post-transcriptional control of other fimbrial gene expression via the 5'untranslated region of the fimAICDH transcript or to a negative control of their expression as observed for the std operon that is repressed by Dam, SeqA, HdfR, and RosE (Chessa et al., 2008a; Sterzenbach et al., 2013). There is, however, evidence that these adhesive structures can be expressed in vivo. Indeed, BcfA, FimA, LpfA, PefA, StbA, StcA, StdA, StfA, and StiA have been shown to be expressed after inoculation of bovine ileal loops with S. Typhimurium. Moreover, antibodies against the same fimbrial proteins and also against AgfA and SthA have been observed after inoculation of mice with S. Typhimurium (Humphries et al., 2003, 2005).

Due to the difficulties encountered to study fimbriae, their respective cell receptor and targeted cell types in their animal hosts are known for only a few of them. Type I fimbriae are characterized by hemagglutination, yeast agglutination, and binding to eukaryotic cells expressing the α -D-mannose receptor (Korhonen et al., 1980). Long polar fimbriae mediate the adhesion of S. Typhimurium to murine Peyer patches while Pef fimbriae, whose binding carbohydrate is the Lewis X blood group antigen, are involved in adhesion to murine villous small intestine (Baumler et al., 1996; Chessa et al., 2008b). Std fimbriae bind terminal Fuca1-2 moieties present in the mucus layer of the murine caecum mucosa or on the surface of cells such as Caco-2 cell line (Chessa et al., 2009) and thin aggregative fimbriae (also called Tafi or Curli), encoded by agf operon, interact with the extracellular matrix glycoproteins. While the interactions of fimbriae with animal cells are not well characterized, several studies have shown that fimbriae are involved in the colonization of different animals. Type I fimbriae contribute to mouse, pig, and chick intestinal colonization (Dibb-Fuller and Woodward, 2000; Althouse et al., 2003). lpf, bcf, stb, stc, std, and sth encoded fimbriae lead to the long-term persistence of S. Typhimurium in resistant mice $(Nramp^{+/+})$ (Weening et al., 2005; Lawley et al., 2006). In chicks, pef, std, sth, sef, and agf-encoded fimbriae are also involved in spleen and intestinal colonization by S. Typhimurium and S. Gallinarum (Morgan et al., 2004; Shah et al., 2005). Usually, the absence of expression of only one fimbriae type does not greatly reduce Salmonella virulence. However, multiple mutations have a greater impact. For example, in Salmonella susceptible mice (Nramp $^{-/-}$), a S. Typhimurium strain where the three *pef*, *lpf* and *agf* operons are deleted, has a 29-fold higher 50% lethal dose (LD₅₀) and is less able to colonize the intestine than the wild-type strain or than strains with a single mutation after oral inoculation, thus highlighting the synergistic action of fimbriae to colonize the intestine (van der Velden et al., 1998).

Some fimbriae also contribute to biofilm formation in animals and plants, particularly curli fimbriae. These fimbriae are required for biofilm formation on epithelial cells and chicken intestinal surfaces and favor the attachment and the persistence of the biofilm-associated Salmonella on alfalfa sprouts, parsley, and tomato leaflets (Barak et al., 2005, 2007; Ledeboer et al., 2006; Jonas et al., 2007; Lapidot and Yaron, 2009; Cevallos-Cevallos et al., 2012). They also promote survival of Salmonella inside plants (Gu et al., 2011). A role of Pef and Lpf fimbriae has also been observed in biofilm formation on animal surfaces. As curli fimbriae, Pef fimbriae have been shown to be required for biofilm formation on inert, epithelial cells and chicken intestinal surfaces, while Lpf fimbriae appear to be more involved in biofilm formation on chicken intestinal tissue than on plastic or tissue culture cells (Ledeboer et al., 2006; Jonas et al., 2007). In addition to the curli fimbriae involved in plant colonization, fimbriae encoded by the stf operon have been shown to increase the persistence of S. Typhimurium on intact but not on damaged lettuce leaves after cold storage but this seems not to be related to an attachment defect on leaf tissue (Kroupitski et al., 2013).

Non-fimbrial adhesins

Two types of non-fimbrial adhesins have been described in *Salmonella* according to their secretion pathway: BapA and SiiE are each secreted by a Type-1 secretion system, while ShdA, MisL, and SadA are autotransporters also known as Type-V secretion systems.

BapA (386 kDa) and SiiE (595 kDa) are the largest proteins of Salmonella and share the characteristics of having numerous bacterial Immunoglobulin-like domains. The genes encoding these two proteins are highly conserved among Salmonella serotypes (Biswas et al., 2011; Suez et al., 2013). BapA has been shown to be involved in biofilm formation in S. Enteritidis. Its expression is co-regulated with the two other essential components of Salmonella biofilms, i.e., thin aggregative fimbriae and cellulose, by the central transcriptional regulator AgfD (Latasa et al., 2005). In mice, BapA is involved in the first steps of the infectious process as a bapA S. Enteritidis mutant was less able to colonize mice ileal loops than the wild-type strain and was shown to be less virulent for mice than its parent only when orally inoculated (Latasa et al., 2005). The role of BapA in S. Typhimurium is less clear (Latasa et al., 2005; Jonas et al., 2007). In plants, no studies have been performed, but the role of BapA in biofilm formation supports a possible role of this protein in Salmonella/plant interactions.

SiiE is an adhesin encoded by *Salmonella* Pathogenicity Island-4. The *siiABCDEF* operon encodes the adhesin and the proteins required for the biosynthesis of its Type-I secretion system. The SiiE protein mediates the initial adhesion of *Salmonella* to the apical side of polarized epithelial cells via multiple interactions with glycostructures with terminal *N*-acetyl-glucosamine and/or α 2,3-linked sialic acid. This SiiE-mediated adhesion is required for subsequent Type III-secretion-system-1 (T3SS-1) invasion of these cells (detailed in Section "T3SS-1 Dependent Mechanism"; Gerlach et al., 2008; Wagner et al., 2014). In line with the cooperation of SiiE and the T3SS-1, the *siiABCDEF* operon is co-regulated with the *Salmonella* Pathogenicity Island-1 (SPI-1) genes involved in T3SS-1 biosynthesis (Gerlach et al., 2007b; Main-Hester et al., 2008). Contrary to BapA, SiiE has not been shown to contribute to biofilm formation even if a role of SPI-4 in the virulence of *Salmonella* has been observed in animals (Latasa et al., 2005). Indeed, mutants in the *siiABCDEF* operon, including a *siiE* mutant, were attenuated for colonization of mice after oral but not after intraperitoneal infection compared to their wild-type parents (Morgan et al., 2004; Kiss et al., 2007). However, no attenuation was observed by Gerlach et al. (2007a) in a similar model. The role of this giant adhesin in plant colonization remains to be determined.

The ShdA adhesin is a monomeric fibronectin and collagen-I binding protein that is encoded by *shdA* carried on the CS54 island (Kingsley et al., 2004). This gene is present in *Salmonella* serotypes isolated from human and warm-blooded animals but not from cold-blooded animals (Kingsley et al., 2000). ShdA was shown to mediate adhesion to the epithelium of the murine caecum (Kingsley et al., 2002) and to contribute to the colonization of this organ and of the Peyer's patches of the terminal ileum of mice. A *shdA* mutant also had a reduced persistence in the cecum and a fecal shedding defect in this animal model but not in a pig model (Kingsley and Baumler, 2000; Kingsley et al., 2003; Boyen et al., 2006). No data on the role of ShdA in plant colonization is available.

The MisL adhesin, encoded by a gene within SPI-3, shares several characteristics with ShdA. MisL is a monomeric adhesin that is not expressed under standard *in vitro* cultures but its expression can be induced by the transcriptional regulator MarT encoded on SPI-3 (Blanc-Potard et al., 1999; Tükel et al., 2007). In addition, as ShdA, MisL binds fibronectin and is involved in the colonization of the cecum and in the persistence of *S*. Typhimurium in mice after oral inoculation (Dorsey et al., 2005). A *misL* mutant has also been shown to be altered in the intestinal colonization of chicks and in the attachment to lettuce leaves (Morgan et al., 2004; Kroupitski et al., 2013). The latter phenotype could be related to a reduced ability of the mutant to form biofilms on inert surfaces (Kroupitski et al., 2013).

Little is known about the trimeric SadA adhesin. Contrary to ShdA and MisL, this protein is expressed under *in vitro* standard growth cultures and is surface-exposed on *S*. Typhimurium. Its expression on bacterial cells deprived of *O*-antigen mediates autoaggregation and biofilm formation on inert surfaces. Moreover, SadA has been shown to increase the adherence and invasion of an *Escherichia coli* strain lacking smooth lipopolysaccharide (LPS) into human intestinal Caco-2 cells. However, no binding with extracellular matrix molecules collagen I, collagen III, collagen IV, elastin, fibronectin, and laminin has been observed and no role of SadA in the virulence of *S*. Typhimurium in mice and in *C. elegans* models has been demonstrated (Raghunathan et al., 2011).

Other structures

Flagella and LPS are bacterial factors whose main function is not to mediate adhesion. Flagella confer motility and chemotaxis and stimulate the host innate immune response (Vijay-Kumar and Gewirtz, 2009). LPS is a major component of the outer membrane of most Gram-negative bacteria, and protects them from toxic compounds, such as antibiotics or bile salts. LPS is composed of three parts: the lipid A, which is embedded in the bacterial membrane, the core oligosaccharide, and the most external moiety, the O-antigen. It is also an endotoxin responsible for septic shock in animal hosts and, as flagella it stimulates the innate immune response (Tan and Kagan, 2014). However, several papers describe a role of these structures in the adhesion of Salmonella to animal or plant tissues. For flagella, the reduced adhesion of Salmonella described in some papers in animal models is related to a defect in the motility function conferred by flagella (Jones et al., 1981; Khoramian-Falsafi et al., 1990). This could be explained by the fact that a strain with reduced motility is less likely to enter in contact with its target host cells/tissues and consequently has a reduced attachment/entry rate into cells. However, in other papers, flagella, per se, were shown to be involved in adhesion, as mutants in flagellar structure proteins were shown to be impaired in adhesion to chick gut explants and in biofilm formation on cholesterol-coated surfaces, unlike paralyzed mutants (Allen-Vercoe and Woodward, 1999; Crawford et al., 2010). In plants, a role of flagella in the adhesion to basil and lettuce leaves has also been reported (Berger et al., 2009; Kroupitski et al., 2009). In addition, it is important to note that two open reading frames involved in swarming motility are also involved in plant colonization (Barak et al., 2009).

A few papers describe a role of the LPS in the adhesion of some Salmonella serotypes. Indeed, S. Choleraesuis and S. Typhi, rough mutants, i.e., with an O-antigen defect, were altered in the attachment and invasion of polarized epithelial monolayers of Madin Darby canine kidney (MDCK) cells and HeLa cell monolayers, respectively (Finlay et al., 1988; Mroczenski-Wildey et al., 1989). However, the absence of O-antigen expression was shown to have the opposite effect in S. Typhimurium and S. Enteritidis serotypes (Kihlstrom and Edebo, 1976; Baloda et al., 1988). In the latter case, the strongest ability of rough mutants to adhere to eukaryotic cells was suggested to be related to the highest hydrophobicity properties of these mutants compared to their wild-type parents, thus allowing hydrophobic interactions between the bacterial and the host cell membranes. In plants, the O-antigen capsule was shown to be involved in the colonization of alfalfa sprouts, while colonic acid, another extracellular polysaccharide, was not. Indeed, a mutant defective in the assembly and translocation of the O-antigen capsule had a reduced ability to adhere to alfalfa sprouts (Barak et al., 2007). However, O-antigen capsule production did not confer a selective advantage to S. Typhimurium for red ripe tomatoe colonization (Noel et al., 2010).

As mentioned above, biofilm formation is an important property for *Salmonella* adhesion to plants. In line with this, cellulose, which is the main exopolysaccharide of the biofilm matrix, is involved in the adhesion and colonization to/of lettuce and parsley leaves and alfalfa sprouts (Barak et al., 2007; Lapidot and Yaron, 2009; Kroupitski et al., 2013).

Most Salmonella adhesive structures are expressed only *in vivo* thus rendering difficult their study. Even if the constitutive expression of these surface components and the study of the regulation of their expression have promoted *in vitro* studies in the last few years, much work is still required to understand the role of each of them and their potential cooperation and/or redundancy in mediating *Salmonella* interaction with their hosts.

INVASION

In animals, *Salmonella* has developed different mechanisms to induce its own internalization in different cell types in order to survive, multiply, and spread through the host (Rosselin et al., 2012). Until recently, it was assumed that *Salmonella* could enter cells using its T3SS-1(Ibarra and Steele-Mortimer, 2009). However, recent research has shown that *Salmonella* infection may occur independently of the T3SS-1 (Rosselin et al., 2011). While the internalization of *Salmonella* is demonstrated in animal cells, the presence of *Salmonella* inside plant cells remains controversial.

Salmonella have been found inside different plant tissues and even in the seeds inside fruits (Klerks et al., 2007a; Schikora et al., 2008; Gu et al., 2011). In addition, it has been shown that Salmonella is able to move within plants (Gu et al., 2011, 2013a,b). Several leaf structures have been postulated as the possible entry sites of S. Typhimurium (Kroupitski et al., 2009; Barak et al., 2011; Golberg et al., 2011). One report suggests that the trichomes are preferential colonization sites (Iniguez et al., 2005). However, Kroupitski et al. (2009) have shown that the preferential sites for Salmonella entry are the stomata, a natural opening on the leaf surface. Moreover, it has been postulated that this process depends on flagella. In addition, light seems to be required for Salmonella to move toward stomatal openings, because an artificial opening of the stomata in the dark had no effect on Salmonella internalization. Whether Salmonella is able to enter plant cells is still controversial. However, two laboratories observed intracellular localization of Salmonella: S. Typhimurium bacteria were observed inside rhizodermal cells of Arabidopsis thaliana and were shown to enter protoplasts of Nicotiana tabacum cells in vitro, although at a relatively low level (Samelis et al., 2003; Schikora et al., 2008). In addition, S. Typhimurium has been recovered from both lettuce leaves and surface-sterilized parsley leaves, supporting the hypothesis that Salmonella is able to invade the inner layers of leaf tissue (Franz et al., 2007; Kisluk and Yaron, 2012). However, in the latter case, the bacterial localization in plant cells was not demonstrated and requires more study.

T3SS-1 dependent mechanism

The SPI-1 island encodes structural components of the secretory machinery, chaperones, regulators, and some effectors involved during mammalian host invasion. When Salmonella reaches the intestinal environment, the SPI-1 genes are expressed, allowing assembly of the T3SS-1 at the bacterial surface (Kubori et al., 1998). After an interaction between the host cell and the bacteria the T3SS-1 translocates into host cells at least 15 proteins encoded within the SPI-1, SPI-5 pathogenicity islands, and prophages (Garner et al., 2002; Hayward et al., 2005; McGhie et al., 2009). Among these effectors, SopE, SopE2, SopB, SipA, SipC, and SptP have been shown to be required for cell invasion by Salmonella. The synergistic activity of SopE, SopE2, SopB, SipA, and SipC induces actin recruitment and polymerization at the entry site, which results in the formation of "ruffles" at the membrane surface (Figure 2; McGhie et al., 2009). These ruffles extend from the cell surface and internalize the bacteria in the host cell in a vacuole. After ruffle formation, the endocytic vacuole closes and the cellular cytoskeleton of the host cell returns to its initial state, allowing the cell to return to its original morphology



FIGURE 2 | Models of Salmonella invasion mechanisms. Salmonella uses T3SS-1 to translocate effector proteins directly into host cells (left side; Bar of the transmission electron microscopy image represents 2 μ m). Several of these effector proteins modulate host cell actin cytoskeleton, leading to an intense membrane ruffling and internalization of the bacteria into a modified phagosome or Salmonella-containing-vacuole (SCV). Salmonella can also

(Fu and Galán, 1999). The effector SptP allows this restoration by reorganizing the actin cytoskeleton (Fu and Galán, 1998, 1999). This T3SS-1 invasion process is referred to as a "Trigger mechanism" and has only been studied in mammalian cells (Velge et al., 2012).

Nevertheless, T3SS-1 contribution to *Salmonella* pathogenesis depends on the model used. In bovine, rabbit, and murine models, the T3SS-1 of *S*. Dublin and *S*. Typhimurium serotypes is essential for intestinal colonization (Wallis and Galyov, 2000). However, some *Salmonella* lacking the T3SS-1 remain pathogenic in different *in vivo* infection models such as a SPI-1 mutant of *S*. Gallinarum in adult chicken (Jones et al., 2001) or *S*. Typhimurium and *S*. Enteritidis mutants in one week-old chicks or Balb/C mice (Coombes et al., 2005; Jones et al., 2007; Karasova et al., 2010). Furthermore, *S*. Seftenberg strains lacking SPI-1 have been isolated from human clinical cases, suggesting that for this serotype, the T3SS-1 is not required to establish infection in humans (Hu et al., 2008).

Interestingly, reducing the virulence of *Salmonella* by removing T3SS-1 increased colonization of alfalfa roots and wheat seedlings (Iniguez et al., 2005). However, these results contrast with the reduced proliferation observed for *prgH* mutants, lacking a functional T3SS-1, in *A. thaliana* (Schikora et al., 2011). In addition, more apparent symptoms in *Arabidopsis* plants are observed with these mutants, suggesting that, in this case, the hypersensitive response (HR) seems to be prevented by the effectors secreted by the T3SS-1 (detailed in Section "Host Defenses"). Overall, this suggests that the T3SS-1-dependent invade cells via a T3SS-1-independent mechanism, which is induced by the *Salmonella* Rck membrane protein interacting with its receptor on the host cell plasma membrane and characterized by the induction of thin membrane extensions (right side; Bar of the transmission electron microscopy picture represents 1 μ m). The membrane rearrangements induced by the *Salmonella* invasin PagN have not been studied yet.

successful colonization seems to be plant-species-specific and that *Salmonella* strains may have different pathogenicity toward plants.

The role of the T3SS-1 in *Salmonella*–plant interactions raises many questions concerning the signals which induce expression of the T3SS-1 in plants and the mechanisms set up by *Salmonella* to deliver effectors.

T3SS-1 independent mechanisms

To date, two *Salmonella* invasins called Rck and PagN have been identified. Moreover, studies have revealed that invasion systems of *Salmonella* are not restricted to the PagN, Rck, and T3SS-1. A *Salmonella* mutant unable to express the T3SS-1, Rck, or PagN was indeed still able to enter different animal cell lines (Rosselin et al., 2012).

Rck invasin. Rck invasin is encoded by the *rck* gene located on the *S*. Enteritidis and *S*. Typhimurium large virulence plasmid (Rotger and Casadesús, 1999). Rck belongs to a family of outer membrane proteins (OMP) associated with virulence functions, including PagC which is involved in *Salmonella* intracellular survival and Ail, a *Yersinia* invasin (Heffernan et al., 1992). The role of Rck in the invasion of *Salmonella* in animal cells has been well described *in vitro* and demonstrated through different methods. Rosselin et al. (2010) have shown that *rck* deletion in *S*. Enteritidis leads to more than a twofold decrease in animal epithelial cell invasion without altering the bacteria attachment to the cells. In addition, it has been shown that Rck alone is able to trigger cell invasion

in a receptor-dependent manner by using Rck-coated latex beads and initially non-invasive *E. coli* strain overexpressing Rck. The minimal region of Rck required to induce invasion corresponds to the G113-V159 peptide. At the cellular level, the interaction of Rck with its receptor expressed on an animal cell membrane leads to a signaling cascade, involving cellular proteins which promote local accumulation of actin and weak and closely adherent membrane extensions. This process is referred to as a "Zipper" mechanism and has only been studied in animal cells (**Figure 2**; Rosselin et al., 2010).

However, in animal *Salmonella* pathogenesis, the role of Rck is still poorly understood. The regulation of Rck regulated by quorum sensing via SdiA, suggests that Rck may play an intestinal role (Ahmer et al., 1998). Dyszel et al. (2010) have reported that Rck confers a selective advantage for intestinal colonization in mice when it is expressed. Moreover, as *rck* is regulated by an unidentified system, which is independent of SdiA at 37 and 42°C (Smith et al., 2008), it is conceivable that Rck has a role which is not only restricted to the gastrointestinal tract and which could be induced in only some animal species.

The role of quorum sensing in *Salmonella* pathogenesis in animals and its impact on Rck expression is still poorly characterized. However, in plants, the quorum sensing which allows plant pathogen colonization of rhizosphere and phyllosphere has been well documented (Daniels et al., 2004; Dulla and Lindow, 2009). A study of the possible role of Rck in plant colonization is ongoing.

PagN invasin. In addition to Rck and the T3SS-1, an OMP called PagN is involved in Salmonella animal host invasion (Lambert and Smith, 2008). PagN is similar to both the Hek and Tia invasion proteins of E. coli. This OMP is encoded by the pagN gene, which is located on the centisome 7 genomic island. PagN protein is widely expressed among the different Salmonella enterica serotypes (Folkesson et al., 1999). Lambert and Smith (2008) have shown that the deletion of pagN in S. Typhimurium leads to a significant decrease in animal cell line invasion without altering the bacteria-cell adhesion. In addition, expression of PagN in a non-invasive E. coli strain resulted in adhesion to and invasion of animal cell lines. At the cellular level, it was shown that PagN-dependent invasion requires an interaction of PagN with the cell surface heparin sulfate proteoglycans, which could lead to actin polymerization at the entry site (Lambert and Smith, 2008, 2009). However, the membrane proteoglycans are diverse and only a few membrane proteoglycans can transduce a signaling cascade. Another hypothesis is that they could play a role as a co-receptor for invasion and not as a receptor itself.

In a mouse model, it has been shown that PagN is required for *Salmonella* survival (Heithoff et al., 1999) and that spleen colonization of a *pagN* mutant is lower than that of its parental strain (Conner et al., 1998). However, the precise role of PagN in *Salmonella* animal and plant pathogenesis remains unknown. The PhoP/PhoQ two-component regulatory system activates *pagN*, leading to a maximal expression under the conditions found in the intracellular *Salmonella*-containing vacuole (SCV), which is known to downregulate T3SS-1 expression (Conner et al., 1998; Heithoff et al., 1999; Eriksson et al., 2003). Thus, *Salmonella* could express a high level of PagN when the bacteria exit the SCV and the cell, which may facilitate interactions with other cells that the pathogen encounters (Lambert and Smith, 2008). However, the role of PagN in plants remains to be studied.

Non-identified invasion factors. In animals, recent research has shown that invasion factors in *S*. Enteritidis and *S*. Typhimurium are not limited to PagN, Rck, and the T3SS-1. Rosselin et al. (2011) have demonstrated that a strain which does not express the T3SS-1, PagN, or Rck, is still able to significantly invade some animal cells. This idea is reinforced by the study performed by Aiastui et al. (2010) and van Sorge et al. (2011) who showed that a *Salmonella* strain lacking the T3SS-1 which does not express PagN and Rck, was still able to enter different cell types (epithelial, endothelial, and fibroblasts cells). In addition, *S*. Typhimurium invasion studies of a 3-D intestinal epithelium have also supported the idea that *Salmonella* expresses invasion factors, which have not yet been characterized (Radtke et al., 2011).

MULTIPLICATION

Once internalized into the tissue, *S.* Typhimurium is able to multiply. The ability to colonize plants may be an effective survival and multiplication strategy for *Salmonella* as it provides a link between its excretion in the environment via animal feces and the recontamination of herbivorous and omnivorous hosts. Many studies have been conducted on the behavior and multiplication of *Salmonella* in animal hosts, some on plants, especially on the foliage of plants, but very few have been conducted within plant cells (Barak and Liang, 2008). *Salmonella* can also multiply in the rhizosphere (Semenov et al., 2009).

The different multiplication areas of Salmonella

In order to effectively colonize plants, bacteria need to grow and spread. Growth requires bacteria to either synthesize indispensable metabolites or acquire essential nutrients from their environment. Salmonella is unable to liberate nutrients from plant cells as plant pathogens do because they lack enzymes to degrade plant cell walls (Teplitski et al., 2009). However, they often grow using nutrients liberated by plant cell lysates and root exudates after action of plant pathogens (Barak and Schroeder, 2012). In this context, Salmonella has to adapt to both the plant phyllosphere and rhizosphere, which are heterogeneous environments varying in physical conditions and nutrient availability (Barak and Schroeder, 2012). The leaf surface is, for example, a harsh environment for bacteria due to UV radiation, the heterogeneity of nutrient availability and rapid fluctuations in temperature, and free water availability. However, plant surfaces are not homogenous and contain various microsites that represent oases of available nutrients and which may support multiplication of human pathogens after contamination events (Brandl et al., 2013). Indeed, Salmonella has been shown to preferentially move on leaves toward open stomata and colonize the vein areas, the bases of trichomes and damaged leaf areas, which may provide shelter and increase nutrient and water availability (Monier and Lindow, 2005). In addition, inoculation of leaves with S. Typhimurium can result in contamination of tomato fruit through internal movement of the bacteria from leaves into the fruit (Gu et al., 2011).

Salmonella appear to be successful secondary colonists, benefiting from the action of phytopathogens, e.g., suppression of plant defenses and plant tissue damage (lesions, water soaking, and soft rots). Numerous studies have shown that soft-rot bacteria promote proliferation of Salmonella in plants. Biotrophic plant pathogens, like P. syringae and Xanthomonas campestris, can promote growth or survival of Salmonella and enterohaemorrhagic E. coli on plants (Barak and Liang, 2008; Aruscavage et al., 2010; Potnis et al., 2014). Formation of lesions on leaves by both these phytopathogens has been associated with an increase availability of total sugars, specifically, innositol and sucrose (Aruscavage et al., 2010). Moreover, Salmonella can benefit from the immune-suppressing action of plant pathogenic bacteria like Pseudomonas syringae pv. tomato (Meng et al., 2013) and Xanthomonas perforans, which suppress the pathogen-associated molecular pattern (PAMP)triggered immunity (Potnis et al., 2014). Salmonella found in preexisting plant bacteria biofilms was more likely to survive dry conditions on lettuce and cilantro leaves than solitary bacteria (Rastogi et al., 2012). These observations suggest that Salmonella may find refuge not only in particular physical microsites on plants but also in microbial conglomerates where protection from adverse conditions outweighs potential competition and antibiosis from other plant colonists. For example, Goudeau et al. (2013) observed that population sizes of S. Typhimurium increased 56-fold when inoculated alone onto cilantro leaves, compared to more than 2,800-fold when co-inoculated with Dickeya dadantii, a prevalent pathogen that macerates plant tissue. The global gene expression profile of Salmonella in soft-rotted tissue showed that there was a lack of competition for nutrients between these two bacterial species due to resource partitioning. Moreover, 29% of the genes that were upregulated in cilantro macerates had also previously been observed to have increased expression levels in the chicken intestine (Goudeau et al., 2013). Commonalities between soft rot lesions and the intestine such as anaerobic conditions and nutritional resources indicate an important overlap in the ecological niche and may explain the adaptation of Salmonella to both kingdoms (Goudeau et al., 2013).

The gastrointestinal tract represents a vast mucosal surface vulnerable to attack by enteropathogens. It is fortified with a variety of physical and immunological defense barriers. The colonizing microbiota represents a major protective shield. This dense population is thought to provide both a physical barrier for the attachment of bacterial pathogens to surfaces, and to compete for essential nutrients (Caricilli et al., 2014). The microbiota is also able to produce a nutritional environment unfavorable to growth of bacterial pathogens. This protective mechanism has been termed "colonization resistance" and helps to prevent infection (Van Immerseel et al., 2005). In addition to colonization resistance, the microbiota mediates S. Typhimurium clearance from the gut lumen (Endt et al., 2010). However, other reports have shown that Salmonella uses ingenious mechanisms to hijack the mucosal inflammation for its own benefit, with detrimental effects for the host and the microbiota (Fabrega and Vila, 2013). For example, using the T3SS virulence factors, S. Typhimurium is able to elicit a host inflammatory response, which ultimately helps the pathogen. The intestinal microbiota produces hydrogen sulfide, which normally becomes detoxified to thiosulphate by host cells. The inflammatory response, induced by *Salmonella*, leads to the migration of neutrophils into the intestinal lumen and the subsequent release of reactive oxygen species (ROS). When thiosulphate is exposed to ROS it is oxidized to tetrathionate, which can be used by *S*. Typhimurium as an alternative electron acceptor. Thus the utilization of tetrathionate as a terminal electron acceptor in respiration is a far more efficient process for energy generation than fermentation used by anaerobic microbiota (Winter et al., 2010). This respiratory pathway allows *S*. Typhimurium to use ethanolamine, which does not support growth of intestinal microbiota (Thiennimitr et al., 2011). Thus inflammation leads to a marked boost in *S*. Typhimurium growth.

Similar to the protective role of microbiota in intestinal tract, plants have protective microbial communities. In the rhizosphere, plant growth-promoting bacteria fend off invaders by activating the induced systemic resistance (ISR) response in plants, through the production of antibiotics and competition for nutrients and iron (Pieterse et al., 2014; Sang et al., 2014). Within plants, endophytic bacteria also defend the plant against pathogens. Gu et al. (2013a) have suggested that invasion of tomato plants by *S*. Typhimurium is inversely correlated to the diversity of endophytic bacteria.

Besides the mechanisms of metabolic cooperation or competition between plant or intestine microbiota and *Salmonella*, cell-to-cell signaling in multispecies microbial communities plays an important role in both plants and gut habitats. The contribution of signaling via quorum sensing circuits mediated by either *N*-acyl homoserine lactones (AHL) or the autoinducer-2 (AI-2) to the behavior of *Salmonella* in plant-associated bacterial communities and in animal intestines has already been demonstrated (Ahmer and Gunn, 2011; Brandl et al., 2013). However, the importance of AHL and AI-2-based signaling in *Salmonella* during the interactions of *Salmonella* both with plant and animal bacteria requires further investigation (Thomanek et al., 2013).

Proliferation of Salmonella in some plant tissues has been reported to cause disease-like symptoms. In Arabidopsis, immersion of seedlings in a dense suspension of Salmonella or infiltration of leaves with the pathogen can elicit chlorosis, wilting, or tissue necrosis (Schikora et al., 2008; Berger et al., 2011). The symptoms elicited by Salmonella were related to the presence of SPI-1 and SPI-2, which also play a key role in host animal infection (Schikora et al., 2011). Generally, it was believed that Salmonella survived on plant tissues after contact with contaminated water or animal manures. However, endophytically present Salmonella was observed in the vascular system of S. Typhimurium-inoculated tomato leaves (Gu et al., 2011). Moreover, Salmonella was observed intracellularly in A. thaliana protoplasts and in cultured tobacco cells (Schikora et al., 2008; Shirron and Yaron, 2011). However, very little is known on the intracellular multiplication mechanisms in plant cells. It has been shown that several T3SS Salmonella mutants have reduced proliferation in plants, compared to the wild-type strain (Schikora et al., 2011). The same study demonstrated that symptoms caused by the T3SS mutants in Arabidopsis plants were more pronounced, suggesting that plants can react to Salmonella infection with a HR and that T3SS mutants were unable to hamper the induced HR (Schikora et al., 2011). In animals, numerous studies have analyzed the multiplication mechanisms at the cell level and especially the role of the T3SS-2 in intracellular multiplication of *Salmonella* Typhimurium.

Intracellular multiplication within animal cells

Salmonella can enter host cells through its T3SS-1 or to its Rck and PagN invasins (detailed in Section "T3SS-1 Independent Mechanisms"). However, unlike for the T3SS-mediated entry process, no studies have examined the intracellular behavior of *Salmonella* internalized in animal or plant cells via the invasin-mediated processes. Following entry in host cells, thanks to the T3SS-1, the majority of *Salmonella* resides in a membrane-bound compartment known as the SCV. Biogenesis and maturation of the SCV has been extensively studied in many cell types and mainly for *S*. Typhimurium (Bakowski et al., 2008; Figueira and Holden, 2012; Fabrega and Vila, 2013). The SCV, which allows bacterial growth, is distinct from a classical phagosome (**Figure 3**). *S*. Typhimurium in the SCV delivers into the host cell cytosol more than 30 effectors encoded by different *Salmonella* pathogenicity islands or the large virulence plasmid using a second type three secretion system called T3SS-2 (Fabrega and Vila, 2013). The T3SS-1, with its associated effectors, is expressed early, and is critical for cell invasion, early SCV biogenesis and the intestinal phase of infection and in particular induction of inflammation (Lostroh and Lee, 2001). The T3SS-2 is expressed a few hours following entry into cells and is responsible through effectors for SCV maturation, intracellular bacterial survival and the systemic phase of infection (Hensel, 2000). Improved understanding of these two secretion systems and of the interplay between effectors translocated by



each T3SS has shown that their roles are not so clearly separated. For *S*. Typhimurium, it has recently been shown that the T3SS-2 play a role during the intestinal phase of infection, while the T3SS-1 translocated effectors also act in late stages of intracellular multiplication and SCV maturation (Bakowski et al., 2008). The full repertoire of T3SS-2 effectors is not present in all *Salmonella enterica* serotypes. However, loss of function of the T3SS-2 in different serotypes induces a strong virulence defect characterized by an intracellular growth defect or a loss of systemic infection ability.

Once internalized, the next event triggered by *Salmonella* is the maintenance of the SCV by preventing delivery of antimicrobial host factors such as proteases and free-radical-generating complexes and by remodeling the organization of the host cell cytoskeleton to impair vesicular transport (Rajashekar and Hensel, 2011). The SCV is considered as a unique organelle that diverts from the normal endocytic pathway and allows *Salmonella* to survival and replication intracellularly. Numerous host cell markers associated with this endocytic pathway have been identified and the pattern of recruitment/retention of individual cell markers on the SCV induced by a virulent *Salmonella* strain is in part distinct from that of the classic model of phagosome, which for example, contains a non-virulent bacteria which is degraded in the phagolysosomes (**Figure 3**; Bakowski et al., 2008).

Compartments containing phagocytized material initially appear as early endosomes with markers such as early embryonic antigen 1 (EEA1), ARF6, Rab4, the transferrin receptor, and Rab5a and Rab5b GTPases (Smith et al., 2005). The maturation continues with the loss of early endosome markers and acquisition of late endosome markers like lysosomal glycoproteins (lpgs) such as LAMP1 and Rab7, Rab11a GTPases. The default maturation of phagosomes progresses toward the phagolysosomes with the presence of lpgs, the mannose-6-phosphate receptor (M6PR), Rab9a, and Rab32a. Acquisition of vATPase on phago-lysosomes results in continuous acidification of the phagosomal vacuole. Through interaction with lysosomes, hydrolytic enzymes, in particular cathepsins are delivered into the vacuole and enzymatic activity results in the killing and degradation of internalized non-pathogenic bacteria. This maturation is usually completed within a time frame of two to three hours. To a certain extent, the SCVs show similar maturation and are initially integrated within the early endocytic pathway (Drecktrah et al., 2007). However, the compartments appear arrested in the late endosomal state with some features of late endosomes. They have an acidified lumen and express lysosomal membrane glycoproteins such as LAMP1, but the SCVs are not enriched in lysosomal hydrolases and thus do not express the M6PR, which delivers lysosomal hydrolases to the endosomal system (Steele-Mortimer et al., 1999). Salmonella T3SS-2 effectors trigger these modifications in host endocytic trafficking and functions in order to avoid complete fusion with secondary lysosomes. Here, the delivery of T3SS-2 effectors to the host cell cytosol is a precisely controlled process (Figueira and Holden, 2012). Two T3SS-2related effectors, SigD and SpiC, have been reported to interact with this cell endocytic trafficking to escape from the classic degradation pathway (Uchiya et al., 1999). Moreover, by interacting with host cell proteins, SifA has been reported to compete in binding with Rab9, a small GTPase involved in modulation of cell endocytic trafficking (Jackson et al., 2008). Several hours after bacterial uptake, Salmonella induces de novo formation of an F-actin meshwork around bacterial vacuoles. This process is termed vacuole-associated actin polymerization (VAP) and is important to maintain the integrity of the SCV membrane (Meresse et al., 2001). Different experiments have revealed that not only the T3SS-2-dependent effectors SspH2, SseI, and SpvB but also the T3SS-1 effector SipA are involved in this process (Brawn et al., 2007). As the SCV matures and is surrounded by actin, it migrates toward a perinuclear position, which depends on the balanced activity of two microtubule proteins controlling microtubule formation: kinesin and dynein. This movement occurs, indeed, along microtubules in the direction of the microtubule-organizing centre (MTOC), where Golgi stacks accumulate (Ramsden et al., 2007). This position could allow acquisition of nutrients and membranes. Once SCV is correctly positioned, bacteria start replicating and initiate formation of Salmonella induced filaments (SIF) which are driven by the T3SS-2 effectors SifA, SipA, SseF, SseG and SseJ, in balance with the action of other effectors like PipB2 and SpvB (Fabrega and Vila, 2013). This process could control the integrity of the SCV membrane and its expansion, which is necessary for bacterial cell division. It is also possible that by controlling vesicular fusion on the SCV, these bacterial proteins ensure delivery of nutrients to the SCV, thereby facilitating bacterial replication.

The phenotypes and biochemical activity of several effectors reveal that their apparently opposing activities actually work together to control SCV membrane dynamics. It is thus remarkable that selective pressure and convergent evolution have triggered T3SS effectors to interfere both positively and negatively with the two major forms of post-translational modifications within eukaryotic cells: ubiquitination (SspH1, SspH2, SlrP)/deubiquitination (SseL), and phosphorylation (SteC)/dephosphorylation (SpvC) (Figueira and Holden, 2012).

Heterogeneity of Salmonella behavior within animal cells

The analysis of bacterial invasion process in animal host cells has revealed that intracellular S. Typhimurium populations are heterogeneous. The majority of bacteria reside in SCV which mature into replicative compartments. However, a fraction of the intracellular Salmonella encounters different fates, which seem to be controlled by different SCV maturations (Figure 4). Although S. Typhimurium generally excludes markers of mature lysosomes from the SCV, a few SCVs do acquire them. Indeed the protein hydrolase cathepsin D, and the fluid-phase marker-labeled lysosomes have been found to associate with a small fraction of intracellular bacteria (Garvis et al., 2001). S. Typhimurium in lysosome marker positive SCV seems to fail to overcome host cell defenses, leading to SCV-lysosome fusion and bacterial killing (Bakowski et al., 2008). However, data acquired by live-cell imaging in HeLa cells and using dextran as a general marker of the lysosomal compartment, showed that the classic SCV interacts with the endosomal system and associates with lysosomes without inducing death of bacteria (Drecktrah et al., 2007). These differences could also be related to SCV membrane damage, which could induce: (i) SCV-lysosome fusion (Viboud and Bliska, 2001),



of *Salmonella* strains, internalized within an animal cell by the Trigger mechanism mediated by the T3SS-1, are enclosed in a canonical SCV where they can multiply, and form SIF, which allow delivery of nutrients. However, in some cases the bacteria do not have the time (or the capability) to modify the vacuole leading to the fusion of the SCV with

phago-lysosome triggering intra-vacuole destruction or autophagy. In other cases, *Salmonella* damages the SCV membrane triggering vacuole destruction, allowing bacteria to escape into the cytosol, where they can be destroyed, particularly in activated macrophages, or multiply extensively especially in epithelial cells. No data have been obtained for the Zipper mechanism induced by Rck.

(ii) autophagy, a mechanism of capture of either cytosol-adapted or vacuolar bacteria which redirect them to the lysosomal compartment for killing (Knodler and Celli, 2011), or (iii) bacteria escape into the host cell cytosol where they are linked with ubiquitinated proteins (Perrin et al., 2004; Knodler et al., 2010). Once in the cytosol, *S.* Typhimurium behavior depends on the type of cell in which they reside. In epithelial cell lines, escape into the cytosol leads to extensive bacterial proliferation, greater to that observed in SCV (Knodler et al., 2010), whereas in macrophages, the cytosol exhibits a bactericidal activity, leading to bacterial killing. In fibroblasts very limited proliferation of the pathogen has been described (Cano et al., 2001). *Salmonella* contributes to this limited proliferation, since bacterial overgrowth is observed upon inactivation of the PhoP/PhoQ two-component system which also controls expression of the T3SSs.

To date, it is still unknown whether these phenomena, observed mainly *in vitro*, reflect events occurring *in vivo*, and are of additional significance in terms of *S*. Typhimurium pathogenesis in animals. Whether these additional bacterial populations represent a successful host cell clearance mechanism or an *in vitro* artifact remains to be explored. A feature that distinguishes the *in vivo* behavior of intracellular bacteria is their limited capacity to proliferate inside host cells where only three to four individuals per infected cell have been observed (Sheppard et al., 2003). The most widely accepted model indicates that *S*. Typhimurium colonizes mouse organs by increasing the number of infection foci rather than increasing the number of intracellular bacteria per cell. Repetitive cycles of limited proliferation inside host cells followed by cell lysis and infection of neighboring cells may account for the increase in infection foci (Sheppard et al., 2003). It should be noted here that all these phenomena have not been described for plant cells, and the multiplication, localization strategies used by *Salmonella* in plant cells remain poorly understood.

All together, the different results presented in this chapter show that *Salmonella* could have multiple behaviors depending on the cells and the hosts considered. Moreover, we now know that *Salmonella* can enter cells through different mechanisms that could lead to different intracellular behavior. The impacts that these different intracellular behaviors have on host responses and stimulation of immune responses will undoubtedly be a new challenge in the future.

HOST DEFENSES

Animals and plants differ quite extensively in the way they perceive and respond to invading organisms. However, for certain aspects they exhibit similarities. In both animal and plant kingdoms, when pathogens enter an organism, a rapid innate immune response is induced to impede the spreading of the pathogen. This response relies on both germline-encoded membrane-bound and intracellular receptors. In animals, this first line of defense is followed by an adaptive response in which genes encoding immune receptors and antibodies are subjected to somatic rearrangements, which allow the recognition of very specific epitopes of the pathogen. Specialized immune cells are activated and migrate upon production of soluble factors such as cytokines and chemokines. Finally, during adaptive response an immunological memory is developed which allows the production of an enhanced response in the event of a subsequent encounter with the same pathogen. In plants there are no specialized immune cells and their defense relies on the ability of the infected cell to recognize the pathogen and induce the adequate response. A zigzag model has been proposed to describe the general immune system in plants (Jones and Dangl, 2006). In this model conserved PAMP are recognized by membrane bound receptors triggering the PAMP triggeredimmunity (PTI). Thereafter, successful pathogens inject effectors into the cell with the objective of interfering with PTI. These effectors are recognized by intracellular receptors, which launch the effector-triggered immunity (ETI), which eventually culminates in cell death known as HR. In addition, plants can develop two types of systemic resistance in which contact with pathogenic or nonpathogenic beneficial microorganisms induces resistance in distal parts of the plant. Systemic acquired resistance (SAR) is induced upon infection with pathogenic bacteria or fungi and protects the plant against a broad spectrum of pathogens. ISR, the second systemic resistance type, is the result of an interaction between soil rhizobacteria or mycorrhizal fungi and the host plant. The detection of Salmonella by animals as well as the induced defense response has been the object of abundant literature (Broz et al., 2012; Ruby et al., 2012; Wigley, 2013). In plants, due to the increasing number of outbreaks of disease associated with consumption of contaminated fruit or vegetables, more and more studies have recently focused on Salmonella-plant interactions and particularly on the host response (Fraiture and Brunner, 2014; Garcia and Hirt, 2014; Melotto et al., 2014).

Receptors of the innate immune response

Extracellular receptors. In both animals and plants membraneembedded receptors are in charge of detecting pathogens in the extracellular environment. They recognize conserved motifs within bacterial, viral, or fungal structures. In animals there are two main classes of these receptors: the C-type lectin receptors and the Toll-like receptors (TLR). TLR are by far the most studied because they play a key role in bacterial clearance. They are composed of three domains: a leucin-rich repeat (LRR) which is responsible for ligand fixation inducing homoor hetero-dimerization of the receptor, a transmembrane, and an intracellular domain, which initiates the signaling cascade leading to activation of the host response. In plants there are two categories of extracellular receptors. The receptor-like kinases (RLK) encompass an extracellular domain, which may be an LRR, a lectin or a LysM domain, a transmembrane and an intracellular kinase domain. The receptor-like proteins (RLP) have an extracellular LRR and a transmembrane domain but lack the cytoplasmic part. A large difference in the number of extracellular receptors is observed between animals, where 13 TLRs have been described in the mouse, and plants where 200 RLPs and 600 RLKs genes have been identified in Arabidopsis.

In animals, TLR4 recognizes the LPS (Hoshino et al., 1999) in a complex multiprotein process involving at least four partners. The lipid A moiety of LPS is recognized by the LPS binding protein, then a ternary complex is formed with CD14 and finally LPS is delivered to the TLR4-MD2 complex (Park and Lee, 2013). TLR4 also recognizes the fibronectin (Okamura et al., 2001) and taxanes originating from plants and used as anti-tumor agents (Kawasaki et al., 2000). Very recently it has been shown that PrgI and SsaG, respectively, two structural proteins of Salmonella T3SS-1 and T3SS-2 needles, activate the innate response through TLR4 and also TLR2 (Jessen et al., 2014). In plants, despite the proven role of LPS in host defense (Shirron and Yaron, 2011), no associated receptor has so far been identified. In contrast to animals, both lipid A and the core oligosaccharide moieties of LPS are responsible for its immunostimulatory properties, the core oligosaccharide being involved in an early phase of the response and the lipid A in a later one (Silipo et al., 2005). Moreover Berger et al. (2011) have strongly suggested that the O-antigen from Salmonella may be considered as a PAMP in plants.

In both animals and plants, flagellin is an important PAMP recognized by extracellular receptors. A mutant strain of *Salmonella* deficient for the expression of flagellin has been shown to be able to colonize more efficiently *Medicago sativa* suggesting that *Salmonella* flagellin is recognized by the plant (Iniguez et al., 2005). *Arabidopsis* flagellin insensitive 2 (FLS2), a receptor of the RLK family, recognizes a 22-amino acid long peptide (flg22) from the N-terminus of the flagellin from different pathogens including *Salmonella* (Felix et al., 1999; Garcia et al., 2013; Meng et al., 2013). In animals, two conserved regions in the N and C terminal domains are recognized by TLR5. However, the flg22 motif is unable to activate innate immunity in animal cells (Donnelly and Steiner, 2002).

Intracellular receptors. In order to enter the host cell and to survive, bacteria produce effector proteins which are translocated into the cytosol of the host cell through the T3SS-1 or the T3SS-2 apparatus. In animal and plant cells, cytosolic receptors have the ability to detect these effectors. In animals, receptors belonging to the TLR, the Nod-like receptor (NLR), the RIG-I like receptors (RLR), and the IFI200/HIN-200 (PYHIN) families are involved in detecting non-self determinants. In plants, the nucleotide-binding site-LRRs (NB-NLR) family encoded by the R-genes encompasses two subclasses of receptors the CC-NB-LRR and the TIR-NB-LRR. NLRs in animals and plants have a similar architecture with the LRR moiety conferring effector recognition specificity, a central domain responsible for receptor dimerization upon ligand fixation and an N-terminal domain which interacts with downstream signaling partners. To be fully functional, intracellular receptors are associated in multi-protein complexes. For example, infection of macrophages with Salmonella leads to the formation of a macromolecular complex encompassing ASC, NLRP3, NLRC4 caspase-1, caspase-8, and pro-IL-1β (Man et al., 2014). Interestingly, it has been shown that some members of vertebrate NLR and of plant NB-LRR receptors are both physically associated with HSP90 and SGT1 chaperones which are essential for the activation of innate immunity (Mayor et al., 2007). As for extracellular receptors, the number of NB-LRR in plants exceeds the number in animals with about 150 genes identified in *Arabidopsis* compared to around 20 in animals.

The question arises of how a limited number of receptors, especially in animals, can cope with the incredible diversity of non-self structures presented by pathogens. So far, direct interaction between NLR and their ligands has not been observed in animals. In plants there are at least two examples of direct recognition of effectors by R-protein. In Arabidopsis, a direct interaction has been shown between RRS1-R and the effector PopP2 (Deslandes et al., 2003) and in rice between the effector AvrPita and Pita (Jia et al., 2000). An interesting model, in which receptors detect modified self-proteins, has emerged from studies in plants (Dangl and Jones, 2001). In the guard model, the receptor is the guardian of a cellular protein (the guardee) it detects effectorinduced modification of this protein and activates ETI. In this economy of means model, one receptor is able to detect modification of a host protein which may be the target of several pathogens. A given protein may be guarded by different receptors. The response of Arabidopsis to effectors from Pseudomonas syringae is one of the examples illustrating the guard model. In this model, the guardee protein RIN4 is targeted by different unrelated effectors (AvrRpm1, AvrRpt2, AvrB, or HopF2). Avr-Rpt2 is a protease, which cleaves RIN4. This cleavage is detected by the RPS2 receptor, which induces ETI. Both AvrB and Avr-Rpm1 phosphorylate RIN4, the receptor RPM1 recognizes the phosphorylated RIN4 protein and triggers ETI (Mackey et al., 2002, 2003; Wilton et al., 2010). The response of mice to the T3SS-1 SopE effector from Salmonella is evocative of the guard model in plants. When injected into the cytosol, SopE activates the small RhoGTPases Rac1 and Cdc42, this activation is detected by the receptor NOD1 and leads to the development of an inflammatory response (Keestra et al., 2013). In animals some Salmonella effectors are recognized by intracellular receptors. The T3SS-1 effector SipA activates NOD1/NOD2 (Keestra et al., 2011), while the T3SS-1 protein PrgJ and flagellin are recognized by the inflammasomes NLRC4-NAIP2 and NLRC4-NAIP5, respectively (Zhao et al., 2011; Halff et al., 2012). In Nicotiana benthamiana, the T3SS-2 effector SseF is probably recognized by a NB-NLR receptor (Ustun et al., 2012). In both animals and plants, recognition of effectors by their receptors launches signaling cascades which eventually lead to pathogen clearance.

Suppression of innate immune response by Salmonella

In animals, the interaction of innate immune receptors with their ligands may have two outcomes. The first is the activation of the key transcription factor NF- κ B or of the MAPKs cascade, which ends with the transcriptional activation of numerous genes involved in inflammation, such as IL-6, iNOS, or TNF α . The second is the assembly of multiproteic scaffoldings, the inflammasomes, in which pro-caspase 1 is recruited and activated in an autocatalytic process leading to the maturation of pro-inflammatory cytokines like IL-1 β or IL-18 and to a cell death known as pyroptosis. Plants possess a large family of MAPKs, some of which are involved in signaling cascades pivotal in PTI and ETI (Meng and Zhang, 2013). However important information on the intermediary signaling components which link receptor activation and the MAPK cascades is still missing. Induction of PTI and ETI induces overlapping responses including the production of ROS, antimicrobial compounds, signaling molecules like ethylene, salicylic acid, and jasmonic acid or enhanced expression of *pathogenesis-related* (*PR*) genes. In addition to these responses, HR is the usual outcome of ETI.

Salmonella can induce PTI in plants. For example, the MAPK cascade is activated in Arabidopsis inoculated with this bacterium (Schikora et al., 2008). On the other hand, inoculation of Arabidopsis with a spiB mutant leads to a higher number of bacteria in the roots compared to inoculation with wild-type Salmonella, raising the possibility that the T3SS-1 encodes proteins recognized by the plant immune system (Iniguez et al., 2005). Expression of the SseF in Nicotiana benthamiana induces the HR, a hallmark of ETI (Ustun et al., 2012). In tobacco, living Salmonella does not induce signs of defense response, while LPS from Salmonella or killed bacteria do, indicating that the bacterium is able to suppress the response, and this suppression is T3SS-1-dependent (Shirron and Yaron, 2011). Arabidopsis inoculated with a T3SS-1 mutant overexpressed genes associated with defense response when compared to inoculation with a wild-type Salmonella (Schikora et al., 2011).

However, Salmonella has implemented different strategies to overcome the defense response. In animals different Salmonella effectors may inhibit immune signaling pathways like NF-KB, the MAPK cascade or the transcription factor Syk through direct interaction with some signaling components (Table 1). Salmonella may also use some cellular intermediaries to inhibit the response. An unidentified protein from Salmonella activates the NLRP12 inflammasome, which in turn down-regulates NFkB (Zaki et al., 2014). The bacterium may also target directly the receptor involved in its recognition. It has been shown that Salmonella down-regulates the expression of the intracellular receptor NLRC4 in B lymphocytes preventing the production of IL-1β and pyroptosis, allowing bacteria to stay hidden in lymphocytes (Perez-Lopez et al., 2013). Very recent data have uncovered different strategies used by S. Typhi to circumvent immune response. S. Typhimurium induces gastroenteritis and triggers inflammation with recruitment of neutropils to the intestine; in contrast, S. Typhi is associated with a systemic disease with little intestinal inflammation and few neutrophils. Typhi

Table 1 Salmonella effectors which inhibit immune signaling	
pathways.	

Effector	Translocated by	Inhibit	Reference
AvrA	T3SS-1	NF-κB	Collier-Hyams et al. (2002)
		MAPK	Wu et al. (2012)
SseL	T3SS-2	NF-κB	Le Negrate et al. (2008)
SseK	T3SS-2	NF-κB	Li et al. (2013)
SspHI	T3SS-1	NF-κB	Haraga and Miller (2003)
SpvC	T3SS-1	MAPK	Mazurkiewicz et al. (2008)
SptP	T3SS-1	Syk	Choi et al. (2013)

and Typhimurium serovars differ, with the former having a via locus. The S. Typhi tviA regulator gene indirectly downregulates the expression of HilA, a master regulator of the T3SS1, preventing recognition of SopE and activation of NK-KB (Winter et al., 2014). At the same time, chemotactism of the c5a component of the complement toward neutrophils is impaired by the Vi capsular antigen encoded in the via locus (Wangdi et al., 2014). In plants, there are few examples of modulation of immune response by Salmonella. The serovar Senftenberg, which differs in its canonical flg22 peptide, displays a reduced PTI when inoculated in Arabidopsis seedlings (Garcia et al., 2013) suggesting that some Salmonella strains may have evolved to escape recognition by FSL2. It has been shown that a mutant of Salmonella unable to assemble its T3SS1 apparatus is unable to suppress the expression of genes related to response to pathogens (Schikora et al., 2011) suggesting that some suppressor factors are injected in the cell by the T3SS1. Another study (Shirron and Yaron, 2011) has highlighted the suppressive activity of Salmonella: live bacteria do not produce oxidative burst in tobacco while heat killed bacteria or Salmonella LPS are able to do so. There is also an interesting example of cross-kingdom modulation of the immune response by the T3SS2 effector SspH2 (Bhavsar et al., 2013). In animal cells, this E3 ubiquitin ligase forms a ternary complex with STG1 which is a co-chaperone of the NLR NOD1; formation of this complex induces ubiquitination of NOD1, increases its activity, and stabilizes the SspH2 effector. STG1 which is highly conserved within eucaryotes, also interacts with SspH2 in plants enhancing their immune response.

CONCLUSION

The ability of Salmonella to persist outside its hosts is a critical trait that enables this pathogen to occasionally contaminate fresh produce and therefore cause food-borne disease outbreaks. The ability of the human enteric pathogens to exploit plants as alternative hosts has emerged as an important area of research in the last decade. It has become apparent that Salmonella not only passively survives on or within plants but also actively infects them. However, contrary to Salmonella with animals or animal cells, these interactions have not been well characterized. Some common features have been identified such as the use of the T3SS or the way animals and plants detect this pathogen. Future studies are required to investigate whether mechanisms employed by Salmonella to infect animals and plants are similar. These studies should lead to improved understanding of the evolution of host specificity and will have important impacts on risk assessment and food protection.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We apologize to all, whose work has not been cited, or has not been adequately acknowledged, due to limitation of space. Research in Philippe Velge's laboratory has been supported by grants from the European EADGENE Network of Excellence, the FP7-KBBE PROHEALTH, the trans-National Emida projects "Healthy gut" and "Difagh" and the French project RESISAL, funded by Agenavi and the Agence National pour la Recherche within the framework of the National Genanimal program.

REFERENCES

- Ahmer, B. M., and Gunn, J. S. (2011). Interaction of Salmonella spp. with the intestinal microbiota. Front. Microbiol. 2:101. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2011.00101
- Ahmer, B. M., van Reeuwijk, J., Timmers, C. D., Valentine, P. J., and Heffron, F. (1998). Salmonella Typhimurium encodes an SdiA homolog, a putative quorum sensor of the LuxR family, that regulates genes on the virulence plasmid. J. Bacteriol. 180, 1185–1193.
- Aiastui, A., Pucciarelli, M. G., and Garcia-del Portillo, F. (2010). Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium invades fibroblasts by multiple routes differing from the entry into epithelial cells. *Infect. Immun.* 78, 2700–2713. doi: 10.1128/IAI. 01389-09
- Allen-Vercoe, E., and Woodward, M. J. (1999). The role of flagella, but not fimbriae, in the adherence of *Salmonella enterica* serotype Enteritidis to chick gut explant. *J. Med. Microbiol.* 48, 771–780. doi: 10.1099/00222615-48-8-771
- Althouse, C., Patterson, S., Fedorka-Cray, P., and Isaacson, R. E. (2003). Type 1 fimbriae of *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium bind to enterocytes and contribute to colonization of swine *in vivo*. *Infect. Immun.* 71, 6446–6452. doi: 10.1128/IAI.71.11.6446-6452.2003
- Aruscavage, D., Phelan, P. L., Lee, K., and LeJeune, J. T. (2010). Impact of changes in sugar exudate created by biological damage to tomato plants on the persistence of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7. *J. Food Sci.* 75, M187–M192. doi: 10.1111/j.1750-3841.2010.01593.x
- Bakowski, M. A., Braun, V., and Brumell, J. H. (2008). Salmonella-containing vacuoles: directing traffic and nesting to grow. *Traffic* 9, 2022–2031. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0854.2008.00827.x
- Baloda, S. B., Faris, A., and Krovacek, K. (1988). Cell-surface properties of enterotoxigenic and cytotoxic Salmonella Enteritidis and Salmonella Typhimurium: studies on hemagglutination, cell-surface hydrophobicity, attachment to human intestinal cells and fibronectin-binding. Microbiol. Immunol. 32, 447–459. doi: 10.1111/j.1348-0421.1988.tb01405.x
- Barak, J. D., Gorski, L., Liang, A. S., and Narm, K. E. (2009). Previously uncharacterized Salmonella enterica genes required for swarming play a role in seedling colonization. *Microbiology* 155, 3701–3709. doi: 10.1099/mic.0.032029-0
- Barak, J. D., Gorski, L., Naraghi-Arani, P., and Charkowski, A. O. (2005). Salmonella enterica virulence genes are required for bacterial attachment to plant tissue. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 71, 5685–5691. doi: 10.1128/AEM.71.10.5685-5691.2005
- Barak, J. D., Jahn, C. E., Gibson, D. L., and Charkowski, A. O. (2007). The role of cellulose and O-antigen capsule in the colonization of plants by *Salmonella enterica*. *Mol. Plant Microbe Interact.* 20, 1083–1091. doi: 10.1094/MPMI-20-9-1083
- Barak, J. D., Kramer, L. C., and Hao, L. Y. (2011). Colonization of tomato plants by *Salmonella enterica* is cultivar dependent, and type 1 trichomes are preferred colonization sites. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 77, 498–504. doi: 10.1128/AEM.01661-10
- Barak, J. D., and Liang, A. S. (2008). Role of soil, crop debris, and a plant pathogen in *Salmonella enterica* contamination of tomato plants. *PLoS ONE* 3:e1657. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0001657
- Barak, J. D., and Schroeder, B. K. (2012). Interrelationships of food safety and plant pathology: the life cycle of human pathogens on plants. *Annu. Rev. Phytopathol.* 50, 241–266. doi: 10.1146/annurev-phyto-081211-172936
- Baumler, A. J., Gilde, A. J., Tsolis, R. M., van der Velden, A. W., Ahmer, B. M., and Heffron, F. (1997). Contribution of horizontal gene transfer and deletion events to development of distinctive patterns of fimbrial operons during evolution of *Salmonella* serotypes. J. Bacteriol. 179, 317–322.
- Baumler, A. J., Tsolis, R. M., Bowe, F. A., Kusters, J. G., Hoffmann, S., and Heffron, F. (1996). The pef fimbrial operon of *Salmonella* Typhimurium mediates adhesion to murine small intestine and is necessary for fluid accumulation in the infant mouse. *Infect. Immun.* 64, 61–68.
- Berger, C. N., Brown, D. J., Shaw, R. K., Minuzzi, F., Feys, B., and Frankel, G. (2011). Salmonella enterica strains belonging to O serogroup 1,3,19 induce chlorosis and wilting of Arabidopsis thaliana leaves. Environ. Microbiol. 13, 1299–1308. doi: 10.1111/j.1462-2920.2011.02429.x
- Berger, C. N., Shaw, R. K., Brown, D. J., Mather, H., Clare, S., Dougan, G., et al. (2009). Interaction of *Salmonella enterica* with basil and other salad leaves. *ISME* J. 3, 261–265. doi: 10.1038/ismej.2008.95
- Bhavsar, A. P., Brown, N. F., Stoepel, J., Wiermer, M., Martin, D. D., Hsu, K. J., et al. (2013). The *Salmonella* type III effector SspH2 specifically exploits the NLR co-chaperone activity of SGT1 to subvert immunity. *PLoS Pathog.* 9:e1003518. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1003518

- Biswas, R., Agarwal, R. K., Bhilegaonkar, K. N., Kumar, A., Nambiar, P., Rawat, S., et al. (2011). Cloning and sequencing of biofilm-associated protein (bapA) gene and its occurrence in different serotypes of *Salmonella. Lett. Appl. Microbiol.* 52, 138–143. doi: 10.1111/j.1472-765X.2010.02975.x
- Blanc-Potard, A. B., Solomon, F., Kayser, J., and Groisman, E. A. (1999). The SPI-3 pathogenicity island of *Salmonella enterica*. J. Bacteriol. 181, 998–1004.
- Boyen, F., Pasmans, F., Donne, E., Van Immerseel, F., Morgan, E., Adriaensen, C., et al. (2006). The fibronectin binding protein ShdA is not a prerequisite for long term faecal shedding of *Salmonella* Typhimurium in pigs. *Vet. Microbiol.* 115, 284–290. doi: 10.1016/j.vetmic.2006.02.006
- Brandl, M. T., Cox, C. E., and Teplitski, M. (2013). Salmonella interactions with plants and their associated microbiota. *Phytopathology* 103, 316–325. doi: 10.1094/PHYTO-11-12-0295-RVW
- Brawn, L. C., Hayward, R. D., and Koronakis, V. (2007). Salmonella SPI1 effector SipA persists after entry and cooperates with a SPI2 effector to regulate phagosome maturation and intracellular replication. Cell Host Microbe 1, 63–75. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2007.02.001
- Broz, P., Ohlson, M. B., and Monack, D. M. (2012). Innate immune response to Salmonella Typhimurium, a model enteric pathogen. Gut Microbes 3, 62–70. doi: 10.4161/gmic.19141
- Cano, D. A., Martinez-Moya, M., Pucciarelli, M. G., Groisman, E. A., Casadesus, J., and Garcia-Del Portillo, F. (2001). Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium response involved in attenuation of pathogen intracellular proliferation. Infect. Immun. 69, 6463–6474. doi: 10.1128/IAI.69.10.6463-6474.2001
- Caricilli, A. M., Castoldi, A., and Camara, N. O. (2014). Intestinal barrier: a gentlemen's agreement between microbiota and immunity. *World J. Gastrointest. Pathophysiol.* 5, 18–32. doi: 10.4291/wjgp.v5.i1.18
- Cevallos-Cevallos, J. M., Gu, G., Danyluk, M. D., and van Bruggen, A. H. (2012). Adhesion and splash dispersal of *Salmonella enterica* Typhimurium on tomato leaflets: effects of rdar morphotype and trichome density. *Int. J. Food Microbiol.* 160, 58–64. doi: 10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2012.09.021
- Chessa, D., Winter, M. G., Jakomin, M., and Baumler, A. J. (2009). Salmonella enterica serotype Typhimurium Std fimbriae bind terminal alpha(1,2)fucose residues in the cecal mucosa. *Mol. Microbiol.* 71, 864–875. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2008.06566.x
- Chessa, D., Winter, M. G., Nuccio, S., Tükel, C., and Bäumler, A. J. (2008a). RosE represses Std fimbrial expression in *Salmonella enterica* serotype Typhimurium. *Mol. Microbiol.* 68, 573–587. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2008.06185.x
- Chessa, D., Dorsey, C. W., Winter, M., and Baumler, A. J. (2008b). Binding specificity of Salmonella plasmid-encoded fimbriae assessed by glycomics. J. Biol. Chem. 283, 8118–8124. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M710095200
- Choi, H. W., Brooking-Dixon, R., Neupane, S., Lee, C. J., Miao, E. A., Staats, H. F., et al. (2013). Salmonella Typhimurium impedes innate immunity with a mastcell-suppressing protein tyrosine phosphatase, SptP. Immunity 39, 1108–1120. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2013.11.009
- Collier-Hyams, L. S., Zeng, H., Sun, J., Tomlinson, A. D., Bao, Z. Q., Chen, H., et al. (2002). Cutting edge: *Salmonella* AvrA effector inhibits the key proin-flammatory, anti-apoptotic NF-κB pathway. *J. Immunol.* 169, 2846–2850. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.169.6.2846
- Conner, C. P., Heithoff, D. M., and Mahan, M. J. (1998). In vivo gene expression: contributions to infection, virulence, and pathogenesis. Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol. 225, 1–12. doi: 10.1007/978-3-642-80451-9_1
- Coombes, B. K., Wickham, M. E., Lowden, M. J., Brown, N. F., and Finlay, B. B. (2005). Negative regulation of *Salmonella* pathogenicity island 2 is required for contextual control of virulence during typhoid. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 102, 17460–17465. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0505401102
- Crawford, R. W., Reeve, K. E., and Gunn, J. S. (2010). Flagellated but not hyperfimbriated Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium attaches to and forms biofilms on cholesterol-coated surfaces. J. Bacteriol. 192, 2981–2990. doi: 10.1128/JB.01620-09
- Dangl, J. L., and Jones, J. D. (2001). Plant pathogens and integrated defence responses to infection. *Nature* 411, 826–833. doi: 10.1038/35081161
- Daniels, R., Vanderleyden, J., and Michiels, J. (2004). Quorum sensing and swarming migration in bacteria. *FEMS Microbiol. Rev.* 28, 261–289. doi: 10.1016/j.femsre.2003.09.004
- Deslandes, L., Olivier, J., Peeters, N., Feng, D. X., Khounlotham, M., Boucher, C., et al. (2003). Physical interaction between RRS1-R, a protein conferring resistance to bacterial wilt, and PopP2, a type III effector targeted to the plant

nucleus. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 100, 8024–8029. doi: 10.1073/pnas.12306 60100

- Dibb-Fuller, M. P., and Woodward, M. J. (2000). Contribution of fimbriae and flagella of *Salmonella* Enteritidis to colonization and invasion of chicks. *Avian Pathol.* 29, 295–304. doi: 10.1080/03079450050118412
- Donnelly, M. A., and Steiner, T. S. (2002). Two nonadjacent regions in enteroaggregative *Escherichia coli* flagellin are required for activation of toll-like receptor 5. *J. Biol. Chem.* 277, 40456–40461. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M206851200
- Dorsey, C. W., Laarakker, M. C., Humphries, A. D., Weening, E. H., and Baumler, A. J. (2005). Salmonella enterica serotype Typhimurium MisL is an intestinal colonization factor that binds fibronectin. *Mol. Microbiol.* 57, 196–211. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2005.04666.x
- Drecktrah, D., Knodler, L. A., Howe, D., and Steele-Mortimer, O. (2007). Salmonella trafficking is defined by continuous dynamic interactions with the endolysosomal system. *Traffic* 8, 212–225. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0854.2006.00529.x
- Dulla, G. F., and Lindow, S. E. (2009). Acyl-homoserine lactone-mediated cross talk among epiphytic bacteria modulates behavior of *Pseudomonas syringae* on leaves. *ISME J.* 3, 825–834. doi: 10.1038/ismej.2009.30
- Dyszel, J. L., Smith, J. N., Lucas, D. E., Soares, J. A., Swearingen, M. C., Vross, M. A., et al. (2010). Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium can detect acyl homoserine lactone production by Yersinia enterocolitica in mice. J. Bacteriol. 192, 29–37. doi: 10.1128/JB.01139-09
- Endt, K., Stecher, B., Chaffron, S., Slack, E., Tchitchek, N., Benecke, A., et al. (2010). The microbiota mediates pathogen clearance from the gut lumen after non-typhoidal *Salmonella* diarrhea. *PLoS Pathog.* 6:e1001097. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1001097
- Eriksson, S., Lucchini, S., Thompson, A., Rhen, M., and Hinton, J. C. (2003). Unravelling the biology of macrophage infection by gene expression profiling of intracellular *Salmonella enterica*. *Mol. Microbiol.* 47, 103–118. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2958.2003.03313.x
- Fabrega, A., and Vila, J. (2013). Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium skills to succeed in the host: virulence and regulation. Clin. Microbiol. Rev. 26, 308–341. doi: 10.1128/CMR.00066-12
- Felix, G., Duran, J. D., Volko, S., and Boller, T. (1999). Plants have a sensitive perception system for the most conserved domain of bacterial flagellin. *Plant J.* 18, 265–276. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-313X.1999.00265.x
- Figueira, R., and Holden, D. W. (2012). Functions of the *Salmonella* pathogenicity island 2 (SPI-2) type III secretion system effectors. *Microbiology* 158, 1147–1161. doi: 10.1099/mic.0.058115-0
- Finlay, B. B., Starnbach, M. N., Francis, C. L., Stocker, B. A., Chatfield, S., Dougan, G., et al. (1988). Identification and characterization of TnphoA mutants of *Salmonella* that are unable to pass through a polarized MDCK epithelial cell monolayer. *Mol. Microbiol.* 2, 757–766. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.1988. tb00087.x
- Folkesson, A., Advani, A., Sukupolvi, S., Pfeifer, J. D., Normark, S., and Lofdahl, S. (1999). Multiple insertions of fimbrial operons correlate with the evolution of *Salmonella* serovars responsible for human disease. *Mol. Microbiol.* 33, 612–622. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2958.1999.01508.x
- Fraiture, M., and Brunner, F. (2014). Killing two birds with one stone: trans-kingdom suppression of PAMP/MAMP-induced immunity by T3E from enteropathogenic bacteria. *Front. Microbiol.* 5:320. doi: 10.3389/fmicb. 2014.00320
- Franz, E., Visser, A. A., Van Diepeningen, A. D., Klerks, M. M., Termorshuizen, A. J., and van Bruggen, A. H. C. (2007). Quantification of contamination of lettuce by GFP-expressing *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 and *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium. *Food Microbiol.* 24, 106–112. doi: 10.1016/j.fm.2006.03.002
- Fu, Y., and Galán, J. E. (1998). The Salmonella Typhimurium tyrosine phosphatase SptP is translocated into host cells and disrupts the actin cytoskeleton. Mol. Microbiol. 27, 359–368. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2958.1998.00684.x
- Fu, Y., and Galán, J. E. (1999). A Salmonella protein antagonizes Rac-1 and Cdc42 to mediate host-cell recovery after bacterial invasion. *Nature* 401, 293–297. doi: 10.1038/45829
- Garcia, A. V., Charrier, A., Schikora, A., Bigeard, J., Pateyron, S., de Tauzia-Moreau, M. L., et al. (2013). Salmonella enterica flagellin is recognized via FLS2 and activates PAMP-triggered immunity in Arabidopsis thaliana. Mol. Plant 7, 657–674. doi: 10.1093/mp/sst145
- Garcia, A. V., and Hirt, H. (2014). Salmonella enterica induces and subverts the plant immune system. *Front. Microbiol.* 5:141. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2014.00141

- Garner, M. J., Hayward, R. D., and Koronakis, V. (2002). The Salmonella pathogenicity island 1 secretion system directs cellular cholesterol redistribution during mammalian cell entry and intracellular trafficking. Cell. Microbiol. 4, 153–165. doi: 10.1046/j.1462-5822.2002.00181.x
- Garvis, S. G., Beuzon, C. R., and Holden, D. W. (2001). A role for the PhoP/Q regulon in inhibition of fusion between lysosomes and *Salmonella*-containing vacuoles in macrophages. *Cell. Microbiol.* 3, 731–744. doi: 10.1046/j.1462-5822.2001. 00153.x
- Gerlach, R. G., Claudio, N., Rohde, M., Jackel, D., Wagner, C., and Hensel, M. (2008). Cooperation of *Salmonella* pathogenicity islands 1 and 4 is required to breach epithelial barriers. *Cell. Microbiol.* 10, 2364–2376. doi: 10.1111/j.1462-5822.2008.01218.x
- Gerlach, R. G., Jackel, D., Stecher, B., Wagner, C., Lupas, A., Hardt, W. D., et al. (2007a). Salmonella pathogenicity Island 4 encodes a giant non-fimbrial adhesin and the cognate type 1 secretion system. Cell. Microbiol. 9, 1834–1850. doi: 10.1111/j.1462-5822.2007.00919.x
- Gerlach, R. G., Jackel, D., Geymeier, N., and Hensel, M. (2007b). Salmonella pathogenicity Island 4-mediated adhesion is coregulated with invasion genes in Salmonella enterica. Infect. Immun. 75, 4697–4709. doi: 10.1128/IAI.00228-07
- Golberg, D., Kroupitski, Y., Belausov, E., Pinto, R., and Sela, S. (2011). Salmonella Typhimurium internalization is variable in leafy vegetables and fresh herbs. *Int. J. Food Microbiol.* 145, 250–257. doi: 10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2010.12.031
- Goudeau, D. M., Parker, C. T., Zhou, Y., Sela, S., Kroupitski, Y., and Brandl, M. T. (2013). The Salmonella transcriptome in lettuce and cilantro soft rot reveals a niche overlap with the animal host intestine. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 79, 250–262. doi: 10.1128/AEM.02290-12
- Gu, G., Cevallos-Cevallos, J. M., Vallad, G. E., and van Bruggen, A. H. (2013a). Organically managed soils reduce internal colonization of tomato plants by *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium. *Phytopathology* 103, 381–388. doi: 10.1094/PHYTO-04-12-0072-FI
- Gu, G., Cevallos-Cevallos, J. M., and van Bruggen, A. H. C. (2013b). Ingress of Salmonella enterica Typhimurium into tomato leaves through hydathodes. PLoS ONE 8:e53470. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0053470
- Gu, G., Hu, J., Cevallos-Cevallos, J. M., Richardson, S. M., Bartz, J. A., and van Bruggen, A. H. (2011). Internal colonization of *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium in tomato plants. *PLoS ONE* 6:e27340. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0027340
- Halff, E. F., Diebolder, C. A., Versteeg, M., Schouten, A., Brondijk, T. H., and Huizinga, E. G. (2012). Formation and structure of a NAIP5-NLRC4 inflammasome induced by direct interactions with conserved N- and C-terminal regions of flagellin. *J. Biol. Chem.* 287, 38460–38472. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112. 393512
- Haraga, A., and Miller, S. I. (2003). A *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium translocated leucine-rich repeat effector protein inhibits NF-κB-dependent gene expression. *Infect. Immun.* 71, 4052–4058. doi: 10.1128/IAI.71.7.4052-4058.2003
- Hayward, R. D., Cain, R. J., McGhie, E. J., Phillips, N., Garner, M. J., and Koronakis, V. (2005). Cholesterol binding by the bacterial type III translocon is essential for virulence effector delivery into mammalian cells. *Mol. Microbiol.* 56, 590–603. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2005.04568.x
- Heaton, J. C., and Jones, K. (2008). Microbial contamination of fruit and vegetables and the behaviour of enteropathogens in the phyllosphere: a review. J. Appl. Microbiol. 104, 613–626. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2672.2007.03587.x
- Heffernan, E. J., Harwood, J., Fierer, J., and Guiney, D. (1992). The *Salmonella* Typhimurium virulence plasmid complement resistance gene rck is homologous to a family of virulence-related outer membrane protein genes, including pagC and ail. *J. Bacteriol.* 174, 84–91.
- Heithoff, D. M., Conner, C. P., Hentschel, U., Govantes, F., Hanna, P. C., and Mahan, M. J. (1999). Coordinate intracellular expression of *Salmonella* genes induced during infection. *J. Bacteriol.* 181, 799–807.
- Hensel, M. (2000). Microreview: *Salmonella* pathogenicity island 2. *Mol. Microbiol.* 36, 1015–1023. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2958.2000.01935.x
- Hoelzer, K., Moreno Switt, A. I., and Wiedmann, M. (2011). Animal contact as a source of human non-typhoidal salmonellosis. *Vet. Res.* 42:34. doi: 10.1186/1297-9716-42-34
- Hoshino, K., Takeuchi, O., Kawai, T., Sanjo, H., Ogawa, T., Takeda, Y., et al. (1999). Cutting edge: toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4)-deficient mice are hyporesponsive to lipopolysaccharide: evidence for TLR4 as the Lps gene product. *J. Immunol.* 162, 3749–3752.

- Hu, Q., Coburn, B., Deng, W., Li, Y., Shi, X., Lan, Q., et al. (2008). Salmonella enterica serovar Senftenberg human clinical isolates lacking SPI-1. J. Clin. Microbiol. 46, 1330–1336. doi: 10.1128/JCM.01255-07
- Humphries, A., DeRidder, S., and Baumler, A. J. (2005). Salmonella enterica serotype Typhimurium fimbrial proteins serve as antigens during infection of mice. *Infect. Immun.* 73, 5329–5338. doi: 10.1128/IAI.73.9.5329-5338.2005
- Humphries, A. D., Raffatellu, M., Winter, S., Weening, E., Kingsley, R. A., Droleskey, R., et al. (2003). The use of flow cytometry to detect expression of subunits encoded by 11 Salmonella enterica serotype Typhimurium fimbrial operons. *Mol. Microbiol.* 48, 1357–1376. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2958.2003.03507.x
- Ibarra, J. A., and Steele-Mortimer, O. (2009). Salmonella-the ultimate insider. Salmonella virulence factors that modulate intracellular survival. Cell. Microbiol. 11, 1579–1586. doi: 10.1111/j.1462-5822.2009.01368.x
- Iniguez, A. L., Dong, Y., Carter, H. D., Ahmer, B. M., Stone, J. M., and Triplett, E. W. (2005). Regulation of enteric endophytic bacterial colonization by plant defenses. *Mol. Plant Microbe Interact.* 18, 169–178. doi: 10.1094/MPMI-18-0169
- Jackson, L. K., Nawabi, P., Hentea, C., Roark, E. A., and Haldar, K. (2008). The Salmonella virulence protein SifA is a G protein antagonist. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 105, 14141–14146. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0801872105
- Jessen, D. L., Osei-Owusu, P., Toosky, M., Roughead, W., Bradley, D. S., and Nilles, M. L. (2014). Type III secretion needle proteins induce cell signaling and cytokine secretion via toll-like receptors. *Infect. Immun.* 82, 2300–2309. doi: 10.1128/IAI.01705-14
- Jia, Y., McAdams, S. A., Bryan, G. T., Hershey, H. P., and Valent, B. (2000). Direct interaction of resistance gene and avirulence gene products confers rice blast resistance. *EMBO J.* 19, 4004–4014. doi: 10.1093/emboj/19.15.4004
- Jonas, K., Tomenius, H., Kader, A., Normark, S., Romling, U., Belova, L. M., et al. (2007). Roles of curli, cellulose and BapA in *Salmonella* biofilm morphology studied by atomic force microscopy. *BMC Microbiol.* 7:70. doi: 10.1186/1471-2180-7-70
- Jones, G. W., Richardson, L. A., and Uhlman, D. (1981). The invasion of HeLa cells by *Salmonella* Typhimurium: reversible and irreversible bacterial attachment and the role of bacterial motility. *J. Gen. Microbiol.* 127, 351–360.
- Jones, J. D., and Dangl, J. L. (2006). The plant immune system. *Nature* 444, 323–329. doi: 10.1038/nature05286
- Jones, M. A., Hulme, S. D., Barrow, P. A., and Wigley, P. (2007). The Salmonella pathogenicity island 1 and Salmonella pathogenicity island 2 type III secretion systems play a major role in pathogenesis of systemic disease and gastrointestinal tract colonization of Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium in the chicken. Avian Pathol. 36, 199–203. doi: 10.1080/03079450701264118
- Jones, M. A., Wigley, P., Page, K. L., Hulme, S. D., and Barrow, P. A. (2001). Salmonella enterica serovar gallinarum requires the Salmonella pathogenicity island 2 type III secretion system but not the Salmonella pathogenicity island 1 type III secretion system for virulence in chickens. Infect. Immun. 69, 5471–5476. doi: 10.1128/IAI.69.9.5471-5476.2001
- Karasova, D., Sebkova, A., Havlickova, H., Sisak, F., Volf, J., Faldyna, M., et al. (2010). Influence of 5 major Salmonella pathogenicity islands on NK cell depletion in mice infected with Salmonella enterica serovar Enteritidis. BMC Microbiol. 10:75. doi: 10.1186/1471-2180-10-75
- Kawasaki, K., Akashi, S., Shimazu, R., Yoshida, T., Miyake, K., and Nishijima, M. (2000). Mouse toll-like receptor 4.MD-2 complex mediates lipopolysaccharidemimetic signal transduction by Taxol. *J. Biol. Chem.* 275, 2251–2254. doi: 10.1074/jbc.275.4.2251
- Keestra, A. M., Winter, M. G., Auburger, J. J., Frassle, S. P., Xavier, M. N., Winter, S. E., et al. (2013). Manipulation of small Rho GTPases is a pathogen-induced process detected by NOD1. *Nature* 496, 233–237. doi: 10.1038/nature12025
- Keestra, A. M., Winter, M. G., Klein-Douwel, D., Xavier, M. N., Winter, S. E., Kim, A., et al. (2011). A Salmonella virulence factor activates the NOD1/NOD2 signaling pathway. MBio 2:e00266-11. doi: 10.1128/mBio.00266-11
- Khoramian-Falsafi, T., Harayama, S., Kutsukake, K., and Pechere, J. C. (1990). Effect of motility and chemotaxis on the invasion of *Salmonella* Typhimurium into HeLa cells. *Microb. Pathog.* 9, 47–53. doi: 10.1016/0882-4010(90)90039-S
- Kihlstrom, E., and Edebo, L. (1976). Association of viable and inactivated Salmonella Typhimurium 395 MS and MR 10 with HeLa cells. *Infect. Immun.* 14, 851–857.
- Kingsley, R. A., and Baumler, A. J. (2000). Salmonella interactions with professional phagocytes. Subcell. Biochem. 33, 321–342. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4757-4580-1_13
- Kingsley, R. A., Humphries, A. D., Weening, E. H., de Zoete, M. R., Winter, S., Papaconstantinopoulou, A., et al. (2003). Molecular and phenotypic analysis of

the CS54 island of *Salmonella enterica* serotype Typhimurium: identification of intestinal colonization and persistence determinants. *Infect. Immun.* 71, 629–640. doi: 10.1128/IAI.71.2.629-640.2003

Kingsley, R. A., Keestra, A. M., De Zoete, M. R., and Baumler, A. J. (2004). The ShdA adhesin binds to the cationic cradle of the fibronectin FnIII repeat module: evidence for molecular mimicry of heparin binding. *Mol. Microbiol.* 52, 345–355. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2004.03995.x

Kingsley, R. A., Santos, R. L., Keestra, A. M., Adams, L. G., and Baumler, A. J. (2002). Salmonella enterica serotype Typhimurium ShdA is an outer membrane fibronectin-binding protein that is expressed in the intestine. Mol. Microbiol. 43, 895–905. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2958.2002.02805.x

Kingsley, R. A., van Amsterdam, K., Kramer, N., and Baumler, A. J. (2000). The shdA gene is restricted to serotypes of *Salmonella enterica* subspecies I and contributes to efficient and prolonged fecal shedding. *Infect. Immun.* 68, 2720–2727. doi: 10.1128/IAI.68.5.2720-2727.2000

Kisluk, G., and Yaron, S. (2012). Presence and persistence of Salmonella enterica serotype Typhimurium in the phyllosphere and rhizosphere of spray-irrigated parsley. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 78, 4030–4036. doi: 10.1128/AEM.00087-12

Kiss, T., Morgan, E., and Nagy, G. (2007). Contribution of SPI-4 genes to the virulence of *Salmonella enterica*. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.* 275, 153–159. doi: 10.1111/j.1574-6968.2007.00871.x

Knodler, L. A., and Celli, J. (2011). Eating the strangers within: host control of intracellular bacteria via xenophagy. *Cell. Microbiol.* 13, 1319–1327. doi: 10.1111/j.1462-5822.2011.01632.x

Knodler, L. A., Vallance, B. A., Celli, J., Winfree, S., Hansen, B., Montero, M., et al. (2010). Dissemination of invasive *Salmonella* via bacterial-induced extrusion of mucosal epithelia. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 107, 17733–17738. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1006098107

Klerks, M. M., Franz, E., van Gent-Pelzer, M., Zijlstra, C., and van Bruggen, A. H. C. (2007a). Differential interaction of *Salmonella enterica* serovars with lettuce cultivars and plant-microbe factors influencing the colonization efficiency. *ISME J.* 1, 620–631. doi: 10.1038/ismej.2007.82

Klerks, M. M., Van Gent-Pelzer, M., Franz, E., Zijlstra, C., and van Bruggen, A. H. C. (2007b). Physiological and molecular response of Lactuca sativa to colonization by *Salmonella enterica* serovar Dublin. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 73, 4905–4914. doi: 10.1128/AEM.02522-06

Korhonen, T. K., Lounatmaa, K., Ranta, H., and Kuusi, N. (1980). Characterization of type 1 pili of Salmonella Typhimurium LT2. J. Bacteriol. 144, 800–805.

Kroupitski, Y., Brandl, M. T., Pinto, R., Belausov, E., Tamir-Ariel, D., Burdman, S., et al. (2013). Identification of *Salmonella enterica* genes with a role in persistence on lettuce leaves during cold storage by recombinase-based *in vivo* expression technology. *Phytopathology* 103, 362–372. doi: 10.1094/PHYTO-10-12-0254-FI

Kroupitski, Y., Golberg, D., Belausov, E., Pinto, R., Swartzberg, D., Granot, D., et al. (2009). Internalization of *Salmonella enterica* in leaves is induced by light and involves chemotaxis and penetration through open stomata. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 75, 6076–6086. doi: 10.1128/AEM.01084-09

Kubori, T., Matsushima, Y., Nakamura, D., Uralil, J., Lara-Tejero, M., Sukhan A., et al. (1998). Supramolecular structure of the *Salmonella* Typhimurium type III protein secretion system. *Science* 280, 602–605. doi: 10.1126/science.280. 5363.602

Lambert, M. A., and Smith, S. G. (2008). The PagN protein of Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium is an adhesin and invasin. BMC Microbiol. 8:142. doi: 10.1186/1471-2180-8-142

Lambert, M. A., and Smith, S. G. (2009). The PagN protein mediates invasion via interaction with proteoglycan. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.* 297, 209–216. doi: 10.1111/j.1574-6968.2009.01666.x

Lapidot, A., and Yaron, S. (2009). Transfer of *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium from contaminated irrigation water to parsley is dependent on curli and cellulose, the biofilm matrix components. *J. Food Prot.* 72, 618–623.

Latasa, C., Roux, A., Toledo-Arana, A., Ghigo, J. M., Gamazo, C., Penades, J. R., et al. (2005). BapA, a large secreted protein required for biofilm formation and host colonization of *Salmonella enterica* serovar Enteritidis. *Mol. Microbiol.* 58, 1322–1339. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2005.04907.x

Lawley, T. D., Chan, K., Thompson, L. J., Kim, C. C., Govoni, G. R., and Monack, D. M. (2006). Genome-wide screen for *Salmonella* genes required for long-term systemic infection of the mouse. *PLoS Pathog.* 2:e11. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.0020011 Ledeboer, N. A., Frye, J. G., McClelland, M., and Jones, B. D. (2006). Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium requires the Lpf, Pef, and Tafi fimbriae for biofilm formation on HEp-2 tissue culture cells and chicken intestinal epithelium. Infect. Immun. 74, 3156–3169. doi: 10.1128/IAI.01428-05

Le Negrate, G., Faustin, B., Welsh, K., Loeffler, M., Krajewska, M., Hasegawa, P., et al. (2008). *Salmonella* secreted factor L deubiquitinase of *Salmonella typhimurium* inhibits NF-κB, suppresses ΙκΒα ubiquitination and modulates innate immune responses. *J. Immunol.* 180, 5045–5056. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.180.7.5045

Li, S., Zhang, L., Yao, Q., Li, L., Dong, N., Rong, J., et al. (2013). Pathogen blocks host death receptor signalling by arginine GlcNAcylation of death domains. *Nature* 501, 242–246. doi: 10.1038/nature12436

Lostroh, C. P., and Lee, C. A. (2001). The *Salmonella* pathogenicity island-1 type III secretion system. *Microbes Infect.* 3, 1281–1291. doi: 10.1016/S1286-4579(01)01488-5

Mackey, D., Belkhadir, Y., Alonso, J. M., Ecker, J. R., and Dangl, J. L. (2003). *Arabidopsis* RIN4 is a target of the type III virulence effector AvrRpt2 and modulates RPS2-mediated resistance. *Cell* 112, 379–389. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(03)00040-0

Mackey, D., Holt, B. F. III, Wiig, A., and Dangl, J. L. (2002). RIN4 interacts with *Pseudomonas syringae* type III effector molecules and is required for RPM1-mediated resistance in *Arabidopsis. Cell* 108, 743–754. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(02) 00661-X

Main-Hester, K. L., Colpitts, K. M., Thomas, G. A., Fang, F. C., and Libby, S. J. (2008). Coordinate regulation of *Salmonella* pathogenicity island 1 (SPI1) and SPI4 in *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium. *Infect. Immun.* 76, 1024–1035. doi: 10.1128/IAI.01224-07

Man, S. M., Hopkins, L. J., Nugent, E., Cox, S., Glück, I. M., Tourlomousis, P., et al. (2014). Inflammasome activation causes dual recruitment of NLRC4 and NLRP3 to the same macromolecular complex. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 111, 7403–7408. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1402911111

Mayor, A., Martinon, F., De Smedt, T., Petrilli, V., and Tschopp, J. (2007). A crucial function of SGT1 and HSP90 in inflammasome activity links mammalian and plant innate immune responses. *Nat. Immunol.* 8, 497–503. doi: 10.1038/ni1459

Mazurkiewicz, P., Thomas, J., Thompson, J. A., Liu, M., Arbibe, L., Sansonetti, P., et al. (2008). SpvC is a Salmonella effector with phosphothreonine lyase activity on host mitogen-activated protein kinases. *Mol. Microbiol.* 67, 1371–1383. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2008.06134.x

McGhie, E. J., Brawn, L. C., Hume, P. J., Humphreys, D., and Koronakis, V. (2009). Salmonella takes control: effector-driven manipulation of the host. Curr. Opin. Microbiol. 12, 117–124. doi: 10.1016/j.mib.2008.12.001

Melotto, M., Panchal, S., and Roy, D. (2014). Plant innate immunity against human bacterial pathogens. *Front. Microbiol.* 5:411. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2014.00411

Meng, F., Altier, C., and Martin, G. B. (2013). Salmonella colonization activates the plant immune system and benefits from association with plant pathogenic bacteria. Environ. Microbiol. 15, 2418–2430. doi: 10.1111/1462-2920.12113

Meng, X., and Zhang, S. (2013). MAPK cascades in plant disease resistance signaling. Annu. Rev. Phytopathol. 51, 245–266. doi: 10.1146/annurev-phyto-082712-102314

Meresse, S., Unsworth, K. E., Habermann, A., Griffiths, G., Fang, F., Martinez-Lorenzo, M. J., et al. (2001). Remodelling of the actin cytoskeleton is essential for replication of intravacuolar *Salmonella*. *Cell. Microbiol.* 3, 567–577. doi: 10.1046/j.1462-5822.2001.00141.x

Monier, J. M., and Lindow, S. E. (2005). Aggregates of resident bacteria facilitate survival of immigrant bacteria on leaf surfaces. *Microb. Ecol.* 49, 343–352. doi: 10.1007/s00248-004-0007-9

Morgan, E., Campbell, J. D., Rowe, S. C., Bispham, J., Stevens, M. P., Bowen, A. J., et al. (2004). Identification of host-specific colonization factors of *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium. *Mol. Microbiol.* 54, 994–1010. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2004.04323.x

Mroczenski-Wildey, M. J., Di Fabio, J. L., and Cabello, F. C. (1989). Invasion and lysis of HeLa cell monolayers by *Salmonella* Typhi: the role of lipopolysaccharide. *Microb. Pathog.* 6, 143–152. doi: 10.1016/0882-4010(89)90017-X

Noel, J. T., Arrach, N., Alagely, A., McClelland, M., and Teplitski, M. (2010). Specific responses of *Salmonella enterica* to tomato varieties and fruit ripeness identified by *in vivo* expression technology. *PLoS ONE* 5:e12406. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0012406

Ohl, M. E., and Miller, S. I. (2001). *Salmonella*: a model for bacterial pathogenesis. *Annu. Rev. Med.* 52, 259–274. doi: 10.1146/annurev.med.52.1.259

- Okamura, Y., Watari, M., Jerud, E. S., Young, D. W., Ishizaka, S. T., Rose, J., et al. (2001). The extra domain A of fibronectin activates toll-like receptor 4. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 10229–10233. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M100099200
- Park, B. S., and Lee, J. O. (2013). Recognition of lipopolysaccharide pattern by TLR4 complexes. *Exp. Mol. Med.* 45:e66. doi: 10.1038/emm.2013.97
- Perez-Lopez, A., Rosales-Reyes, R., Alpuche-Aranda, C. M., and Ortiz-Navarrete, V. (2013). Salmonella downregulates Nod-like receptor family CARD domain containing protein 4 expression to promote its survival in B cells by preventing inflammasome activation and cell death. J. Immunol. 190, 1201–1209. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1200415
- Perrin, A. J., Jiang, X., Birmingham, C. L., So, N. S., and Brumell, J. H. (2004). Recognition of bacteria in the cytosol of mammalian cells by the ubiquitin system. *Curr. Biol.* 14, 806–811. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2004.04.033
- Pieterse, C. M., Zamioudis, C., Berendsen, R. L., Weller, D. M., Van Wees, S. C., and Bakker, P. A. (2014). Induced systemic resistance by beneficial microbes. *Annu. Rev. Phytopathol.* 52, 347–375. doi: 10.1146/annurev-phyto-082712-102340
- Potnis, N., Soto-Arias, J. P., Cowles, K. N., van Bruggen, A. H., Jones, J. B., and Barak, J. D. (2014). Xanthomonas perforans colonization influences Salmonella enterica in the tomato phyllosphere. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 80, 3173–3180. doi: 10.1128/AEM.00345-14
- Radtke, A. L., Wilson, J. W., Sarker, S., and Nickerson, C. A. (2011). Analysis of interactions of *Salmonella* type three secretion mutants with 3-D intestinal epithelial cells. *PLoS ONE* 5:e15750. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0015750
- Raghunathan, D., Wells, T. J., Morris, F. C., Shaw, R. K., Bobat, S., Peters, S. E., et al. (2011). SadA, a trimeric autotransporter from *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium, can promote biofilm formation and provides limited protection against infection. *Infect. Immun.* 79, 4342–4352. doi: 10.1128/IAI. 05592-11
- Rajashekar, R., and Hensel, M. (2011). Dynamic modification of microtubuledependent transport by effector proteins of intracellular *Salmonella enterica*. *Eur. J. Cell Biol.* 90, 897–902. doi: 10.1016/j.ejcb.2011.05.008
- Ramsden, A. E., Mota, L. J., Munter, S., Shorte, S. L., and Holden, D. W. (2007). The SPI-2 type III secretion system restricts motility of *Salmonella*-containing vacuoles. *Cell. Microbiol.* 9, 2517–2529. doi: 10.1111/j.1462-5822.2007.00977.x
- Rastogi, G., Sbodio, A., Tech, J. J., Suslow, T. V., Coaker, G. L., and Leveau, J. H. (2012). Leaf microbiota in an agroecosystem: spatiotemporal variation in bacterial community composition on field-grown lettuce. *ISME J.* 6, 1812–1822. doi: 10.1038/ismej.2012.32
- Rosselin, M., Abed, N., Namdari, F., Virlogeux-Payant, I., Velge, P., and Wiedemann, A. (2012). "The different strategies used by *Salmonella* to invade host cells," in *Salmonella – Distribution, Adaptation, Control Measures and Molecular Technologies*, Chap. 17, eds B. A. Annous and J. B. Gurtler (Rijeka: InTech), 339–364.
- Rosselin, M., Abed, N., Virlogeux-Payant, I., Bottreau, E., Sizaret, P. Y., Velge, P., et al. (2011). Heterogeneity of type III secretion system (T3SS)-1-independent entry mechanisms used by *Salmonella* Enteritidis to invade different cell types. *Microbiology* 157, 839–847. doi: 10.1099/mic.0.044941-0
- Rosselin, M., Virlogeux-Payant, I., Roy, C., Bottreau, E., Sizaret, P. Y., Mijouin, L., et al. (2010). Rck of *Salmonella enterica*, subspecies enterica serovar Enteritidis, mediates zipper-like internalization. *Cell Res.* 20, 647–664. doi: 10.1038/cr.2010.45
- Rotger, R., and Casadesús, J. (1999). The virulence plasmids of *Salmonella. Int. Microbiol.* 2, 177–184.
- Ruby, T., McLaughlin, L., Gopinath, S., and Monack, D. (2012). Salmonella's long term relationship with its host. FEMS Microbiol. Rev. 36, 600–615. doi: 10.1111/j.1574-6976.2012.00332.x
- Samelis, J., Ikeda, J. S., and Sofos, J. N. (2003). Evaluation of the pHdependent, stationary-phase acid tolerance in *Listeria monocytogenes* and *Salmonella* Typhimurium DT104 induced by culturing in media with 1% glucose: a comparative study with *Escherichia coli* O157:H7. *J. Appl. Microbiol.* 95, 563–575. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2672.2003.02013.x
- Sang, M. K., Kim, E. N., Han, G. D., Kwack, M. S., Jeun, Y. C., and Kim, K. D. (2014). Priming-mediated systemic resistance in cucumber induced by *Pseudomonas* azotoformans GC-B19 and *Paenibacillus elgii* MM-B22 against *Colletotrichum* orbiculare. Phytopathology 104, 834–842. doi: 10.1094/PHYTO-11-13-0305-R
- Schikora, A., Carreri, A., Charpentier, E., and Hirt, H. (2008). The dark side of the salad: *Salmonella* Typhimurium overcomes the innate immune response of

Arabidopsis thaliana and shows an endopathogenic lifestyle. PLoS ONE 28:e2279. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0002279

- Schikora, A., Garcia, A. V., and Hirt, H. (2012). Plants as alternative hosts for Salmonella. Trends Plant Sci. 17, 245–249. doi: 10.1016/j.tplants.2012.03.007
- Schikora, A., Virlogeux-Payant, I., Bueso, E., Garcia, A. V., Nilau, T., Charrier, A., et al. (2011). Conservation of *Salmonella* infection mechanisms in plants and animals. *PLoS ONE* 6:e24112. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0024112
- Semenov, A. V., van Bruggen, A. H., van Overbeek, L., Termorshuizen, A. J., and Semenov, A. M. (2007). Influence of temperature fluctuations on *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 and *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium in cow manure. *FEMS Microbiol. Ecol.* 60, 419–428. doi: 10.1111/j.1574-6941.2007.00306.x
- Semenov, A. V., van Overbeek, L., and van Bruggen, A. H. (2009). Percolation and survival of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 and *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium in soil amended with contaminated dairy manure or slurry. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 75, 3206–3215. doi: 10.1128/AEM.01791-08
- Shah, D. H., Lee, M. J., Park, J. H., Lee, J. H., Eo, S. K., Kwon, J. T., et al. (2005). Identification of *Salmonella gallinarum* virulence genes in a chicken infection model using PCR-based signature-tagged mutagenesis. *Microbiology* 151, 3957– 3968. doi: 10.1099/mic.0.28126-0
- Sheppard, M., Webb, C., Heath, F., Mallows, V., Emilianus, R., Maskell, D., et al. (2003). Dynamics of bacterial growth and distribution within the liver during *Salmonella* infection. *Cell. Microbiol.* 5, 593–600. doi: 10.1046/j.1462-5822.2003.00296.x
- Shirron, N., and Yaron, S. (2011). Active suppression of early immune response in tobacco by the human pathogen *Salmonella* Typhimurium. *PLoS ONE* 6:e18855. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0018855
- Silipo, A., Molinaro, A., Sturiale, L., Dow, J. M., Erbs, G., Lanzetta, R., et al. (2005). The elicitation of plant innate immunity by lipooligosaccharide of *Xanthomonas campestris. J. Biol. Chem.* 280, 33660–33668. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M506254200
- Smith, A. C., Cirulis, J. T., Casanova, J. E., Scidmore, M. A., and Brumell, J. H. (2005). Interaction of the *Salmonella*-containing vacuole with the endocytic recycling system. *J. Biol. Chem.* 280, 24634–24641. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M500 358200
- Smith, J. N., Dyszel, J. L., Soares, J. A., Ellermeier, C. D., Altier, C., Lawhon, S. D., et al. (2008). SdiA, an N-acylhomoserine lactone receptor, becomes active during the transit of *Salmonella enterica* through the gastrointestinal tract of turtles. *PLoS ONE* 3:e2826. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0002826
- Steele-Mortimer, O., Meresse, S., Gorvel, J. P., Toh, B. H., and Finlay, B. B. (1999). Biogenesis of *Salmonella* Typhimurium-containing vacuoles in epithelial cells involves interactions with the early endocytic pathway. *Cell. Microbiol.* 1, 33–49. doi: 10.1046/j.1462-5822.1999.00003.x
- Sterzenbach, T., Nguyen, K. T., Nuccio, S. P., Winter, M. G., Vakulskas, C. A., Clegg, S., et al. (2013). A novel CsrA titration mechanism regulates fimbrial gene expression in *Salmonella* Typhimurium. *EMBO J.* 32, 2872–2883. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2013.206
- Suez, J., Porwollik, S., Dagan, A., Marzel, A., Schorr, Y. I., Desai, P. T., et al. (2013). Virulence gene profiling and pathogenicity characterization of non-typhoidal *Salmonella* accounted for invasive disease in humans. *PLoS ONE* 8:e58449. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0058449
- Tan, Y., and Kagan, J. C. (2014). A cross-disciplinary perspective on the innate immune responses to bacterial lipopolysaccharide. *Mol. Cell* 54, 212–223. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2014.03.012
- Teplitski, M., Barak, J. D., and Schneider, K. R. (2009). Human enteric pathogens in produce: un-answered ecological questions with direct implications for food safety. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.* 20, 166–171. doi: 10.1016/j.copbio.2009. 03.002
- Thiennimitr, P., Winter, S. E., Winter, M. G., Xavier, M. N., Tolstikov, V., Huseby, D. L., et al. (2011). Intestinal inflammation allows *Salmonella* to use ethanolamine to compete with the microbiota. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, 17480–17485. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1107857108
- Thomanek, H., Schenk, S. T., Stein, E., Kogel, K. H., Schikora, A., and Maison, W. (2013). Modified N-acyl-homoserine lactones as chemical probes for the elucidation of plant-microbe interactions. *Org. Biomol. Chem.* 11, 6994–7003. doi: 10.1039/c3ob41215f
- Townsend, S. M., Kramer, N. E., Edwards, R., Baker, S., Hamlin, N., Simmonds, M., et al. (2001). Salmonella enterica serovar Typhi possesses a unique repertoire of fimbrial gene sequences. *Infect. Immun.* 69, 2894–2901. doi: 10.1128/IAI.69.5.2894-2901.2001

- Tükel, C., Akcelik, M., de Jong, M. F., Simsek, O., Tsolis, R. M., and Baumler, A. J. (2007). MarT activates expression of the MisL autotransporter protein of *Salmonella enterica* serotype Typhimurium. *J. Bacteriol.* 189, 3922–3926. doi: 10.1128/JB.01746-06
- Uchiya, K., Barbieri, M. A., Funato, K., Shah, A. H., Stahl, P. D., and Groisman, E. A. (1999). A *Salmonella* virulence protein that inhibits cellular trafficking. *EMBO J.* 18, 3924–3933. doi: 10.1093/emboj/18.14.3924
- Ustun, S., Muller, P., Palmisano, R., Hensel, M., and Bornke, F. (2012). SseF, a type III effector protein from the mammalian pathogen *Salmonella enterica*, requires resistance-gene-mediated signalling to activate cell death in the model plant *Nicotiana benthamiana*. *New Phytol.* 194, 1046–1060. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8137.2012.04124.x
- van Asten, A. J., and van Dijk, J. E. (2005). Distribution of "classic" virulence factors among *Salmonella* spp. *FEMS Immunol. Med. Microbiol.* 44, 251–259. doi: 10.1016/j.femsim.2005.02.002
- van der Velden, A. W., Baumler, A. J., Tsolis, R. M., and Heffron, F. (1998). Multiple fimbrial adhesins are required for full virulence of *Salmonella* Typhimurium in mice. *Infect. Immun.* 66, 2803–2808.
- Van Immerseel, F., Methner, U., Rychlik, I., Nagy, B., Velge, P., Martin, G., et al. (2005). Vaccination and early protection against non-host-specific Salmonella serotypes in poultry: exploitation of innate immunity and microbial activity. *Epidemiol. Infect.* 133, 959–978. doi: 10.1017/S0950268805004711
- van Sorge, N. M., Zialcita, P. A., Browne, S. H., Quach, D., Guiney, D. G., and Doran, K. S. (2011). Penetration and activation of brain endothelium by *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium. *J. Infect. Dis.* 203, 401–405. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jiq048
- Vazquez-Torres, A., Jones-Carson, J., Bäumler, A. J., Falkow, S., Valdivia, R., Brown, W., et al. (1999). Extraintestinal dissemination of *Salmonella* by CD18-expressing phagocytes. *Nature* 401, 804–808. doi: 10.1038/44593
- Velge, P., Wiedemann, A., Rosselin, M., Abed, N., Boumart, Z., Chausse, A. M., et al. (2012). Multiplicity of *Salmonella* entry mechanisms, a new paradigm for *Salmonella* pathogenesis. *Microbiologyopen* 1, 243–258. doi: 10.1002/ mbo3.28
- Viboud, G. I., and Bliska, J. B. (2001). A bacterial type III secretion system inhibits actin polymerization to prevent pore formation in host cell membranes. *EMBO* J. 20, 5373–5382. doi: 10.1093/emboj/20.19.5373
- Vijay-Kumar, M., and Gewirtz, A. T. (2009). Flagellin: key target of mucosal innate immunity. *Mucosal Immunol.* 2, 197–205. doi: 10.1038/mi.2009.9
- Wagner, C., Barlag, B., Gerlach, R. G., Deiwick, J., and Hensel, M. (2014). The Salmonella enterica giant adhesin SiiE binds to polarized epithelial cells in a lectinlike manner. Cell. Microbiol. 16, 962–975. doi: 10.1111/cmi.12253
- Wallis, T. S., and Galyov, E. E. (2000). Molecular basis of Salmonella-induced enteritis. Mol. Microbiol. 36, 997–1005. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2958.2000.01892.x
- Wangdi, T., Lee, C. Y., Spees, A. M., Yu, C., Kingsbury, D. D., Winter, S. E., et al. (2014). The Vi capsular polysaccharide enables *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhi to evade microbe-guided neutrophil chemotaxis. *PLoS Pathog.* 10:e1004306. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1004306

- Weening, E. H., Barker, J. D., Laarakker, M. C., Humphries, A. D., Tsolis, R. M., and Baumler, A. J. (2005). The *Salmonella enterica* serotype Typhimurium lpf, bcf, stb, stc, std, and sth fimbrial operons are required for intestinal persistence in mice. *Infect. Immun.* 73, 3358–3366. doi: 10.1128/IAI.73.6.3358-3366.2005
- Wigley, P. (2013). Immunity to bacterial infection in the chicken. Dev. Comp. Immunol. 41, 413–417. doi: 10.1016/j.dci.2013.04.008
- Wilton, M., Subramaniam, R., Elmore, J., Felsensteiner, C., Coaker, G., and Desveaux, D. (2010). The type III effector HopF2Pto targets *Arabidopsis* RIN4 protein to promote *Pseudomonas syringae* virulence. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 107, 2349–2354. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0904739107
- Winter, S. E., Thiennimitr, P., Winter, M. G., Butler, B. P., Huseby, D. L., Crawford, R. W., et al. (2010). Gut inflammation provides a respiratory electron acceptor for *Salmonella*. *Nature* 467, 426–429. doi: 10.1038/nature09415
- Winter, S. E., Winter, M. G., Poon, V., Keestra, A. M., Sterzenbach, T., Faber, F., et al. (2014). Salmonella enterica serovar Typhi conceals the invasion-associated type three secretion system from the innate immune system by gene regulation. PLoS Pathog. 10:e1004207. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1004207
- Wu, H., Jones, R. M., and Neish, A. S. (2012). The Salmonella effector AvrA mediates bacterial intracellular survival during infection in vivo. Cell. Microbiol. 14, 28–39. doi: 10.1111/j.1462-5822.2011.01694.x
- Zaki, M. H., Man, S. M., Vogel, P., Lamkanfi, M., and Kanneganti, T. D. (2014). Salmonella exploits NLRP12-dependent innate immune signaling to suppress host defenses during infection. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 111, 385–390. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1317643111
- Zhao, Y., Yang, J., Shi, J., Gong, Y. N., Lu, Q., Xu, H., et al. (2011). The NLRC4 inflammasome receptors for bacterial flagellin and type III secretion apparatus. *Nature* 477, 596–600. doi: 10.1038/nature10510

Conflict of Interest Statement: The Guest Associate Editor, Nicola Holden, declares that, despite having collaborated with author, Adam Schikora, the review process was handled objectively and no conflict of interest exists. The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 08 April 2014; accepted: 22 December 2014; published online: 21 January 2015.

Citation: Wiedemann A, Virlogeux-Payant I, Chaussé A-M, Schikora A and Velge P (2015) Interactions of Salmonella with animals and plants. Front. Microbiol. 5:791. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2014.00791

This article was submitted to Plant-Microbe Interaction, a section of the journal Frontiers in Microbiology.

Copyright © 2015 Wiedemann, Virlogeux-Payant, Chaussé, Schikora and Velge. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Techniques for transferring host-pathogen protein interactions knowledge to new tasks

Meghana Kshirsagar¹, Sylvia Schleker^{2,3}, Jaime Carbonell¹ and Judith Klein-Seetharaman²*

¹ School of Computer Science, Language Technologies Institute, Carnegie Mellon University, Pittsburgh, PA, USA

² Metabolic and Vascular Health, Warwick Medical School, University of Warwick, Coventry, UK

³ Molecular Phytomedicine, Institute of Crop Science and Resource Conservation, University of Bonn, Bonn, Germany

Edited by:

Nicola Holden, The James Hutton Institute, UK

Reviewed by:

Leighton Pritchard, James Hutton Institute, UK Eric Kemen, Max Planck Institute for Plant Breeding Research, Germany

*Correspondence:

Judith Klein-Seetharaman, Metabolic and Vascular Health, Warwick Medical School, University of Warwick, Coventry, CV4 7AL, UK e-mail: j.klein-seetharaman@ warwick.ac.uk We consider the problem of building a model to predict protein-protein interactions (PPIs) between the bacterial species Salmonella Typhimurium and the plant host Arabidopsis thaliana which is a host-pathogen pair for which no known PPIs are available. To achieve this, we present approaches, which use homology and statistical learning methods called "transfer learning." In the transfer learning setting, the task of predicting PPIs between Arabidopsis and its pathogen S. Typhimurium is called the "target task." The presented approaches utilize labeled data i.e., known PPIs of other host-pathogen pairs (we call these PPIs the "source tasks"). The homology based approaches use heuristics based on biological intuition to predict PPIs. The transfer learning methods use the similarity of the PPIs from the source tasks to the target task to build a model. For a quantitative evaluation we consider Salmonella-mouse PPI prediction and some other host-pathogen tasks where known PPIs exist. We use metrics such as precision and recall and our results show that our methods perform well on the target task in various transfer settings. We present a brief qualitative analysis of the Arabidopsis-Salmonella predicted interactions. We filter the predictions from all approaches using Gene Ontology term enrichment and only those interactions involving Salmonella effectors. Thereby we observe that Arabidopsis proteins involved e.g., in transcriptional regulation, hormone mediated signaling and defense response may be affected by Salmonella.

Keywords: protein interaction prediction, host pathogen protein interactions, plant pathogen protein interactions, machine learning methods, transfer learning, kernel mean matching

1. INTRODUCTION

Understanding the workings of plant responses to pathogens is an important fundamental questions that also has enormous economic importance due to the role of pathogens in food production and processing. While "classical" plant pathogens cause crop losses during production by impacting on plant health, processing of plant-based food can lead to contamination by opportunistic pathogens. It is becoming increasingly supported by experimental evidence that some human bacterial pathogens can colonize plants and cause disease (Kirzinger et al., 2011). Salmonella is one of these bacterial species with extremely broad host range that infects not only animals, but also plants (Hernandez-Reyes and Schikora, 2013). Evidence increases that Salmonella can utilize plants as alternative host and can be considered as a bona fide plant pathogen. In this respect it has been reported that (a) Salmonella actively invades plant cells, proliferates there and can cause disease symptoms (Schikora et al., 2008; Berger et al., 2011) (b) the plant recognizes Salmonella and plant defense responses are activated (Iniguez et al., 2005; Schikora et al., 2008) and (c) that functional Type Three Secretion Systems (TTSS) 1 and 2 are important for Salmonella pathogenicity in plants with respect to bacterial proliferation and suppression of plant defense responses (Iniguez et al., 2005; Schikora et al., 2011; Shirron and Yaron, 2011). Salmonella TTSS-1 and 2 encode proteins, so called

effectors, which are known to be translocated into the animal host cell in order to manipulate host cell mechanisms mainly via PPIs (Schleker et al., 2012). Hence, it may be assumed that Salmonella utilizes the same proteins during its communication with animals and plant. However, the details of this communication are not known. A critical component of the communication between any host and its pathogen are PPIs. However, the infection of plants by Salmonella is only a nascent field, so there are no known PPIs for Salmonella with any plant reported yet. Even for the well established pathogen-host pair, Salmonella-human, relatively few interactions are known (Schleker et al., 2012). Only 62 interactions between Salmonella and mostly human proteins (some Salmonella interactions involve other mammalian species, such as mouse and rat) are known to date. Because there exists no plant-Salmonella interactions data, we need to rely on computational methods to predict them [reviewed in the accompanying paper (Schleker et al., 2015)].

In this paper, we describe techniques to build computational models to predict interactions between the model plant, *A. thaliana*, and *S.* Typhimurium. Since there is no labeled data of this host-pathogen pair available, we aim to transfer knowledge from known host-pathogen PPI data of other organisms. We use various statistical methods to build models for predicting host-pathogen PPIs. In each case, we cast the PPI prediction



problem as a binary classification task, where given two proteins the goal is to learn a function that predicts whether the pair would interact or not. We derive features on every protein pair using protein sequence data. Each host-pathogen PPI prediction problem is considered as one task. **Figure 1** shows our problem setting. The upper host-pathogen task with *Salmonella* as pathogen and human as the host is the *source* task. The lower task is the target task. The arrow shows the direction of knowledge transfer.

In order to transfer knowledge from one organism to another, we need to utilize some measure of similarity between them. This similarity can be defined between smaller units such as individual proteins or genes from the organisms or higher level units. The higher the similarity, the greater the information transfer between them. Hence the notion of similarity is very critical to the results we obtain from such a transfer based method and should be biologically motivated. Our methods enable the transfer of knowledge using the following mechanisms:

- We use the structural similarity between the individual proteins of the two hosts measured using protein sequence alignment. This follows from the biological intuition that structurally similar proteins in two different organisms are very likely to have similar functions. Hence a pathogen that wants to disrupt a specific function will target structurally similar proteins in different hosts.
- Interactome-level similarity, comparing the human PPI graph with the plant PPI graph. Any biological process in an organism involves the participation of several proteins and more importantly the interactions between these. By comparing the interactomes of different hosts, we are comparing them at the biological process-level. The components of the two graphs that are highly similar will most likely correspond to similar processes in the two organisms.
- Distributional similarity between the protein pairs: here, we identify which of the human-*Salmonella* protein pairs are the most similar (hence most relevant) to the plant-*Salmonella* protein pairs. This similarity is computed using the features of

the protein-pairs. Since it is distributional similarity, it involves a comparison over all protein pairs from both organisms. Only the most relevant human-*Salmonella* protein pairs are used to build a model.

The main contributions of this paper are:

- (1) We present methods that combine known PPIs from various sources to build a model for a new task
- (2) We evaluate our methods quantitatively and our results show the benefits in performance that are possible if we incorporate the similarity information discussed in the previous paragraphs
- (3) We present the first machine learning based predictions for plant-*Salmonella* PPIs.

In the rest of the paper, we start by describing the host-pathogen PPI datasets we use in Section 2, followed by a detailed description of our methods in Section 3 and a quantitative and qualitative analysis of the results in Section 5.

2. SOURCE TASKS

As source tasks we used the known PPIs between various other hosts and pathogens. Many of these interactions were obtained from the PHISTO (Tekir et al., 2012) database which reports literature-curated known interactions. For PPIs between human and Salmonella we use the manually literaturecurated interactions reported in Schleker et al. (2012). Please note that all of these interactions come from biochemical and biophysical experiments. The details of the dataset used in each approach are shown in Table 1 and they are available for download from http://www.cs.cmu.edu/~mkshirsa/ data/frontiers2014/data.zip. Our first approach is a rule-based approach and it uses human-Salmonella PPIs from two sources: the 62 experimentally generated PPIs reported in Schleker et al. (2012) and the predicted PPIs from Kshirsagar et al. (2012). Please note that this is the only method that uses any predicted PPIs as "ground truth." All other methods discussed in subsequent sections of this paper do not use any predicted PPIs as source. They use only PPIs validated experimentally by biochemical and biophysical methods.

2.1. SALMONELLA SPECIES/STRAINS CONSIDERED

The source data that we use for human-Salmonella from Schleker et al. (2012) comes from two different strains: Salmonella Typhimurium strain LT2 and Salmonella Typhimurium strain SL 1344. One of our three approaches (row-1 of **Table 1**) uses human-Salmonella predicted PPIs. These predicted PPIs from Kshirsagar et al. (2012) contain Salmonella proteins from two additional strains: Salmonella enteritidis PT4 and Salmonella Typhi. From henceforth, for the sake of brevity, we will refer to proteins from all strains as Salmonella proteins. For Salmonella proteins, we used the UniprotKB database (The UniProt Consortium, 2014) to obtain all proteins from the various strains. For Arabidopsis thaliana proteins, we used the TAIR database (Lamesch et al., 2012).

Approach(es)	Source task(s)	Number of interactions	Citation for interactions data	Feature set
1. Homology based	Human- <i>Salmonella</i> known PPI Human- <i>Salmonella</i> predictions	62 190,868	Schleker et al., 2012* Kshirsagar et al., 2012	No feature set. Heuristics are used to infer interactions
2. T-SVM#	Human- <i>Salmonella</i> known PPI	62	Schleker et al., 2012⁺	(a) Protein sequence k-mers (b) Gene expression (from GEO (c) GO term similarity
3. KMM [†] -SVM	Human- <i>Salmonella</i> known PPI	62	Schleker et al., 2012*	
	Human- <i>Francisella tularensis</i>	1380		
	Human- <i>E.coli</i>	32		
	A. thaliana - Agrobact. tumefaciens	22	PHISTO*	Protein sequence k-mers
	A. thaliana - E. coli	15	(Tekir et al., 2012)	
	A. thaliana - Pseudomonas syringae	13		
	A. thaliana - Synechocyctis	23		

Table 1 | Datasets used in the various approaches, their sizes and the appropriate citations.

[†]KMM, Kernel Mean Matching; [#]SVM, Support Vector Machine; GO, Gene Ontology.

* This source reports PPIs validated experimentally by biochemical and biophysical methods.

3. METHODS

In the previous section, we described the dataset used in our various approaches. We now describe the details of the methods we use.

3.1. APPROACH-1 : HOMOLOGY BASED TRANSFER

In this approach, we use the sequence similarity between the plant and human protein sequences to infer new interactions. We use two techniques to predict interactions between plant and *Salmonella* proteins. The first technique uses plant-human orthologs and the second is based on plant-human homology (sequence alignment scores). Both techniques use two sources of interactions: true PPIs from Schleker et al. (2012) and predicted PPIs from Kshirsagar et al. (2012). Please note that this is the only method that uses any predicted PPIs as "ground truth." All other methods discussed in subsequent sections of this paper do not use any predicted PPIs as source.

Homologs and Orthologs: Homologous pairs of genes are related by descent from a common ancestral DNA sequence. These can be either orthologs: genes that evolved from a common ancestral gene by speciation or paralogs: genes separated by the event of genetic duplication. We obtained orthologs from the InParanoid database (Ostlund et al., 2010). To find homologous pairs of proteins, we used BLAST sequence alignment with an *e*-value threshold of 0.01.

(a) Host ortholog based predictions: We start with the known human-Salmonella PPIs. For each interaction, we search for an ortholog of the human protein in Arabidopsis. If one exists, we infer an interaction between the Salmonella and the Arabidopsis protein. This is similar to finding interologs, with the exception that we restrict ourselves to orthologs of the host protein rather than considering all possible homologs of both the host and pathogen proteins. Figure 2 illustrates this simple heuristic. There are 62 human-Salmonella PPIs in



our dataset. Using this ortholog based inference for the host proteins, we obtained a total of 25 plant-*Salmonella* PPIs as some of the human proteins did not have any plant orthologs. The orthologous *Arabidopsis* proteins for the human proteins were obtained from the InParanoid database (Ostlund et al., 2010).

(b) Host graph alignment based predictions: This method uses homologs between the human and plant proteins. Since the set of known PPIs is very small (62 interactions), here we use them to generate "bootstrap" interactions. The known 62 PPIs are used to build a classifier using the method published in Kshirsagar et al. (2012) to generate a total of 190,868 human-Salmonella PPI predictions. These predicted PPIs form the "bootstrap" PPIs and will be used in a graph-based transfer approach. In this graph-based transfer method, we first align the PPI graphs of the two host organisms using NetworkBlast (Sharan et al., 2005). The human PPI network was obtained from the HPRD database (Prasad et al., 2009) and the plant-plant PPIs from TAIR database (Lamesch et al., 2012). The algorithm aligns the human PPI graph with the plant PPI graph using the pairs of homologous proteins between the two organisms. To find the homologous proteins, we used BLAST sequence alignment with an e-value threshold of 0.01. Next, we use NetworkBlast to find the graph components that are the most similar across the two graphs. We call them the "enriched components." By comparing the interactomes of the two hosts, we are comparing them at the biological process-level. The components of the two graphs that are highly similar will most likely correspond to similar processes in the two organisms. NetworkBlast finds a total of 2329 enriched protein complex pairs between the two host organisms. Figure 3 shows one such enriched protein complex pair: the complex on the left is from Arabidopsis and the one on the right is from human. Using these we determine the plant proteins that are the most likely targets for the different Salmonella proteins as shown in the Figure 3.

For each PPI between a human protein from an enriched protein complex, we infer an equivalent PPI between the corresponding plant protein and the *Salmonella* protein (example, *sipA* in the **Figure 3**). This filtering procedure gives us a final of 23,664 plant-*Salmonella* PPIs. The biological relevance for using the enriched graph components lies in the premise that clusters of similarly interacting proteins across the two organisms will represent biological processes that have been conserved in the two organisms. Hence, the proteins in these components are also likely to be conserved as pathogen targets.

3.2. APPROACH-2: TRANSDUCTIVE LEARNING

This method considers the target task i.e., plant proteins while building a model. It provides a way of incorporating the target task information during model construction. Conventional inductive learning approaches such as the Support Vector Machine classifier use only the training examples to build a model. Transductive learning approaches also use the distribution of the unlabeled test examples. They jointly learn the labels on the test examples while minimizing the error on the labeled training examples. This often results in a good performance, as the classifier has additional information about the unseen test data. In our work here, we use transductive learning for transfer learning in particular the Transductive Support Vector Machine algorithm (T-SVM) (Joachims, 1999). The training examples are the source task examples, i.e., human-*Salmonella* protein interactions. We use the target task examples as the test data.

Training negatives: Since there are 62 known PPIs in the source task, we sample a set of random 6200 human-*Salmonella* protein pairs to maintain the positive:negative class ratio at 1:100.

Figure 4 depicts this setting. This method thus builds a model by using data from both hosts. The optimization function of T-SVM jointly minimizes the training error on the known humanpathogen interactions and the label assignments on the unknown plant-pathogen interactions. The set of target examples can not be used entirely as it is very large and makes the T-SVM algorithm very computationally expensive. Hence we randomly sample 1 percent of the target dataset. For the T-SVM based algorithm to be effective, the kernel function that is used to compute the similarity between examples matters a lot. We use a homology-based kernel function that incorporates the BLAST similarity score between the proteins. Let x_s^i be the feature-vector representing a source task example: the protein pair $\langle s_s, h_s \rangle$ where s_s is the Salmonella protein (i.e., the pathogen protein) and h_s is the host protein. Let the target task example be the protein pair $\langle s_t, a_t \rangle$ where a_t is the Arabidopsis protein; and the corresponding feature vector be x_t^k . The kernel function that computes the similarity between the given two pairs of proteins (i.e., their feature vectors) is defined as shown below.

$$k(x_s^i, x_t^k) = sim(p_s, p_t) + sim(h_s, a_t)$$
 where





sim(m, n) = normalized - BLAST - score(m, n) $k(x_s^i, x_s^j) = dot(x_s^i, x_s^j) \text{ and } k(x_t^i, x_t^j) = dot(x_t^i, x_t^j)$

The first equation is used in the case where the two protein pairs come from different tasks. We use homology-distance between the pathogen proteins and the host proteins to compute the kernel. The homology distance itself is simply the BLAST protein sequence alignment score. The next two equations show the computation when the examples both come from the same task. Here we simply take the dot product of the two feature vectors. This kernel is symmetric. The similarity between two sequences sim(m, n) is computed using the bitscore from BLAST sequence alignment, normalized using the sequence length of the larger protein. We used the SVM^{light} package (Joachims, 2008) and incorporated our kernel function into it. The parameter tuning for T-SVM (the regularization parameter C) was done using cross validation on the PPIs where we have the true labels. We found C = 0.1 was the best setting. This best model is subsequently used to generate predictions on all Arabidopsis-Salmonella protein-pairs. The model outputs a score indicating the distance from the classifier hyperplane. A positive score indicates that the proteinpair is on the positive side of the hyperplane and hence closer to the known interacting protein-pairs. All such protein-pairs will be considered as potential interactions predicted by this model.

3.3. APPROACH-3: KERNEL MEAN MATCHING

Our transfer learning scenario here consist of the following setting: multiple "source" tasks with small amounts of labeled data, a single "target" task with no labeled data. The first challenge is to pick the best instances from the source tasks, such that the resultant model when applied on the target task generates high confidence predictions. Toward this, we use the instance reweighting technique Kernel Mean Matching (KMM). The reweighted source task instances are used to build a kernelized support vector machine (SVM) model, which is applied on the target task data to get the predicted PPIs. This brings forth the second challenge—selecting appropriate hyperparameters while building a model for a task with no labeled data. For simplicity we also use the same set of features across all tasks (protein sequence features). However the data distribution will be different across tasks due to the different organisms involved.

This approach is based on instance-transfer where the goal is to pick from each of the source tasks, the most relevant instances w.r.t the target task. We use a two-step process: (1) the first step does the instance weighting on the source tasks. (2) the second step uses the reweighted instance to build several SVM classifier models—one model for each hyper-parameter setting. To deal with the second challenge, we present two heuristic methods to select the best set of hyperparameters.

3.3.1. Step-1: Instance reweighting

The similarity between the source and target data can be expressed using the similarity in their distributions $\mathbf{P}_S(x, y)$ and $\mathbf{P}_t(x, y)$. Here \mathbf{P}_S represents the joint distribution of all source tasks. Since we do not have access to the labels y on the target, we make a simplifying assumption that there is only a covariate shift between the source and target tasks—i.e., the conditional distribution P(y|x) is the same for both tasks. Mathematically, $\frac{\mathbf{P}_S(x,y)}{\mathbf{P}_t(x,y)} = \frac{\mathbf{P}_S(x)}{\mathbf{P}_t(x)} = r(x)$. Many methods have been proposed for estimating the ratio r. Sugiyama et al. (2008) proposed an algorithm Kullback-Leibler Importance Estimation Procedure (KLIEP) to estimate r directly without estimating the densities of the two distributions.

We use the nonparametric Kernel Mean Matching (KMM) (Huang et al., 2007), which was originally developed to handle the problem of covariate shift between the training and test data distributions. KMM reweighs the training data instances such that the means of the training and test data distributions are close in a reproducing kernel Hilbert space (RKHS). This approach does not require distribution estimation. Let $x_i^S \sim P_S$ and n_S be the number of source instances from all source tasks. Let $x_i^t \sim P_t$ and n_t be the number of target instances. Let β_i represent the "importance" of the source instances. KMM uses a function based on the *maximum mean discrepancy* statistic (MMD). In the form written below, it minimizes the difference between the empirical means of the joint source and target distributions.

$$\min_{\beta} \left\| \frac{1}{n_{S}} \sum_{i=1}^{n_{S}} \beta_{i} \Phi(x_{i}^{S}) - \frac{1}{n_{t}} \sum_{j=1}^{n_{t}} \Phi(x_{j}^{t}) \right\|^{2}$$

$$\Leftrightarrow \min_{\beta} \left\| \frac{1}{n_{S}^{2}} \beta^{T} K \beta - \frac{2}{n_{S}^{2}} \kappa^{T} \beta \right\| + C$$

subject to $\beta_{i} \in [0, B]$ and $\sum_{i} \beta_{i} \le n_{S}$
where $K_{i,j} = k(x_{i}^{S}, x_{j}^{S})$ and $\kappa_{i} = \frac{n_{S}}{n_{t}} \sum_{j=1}^{n_{t}} k(x_{i}^{S}, x_{j}^{t})$ (1)

K is the kernel matrix over all the source examples. The function (1) is a quadratic program and can be efficiently solved using sequential minimal optimization (SMO), projected gradient based methods. We use the KMM implementation from the Shogun (Sonnenburg et al., 2010) package.

3.3.1.1. Selecting an appropriate set of source and target *instances.* Using all instances in the optimization problem in equation (1) is infeasible for two reasons. The optimization involves the computation of the gram matrix K of $O(n^2)$ where n is the number of instances. Typically the total number of protein-protein pairs between a host-pathogen are of the order of 100 million. Secondly, the total number of labeled source instances is quite small (\approx 1500). This set is likely to get underweighted (i.e., $\beta_i \approx 0$) if there are too many unlabeled source instances. To represent the source's empirical mean, in addition to the labeled instances. For the target, we randomly sample n_S instances.

3.3.2. Step-2: Model learning

Once we have the optimal set of source instances, we can train a Kernel-SVM model using these. Along with the first step, we thus call this two step process KMM-SVM. We pick a kernel-based learning algorithm since we plan to extend our work to deal with different feature spaces across the tasks. In such a scenario, the only mechanism to operate on the target data is via similarities, i.e., the kernel. The dual formulation for the weighted version of SVM solves the following problem, where the weights β_i were obtained in Step-1.

$$\min_{\alpha} \sum_{i=1}^{n_{S}} \alpha_{i} - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i,j} \alpha_{i} \alpha_{j} y_{i} y_{j} K(x_{i}^{S}, x_{j}^{S}) \text{ subject to } \sum_{i} \alpha_{i} y_{i} = 0$$

and $\beta_{i} C \ge \alpha_{i} \ge 0$

3.3.3. Model selection

Parameter tuning and selecting the best model in the absence of labeled data is a very hard problem. The model built on the source data cannot be tuned using cross validation on the source data because doing so will optimize it for the source distribution. Hence we developed two heuristic approaches to select the best hyperparameters. The first one uses the expected class-skew on the target task while the second uses reweighted cross-validation. **Class-skew based parameter selection**: We first built several models by doing a grid-search on the classifier hyper-parameters. There are 3 parameters to tune for the Kernel-SVM: the kernel width γ , the cost parameter *C*, the weight parameter for the positive class w_+ . The total number of parameter combinations in our grid-search were 50. We thus had 50 models trained on the reweighted source data obtained after KMM in Step-1 (Section 3.3.1). We applied each model on the target data and computed the predicted class-skew r_{pred} using the predicted class labels. The expected class skew based on our understanding of the PPI experimental literature is roughly 1:100 (= r_{true}). We ranked all 50 models on the statistic $|r_{pred} - r_{true}|$. The top *k* models were selected based on this criteria and a weighted voting ensemble was built using them. This ensemble was used to get the final class label on the target data. We used k = 5.

Aggregating the models and assigning interaction scores: In our experiments, we used k = 5 to pick the best models w.r.t the ranking statistic described above. Note that each model gives us a classifier score for every protein-pair in the test data, which can be considered to be the probability of interaction. For k = 5, we have five scores for each test protein-pair. These scores were aggregated using two criteria:

- (a) The majority vote over the five models where each model votes "yes" if the output probability score is greater than or equal to 0.5.
- (b) The averaged of all five probability scores.

3.3.4. Spectrum RBF kernel

We used a variant of the spectrum kernel, based on the features used by Dyer et al. (2007) for HIV-human PPI prediction. The kernel uses the *n*-mers of a given input sequence and is defined as: $k_{sp}^n(x, x') = \exp\{-\frac{\|\phi_{sp}^n(x) - \phi_{sp}^n(x')\|^2}{\sigma^2}\}$, where *x*, *x'* are two sequences over an alphabet Σ . Instead of using the 20 amino acids as the alphabet Σ , we used a classification of the amino-acids. There are seven classes based on the electrostatic and hydrophobic properties of proteins, i.e., $|\Sigma| = 7$. Here ϕ_{sp}^n transforms a sequence *s* into a $|\Sigma|^n$ -dimensional feature-space. One dimension of ϕ_{sp}^n corresponds to the normalized frequency of one of the 7^{*n*} possible strings in *s*. We use n = 2, 3, 4, 5.

4. NEGATIVE EXAMPLES AND FEATURE-SET

Classification techniques need a negative class (set of noninteractions) in order to identify the special characteristics of the positives (i.e., interactions). Since there is no published experimental evidence about "non-interacting" host-pathogen proteins for any plant with *Salmonella*, we construct the negative class using random pairs of proteins sampled from the set of all possible host-pathogen protein pairs. The number of random pairs chosen as the negative class is decided by what we expect the interaction ratio to be. It is a parameter that can be changed as our knowledge of the size and nature of the host-pathogen interactome improves.

The interaction ratio/ negative examples are used in different ways as described below. The homology-based transfer method does not directly use any negative examples/ interaction ratios. In the case of T-SVM, while training the transductive model, we use negative examples from the source task. In the case of KMM-SVM, the data used to build the model comes from the source tasks, where negative examples from each source task are used. Next, during the model selection phase we pick the best models based on the interaction ratio of the model over the predictions on the target task (See Section 3.3.3 for details). No explicit negative examples are used in this part; the interaction ratio is simply used to pick the best model.

We initially chose a positive:negative class ratio of 1:100 meaning that we expect 1 in every 100 random bacteria-human protein pairs to interact with each other. This has been a common practice in host-pathogen PPI prediction in the past (Dyer et al., 2007; Tastan et al., 2009). Recently published work (Mukhtar et al., 2011) involving a yeast-2-hybrid study on plant-bacterial PPIs suggests a higher interaction ratio of around 1:1000. Our choice of 1:100 as the class-skew is an overestimate when considering interactions with all *Salmonella* genes, but if we restrict the binding partners to only the so-called *Salmonella* effector proteins, the ratio we use is reasonable. (There are ≈85 known *Salmonella* effector genes). Also note that, while the exact examples that we choose as negative data may not be true negatives, we expect the false negative rate to be low enough (≈ 1%) to justify our choice of this heuristic.

The class skew is an important parameter in any machine learning method. The choice of this parameter determines the properties of the resultant model. A very balanced class skew of 1:1 will result in a model that is over-predictive i.e., has a very high false positive rate when applied on the target task. On the other hand, a very skewed setting of 1:1000 could give a lower false positive rate but is likely to have a poor recall as compared to models with lower class skews. This parameter thus offers a trade-off between the precision and recall of the resultant model. Our choice of a class ratio of 1:100 will result in a higher recall as compared to models trained on higher class skews. It will however, have some false positives. From a statistical perspective, a model trained with a high class skew such as 1:1000 will capture the distribution of the negatives since they hugely outnumber the positives. Since the negative class examples are not true negatives, the goodness of a model which depends mostly on noisy negatives is debatable. Computationally, the time required for training a model increases as we increase the number of examples. In the case of a high class skew such as 1:1000, there will be thousand times as many examples as the number of positives. This makes training a model very slow, especially for the Kernel-SVM algorithm and Transductive SVM models that are used by our methods. Nonetheless, we also calculated the predictions for a higher skew of 1:500. The results are described in Section 5.

The features used in each approach are shown in **Table 1**. A detailed description of each feature and the biological significance of it follows. We derive protein sequence based features similar to the ones derived by Dyer et al. (2011) for HIV-human PPI prediction.

• **Protein sequence** *n*-mer or *n*-gram features: Since the sequence of a protein determines its function to a great extent, it may be possible to predict PPIs using the amino acid sequence of a protein pair. Shen et al. (2007) introduced the

"conjoint triad model" for predicting PPIs using only amino acid sequences. Shen et al. (2007) partitioned the twenty amino acids into seven classes based on their electrostatic and hydrophobic properties. For each protein, they counted the number of times each distinct three-mer (set of three consecutive amino acids) occurred in the sequence. To account for protein size, they normalized these counts by linearly transforming them to lie between 0 and 1 (see Shen et al. (2007) for details). They represented the protein with a 343-element feature vector, where the value of each feature is the normalized count for each of the 343 (7³) possible amino acid three-mers. We use two-, three-, four-, and five-mers. For each host-pathogen protein pair, we concatenated the feature vectors of the individual proteins. Therefore, each host-pathogen protein pair had a feature vector of length at most 98, 646, 4802, and 33614, in the cases of two-, three-, four-, and five-mers, respectively.

- Gene expression features: These features depend only on the human protein (gene) involved in a human-*Salmonella* protein pair. We selected 3 transcriptomic datasets from GEO (Barrett et al., 2011), which give the differential gene expression of human genes infected by *Salmonella*. The 3 datasets (GDS77, GDS78, GDS80) give us a total of 7 features representing differential gene expression of human genes in 7 different control conditions. The intuition behind this feature is that genes that are significantly differentially regulated are more likely to be involved in the infection process, and thereby in interactions with bacterial proteins. Note: these were used in only the human-*Salmonella* task.
- GO similarity features: These features model the similarity between the functional properties of two proteins. These were used in only the human-Salmonella task. Gene Ontology (Ashburner et al., 2000) provides GO-term annotations for three important protein properties: molecular function (F), cellular component (C) and biological process (P). We derive 6 types of features using these properties. For each of "F," "C," and "P," two types of GO similarity features were defined: (a) pair-level similarity and (b) similarity with human protein's binding partners. The similarity between two individual GO terms was computed using the G-Sesame algorithm (Du et al., 2009). This feature is a matrix of all the GO term combinations found in a given protein pair: $\langle p_s, p_h \rangle$, the rows of the matrix represent GO terms from protein p_s and the columns represent GO terms from p_h . Analogously, the second feature type-(b) computes the similarity between the GO term sets of the Salmonella protein and the human protein's binding partners in the human interactome. We used HPRD to get the human interactome.

Code: The executable files from the packages used to build our methods, and the scripts that we used to run these can be downloaded here: http://www.cs.cmu.edu/~mkshirsa/data/ frontiers2014/code.zip.

5. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

A quantitative evaluation on the target task i.e., plant-Salmonella is currently not feasible as there is no known PPI data. Hence for

the purpose of evaluation, we used some of the PPI datasets as "sources" for building a model and one as the "target." We evaluate the machine-learning based methods in two settings of transfer: *pathogen-level transfer*, where the host is fixed to be human and the pathogen is one of various bacterial species. The second setting *host-level transfer*, is more relevant and refers to the case where the pathogen is fixed to be *Salmonella* and we modify the host species. Since there are few known PPIs involving *Salmonella*, we are only able to experiment with mouse as an alternate host. There are 14 known mouse-*Salmonella* PPIs. Interestingly they involve mouse proteins whose human homologs also interact with the same *Salmonella* proteins—i.e., these 14 PPIs have interologs in the human-*Salmonella* dataset.

Our evaluation criteria does not use accuracy (which measures performance on both the positives and negatives). Our PPI datasets are highly imbalanced with a large number of negative samples, and a trivial classifier that calls all protein pairs as "negative" will achieve a very good performance. So we instead use precision (P), recall (R) and F-score(F1) computed on the interacting pairs (positive class).

$$Precision(P) = \frac{true \text{ positives}}{\text{predicted positives}};$$

$$Recall(R) = \frac{true \text{ positives}}{\text{total true positives in data}};$$

$$F1 \text{ score } (F1) = \frac{2PR}{P+R}.$$

The source tasks (i.e., training data) and target task (i.e., test datasets) are shown in the **Table 2**. Parameters for all methods are tuned using a class-skew based model selection similar to the one described in Section 3.3.3 for the KMM-SVM method. We compare the following machine-learning based methods:

- 1. Inductive Kernel-SVM (Baseline): This model assumes that the source and target distributions are identical. All source data is pooled together and used to build a single model. For the kernel we used the RBF-spectrum kernel.
- 2. Transductive SVM (T-SVM): This is the method described in Section 3.2.
- 3. KMM-SVM: This method is discussed in Section 3.3.

The host-level transfer performance is shown in the first two rows of **Table 2**. The KMM-SVM based method performs much better while transferring from *Salmonella*-human to *Salmonella*-mouse. The recall is very high at 93.7 since the mouse-pathogen PPIs are interologs of the human-pathogen PPIs. The precision is not as high as some additional positives are predicted and we found that they had a high classifier score. These "false positives" are likely to be true interactions. For the reverse setting, T-SVM does slightly better than the KMM-SVM and 2 points higher than the base-line. Note that here, the source data is very small in size with only 14 PPIs. In the pathogen-level transfer, on the *Salmonella*-human target task, the F1 of the KMM-SVM method is the highest at 19.9 and is 5 points better than the other two methods. On the

Table 2 | Performance of the machine learning based methods on various transfer settings.

Source task(s)	Target task	Method	P [†]	R [†]	F1 [†]
(training data)	(test data)	motilou	•	n	••
HOST-LEVEL TRA	ANSFER				
Salmonella-	Salmonella-	Baseline	42.8	93.7	58.8
human	mouse	T-SVM	45.4	93.7	61.2
		KMM-SVM	51.7	93.7	66.7
Salmonella-	Salmonella-	Baseline	95.4	33.8	50
mouse	human	T-SVM	67.5	43.5	52.9
		KMM-SVM	100	35.5	52
PATHOGEN-LEV	EL TRANSFER				
Francisella-	Salmonella-	Baseline	17.8	12.9	14.9
human,	human	T-SVM	15	14.5	14.7
<i>E.coli</i> -human		KMM-SVM	25.7	16.1	19.9
Francisella-	E.coli-	Baseline	12.9	12.5	12.7
human,	human	T-SVM	10.4	15.6	12.5
<i>Salmonella-</i> human		KMM-SVM	15.9	21.9	18.4

We compare them with a simple baseline: inductive kernel-SVM. We report precision (P), recall (R) and f-score (F1). The data that was used to build each of the models is shown in the first column. The second column shows the target task—the data on which we evaluate the model. The numbers in bold font indicate the highest performance in that column (i.e., for that metric).

[†]Computed using the default classifier threshold: 0.5.

The positive:negative class ratio in all datasets was 1:100.

The performance of a random classifier would be F-score = 1.

E.coli-human task, the performance is 18.4 which is 5.7 points better than the other methods.

A very interesting observation to make from the table is, the performance on the target task: *Salmonella*-human in the two settings. In the host-level transfer, the F1 is 52 whereas in the pathogen-level transfer it is much lower at 19.9. The hosts human and mouse are much more similar than the group of bacterial species namely: *Salmonella*, *E. coli* and *F. tularensis*. The source tasks are indeed very critical in determining the performance on the target.

5.1. ANALYSIS

We apply the models trained using the procedures from previous sections on *Arabidopsis-Salmonella* protein-pairs to get predictions for potential interactions. The homology based approach does not assign any confidence scores to the predictions while both T-SVM and KMM-SVM allow us to obtain a score for every predicted interaction. All predictions from T-SVM with a positive score (>0) are considered to be interacting. For the KMM-SVM method, we filter the predictions using a threshold of 0.7 on the averaged probability-score. (See Section 3.3.3 for details on the probability score computation for the KMM-SVM method). We chose this threshold of 0.7 since all positives in our training data are assigned a score \geq 0.7 by the classifier model. The full lists of predicted interactions from all three approaches are available at the following link: http://www.cs.cmu.edu/~mkshirsa/ data/frontiers2014/predictions.zip.



Approach	Homology	T-SVM	KMM-SVM
# predicted interactions	106,807	1088	163,644
# PPIs involving effectors	72461	718	163,397
# unique arabidopsis genes	1107	92	25124
# unique Salmonella genes	221	34	31

threshold of 0.7 on the interaction probability reported by the classifier. We picked this threshold based on the interaction probabilities reported on the known interactions.

The total number of PPI predictions based on the score thresholds described above are: 106,807 for homology-based, 1088 for T-SVM and 163,644 from KMM-SVM. Hundreds of thousands of interacting pairs may not be likely and we therefore expect that many of the predictions are likely to be false positives (FPs). We would like to emphasize that, by ranking the predictions on the classifier scores and picking only the top few we are likely to filter out most of the false positives, since the machine learning models are expected to score FPs lower than the true positives. The threshold of 0.7 for KMM-SVM was chosen just to ensure consistency with the threshold that we observed in the training data (i.e., in the known interactions). If one considers say the top 10% of the predictions from the KMM-SVM method, we have 1636 PPIs over ≈1300 unique Arabidopsis proteins and 5 Salmonella proteins. Choosing by thresholding the prediction score is one way to select potential interactions for further scrutiny. Another approach is to analyze the predictions based on the biological functions one is interested in. To demonstrate the type of biological functions that are represented in the predictions, we performed GO term enrichment analysis of the Arabidopsis proteins involved in the predictions. We can then look at Arabidopsis genes with the most enriched GO terms and what their predicted Salmonella partners are.

A Venn diagram depicting the overlap between the predicted pairs of proteins interacting according to the three approaches is shown in **Figure 5**. The PPIs reported by each approach are quite different from the others. Only 189 are shared between T-SVM and KMM-SVM and 4305 between the homology approach and KMM-SVM. No overlap was found between the homology approach and the T-SVM approaches. These relatively small overlaps are due to the different input sources (tasks) used by each approach. Further, the machine-learning based approaches KMM-SVM and T-SVM use a discriminative model which employs negative examples whereas the heuristics based approach does not use any such negative data and hence has a small overlap with the other two. The two machine-learning based approaches differ due to the use of different kernels. The KMM-SVM approach is the only approach that shows overlap in predictions to both, the heuristics and the T-SVM approaches, and the results are therefore discussed in detail in the accompanying paper (Schleker et al., 2015).

Because the ratio of 1 positive to 100 negative pairs likely overestimates the number of interactions, we next changed this ratio to 1:500 and generated a new model. As expected, a much smaller number of pairs are predicted namely, 6035. This is a more manageable list and the predictions of the new model are provided at http://www.cs.cmu.edu/~mkshirsa/data/frontiers2014/ predictions_class_skew_500.txt.

5.2. QUALITATIVE ANALYSIS OF PREDICTED INTERACTIONS

As with any predictions, experimental validation is ultimately needed to verify them. The choice depends on the interest of the experimentalist. Here we have chosen for discussion a few predictions that are interesting to us, but we encourage the reader to look at the list of predictions for others of potential biological interest.

We calculated Gene Ontology (GO) enrichment in the *Arabidopsis* proteins predicted to be targeted by the *Salmonella* proteins. We are interested in analyzing the characteristics of the plant proteins predicted to be the most popular targets for pathogenesis. We defined the "popular targets" using the following criteria: (a) the *Arabidopsis* protein is predicted to be targeted by at least 3 *Salmonella* effectors with a probability greater than 0.9 and (b) the GO term annotations of the *Arabidopsis* protein are significantly enriched [with a *p*-value of <0.001 as obtained by GO enrichment analysis using FuncAssociate (Berriz et al., 2003)]. There are a total of 5247 *Arabidopsis* proteins satisfying these criteria. In **Table 3**, we show 20 *Arabidopsis* proteins. In **Table 4**, we show the list of all enriched GO terms.

For each gene we show the description and the enriched GO annotations. Among the presented *Arabidopsis* proteins, nearly one third are transcription factors. These function e.g., in hormone-mediated signaling pathways. It has been reported that jasmonic acid and ethylene signaling pathways are involved in plant defense response against *Salmonella* (Schikora et al.,
Arabidopsis (TAIR id)	Protein name/gene	Enriched Gene Ontology annotations	Enriched GO terms (corresp. to column 3
AT1G01030	B3 domain containing transcription factor	Sequence-specific DNA binding transcription factor activity ; regulation of transcription, DNA-templated	GO:0003700 GO:0006355
AT1G06160	Ethylene-responsive transcription factor ERF094	DNA binding ; sequence-specific DNA binding transcription factor activity ; regulation of transcription from RNA-polymerase II promoter ; response to jasmonic acid stimulus	GO:0003677 GO:0003700 GO:0006355 GO:0009753
AT1G01060	Myb-related putative transcription factor	Response to cadmium ion ; response to salt stress ; response to auxin stimulus ; response to cold	GO:0046686 GO:0009651 GO:0009733 GO:0009409
AT1G13180	Actin-related protein 3	Actin binding	GO:0003779
AT2G40220	Ethylene-responsive transcription factor ABI4. Protein glucose insensitive 6	DNA binding ; response to water deprivation ; positive regulation of transcription, DNA-dependent ; sequence-specific DNA binding	GO:0003677 GO:0009414 GO:0045893 GO:0043565
AT2G46400	Putative WRKY transcription factor 46	Response to chitin	GO:0010200
AT1G01080	Ribonucleoprotein, putative	nucleic acid binding ; RNA binding	GO:0003676 GO:0003723
AT3G12110	Actin-11	Chloroplast stroma	GO:0009570
AT3G56400	Probable WRKY transcription factor 70	Response to salicylic acid stimulus ; sequence-specific DNA binding transcription factor activity ; protein amino acid binding	GO:0009751 GO:0003700 GO:0005515
AT1G01090	Pyruvate dehydrogenase E1 component subunit alpha-3, chloroplastic	Chloroplast stroma	GO:0009570
AT4G09570	Ca-dependent protein kinase 4	protein amino acid binding	GO:0005515
AT1G01150	Homeodomain-like protein with RING-type zinc finger domain	Zinc ion binding ; regulation of transcription, DNA-templated	GO:0008270 GO:0006355
AT4G18170	Probable WRKY transcription factor 28	Regulation of transcription, DNA-templated ; sequence- specific DNA binding transcription factor activity	GO:0006355 GO:0003700
AT1G01160	GRF1-interacting factor 2	Protein amino acid binding	GO:0005515
AT1G01200	Ras-related protein RABA3	GTP binding; small GTPase mediated signal transduction ; protein transport	GO:0005525 GO:0007264 GO:0015031
AT5G47220	Ethylene-responsive transcription factor 2	Positive regulation of transcription, DNA-dependent ; ethylene mediated signaling pathway	GO:0045893 GO:0009873
AT1G01250	Ethylene-responsive TF ERF023	Sequence-specific DNA binding transcription factor activity ; nuclear envelope	GO:0003700 GO:0005634
AT1G01350	Zinc finger CCCH domain-containing protein 1	Nucleic acid binding ; zinc ion binding	GO:0003676 GO:0008270
AT1G01370	Histone H3-like centromeric protein HTR12	DNA binding ; protein amino acid binding	GO:0003677 GO:0005515

Table 3 | GO terms that were enriched in the most targetted Arabidopsis proteins in our predictions.

To get this list, we performed a GO term enrichment analysis using the FuncAssociate tool (Berriz et al., 2003). We then procure the set of Arabidopsis genes which correspond to the enriched GO terms; i.e., GO terms with a p-value of < 0.001. We further filter this set to include only those Arabidopsis genes predicted to interact with at least 3 Salmonella effector proteins. In this table, we show around 20 such Arabidopsis genes for the lack of space. The remaining are available via the download link.

Table 4 | List of all enriched GO terms obtained by applying enrichment analysis tool FuncAssociate (Berriz et al., 2003) on the set of highly targeted *Arabidopsis* proteins (i.e., *Arabidopsis* proteins predicted to interact with at least 3 *Salmonella* effectors).

GO term	Description
GO:0003676	Nucleic acid binding
GO:0003677	DNA binding
GO:0003700	Sequence-specific DNA binding TF activity
GO:0003723	RNA binding
GO:0003735	Structural constituent of ribosome
GO:0003755	peptidyl-prolyl cis-trans isomerase activity
GO:0003779	Actin binding
GO:0003899	DNA-directed RNA polymerase activity
GO:0004298	Threonine-type endopeptidase activity
GO:0004693	Cyclin-dependent protein serine/threonine kinase activity
GO:0004842	Ubiquitin-protein transferase activity
GO:0004871	Signal transducer activity
GO:0005484	SNAP receptor activity
GO:0005507	Copper ion binding
GO:0005509	Calcium ion binding
GO:0005515	Protein binding
GO:0005525	GTP binding
GO:0005576	Extracellular region
GO:0005622	Intracellular region
GO:0005634	Nuclear envelope
GO:0005839	Proteasome core complex
GO:0005840	Ribosome
GO:0006351	Transcription, DNA-templated
GO:0006355	Regulation of transcription, DNA-templated
GO:0006412	Translation
GO:0006413	Translational initiation
GO:0006457	Protein folding
GO:0006511	Ubiquitin-dependent protein catabolic process
GO:0007264	Small GTPase mediated signal transduction
GO:0007267	Cell-cell signaling
GO:0008233	Peptidase activity
GO:0008270	Zinc ion binding
GO:0008794	Arsenate reductase (glutaredoxin) activity
GO:0009408	Response to heat
GO:0009409	Response to cold
GO:0009414	Response to water deprivation
GO:0009414 GO:0009570	Chloroplast stroma
GO:0009579	Thylakoid
GO:0009651	Response to salt stress
GO:0009051 GO:0009733	
GO:0009733 GO:0009737	Response to auxin Response to abscisic acid
GO:0009737 GO:0009739	Response to gibberellin
GO:0009751 GO:0009753	Response to salicylic acid
	Response to jasmonic acid
GO:0009828	Plant-type cell wall loosening
GO:0009873	Ethylene mediated signaling pathway
GO:0010200	Response to chitin
GO:0015031	Protein transport
GO:0015035	Protein disulfide oxidoreductase activity

(Continued)

Table 4	Continued
Table 4	Continued

GO term	Description
GO:0016491	Oxidoreductase activity
GO:0016607	Nuclear speck
GO:0016762	Xyloglucan:xyloglucosyl transferase activity
GO:0022626	Cytosolic ribosome
GO:0022627	Cytosolic small ribosomal subunit
GO:0042254	Ribosome biogenesis
GO:0042742	Defense response to bacterium
GO:0043565	Sequence-specific DNA binding
GO:0045454	Cell redox homeostasis
GO:0045892	Negative regulation of transcription, DNA-templated
GO:0045893	Positive regulation of transcription, DNA-templated
GO:0046686	Response to cadmium ion
GO:0046872	Metal ion binding
GO:0051726	Regulation of cell cycle

The shown terms had a p-value less than 0.001.

2008). Other examples that highlight the role of transcription factors in plant-pathogen interaction are e.g., that a Xanthomonas effector protein targets an ethylene responsive transcription factor (ERF) in tomato to inhibit ethylene induced transcription (Kim et al., 2013) and systemic immunity in barley induced by Xanthomonas and Pseudomonas bacteria may involve WRKY and ERF-like transcription factors (Dey et al., 2014). Further, actin-11 and actin-related proteins involved in actin polymerization and depolymerization are obtained. It is well known that Salmonella translocates effectors into the mammalian host cell in order to interact with actin and e.g., modify the cell cytoskeleton to allow bacterial entry (for review see Schleker et al., 2012). Our analysis revealed growth regulating factor 1 (GRF1)-interacting factor 2, a transcriptional co-activator which is part of a regulatory complex with GRF1 and microRNA (miRNA) 396. MiRNAs are involved in plant disease resistance to bacteria and miRNA396 has been shown to be upregulated in plants upon flg22 treatment (Li et al., 2010). Liu et al. (2014) reported that putative GRF1 targets in Arabidopsis are heavily involved in biosynthetic and metabolic pathways, e.g., phenylpropanoid, amino acids and lignin biosynthesis as well as plant hormone signal transduction indicating the role of GRF1 in plant defense mechanisms. Other examples of predicted interactions and more details of their possible relevance in Salmonella-plant interplay are discussed in the accompanying paper (Schleker et al., 2015).

5.3. LIMITATIONS AND FUTURE WORK

In this paper, we addressed the challenge of predicting the *Salmonella-Arabidopsis* interactome in the absence of any experimentally known interactions. Previous work in this area was based purely on homology between human and *Arabidopsis* proteins and was therefore limited to proteins that do display sequence similarity. Due to the large divergence between the two organisms, this approach neglects a large fraction of potential *Arabidopsis* targets. We therefore presented here three different sophisticated computational and machine learning methods to

predict hereto unknown *Salmonella*-plant interactions from a relatively small list of known *Salmonella*-human interactions. This is a very challenging task because it is not possible to quantitatively validate the predictions. Nonetheless, the predictions provide a gold-mine for discovery because they provide experimentally testable hypotheses on the communication mechanisms between plant and *Salmonella* without restriction to known effectors in the pathogen or sequences of similarity to those observed in better studied eukaryotic organisms. With these advantages comes a set of limitations to be aware of.

Since machine learning methods need some known interactions to evaluate the models on, and to pick the best set of predictions, their application in the current paper has limitations. For example, we can obtain different predictions from our methods by varying the parameters, especially the class skew (we studied the ratios 1:100 and 1:500 in this paper). Because there are currently no known *Salmonella*-plant interactions, we are not able to quantify which of these sets of predictions is more reliable. Augmenting the predictions with some other biological information from the target task can help in picking the most plausible PPIs. This is a direction for future research. Further,

- 1. The interactome predicted by each method is not the true interactome, but is a set of predictions. There will be false positive and false negative interactions. Thus, each individual prediction has to be considered a hypothesis not a fact.
- 2. In line with point 1 above, the size of the predicted interactomes does not necessarily relate to the true interactome. We dont know how many interactions to expect. Our different predictions vary greatly in size, with one method predicting only one thousand interactions, while others predict more than 100,000 interactions. While it is more likely that smaller numbers of interactions are more likely, it does not mean that this method is inherently better than the other methods.
- 3. The size of the predicted interactions list also depends on a critical parameter, the positive to negative class ratio. This parameter is important but it is tuneable, so the methods validity is not dependent on its choice. However, it is important to appreciate that the predictions will differ greatly when this parameter is changed. Thus, biological insight in choosing predictions to validate still needs to be applied, regardless of the prior choice of ratio in generating the model.

These general limitations in the context of the specific results of the models presented here translate to the following issues, pointed out by a reviewer of this paper: The data presented for the KMM-SVM model indicate that 163,644 PPIs are predicted (**Figure 5**). This is of the same order of magnitude as the number of false positives that would be predicted, given the reported false positive rate of the method that indicate \approx 180,000 false positive PPIs would be expected. This raises the possibility that the bulk of the predictions may be false positives. The data presented for the KMM-SVM model also indicates that 25,124 distinct *Arabidopsis* genes participate in PPIs with 31 distinct *Salmonella* genes (**Figure 5**). This implies that 91% of the *Arabidopsis* protein-coding gene complement (TAIR10: 27,416 genes— http://www.arabidopsis.org/portals/genAnnotation/ gene_structural_annotation/annotation_data.jsp) enters into productive interaction with only 31 *Salmonella* proteins. It also implies that, on average, each interacting *Salmonella* protein is capable of productive interaction with over 5000 *Arabidopsis* proteins. It is unlikely that this is the case, again suggesting that a large number of false positives have to be expected.

REFERENCES

- Ashburner, M., Ball, C. A., Blake, J. A., Botstein, D., Butler, H., Cherry, J. M., et al. (2000). Gene ontology: tool for the unification of biology. *Nat. Genet.* 25, 25–29. doi: 10.1038/75556
- Barrett, T., Troup, D. B., Wilhite, S. E., Ledoux, P., Evangelista, C., Kim, I. F., et al. (2011). Ncbi geo: archive for functional genomics data sets 10 years on. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 39, D1005–D1010. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkq1184
- Berger, C. N., Brown, D. J., Shaw, R. K., Minuzzi, F., Feys, B., and Frankel, G. (2011). Salmonella enterica strains belonging to O serogroup 1,3,19 induce chlorosis and wilting of Arabidopsis thaliana leaves. Environ. Microbiol. 13, 1299–1308. doi: 10.1111/j.1462-2920.2011.02429.x
- Berriz, G. F., King, O. D., Bryant, B. Sander, C., and Roth, F. P. (2003). Characterizing gene sets with funcAssociate. *Bioinformatics* 19, 2502–2504. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/btg363
- Dey, S., Wenig, M., Langen, G., Sharma, S., Kugler, K., Knappe, C., et al. (2014). Bacteria-triggered systemic immunity in barley appears to be associated with WRKY and ethylene responsive factors but not with salicylic acid. *Plant Physiol.* 166:114. doi: 10.1104/pp.114.249276
- Du, Z., Li, L., Chen, C.-F., Philip, S. Y., and Wang, J. Z. (2009). G-SESAME: web tools for GO-term-based gene similarity analysis and knowledge discovery. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 37, W345–W349. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkp463
- Dyer, M., Murali, T., and Sobral, B. (2007). Computational prediction of host-pathogen protein-protein interactions. *Bioinformatics* 23, i159–i166. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/btm208
- Dyer, M., Murali, T., and Sobral, B. (2011). Supervised learning and prediction of physical interactions between human and hiv proteins. *Infection. Genet. Evol.* 11, 917–923. doi: 10.1016/j.meegid.2011.02.022
- Hernandez-Reyes, C., and Schikora, A. (2013). Salmonella, a cross-kingdom pathogen infecting humans and plants. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.* 343, 1–7. doi: 10.1111/1574-6968.12127
- Huang, J., Smola, A., Gretton, A., Borgwardt, K., and Scholkopf, B. (2007). Correcting sample selection bias by unlabeled data. *Neural Inf. Proc. Syst.* 601–608.
- Iniguez, A., Dong, Y., Carter, H., Ahmer, B., Stone, J., and Triplett, E. (2005). Regulation of enteric endophytic bacterial colonization by plant defenses. *Mole. Plant Microbe Interact.* 18, 169–178. doi: 10.1094/MPMI-18-0169
- Joachims, T. (1999). Transductive inference for text classification using support vector machines. *ICML*. 200–209.
- Joachims, T. (2008). Svmlight. Availabe online at: http://svmlight.joachims.org/.
- Kim, J., Stork, W., and Mudgett, M. (2013). Xanthomonas type iii effector xopd desumoylates tomato transcription factor slerf4 to suppress ethylene responses and promote pathogen growth. *Cell Host Microbe* 13, 143–154. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2013.01.006
- Kirzinger, M. W. B., Nadarasah, G., and Stavrinides, J. (2011). Insights into cross-kingdom plant pathogenic bacteria. *Genes* 2, 980–997. doi: 10.3390/genes2040980
- Kshirsagar, M., Carbonell, J., and Klein-Seetharaman, J. (2012). Techniques to cope with missing data in host-pathogen protein interaction prediction. *Bioinformatics* 28, i466–i472. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/bts375
- Lamesch, P., Berardini, T. Z., Li, D., Swarbreck, D., Wilks, C., Sasidharan, R., et al. (2012). The Arabidopsis Information Resource (TAIR) improved gene annotation and new tools. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 40, D1202–D1210. doi: 10.1093/nar/ gkr1090
- Li, Y., Zhang, Q., Zhang, J., Wu, L., Qi, Y., and Zhou, J.-M. (2010). Identification of micrornas involved in pathogen-associated molecular pattern-triggered plant innate immunity. *Plant Physiol.* 152, 2222–2231. doi: 10.1104/pp.109. 151803
- Liu, J., Rice, J. H., Chen, N., Baum, T. J., and Hewezi, T. (2014). Synchronization of developmental processes and defense signaling by growth regulating transcription factors. *PLoS ONE* 9:e98477. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0098477

- Mukhtar, M. S., Carvunis, A.-R., Dreze, M., Epple, P., Steinbrenner, J., Moore, J., et al. (2011). Independently evolved virulence effectors converge onto hubs in a plant immune system network. *Science* 333, 596–601. doi: 10.1126/science.1203659
- Ostlund, G., Schmitt, T., Forslund, K., Kostler, T., Messina, D., Roopra, S., et al. (2010). Inparanoid 7: new algorithms and tools for eukaryotic orthology analysis. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 38, D196–D203. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkp931
- Prasad, T. S. K., Goel, R., Kandasamy, K., Keerthikumar, S., Kumar, S., Mathivanan, S., et al. (2009). Human protein reference database—2009 update. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 3, D767–D772. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkn892
- Schikora, A., Carreri, A., Charpentier, E., and Hirt, H. (2008). The dark side of the salad: Salmonella typhimurium overcomes the innate immune response of arabidopsis thaliana and shows an endopathogenic lifestyle. *PLoS ONE* 3:e2279. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0002279
- Schikora, A., Virlogeux-Payant, I., Bueso, E., Garcia, A., Nilau, T., Charrier, A., et al. (2011). Conservation of salmonella infection mechanisms in plants and animals. *PLoS ONE* 6:e24112. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0024112
- Schleker, S., Kshirsagar, M., and Klein-Seetharaman, J. (2015). Comparing humansalmonella and plant-salmonella protein-protein interaction predictions. *Front. Microbiol.* 6:45. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2015.00045
- Schleker, S., Sun, J., Raghavan, B., Srnec, M., Müller, N., Koepfinger, M., et al. (2012). The current salmonella-host interactome. *Proteom. Clin. Appl.* 6, 117–133. doi: 10.1002/prca.201100083
- Sharan, R., Suthram, S., Kelley, R. M., Kuhn, T., McCuine, S., Uetz, P., et al. (2005). Conserved patterns of protein interaction in multiple species. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 102, 1974–1979. doi: 10.1073/pnas.04095 22102
- Shen, J., Zhang, J., Luo, X., Zhu, W., Yu, K., Chen, K., et al. (2007). Predicting protein-protein interactions based only on sequences information. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 104, 4337–4341. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0607879104
- Shirron, N., and Yaron, S. (2011). Active suppression of early immune response in tobacco by the human pathogen salmonella typhimurium. *PLoS ONE* 6:e18855. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0018855

- Sonnenburg, S., Rätsch, G., Henschel, S., Widmer, C., Behr, J., Zien, A., et al. (2010). The SHOGUN machine learning toolbox. *J. Mach. Learn. Res.* 11, 1799–1802. Availble online at: http://www.shogun-toolbox.org.
- Sugiyama, M., Nakajima, S., Kashima, H., Buenau, P., and Kawanabe, M. (2008). Direct importance estimation with model selection and its application to covariate shift adaptation. *Neural Info. Proc. Syst.* 1433–1440.
- Tastan, O., Qi, Y., Carbonell, J. G., and Klein-Seetharaman, J. (2009). Prediction of interactions between hiv-1 and human proteins by information integration. *Pac. Symp. Biocomput.* 14, 516–527.
- Tekir, S. D., Çakir, T., and Ülgen, K. Ö. (2012). Infection strategies of bacterial and viral pathogens through pathogen–human protein–protein interactions. *Front. Microbiol.* 3:46. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2012.00046
- The UniProt Consortium (2014). Activities at the Universal protein resource (UniProt). *Nucleic Acids Res.* 42, D191–D198. doi: 10.1093/nar/ gkt1140

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 09 September 2014; accepted: 12 January 2015; published online: 02 February 2015.

Citation: Kshirsagar M, Schleker S, Carbonell J and Klein-Seetharaman J (2015) Techniques for transferring host-pathogen protein interactions knowledge to new tasks. Front. Microbiol. 6:36. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2015.00036

This article was submitted to Plant-Microbe Interaction, a specialty of Frontiers in Microbiology.

Copyright © 2015 Kshirsagar, Schleker, Carbonell and Klein-Seetharaman. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Comparing human–*Salmonella* with plant–*Salmonella* protein–protein interaction predictions

Sylvia Schleker^{1,2}*, Meghana Kshirsagar³ and Judith Klein-Seetharaman¹

¹ Klein-Seetharaman Laboratory, Division of Metabolic and Vascular Health, Warwick Medical School, University of Warwick, Coventry, UK

² Department of Molecular Phytomedicine, Institute of Crop Science and Resource Conservation, University of Bonn, Bonn, Germany

³ Language Technologies Institute, School of Computer Science, Carnegie Mellon University, Pittsburgh, PA, USA

Edited by:

Nicola Holden, The James Hutton Institute, UK

Reviewed by:

Eric Kemen, Max Planck Institute for Plant Breeding Research, Germany Leighton Pritchard, James Hutton Institute, UK

*Correspondence:

Sylvia Schleker, Klein-Seetharaman Laboratory, Division of Metabolic and Vascular Health, Warwick Medical School, University of Warwick, Gibbet Hill, Coventry CV4 7AL, UK; Department of Molecular Phytomedicine, Institute of Crop Science and Resource Conservation, University of Bonn, Karlrobert-Kreiten-Strasse 13, 53115 Bonn, Germany e-mail: sylvia.schleker@warwick. ac.uk Salmonellosis is the most frequent foodborne disease worldwide and can be transmitted to humans by a variety of routes, especially via animal and plant products. Salmonella bacteria are believed to use not only animal and human but also plant hosts despite their evolutionary distance. This raises the question if Salmonella employs similar mechanisms in infection of these diverse hosts. Given that most of our understanding comes from its interaction with human hosts, we investigate here to what degree knowledge of Salmonella-human interactions can be transferred to the Salmonella-plant system. Reviewed are recent publications on analysis and prediction of Salmonella-host interactomes. Putative protein-protein interactions (PPIs) between Salmonella and its human and Arabidopsis hosts were retrieved utilizing purely interolog-based approaches in which predictions were inferred based on available sequence and domain information of known PPIs, and machine learning approaches that integrate a larger set of useful information from different sources. Transfer learning is an especially suitable machine learning technique to predict plant host targets from the knowledge of human host targets. A comparison of the prediction results with transcriptomic data shows a clear overlap between the host proteins predicted to be targeted by PPIs and their gene ontology enrichment in both host species and regulation of gene expression. In particular, the cellular processes Salmonella interferes with in plants and humans are catabolic processes. The details of how these processes are targeted, however, are quite different between the two organisms, as expected based on their evolutionary and habitat differences. Possible implications of this observation on evolution of host-pathogen communication are discussed.

Keywords: host-pathogen interactions, systems biology, prediction, pathways, interactome

INTRODUCTION

Salmonella are Gram-negative bacteria comprising more than 2500 known serovars (Abraham et al., 2012). The pathogen has an unusually broad host range infecting diverse species, including humans, sheep, cows, reptiles, and plants. Salmonella causes severe worldwide health problems in developing as well as developed countries and constitutes one of the main causes of foodborne diseases in humans (World Health Organization, 2014). The bacteria can be transmitted to humans, e.g., through infected animals, contaminated meat, fish, and egg products, water, vegetables, and fruits. Diseases caused by Salmonella are divided into typhoid fever which is caused by S. Typhi and S. Paratyphi and Salmonellosis (diarrheal diseases) caused by a variety of non-typhoidal Salmonella (NTS) serovars, mainly S. Enteritidis and S. Typhimurium. In the USA alone, more than one million cases are reported annually (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2014b). Besides reports on Salmonella outbreaks due to the consumption of contaminated animal products, there are many cases where an outbreak was ascribed to

contaminated vegetables and fruits or processed plant products. For instance, in 2011, the consumption of mung bean sprouts lead to a Salmonellosis outbreak in Germany (Abu Sina et al., 2012). In the USA, 25% of all reported multistate outbreaks of *Salmonella* in 2012 and 2013 have been linked to plant products, e.g., peanut butter, mangoes, and cucumbers (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2014a).

While *Salmonella* may not require active invasion of plant tissue as part of its transmission mechanism, it is now well established that they are able to invade plant cells and proliferate inside plants (Schikora et al., 2008). This makes plants a bona fide host for *Salmonella*, and poses the question to what extent the communication between *Salmonella* and its plant host are related to the better established interaction with the human host. One means of communication between any pathogen and its hosts are via protein–protein interactions (PPIs). *Salmonella*–human interactions, and the question is to what extent the knowledge can be transferred from the human to the plant system. For its mammalian

hosts, it is known that *Salmonella* exerts its pathogenicity by injection of proteins, called effectors, into the host cell. These effectors interact with host proteins and thereby influence host mechanisms for the pathogen's benefit. The best characterized set of *Salmonella* effectors are those encoded on *Salmonella* pathogenicity islands 1 and 2 (SPI-1 and -2). These gene clusters contain the genetic information of the proteins building the type three secretion systems 1 and 2 (TTSS-1 and -2) which *Salmonella* utilizes to translocate the SPI-1 and -2 encoded effectors into the host cell. These effectors then interact with host proteins, the host–pathogen interactome, which is of major importance for the functional interplay between the two organisms.

Here, we will first review the evidence for experimentally demonstrated functional interactions between Salmonella proteins and plant cellular targets (see Evidence for Plants as Bona Fide Hosts for Salmonella). We will then briefly summarize the current state of knowledge on the Salmonella-human interactions (see Known Salmonella-Human Protein-Protein Interactions), which is the best studied host organism and has been extensively reviewed elsewhere (Haraga et al., 2008; McGhie et al., 2009; Heffron et al., 2011; Schleker et al., 2012b). Because the number of known interactions, even for human, is still small, we will then review recent results on the predicted Salmonellahuman entire interactome (see The Salmonella-Human Predicted Interactome), followed by the extrapolation to the plant host (see The Salmonella-Arabidopsis Predicted Interactome). We will then compare the Salmonella-plant interactome with available plant experimental data (see Comparison of Plant-Salmonella PPI Prediction Results with Experimental Data) and finally compare the two host (plant and human) responses with each other (see Comparison of Plant and Human Host Responses to Salmonella Challenge).

EVIDENCE FOR PLANTS AS BONA FIDE HOSTS FOR Salmonella

Although Salmonella is better known as a human and animal pathogen, and the majority of human infections are incurred via animal product routes such as meat and eggs, there is growing evidence that Salmonella actively interacts with plants and utilizes these organisms as alternative hosts making Salmonella a true plant pathogen. Infection studies coupled to fluorescence microscopy demonstrated that Salmonella actively invades the interior of alfalfa sprouts (Gandhi et al., 2001; Dong et al., 2003), lettuce (Klerks et al., 2007b) and enters Arabidopsis cells and propagates there (Schikora et al., 2008). While some infected plants may not always show symptoms of infection (Gandhi et al., 2001; Charkowski et al., 2002; Islam et al., 2004; Barak et al., 2005; Klerks et al., 2007a; Lapidot and Yaron, 2009; Noel et al., 2010; Shirron and Yaron, 2011), a reduction in biomass production, wilting, chlorosis, and death of infected organs has clearly shown that plants can exert disease symptoms due to Salmonella infection (Klerks et al., 2007b; Schikora et al., 2008). Furthermore, contact of Salmonella with plants activates plant defense responses and the expression of pathogenesis-related (PR) genes. Flagella of S. Typhimurium are recognized by plants and the bacteria activate salicylic acid (SA)dependent and -independent defense responses (Iniguez et al.,

2005). Moreover, kinase activity assays and gRT-PCR analysis revealed that S. Typhimurium activates mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) cascades in Arabidopsis. Furthermore, SA, jasmonic acid (JA), and ethylene (ET) signaling pathways contribute to the defense response (Schikora et al., 2008). Several PR genes are upregulated in infected plants including PR1, 2, and 4 and the plant defensin PDF1.2 (Iniguez et al., 2005; Schikora et al., 2008) with the enhanced expression of PR1 being dependent on a functional TTSS-1 (Iniguez et al., 2005). TTSS-1 and -2 effectors are clearly important for Salmonella pathogenicity in plants as evidenced by the observation that mutants compromised in these secretion systems proliferate slower in Arabidopsis compared to the wild type (WT). Further, these mutants seem to be unable to inhibit the plant hypersensitive response (HR; Schikora et al., 2011; Shirron and Yaron, 2011). Thus, functional TTSS-1 and -2 are necessary to suppress plant defense responses implying that Salmonella utilizes the same proteins to communicate with its mammalian and plant hosts.

KNOWN *Salmonella*-HUMAN PROTEIN-PROTEIN INTERACTIONS

Protein-protein interactions constitute an important part of the communication between a host and its pathogen and thus, are fundamental to understanding the biological processes occurring during infection. Interactions between primarily human and Salmonella and their biological significance have been reviewed previously (Haraga et al., 2008; McGhie et al., 2009; Heffron et al., 2011; Schleker et al., 2012b). A recent extensive literature and data base survey, screening more than 2200 journal articles and over 100 databases, revealed that there is relatively little published information available: only 58 direct and 3 indirect PPIs between 22 Salmonella TTSS-1 and -2 effectors and 49 mammalian proteins (including 40 human proteins) could be retrieved by our literature survey (Schleker et al., 2012b). In the meantime two more interactions have been published adding two Salmonella effectors and two human proteins to the list of Salmonella-human interactions (Spano et al., 2011; Odendall et al., 2012). With these interactions Salmonella interferes with a variety of host cellular processes for its benefit. For instance, these PPIs trigger the modification of the actin cytoskeleton, recruitment of vesicles, the formation of the Salmonella containing vacuole (SCV) and tubulation and interfere with cytokine secretion, inflammatory response, antigen presentation by major histocompatibility complexes (MHC) I and II and apoptosis.

THE Salmonella-HUMAN PREDICTED INTERACTOME

Because our knowledge of known *Salmonella*-mammalian interactions is limited, several publications describe the prediction of PPIs between *Salmonella* and human proteins. These include three interolog approaches where putative *Salmonella*-human PPIs are obtained by sequence and/or domain comparison to proteins of known interactions (Krishnadev and Srinivasan, 2011; Arnold et al., 2012; Schleker et al., 2012a). Thus, interolog approaches make use of available information from sequence, domain, and PPI databases. Whereas Krishnadev and Srinivasan (2011) used iPfam and DIP databases as information input to their approach, Arnold et al. (2012) used DIMA 3.0 and SIMAP databases and Schleker et al. (2012a) obtained domain information from iPfam and 3DID databases, protein sequence information from uniprot and known PPIs from BIANA that integrates available data from 10 PPI databases. Due to the fact that the retrieved list of putative Salmonella-human PPIs is unranked, techniques to filter the predictions are needed in order to obtain a subset of interesting and relevant PPIs. In the three interolog studies, the predicted interactions were filtered by different methods according to properties of the Salmonella protein (Krishnadev and Srinivasan, 2011; Schleker et al., 2012a). For example, these properties may include whether the protein contains a predicted transmembrane helix or an extracellular signal peptide (Krishnadev and Srinivasan, 2011), or the predicted list of human interaction candidates was ranked according to the degree of these candidates in the human intraspecies network thereby underlying the assumption that Salmonella effectors tend to interact with host hub proteins (Arnold et al., 2012). Another filtering approach was to apply the GUILD method (Guney and Oliva, 2012; Schleker et al., 2012a). GUILD is a genome-wide network-based prioritization framework based on known human disease genes and disease-gene prioritization algorithms. Thereby, GUILD indicates the putative human target proteins that are involved in human pathology and assigns a score to each target.

Conceptually different from the interolog approaches, Kshirsagar et al. (2012) described a supervised machine learning approach that integrates information from diverse sources, including but not limited to interolog information. Here, the set of known interactions (Schleker et al., 2012b) is used as gold standard and diverse data such as tissue expression, transcriptomic, gene ontology (GO), sequence, and domain information are used as features. In a so-called classification approach, a model is learnt from this gold standard and feature input to differentiate the two classes, interact and not interact. Because not all features are equally well studied, such integration is challenging and many features display what is known as the missing value problem, where values are available only for a subset of the interactions. Kshirsagar et al. (2012) therefore made use of techniques for missing value imputation in order to overcome the problem that often certain attributes are unavailable in the used data sources. Kshirsagar et al. (2012) used data from other related bacterial species, in addition to information from Salmonella. To transfer the information from the other closely related species to Salmonella, protein sequence alignment was carried out to define a measure of similarity between the proteins from the two species. Nearest-neighbor-based methods were then employed to combine such cross-species data. This approach proved superior to prediction techniques using generic imputation methods.

The best scored PPIs of the machine learning approach (score = 1) were with the *Salmonella* effectors SlrP and SspH2. Functional enrichment analysis for GO biological processes revealed that the putative human targets are involved in cellular processes related to, e.g., catabolic processes, proteolysis, cell death, regulation of transcription, regulation of kinase cascades, cytoskeleton organization, and cell cycle. Within the small subset of filtered PPIs obtained by Arnold et al. (2012) in the interolog approach, putative human interactors of SlrP and SspH2 are involved in the same processes as predicted by the

machine learning approach. Whereas these studies concentrated on *Salmonella* TTSS-1 and -2 effectors, Krishnadev and Srinivasan, 2011 and Schleker et al. (2012a) additionally looked for putative interactions with any *Salmonella* protein and *Salmonella* virulence factor, respectively. The top 100 GUILD scored putative human targets were found to function in cell death, immune response, cytokine production and secretion, protein secretion, transport and localization, peptidase activity, and kinase cascades (Schleker et al., 2012a).

THE Salmonella-Arabidopsis PREDICTED INTERACTOME

To our knowledge, to date there has been no report on the experimental identification of any interaction between a Salmonella effector protein and a plant protein. We therefore have to rely on predictions for the time being. The above described interolog approach was also utilized to predict interactions between Salmonella and Arabidopsis (Schleker et al., 2012a). The resulting putative interactome highlighted the Salmonella effectors SptP, SspH1, SspH2, and SlrP as the proteins with the highest number of interactions (hub proteins). Further, a comparison of the putatively targeted human and Arabidopsis proteins indicated that similar processes appear affected by the infection in these two hosts. Considering that the function of more than half of the Arabidopsis protein-coding genes is unknown, this comparison could help to elucidate the biological functions of so far uncharacterized Arabidopsis proteins, for example, to identify pathogen recognition receptors (Schleker et al., 2012a).

The Salmonella-Arabidopsis interactome has also been predicted by several machine learning approaches (Kshirsagar et al., 2015). As no data on known Salmonella-plant PPIs is available, this technique builds a prediction model based on the known Salmonella-human PPIs (Schleker et al., 2012b) and knowledge of plant interactions with other pathogenic bacteria such as E. coli (Kshirsagar et al., 2015). In one approach a two-step procedure involving kernel mean matching (KMM) and a support-vectormachine (SVM) based classifier model was applied to infer high confidence Salmonella-Arabidopsis predictions. The predictions of the five best models were aggregated by taking into account (a) the majority voting for a given protein pair to interact or not and (b) the average probability score indicating the confidence that a predicted PPI occurs. Some of the Arabidopsis proteins of highscoring PPIs are predicted to interact with many different effectors. The number of predicted interactions by the KMM model is very large (\sim 160,000 when using a cut-off of 0.7; see Kshirsagar et al., 2015 and the full list of predictions is available in the supplementary of this paper). Even when using a very stringent cut-off of 0.9 there are \sim 66,000 and 0.98 there are still \sim 6200. Additionally, Kshirsagar et al. (2015) increased the stringency of the prediction model by exchanging the setting of the parameter "ratio between protein interact to non-interact" from 1:100 to 1:500 thereby obtaining a smaller subset of the predicted PPIs assumed to potentially occur with higher confidence (high class skew model). Because these predictions are not experimentally verified, it is very challenging to choose individual predictions. The choice is inherently biased by interest and expertise of the investigator. We have chosen specific pairs of our interest for which there was also supporting evidence in the literature from

the predictions with the aim of demonstrating the utility of the predictions in generating biological hypothesis. Kshirsagar et al. (2015) had performed GO functional term enrichment analysis that has identified general trends, and we here further perform MapMan analysis for the set of \sim 6200 to assist in analysis. From the general trends identified, we then chose specific pairs that are discussed in greater detail. For example, abscisic acid (ABA) insensitive 4 (ABI4) (also predicted by the high class skew model), an ET-responsive transcription factor involved in ABA signaling leading to callose deposition and stomata closure. ABI4 has been reported to thereby mediate resistance against the necrotrophic pathogens Alternaria brassicicola, Plectosphaerella cucumerina, and Sclerotinia sclerotiorum (Guimaraes and Stotz, 2004; Ton and Mauch-Mani, 2004). In the next section, we further interpret the prediction results from the KMM-SVM model from a biological point of view by comparing with published experimental data.

COMPARISON OF PLANT-*Salmonella* PPI PREDICTION RESULTS WITH EXPERIMENTAL DATA

Here, we provide a discussion on the biological significance of the available KMM-SVM model predictions (Kshirsagar et al., 2015) based on comparison with available experimental data. In particular, Schikora et al. (2011) had analyzed the transcriptomic response of Arabidopsis plants infected with four different bacteria: S. Typhimurium WT, a prgH⁻ mutant with deficiency in expression of TTSS-1 genes, Pseudomonas syringae, and E. coli DH5alpha. About 30 Arabidopsis genes were exclusively differentially regulated upon infection with Salmonella. This included, for example, cytoskeleton-associated proteins. When comparing Salmonella WT and the prgH⁻ mutant, a large portion of Ara*bidopsis* genes specifically upregulated in the *prgH⁻* mutant were involved in the ubiquitin-dependent protein degradation process as well as cell wall, defense response and WRKY transcription factor clusters. The KMM-SVM classification approach predicts that proteins involved in these processes are putative targets of Salmonella effectors (Kshirsagar et al., 2015). Examples of how Salmonella interferes with plant defense response, gene activation, and plant metabolism are described below.

Salmonella INTERFERES WITH PLANT BASAL DEFENSE RESPONSE AND GENE ACTIVATION

A basic plant defense response mechanism is the induction of MAPK cascades as well as Ca²⁺ influx into the cell upon recognition of flg22 by the FLS2 (flagellin-sensing 2) receptor. Kinase activation results in phosphorylation of WRKY transcription factors and thus, in the induction of defense genes. Ca²⁺ leads to the activation of Ca²⁺-dependent protein kinases (CDPKs) 4, 5, 6, 11 and the NADPH-oxidase RbohD (respiratory burst oxidase homolog protein D) that triggers a reactive oxygen species (ROS) burst (Segonzac and Zipfel, 2011; Gao and He, 2013). MAPKdependent activation of the plant defense response against S. Typhimurium was demonstrated to be important because MPK3, MPK4, and MPK6 are rapidly activated upon Salmonella infection, and mpk3 and mpk6 mutants reveal accelerated susceptibility toward S. Typhimurium (Schikora et al., 2008). Further, genes coding for calcium-binding proteins have higher expression levels upon Arabidopsis infection with a Salmonella prgH deficiency

mutant compared to the WT (Schikora et al., 2011). Several CDPKs, calcium-binding proteins and (putative) WRKYs are predicted to be targeted by *Salmonella* with the KMM–SVM modeling approach, for instance, CDPK4 and WRKY28. It has been shown that WRKY28 contributes to the induction of oxidative burst as well as the activation of SA-, JA-, and ET-dependent defense signaling pathways (Chen et al., 2013). All three hormone dependent pathways were shown to play a role in defense against *Salmonella* (Iniguez et al., 2005; Schikora et al., 2008).

Mitogen-activated protein kinases are known targets of bacterial effectors. For instance, MPK4 is phosphorylated by the *P. syringae* effector AvrB leading to the induction of the JA signaling pathway. This mechanism has been demonstrated to positively influence the growth of *P. syringae* (Cui et al., 2010). *P. syringae* effector HopF2 which exerts mono-ADP ribosyltransferase activity inhibits MKK5 activity (Wang et al., 2010). The KMM–SVM model predicts an interaction between *Salmonella* effectors and *Arabidopsis* mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase kinase ANP1 (Kshirsagar et al., 2015). ANP1 can be activated by H₂O₂ and induces the MPK3 and MPK6 signaling cascades thereby leading to the expression of defense-related genes (Kovtun et al., 2000).

Other transcription factors predicted to be targeted by *Salmonella* effectors are WRKY46, 53, and 70. Thilmony et al. (2006) found that the pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMP)-inducible transcription factor WRKY53 is significantly downregulated in *P. syringae* infected *Arabidopsis* plants thereby interfering with WRKY53-dependent cellular mechanisms. WRKY53 plays an important role in regulation of plant senescence and defense response as the transcription factor can be directly phosphorylated by MEKK1 (Zentgraf et al., 2010). *Arabidopsis* mutants in *wrky*46, 53, and 70 revealed increased susceptibility toward *P. syringae* leading the authors to the conclusion that these three transcription factors have an overlapping or synergistic role in regulating defense response against *P. syringae* (Hu et al., 2012).

Salmonella IMPACT ON PLANT METABOLISM

The KMM-SVM predictions indicate that S. Typhimurium effectors heavily target Arabidopsis metabolic and biosynthetic processes (Kshirsagar et al., 2015). For visualization, we utilized MapMan (Thimm et al., 2004), a software tool that assigns Arabidopsis proteins to specific plant processes and pathways, to see what metabolic pathways are putatively interfered with by S. Typhimurium effectors. A comparison with available transcriptomic data revealed a clear overlap in the pathways predicted to be targeted by S. Typhimurium effectors (Figure 1A) and those identified to involve genes that are upregulated upon S. Typhimurium prgH⁻ vs. WT infection (Figure 1B; Schikora et al., 2011). In Figure 1A, every small blue square displays one Arabidopsis protein predicted by KMM-SVM to be targeted by one or more S. Typhimurium effectors. In Figure 1B, Arabidopsis genes known to be upregulated during S. Typhimurium $prgH^{-}$ vs. WT infection are visualized by white to blue small squares depending on the degree of upregulation. Thus, the darker blue the square is, the more efficiently this gene is suppressed by S. Typhimurium TTSS-1 effectors. In conclusion, the metabolic processes S. Typhimurium most intensively interferes with include





model (Kshirsagar et al., 2015) and **(B)** *Arabidopsis* genes experimentally identified to be upregulated upon infection with *S*. Typhimurium $prgH^-$ vs. WT (Schikora et al., 2011). Each small square displays a predicted *Arabidopsis* target of *S*. Typhimurium **(A)** or an upregulated *Arabidopsis* gene **(B)**. In **(B)**, the color intensity visualizes the degree of upregulation.

those related to the cell wall, lipids, light reactions, tetrapyrrole, and secondary metabolism of, e.g., terpenes (**Figure 1B**).

Arabidopsis targets of S. Typhimurium effectors predicted with cut-offs of 1

(voting score) and 0.98 (probability aggregated score) by the KMM-SVM

The impact of the pathogen on plant metabolism may be general as parallels can also be found in available data for another pathogen, *P. syringae*. Thilmony et al. (2006) analyzed the transcriptional response of *Arabidopsis* infected with *P. syringae* WT and mutants with deficiencies in expressing COR (coronatine) toxin and/or *hrp*-dependent TTSS effectors. Many of the identified TTSS effector regulated *Arabidopsis* genes are involved in metabolic processes similar to those described for *Salmonella* above. Especially cell wall genes, genes involved in photosynthesis and the Calvin cycle are repressed but also genes involved in secondary metabolism related to phenylpropanoids and terpenes.

COMPARISON OF PLANT AND HUMAN HOST RESPONSES TO *Salmonella* CHALLENGE

One major difference between humans and plants is that plant cells have a cell wall and mammalian cells do not. Thus, the question arises, how Salmonella can overcome this barrier and enter the cytoplasm. Schikora et al. (2008) describe the presence of green fluorescent protein (GFP)-labeled S. Typhimurium inside Arabidopsis root cells and intact protoplasts 3 and 20 h after infection, thereby demonstrating that Salmonella can enter the plant cytoplasm and proliferate there. Plant pathogenic bacteria are known to target the plant cell wall by a variety of enzymes with hydrolytic activity. For example, Pseudomonas viridiflava secretes a pectate lyase (Jakob et al., 2007) and Xanthomonas oryzae produces a xylanase to degrade the cell wall (Rajeshwari et al., 2005). Both are necrotrophic bacterial pathogens. On the other hand, there are reports showing that bacteria can be found inside intact plant cells. For instance, Quadt-Hallmann et al. (1997) detected the endophytic bacterium Enterobacter asburiae inside cotton root cells 6 h after inoculation and hydrolysis of cellulose

at these sites. Another report demonstrated the colonization of banana periplasm and cytoplasm of intact cells by endophytic bacteria (Thomas and Sekhar, 2014). Endosymbiotic bacteria, e.g., Rhizobacteria, are taken up into the plant cytoplasm and are engulfed inside a membrane of plant origin, called the symbiosome membrane. There is evidence that the engulfed organism actively inhibits its degradation through plant cellular mechanisms (Parniske, 2000). This procedure of bacterial internalization and active suppression of degradation reveals similarities to human bacterial pathogens like Salmonella. For the human host, the best described process of how Salmonella enters the cell is driven by the TTSS-1 effectors SipA, SipC, SopA, SopB, SopD, SopE2, and SptP. These effectors induce modification of the actin cytoskeleton, promote membrane ruffling, recruitment of vesicles to the site of Salmonella internalization and rearrangement of the cytoskeleton to its normal shape after engulfment of the pathogen in the SCV (Schleker et al., 2012b). To our knowledge, it is unknown, how Salmonella overcomes the cell wall barrier. The pathogen may secrete cell wall hydrolyzing enzymes and/or interfere with cell wall biogenesis, or it enters a necrotrophic phase and thus kills the plant cells. On the other hand it could as well be that the invaded plant cell stays intact or preferential infection occurs when plant material decays through other processes (Schikora et al., 2011). In favor of the presence of cell wall-modifying mechanisms is evidence from the KMM-SVM modeling approach. It predicts the interaction of Salmonella effectors with Arabidopsis proteins involved in cell wall organization, e.g., xyloglucan endotransglucosylase proteins that are involved in cell wall construction of growing cells. Moreover, Arabidopsis proteins of the Arp2/3 complex that mediates actin polymerization and Actin-11, for instance, are putative Salmonella effector targets involved in cytoskeleton organization (Kshirsagar et al., 2015).

Salmonella EFFECTORS INTERFERE WITH HOST UBIQUITIN PROTEASOME MECHANISMS IN BOTH ORGANISMS

As can be seen in the high-scored KMM–SVM predictions, experimental data and the known human targets of *Salmonella* effectors, host ubiquitin-related cellular processes seem to be targeted by *Salmonella* in both, human and plant hosts.

One central eukaryotic regulatory cellular mechanism involves the attachment of ubiquitin or ubiquitin-like proteins (Ub) to target molecules generally through an enzyme cascade comprising Ub activation by E1, Ub conjugation by E2 and Ub-substrate ligation by E3. In Arabidopsis over 5% of the proteome are proteins involved in the ubiquitination machinery demonstrating its importance (Smalle and Vierstra, 2004). Hundreds of human and plant E3 ligases are proposed to exist which belong to several different known types of E3 ligases which include RINGfinger, HECT, and U-box type single protein E3 ligases as well as multi subunit RING-finger type E3 ligases comprising Cullin-RING and APC/C (anaphase promoting complex/cyclosome) E3 ligases (Zeng et al., 2006; Vierstra, 2009). E3 ligases comprise an E2 binding domain (HECT, U-box, RING-finger) and a target recognition subunit, e.g., F-box. In case of multi subunit E3 ligases additionally a Cullin, an adapter protein and for APC/C other subunits are present. Substrates can be mono- or polyubiquitinated with diverse linkage types between the Ub proteins. The modified proteins are either targeted for proteasomal degradation or play a functional role in diverse processes, e.g., endocytosis, gene expression, DNA repair or NF-kB activation in mammalian cells and, e.g., hormone signaling and defense response in plants.

It is known that pathogens exploit the mammalian and plant Ub system to enable their invasion and survival but so far only a very limited number of host-pathogen interactions within this highly important regulatory process have been described (Groll et al., 2008; Duplan and Rivas, 2014). All of these known interactions of Salmonella are with the mammalian Ub machinery whereas nothing is known on the plant side. There is a large space of putative interactions that remains to be elucidated based on the fact that already four Salmonella effectors are experimentally confirmed E3 ligases (SopA, SlrP, and SspH1 and 2). SopA, a HECT-like E3 ligase, which has been shown to interact with the E2 UbcH7, is known to induce polymorphonuclear neutrophil migration, a process attributed to its Ub ligase activity. However, so far the host targets are unknown (Zhang et al., 2006). The effector itself is ubiquitinated by the host E3 ligase RMA1. Monoubiquitinated SopA is assumed to be involved in Salmonella escape from the SCV and polyubiquitinated SopA is degraded by the host proteasome (Zhang et al., 2005). The E3 ligase SlrP has been shown to ubiquitinate thioredoxin 1 (Bernal-Bayard and Ramos-Morales, 2009) and to interact with ERdj3 (endoplasmic reticulum DNA J domain-containing protein 3; Bernal-Bayard et al., 2010). Both interactions are supposed to induce cell death. It is speculated that the interaction of SlrP with ERdj3 contributes to the inhibition of antigen presentation by MHC-I (Granados et al., 2009; Bernal-Bayard et al., 2010). The interaction of SspH1, an effector possessing E3 ligase activity, with PKN1 (serine/threonine-protein kinase N1) is proposed to inhibit NF-KB and thus IL-8 (interleukin-8) secretion (Haraga and Miller, 2006). SspH2 has been shown to interact with the

E2 UbcH5 and to synthesize K48-linked Ub chains and thus likely targets its substrates for proteasomal degradation (Levin et al., 2010). SspH2 binds filamin A and profilin-1 thereby preventing cross-linking of F-actin and polymerization (Miao et al., 2003). Moreover, SspH2 has been reported to interact with Sgt1 (suppressor of G2 allele of SKP1 homolog), AIP (AH receptorinteracting protein), Bub3 (mitotic checkpoint protein BUB3), 14-3-3y (protein kinase C inhibitor protein 1), and BAG2 (BAG family molecular chaperone regulator 2) but functions of these interactions are not known (Auweter et al., 2011). In addition to this, AvrA and SseL are deubiquitinating Salmonella enzymes that cleave Ub from IkBa and thereby inhibit NF-kB-mediated gene expression (Ye et al., 2007; Le Negrate et al., 2008). Recently, GogB, an effector mimicking a eukaryotic F-box, has been shown to inhibit NF-kB activation through its interaction with a host SCF (Skp-Cullin-F-box) E3 ligase (Pilar et al., 2012). As, for instance, it has been demonstrated that Salmonella enhances the internalization of MHC-II antigens by a ubiquitination event through a so far not identified effector it is possible that other Salmonella E3 ligases remain to be discovered (Lapaque et al., 2009). Furthermore, it can be presumed that many substrates of the known Salmonella E3 ligases are unknown. Moreover, host Ub mechanisms targeting Salmonella effectors as well as Salmonella effectors that mimic other proteins of the host Ub system, e.g., F- or U-box proteins, remain to be found.

Although to date there have not yet been any experimentally confirmed interactions of Salmonella effectors with the plant Ub system, several reports indicate an important role of the plant Ub proteasome system in pathogen defense response in general. About 50 genes involved in the Ub-dependent degradation pathway have been found to be upregulated upon inoculation of Arabidopsis with a S. Typhimurium $prgH^{-}$ mutant compared to the WT control. Thus, Salmonella TTSS-1 effectors hinder the expression of these genes which mainly code for E2 and RING ligases (Schikora et al., 2011). It has been demonstrated that TTSS effectors of other bacterial pathogens also interact with the plant Ub proteasome machinery. One example is the group of Ralstonia solanacearum GALA effectors which are LRR (leucine-rich repeat) F-box proteins that interact with SKP1-like proteins (Angot et al., 2006). Secondly, P. syringae HopM1 targets Arabidopsis proteins and induces their proteasomal degradation. One of these proteins is the guanine nucleotide exchange factor MIN7, which plays a role in vesicle trafficking (Nomura et al., 2006).

The KMM–SVM modeling approach by Kshirsagar et al. (2015) predicts *Salmonella* effectors to interact with E3 ligases, RING proteins, F- and U-box domain containing proteins. The *Salmonella* E3 ligase SspH2 and the deubiquitinase SseL are predicted to interact with a variety of *Arabidopsis* proteins including those, e.g., involved in transcriptional regulation, stimulus and defense response, biosynthetic and metabolic processes, RNA processing, protein localization and transport.

CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE WORK

Due to the lack of direct experimental data on *Salmonella–Arabidopsis* and limited data on the *Salmonella–human* interactions, we here utilized published predictions of these interactomes. This is of course a limitation as we cannot

ascertain the reliability of the predictions without further testing. However, the predictions for human were statistically evaluated quantitatively using the gold standard data, giving us some confidence. One popular measure for evaluation is the F1 score, which can be interpreted as a weighted average of the precision and recall, where an F1 score reaches its best value at 1 and worst score at 0. For our Salmonella-human predictions the F1 score was 74 (Kshirsagar et al., 2012). This value compares favorably with other performances, such as for HIV-human interactions reported at 54 (Dyer et al., 2011). We cannot do this for Arabidopsis, but the overlap between our predictions and previous experimental studies especially using transcriptomics and cell signaling support the biological relevance of the predictions. However, often the same interactions are predicted for several Salmonella effectors, hinting at the functional importance of the host protein targeted, but the actual pairs of interacting proteins may not be true. Furthermore, missing information for many proteins makes it challenging to generate predictions for such proteins. This introduces the bias of predicting interactions for relatively better studied proteins and pathways. Ultimately, only the experiments can verify if a predicted interaction is real or not. The benefit in the prediction approach lies in the generation of biological hypotheses that are experimentally testable, vastly narrowing the search space for new interactions.

From the current state of knowledge it is also difficult to judge how similar or different Salmonella is compared to a bona fide plant pathogen. Nevertheless, Salmonella triggers plant processes typical for plant pathogens as reviewed above. While interpreting the Salmonella-Arabidopsis predictions, we in some cases made comparisons with the plant pathogen P. syringae and its interaction with Arabidopsis. This is mainly due to the fact that the interaction between P. syringae and Arabidopsis is a wellstudied model system for which data is available. Looking at the lifestyle of both bacteria, Salmonella as well as P. syringae colonize the plant apoplast and make use of TTSS and effectors. As we focus here on the interaction of Salmonella effectors with plant proteins, we think that comparing the interplay of both bacteria with Arabidopsis on this level is possible. One obvious difference between the two organisms in plants is that Salmonella has been found inside root cells and P. syringae only in the intercellular space. This may point at a difference in infection strategies. This is supported by a transcriptomic analysis where a small set of Arabidopsis genes is only differentially regulated in response to Salmonella but not P. syringae (Schikora et al., 2011). Interestingly, Pseudomonas bacteria (most likely non-pathogenic) have been detected in the plant cytosol (Pirttilä et al., 2000) indicating that bacteria of this genus are capable of entering the plant cell. Casadevall (2008) proposes that it might well be that intracellular survival of microbes is an ancient and common mechanism of microbes rather than an exception. Thus, it may be speculated that P. syringae lost the ability to invade the plant cytosol and/or the plant evolved effective means to prevent internalization.

The predictions, known interactions and experimental data reviewed here indicate that *Salmonella* partly targets the same cellular processes in both hosts. For example, *Salmonella* effectors interfere with proteins of the ubiquitin degradation pathway in *Arabidopsis* and human and moreover, *Salmonella* effectors are E3 ligases, deubiquitinases, and F-box mimicking enzymes with specific functions in both hosts. Although the same type of cellular machinery is targeted and utilized, Salmonella seems to do it differently in human compared to Arabidopsis. For example, as reviewed above, in the human host Salmonella inhibits the immune response, e.g., by interfering with transcription factor NF-kB mediated gene expression, whereas in Arabidopsis expression of defense-related genes may be suppressed by targeting plant transcription factors like ERF2 and ERF094 (ET responsive transcription factor 2 and ERF094) as obtained from the predictions (also predicted by high class skew model). Differences in the way of interfering with the same cellular processes or achieving similar functions in both hosts may be due to several possibilities: (i) the bacterium has adapted to target those pathways differently in each host type, (ii) the bacterium acts elsewhere in the host, and the catabolic response to those changes is common to both hosts, (iii) the catabolic response is generic, and independent of bacterial action, (iv) the bacterium targets those pathways in one host, but not the other, but the second host's response looks similar to the result of targeting that pathway in the first host (either as a result of targeting elsewhere, or a generic response).

When comparing interaction mechanisms of Salmonella with its human, animal, and plant hosts, one obvious question is, whether one of these was the primary host or whether a coevolution occurred. It has been proposed that Salmonella evolution took place in five phases starting from a common ancestor about 25-40 million years ago (Bäumler et al., 1998; Porwollik et al., 2002). First, Salmonella separated from E. coli. This was accompanied by the acquisition of possibly about 500 genes including SPI-1 genes. Next, S. enterica diverged from S. bongori and gained-among others-the SPI-2 genes. In a third phase, diphasic S. enterica strains occurred and in phase four, S. enterica spp. I, which includes S. Typhi and S. Paratyphi, separated from the other spp. recruiting genes for adaptation to warm-blooded hosts. In a last phase, S. Typhimurium evolved and recruited about 140 genes the functions of which are mostly unknown. In total, more than 900 S. Typhimurium LT2 genes were identified that are not present in the genomes of the enterobacteria E. coli K12 and O157:H7, K. pneumoniae MGH 78578 and Y. pestis CO92 (Porwollik et al., 2002). Despite this evolutionary development, beside S. enterica other human-pathogenic enterobacteria like E. coli can colonize plants and thus use plants as vectors for transmission to its animal and human hosts (Javaraman et al., 2014). It has been shown that during interaction of S. enterica and E. coli O157:H7 with Medicago truncatula about 30% of the plant genes are commonly regulated by both pathogens (Javaraman et al., 2014) indicating that both pathogens to some extent provoke the same plant response. Barak et al. (2009) identified two S. enterica genes that play a role in swarming and biofilm formation and are important for plant colonization. Homologous genes have been found in plant-associated bacteria, e.g., Agrobacterium tumefaciens, Ralstonia solanacearum, and P. syringae, but not in E. coli (Barak et al., 2009). From a practical point of view it may be favorable for enteropathogenic bacteria like Salmonella to be able to use plants as secondary host for survival and transmission to its animal host. Thus, a co-evolution with both hosts would be

likely. Interestingly, it has been reported that there is only a 5% overlap between the Salmonella promoters induced during infection of tomato compared to infection of macrophages (Teplitski et al., 2009) demonstrating that the majority of genes Salmonella utilizes in its animal and plant hosts are different. Moreover, there is evidence that the response of plants varies dependent on the Salmonella serovar that infects the plant (Berger et al., 2011) possibly indicating that genetic differences are the reason. Last but not least, it has been demonstrated that Salmonella is recognized by its plant hosts and the acquired TTSS-1 and -2 play an important role in suppressing plant defense response. Thus, it is obvious that Salmonella utilizes the same TTSS to interfere with defense response in its animal and plant hosts but so far it is uncertain which effectors Salmonella utilizes in the plant host. Further investigations will help to gain more insight into the evolution of Salmonella with respect to the pathogen's ability to infect plants.

Beside the above-discussed difference that plants have and animal cells do not have a cell wall, another difference *Salmonella* has to face is the temperature. While the human body temperature is nearly constant around 37°C, the temperature of plants varies greatly according to the temperature of the environment. It is known that *Salmonella* is able to adapt to different environmental conditions by, e.g., sensing changes in pH and temperature and adjusting gene regulation accordingly. A variety of these regulatory mechanisms involve the expression of virulence genes. For instance, the promoters of *Salmonella* virulence genes *orgA*, *pagC*, *prgH*, and *spvA* reveal related sequence motifs to the *tlpA* promoter which is specifically activated upon temperature increase (Clements et al., 2001).

In conclusion, plants play an important role in the transmission of Salmonella infections and mounting evidence supports the notion that they constitute a bona fide host for Salmonella. As such, Salmonella can infect plants and initiates a two-way communication of plant response to invasion and Salmonella defense against this response and exploitation of resources. Communication is clearly via PPIs, but to date, the only known (experimentally confirmed) interactions involve mammalian proteins, especially human, and even those are very small in number due to the limited number of studies carried out in this field to date. We therefore focused this review on current approaches to prediction of the full interactome between human and Salmonella proteins and its extension to prediction of the interactome with Arabidopsis as a plant host. We find that there is significant overlap in the pathways predicted to be targeted by *Salmonella* in both hosts despite their evolutionary distance, while there are also distinct and hostspecific responses. These involve in particular plant biosynthetic pathways not available in the human host and the complex human immune system response not available in plants. It is likely that the fundamental mechanisms of interference are highly related and particularly striking is the prevalence of predicted binding partners relating to the ubiquitin degradation system in both hosts. These predictions provide a rich source of experimentally testable hypotheses that can speed up scientific discovery of both the main-stream human host response as well as the niche hostpathogen interaction pair involving the newly discovered plant host for Salmonella.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank the reviewers for their highly appreciated comments and suggestions. This work was funded by the Federal Ministry of Education and Research (BMBF), partner of the ERASysBio+ initiative supported under the EU ERA-NET Plus scheme in FP7.

REFERENCES

- Abraham, A., Al-Khaldi, S., Assimon, S. A., Beaudry, C., Benner, R. A., Bennett, R., et al. (2012). Bad Bug Book—Foodborne Pathogenic Microorganisms and Natural Toxins Handbook. Silver Spring: U.S. Food and Drug Administration.
- Abu Sina, M., Alpers, K., Askar, M., Bernhard, H., Buchholz, U., Brodhun, B., et al. (2012). *Infektionsepidemiologisches Jahrbuch meldepflichtiger Krankheiten für 2011*. Berlin: Robert Koch-Institut.
- Angot, A., Peeters, N., Lechner, E., Vailleau, F., Baud, C., Gentzbittel, L., et al. (2006). *Ralstonia solanacearum* requires F-box-like domain-containing type III effectors to promote disease on several host plants. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 103, 14620–14625. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0509393103
- Arnold, R., Boonen, K., Sun, M. G., and Kim, P. M. (2012). Computational analysis of interactomes: current and future perspectives for bioinformatics approaches to model the host–pathogen interaction space. *Methods* 57, 508– 518. doi: 10.1016/j.ymeth.2012.06.011
- Auweter, S. D., Bhavsar, A. P., De Hoog, C. L., Li, Y., Chan, Y. A., Van Der Heijden, J., et al. (2011). Quantitative mass spectrometry catalogues *Salmonella* pathogenicity island-2 effectors and identifies their cognate host binding partners. *J. Biol. Chem.* 286, 24023–24035. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.224600
- Barak, J. D., Gorski, L., Liang, A. S., and Narm, K. E. (2009). Previously uncharacterized Salmonella enterica genes required for swarming play a role in seedling colonization. *Microbiology* 155, 3701–3709. doi: 10.1099/mic.0.032029-0
- Barak, J. D., Gorski, L., Naraghi-Arani, P., and Charkowski, A. O. (2005). Salmonella enterica virulence genes are required for bacterial attachment to plant tissue. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 71, 5685–5691. doi: 10.1128/AEM.71.10.5685-5691.2005
- Bäumler, A. J., Tsolis, R. M., Ficht, T. A., and Adams, L. G. (1998). Evolution of host adaptation in Salmonella enterica. Infect. Immun. 66, 4579–4587.
- Berger, C. N., Brown. D. J., Shaw, R. K., Minuzzi, F., Feys, B., and Frankel, G. (2011). Salmonella enterica strains belonging to O serogroup 1,3,19 induce chlorosis and wilting of Arabidopsis thaliana leaves. Environ. Microbiol. 13, 1299–1308. doi: 10.1111/j.1462-2920.2011.02429.x
- Bernal-Bayard, J., Cardenal-Munoz, E., and Ramos-Morales, F. (2010). The Salmonella type III secretion effector, Salmonella leucine-rich repeat protein (SIrP), targets the human chaperone ERdj3. J. Biol. Chem. 285, 16360–16368. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110.100669
- Bernal-Bayard, J., and Ramos-Morales, F. (2009). Salmonella type III secretion effector SIrP is an E3 ubiquitin ligase for mammalian thioredoxin. J. Biol. Chem. 284, 27587–27595. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.010363
- Casadevall, A. (2008). Evolution of intracellular pathogens. *Annu. Rev. Microbiol.* 62, 19–33. doi: 10.1146/annurev.micro.61.080706.093305
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2014a). *Reports of Selected Salmonella Outbreak Investigations* [Online]. Atlanta: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Available at: http://www.cdc.gov/salmonella/outbreaks.html [accessed March, 2014].
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2014b). *Trends in Foodborne Illness in the United States* [Online]. Atlanta: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Available at: http://www.cdc.gov/foodborneburden/trends-in-foodborne-illness.html [accessed March, 2014].
- Charkowski, A. O., Barak, J. D., Sarreal, C. Z., and Mandrell, R. E. (2002). Differences in growth of Salmonella enterica and Escherichia coli O157: H7 on alfalfa sprouts. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 68, 3114–3120. doi: 10.1128/AEM.68.6.3114-3120.2002
- Chen, X., Liu, J., Lin, G., Wang, A., Wang, Z., and Lu, G. (2013). Overexpression of AtWRKY28 and AtWRKY75 in *Arabidopsis* enhances resistance to oxalic acid and *Sclerotinia sclerotiorum*. *Plant Cell Rep.* 32, 1589–1599. doi: 10.1007/s00299-013-1469-3
- Clements, M., Eriksson, S., Tezcan-Merdol, D., Hinton, J. C., and Rhen, M. (2001). Virulence gene regulation in *Salmonella enterica*. *Ann. Med.* 33, 178–185. doi: 10.3109/07853890109002075

- Cui, H., Wang, Y., Xue, L., Chu, J., Yan, C., Fu, J., et al. (2010). *Pseudomonas syringae* effector protein AvrB perturbs *Arabidopsis* hormone signaling by activating MAP kinase 4. *Cell Host Microbe* 7, 164–175. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2010. 01.009
- Dong, Y. M., Iniguez, A. L., Ahmer, B. M. M., and Triplett, E. W. (2003). Kinetics and strain specificity of rhizosphere and endophytic colonization by enteric bacteria on seedlings of *Medicago sativa* and *Medicago truncatula*. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 69, 1783–1790. doi: 10.1128/AEM.69.3.1783-1790.2003
- Duplan, V., and Rivas, S. (2014). E3 ubiquitin-ligases and their target proteins during the regulation of plant innate immunity. *Front. Plant Sci.* 5:42. doi: 10.3389/fpls.2014.00042
- Dyer, M. D., Murali, T. M., and Sobral, B. W. (2011). Supervised learning and prediction of physical interactions between human and HIV proteins. *Infect. Genet. Evol.* 11, 917–923. doi: 10.1016/j.meegid.2011.02.022
- Gandhi, M., Golding, S., Yaron, S., and Matthews, K. R. (2001). Use of green fluorescent protein expressing *Salmonella* Stanley to investigate survival, spatial location, and control on alfalfa sprouts. *J. Food Prot.* 64, 1891–1898.
- Gao, X., and He, P. (2013). Nuclear dynamics of *Arabidopsis* calcium-dependent protein kinases in effector-triggered immunity. *Plant Signal. Behav.* 8:e23868. doi: 10.4161/psb.23868
- Granados, D. P., Tanguay, P. L., Hardy, M. P., Caron, E., De Verteuil, D., Meloche, S., et al. (2009). ER stress affects processing of MHC class I-associated peptides. *BMC Immunol.* 10:10. doi: 10.1186/1471-2172-10-10
- Groll, M., Schellenberg, B., Bachmann, A. S., Archer, C. R., Huber, R., Powell, T. K., et al. (2008). A plant pathogen virulence factor inhibits the eukaryotic proteasome by a novel mechanism. *Nature* 452, 755–758. doi: 10.1038/nature06782
- Guimaraes, R. L., and Stotz, H. U. (2004). Oxalate production by *Sclerotinia sclerotiorum* deregulates guard cells during infection. *Plant Physiol.* 136, 3703–3711. doi: 10.1104/pp.104.049650
- Guney, E., and Oliva, B. (2012). Exploiting protein–protein interaction networks for genome-wide disease-gene prioritization. *PLoS ONE* 7:e43557. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0043557
- Haraga, A., and Miller, S. I. (2006). A Salmonella type III secretion effector interacts with the mammalian serine/threonine protein kinase PKN1. Cell. Microbiol. 8, 837–846. doi: 10.1111/j.1462-5822.2005.00670.x
- Haraga, A., Ohlson, M. B., and Miller, S. I. (2008). Salmonellae interplay with host cells. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* 6, 53–66. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro1788
- Heffron, F., Nieman, G., Yoon, H., Kidwai, A., Brown, R. N. E., Mcdermott, J. D., et al. (2011). "Salmonella-secreted virulence factors," in Salmonella: From Genome to Function, ed. S. Porwollik (Norfolk: Caister Academic Press), 187–223.
- Hu, Y., Dong, Q., and Yu, D. (2012). Arabidopsis WRKY46 coordinates with WRKY70 and WRKY53 in basal resistance against pathogen Pseudomonas syringae. *Plant Sci.* 185-186, 288–297. doi: 10.1016/j.plantsci.2011.12.003
- Iniguez, A. L., Dong, Y. M., Carter, H. D., Ahmer, B. M. M., Stone, J. M., and Triplett, E. W. (2005). Regulation of enteric endophytic bacterial colonization by plant defenses. *Mol. Plant Microbe Interact.* 18, 169–178. doi: 10.1094/MPMI-18-0169
- Islam, M., Morgan, J., Doyle, M. P., Phatak, S. C., Millner, P., and Jiang, X. P. (2004). Fate of *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium on carrots and radishes grown in fields treated with contaminated manure composts or irrigation water. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 70, 2497–2502. doi: 10.1128/AEM.70.4.2497-2502.2004
- Jakob, K., Kniskern, J. M., and Bergelson, J. (2007). The role of pectate lyase and the jasmonic acid defense response in *Pseudomonas viridiflava* virulence. *Mol. Plant Microbe Interact.* 20, 146–158. doi: 10.1094/MPMI-20-2-0146
- Jayaraman, D., Valdés-López, O., Kaspar, C. W., and Ané, J. M. (2014). Response of *Medicago truncatula* seedlings to colonization by *Salmonella enterica* and *Escherichia coli* O157:H7. *PLoS ONE* 9:e87970. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0087970
- Klerks, M. M., Franz, E., Van Gent-Pelzer, M., Zijlstra, C., and Van Bruggen, A. H. C. (2007a). Differential interaction of *Salmonella enterica* serovars with lettuce cultivars and plant–microbe factors influencing the colonization efficiency. *ISME J.* 1, 620–631. doi: 10.1038/ismej.2007.82
- Klerks, M. M., Van Gent-Pelzer, M., Franz, E., Zijlstra, C., and Van Bruggen, A. H. (2007b). Physiological and molecular responses of *Lactuca sativa* to colonization by *Salmonella enterica* serovar Dublin. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 73, 4905–4914. doi: 10.1128/AEM.02522-06
- Kovtun, Y., Chiu, W. L., Tena, G., and Sheen, J. (2000). Functional analysis of oxidative stress-activated mitogen-activated protein kinase cascade in plants. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 97, 2940–2945. doi: 10.1073/pnas.97.6.2940

- Krishnadev, O., and Srinivasan, N. (2011). Prediction of protein–protein interactions between human host and a pathogen and its application to three pathogenic bacteria. *Int. J. Biol. Macromol.* 48, 613–619. doi: 10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2011.01.030
- Kshirsagar, M., Carbonell, J., and Klein-Seetharaman, J. (2012). Techniques to cope with missing data in host–pathogen protein interaction prediction. *Bioinformatics* 28, i466–i472. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/bts375
- Kshirsagar, M., Schleker, S., Carbonell, J., and Klein-Seetharaman, J. (2015). Techniques for transferring host–pathogen protein interactions knowledge to new tasks. *Front. Microbiol.* 6:36. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2015.00036
- Lapaque, N., Hutchinson, J. L., Jones, D. C., Meresse, S., Holden, D. W., Trowsdale, J., et al. (2009). Salmonella regulates polyubiquitination and surface expression of MHC class II antigens. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 106, 14052–14057. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0906735106
- Lapidot, A., and Yaron, S. (2009). Transfer of *Salmonella enterica* Serovar Typhimurium from contaminated irrigation water to parsley is dependent on curli and cellulose, the biofilm matrix components. *J. Food Prot.* 72, 618–623.
- Le Negrate, G., Faustin, B., Welsh, K., Loeffler, M., Krajewska, M., Hasegawa, P., et al. (2008). Salmonella secreted factor L deubiquitinase of Salmonella typhimurium inhibits NF-kappaB, suppresses IkappaBalpha ubiquitination and modulates innate immune responses. J. Immunol. 180, 5045–5056. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.180.7.5045
- Levin, I., Eakin, C., Blanc, M. P., Klevit, R. E., Miller, S. I., and Brzovic, P. S. (2010). Identification of an unconventional E3 binding surface on the UbcH5 ~ Ub conjugate recognized by a pathogenic bacterial E3 ligase. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 107, 2848–2853. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0914821107
- McGhie, E. J., Brawn, L. C., Hume, P. J., Humphreys, D., and Koronakis, V. (2009). Salmonella takes control: effector-driven manipulation of the host. Curr. Opin. Microbiol. 12, 117–124. doi: 10.1016/j.mib.2008.12.001
- Miao, E. A., Brittnacher, M., Haraga, A., Jeng, R. L., Welch, M. D., and Miller, S. I. (2003). Salmonella effectors translocated across the vacuolar membrane interact with the actin cytoskeleton. Mol. Microbiol. 48, 401–415. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2958.2003.t01-1-03456.x
- Noel, J. T., Arrach, N., Alagely, A., Mcclelland, M., and Teplitski, M. (2010). Specific responses of *Salmonella enterica* to tomato varieties and fruit ripeness identified by in vivo expression technology. *PLoS ONE* 5:e12406. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0012406
- Nomura, K., Debroy, S., Lee, Y. H., Pumplin, N., Jones, J., and He, S. Y. (2006). A bacterial virulence protein suppresses host innate immunity to cause plant disease. *Science* 313, 220–223. doi: 10.1126/science.1129523
- Odendall, C., Rolhion, N., Forster, A., Poh, J., Lamont, D. J., Liu, M., et al. (2012). The Salmonella kinase SteC targets the MAP kinase MEK to regulate the host actin cytoskeleton. Cell Host Microbe 12, 657–668. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2012.09.011
- Parniske, M. (2000). Intracellular accommodation of microbes by plants: a common developmental program for symbiosis and disease? *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.* 3, 320–328. doi: 10.1016/S1369-5266(00)00088-1
- Pilar, A. V., Reid-Yu, S. A., Cooper, C. A., Mulder, D. T., and Coombes, B. K. (2012). GogB is an anti-inflammatory effector that limits tissue damage during *Salmonella* infection through interaction with human FBXO22 and Skp1. *PLoS Pathog*. 8:e1002773. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1002773
- Pirttilä, A. M., Laukkanen, H., Pospiech, H., Myllylä, R., and Hohtola, A. (2000).
 Detection of intracellular bacteria in the buds of scotch pine (*Pinus sylvestris*L.) by in situ hybridization. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 66, 3073–3077. doi: 10.1128/AEM.66.7.3073-3077.2000
- Porwollik, S., Wong, R. M., and McClelland, M. (2002). Evolutionary genomics of Salmonella: gene acquisitions revealed by microarray analysis. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 99, 8956–8961. doi: 10.1073/pnas.122153699
- Quadt-Hallmann, A., Benhamou, N., and Kloepper, J. W. (1997). Bacterial endophytes in cotton: mechanisms of entering the plant. *Can. J. Microbiol.* 43, 577– 582. doi: 10.1139/m97-081
- Rajeshwari, R., Jha, G., and Sonti, R. V. (2005). Role of an in planta-expressed xylanase of Xanthomonas oryzae pv. oryzae in promoting virulence on rice. Mol. Plant Microbe Interact. 18, 830–837. doi: 10.1094/MPMI-18-0830
- Schikora, A., Carreri, A., Charpentier, E., and Hirt, H. (2008). The dark side of the salad: Salmonella typhimurium overcomes the innate immune response of Arabidopsis thaliana and shows an endopathogenic lifestyle. PLoS ONE 3:e2279. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0002279

- Schikora, A., Virlogeux-Payant, I., Bueso, E., Garcia, A. V., Nilau, T., Charrier, A., et al. (2011). Conservation of *Salmonella* infection mechanisms in plants and animals. *PLoS ONE* 6:e24112. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0024112
- Schleker, S., Garcia-Garcia, J., Klein-Seetharaman, J., and Oliva, B. (2012a). Prediction and comparison of *Salmonella*–human and *Salmonella–Arabidopsis* interactomes. *Chem. Biodivers.* 9, 991–1018. doi: 10.1002/cbdv.201100392
- Schleker, S., Sun, J., Raghavan, B., Srnec, M., Muller, N., Koepfinger, M., et al. (2012b). The current *Salmonella*–host interactome. *Proteomics Clin. Appl.* 6, 117–133. doi: 10.1002/prca.201100083
- Segonzac, C., and Zipfel, C. (2011). Activation of plant patternrecognition receptors by bacteria. *Curr. Opin. Microbiol.* 14, 54–61. doi: 10.1016/j.mib.2010.12.005
- Shirron, N., and Yaron, S. (2011). Active suppression of early immune response in tobacco by the human pathogen *Salmonella* Typhimurium. *PLoS ONE* 6:e18855. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0018855
- Smalle, J., and Vierstra, R. D. (2004). The ubiquitin 26S proteasome proteolytic pathway. Annu. Rev. Plant Biol. 55, 555–590. doi: 10.1146/annurev. arplant.55.031903.141801
- Spano, S., Liu, X., and Galan, J. E. (2011). Proteolytic targeting of Rab29 by an effector protein distinguishes the intracellular compartments of human-adapted and broad-host Salmonella. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 108, 18418–18423. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1111959108
- Teplitski, M., Barak, J. D., and Schneider, K. R. (2009). Human enteric pathogens in produce: un-answered ecological questions with direct implications for food safety. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.* 20, 166–171. doi: 10.1016/j.copbio.2009.03.002
- Thilmony, R., Underwood, W., and He, S. Y. (2006). Genome-wide transcriptional analysis of the Arabidopsis thaliana interaction with the plant pathogen Pseudomonas syringae pv. tomato DC3000 and the human pathogen Escherichia coli O157:H7. Plant J. 46, 34–53. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-313X.2006.02725.x
- Thimm, O., Blasing, O., Gibon, Y., Nagel, A., Meyer, S., Kruger, P., et al. (2004). MAPMAN: a user-driven tool to display genomics data sets onto diagrams of metabolic pathways and other biological processes. *Plant J.* 37, 914–939. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-313X.2004.02016.x
- Thomas, P., and Sekhar, A. C. (2014). Live cell imaging reveals extensive intracellular cytoplasmic colonization of banana by normally non-cultivable endophytic bacteria. *AoB Plants* 6:plu002. doi: 10.1093/aobpla/plu002
- Ton, J., and Mauch-Mani, B. (2004). Beta-amino-butyric acid-induced resistance against necrotrophic pathogens is based on ABA-dependent priming for callose. *Plant J.* 38, 119–130. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-313X.2004.02028.x

- Vierstra, R. D. (2009). The ubiquitin-26S proteasome system at the nexus of plant biology. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 10, 385–397. doi: 10.1038/nrm2688
- Wang, Y., Li, J., Hou, S., Wang, X., Li, Y., Ren, D., et al. (2010). A Pseudomonas syringae ADP-ribosyltransferase inhibits Arabidopsis mitogen-activated protein kinase kinases. Plant Cell 22, 2033–2044. doi: 10.1105/tpc.110.075697
- World Health Organization. (2014). Health Topics Salmonella. Available at: http://www.who.int/topics/salmonella/en/ [accessed March, 2014].
- Ye, Z., Petrof, E. O., Boone, D., Claud, E. C., and Sun, J. (2007). Salmonella effector AvrA regulation of colonic epithelial cell inflammation by deubiquitination. Am. J. Pathol. 171, 882–892. doi: 10.2353/ajpath.2007.070220
- Zeng, L. R., Vega-Sanchez, M. E., Zhu, T., and Wang, G. L. (2006). Ubiquitinationmediated protein degradation and modification: an emerging theme in plantmicrobe interactions. *Cell Res.* 16, 413–426. doi: 10.1038/sj.cr.7310053
- Zentgraf, U., Laun, T., and Miao, Y. (2010). The complex regulation of WRKY53 during leaf senescence of Arabidopsis thaliana. *Eur. J. Cell Biol.* 89, 133–137. doi: 10.1016/j.ejcb.2009.10.014
- Zhang, Y., Higashide, W., Dai, S., Sherman, D. M., and Zhou, D. (2005). Recognition and ubiquitination of *Salmonella* type III effector SopA by a ubiquitin E3 ligase, HsRMA1. J. Biol. Chem. 280, 38682–38688. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M506309200
- Zhang, Y., Higashide, W. M., Mccormick, B. A., Chen, J., and Zhou, D. (2006). The inflammation-associated *Salmonella* SopA is a HECT-like E3 ubiquitin ligase. *Mol. Microbiol.* 62, 786–793. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2006.05407.x

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 05 May 2014; accepted: 13 January 2015; published online: 28 January 2015. Citation: Schleker S, Kshirsagar M and Klein-Seetharaman J (2015) Comparing human–Salmonella with plant–Salmonella protein–protein interaction predictions. Front. Microbiol. 6:45. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2015.00045

This article was submitted to Plant-Microbe Interaction, a section of the journal Frontiers in Microbiology.

Copyright © 2015 Schleker, Kshirsagar and Klein-Seetharaman. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

METHODS ARTICLE published: 10 June 2014 doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2014.00286



Ashleigh Holmes¹, Louise Birse¹, Robert W. Jackson² and Nicola J. Holden¹*

¹ Cell and Molecular Sciences, The James Hutton Institute, Invergowrie, Dundee, UK

² School of Biological Sciences, The University of Reading, Knight Building, Whiteknights, Reading, UK

Edited by:

Adam Schikora, IPAZ, JLU Giessen, Germany

Reviewed by:

Saul Burdman, The Hebrew University of Jerusalem, Israel Thamarai Schneiders, Queen's University Belfast, UK

*Correspondence:

Nicola J. Holden, Cell and Molecular Sciences, The James Hutton Institute, Invergowrie, Dundee, DD2 5DA, UK e-mail: nicola.holden@hutton.ac.uk Analysis of microbial gene expression during host colonization provides valuable information on the nature of interaction, beneficial or pathogenic, and the adaptive processes involved. Isolation of bacterial mRNA for in planta analysis can be challenging where host nucleic acid may dominate the preparation, or inhibitory compounds affect downstream analysis, e.g., quantitative reverse transcriptase PCR (qPCR), microarray, or RNA-seq. The goal of this work was to optimize the isolation of bacterial mRNA of food-borne pathogens from living plants. Reported methods for recovery of phytopathogen-infected plant material, using hot phenol extraction and high concentration of bacterial inoculation or large amounts of infected tissues, were found to be inappropriate for plant roots inoculated with Escherichia coli O157:H7. The bacterial RNA yields were too low and increased plant material resulted in a dominance of plant RNA in the sample. To improve the yield of bacterial RNA and reduce the number of plants required, an optimized method was developed which combines bead beating with directed bacterial lysis using SDS and lysozyme. Inhibitory plant compounds, such as phenolics and polysaccharides, were counteracted with the addition of high-molecular-weight polyethylene glycol and hexadecyltrimethyl ammonium bromide. The new method increased the total yield of bacterial mRNA substantially and allowed assessment of gene expression by qPCR. This method can be applied to other bacterial species associated with plant roots, and also in the wider context of food safety.

Keywords: food-borne pathogens, lettuce, spinach, rhizosphere, mRNA isolation

INTRODUCTION

The analysis of bacterial gene expression is important in the determination of how adaptation to different environments develops and informs on the roles of different genes during this process. Human pathogens are now recognized to interact with plants and use them as hosts, as a result of recent high-profile outbreaks from contaminated fruit and vegetables (Cooley et al., 2007; Buchholz et al., 2011). Adaptation of food-borne pathogens to secondary hosts has opened up new areas of research and investigation. Current research suggests that the interaction of human pathogens is more complex than previously perceived in that they can persist for long periods of time (reviewed in Brandl, 2006; Holden et al., 2009; Barak and Schroeder, 2012) and invoke an immune response from the plant (Thilmony et al., 2006; Schikora et al., 2008; Roy et al., 2013). Furthermore, the interactions include quite specific and targeted recognition of the plant host cells by the bacteria (Rossez et al., 2013). Important questions remain as to how the bacteria adapt to secondary hosts, for which analysis of bacterial gene expression is fundamental.

Bacterial gene expression is typically assessed using quantitative reverse transcriptase PCR (qPCR) or microarray techniques, and more recently RNA-seq (An et al., 2013), which require the isolation of high quality and quantity of *m*RNA. Bacterial *m*RNA has a short half-life and is less stable than eukaryotic *m*RNA transcripts, which have capped and polyadenylated RNA tails. Therefore, appropriate measures need to be in place to capture *m*RNA transcripts that may be inherently unstable, but nevertheless important

for bacterial adaptation. In addition to challenges with bacterial *m*RNA stability, extractions from mixed samples bring additional considerations, not least for inhibitory compounds that may affect downstream analysis. Although there are a number of published techniques for the isolation of total RNA from bacteria-infected plant leaves (Schenk et al., 2008; Soto-Suarez et al., 2010; Fink et al., 2012; Goudeau et al., 2013), samples can still be dominated by plant RNA making it challenging to assess bacterial *m*RNA. In published reports, leaves were typically infected via infiltration, introducing a high bacterial inoculum into the sample. In other studies, total RNA was extracted from inoculated plant extracts (Mark et al., 2005; Hernandez-Morales et al., 2009; Kyle et al., 2010; Shidore et al., 2012), such as leaf lysates, which helped to reduce the dominance of plant RNA in the sample.

There are limited studies where bacterial expression has been assessed directly from the plant root system (roots and rhizo-sphere). However, roots are known to support relatively high densities of bacteria, providing a more favorable habitat than the phyllosphere. In general, published reports describe that a high number of plant roots is required to retrieve sufficient bacterial RNA (Matilla et al., 2007; Hou et al., 2012, 2013; Zyśko et al., 2012). Further to this, the application of techniques described for RNA purification from infected leaves cannot always be successfully applied to roots. Therefore, optimization of the RNA extraction methods is required to obtain sufficient quantity and quality of bacterial *m*RNA, coupled with a reduction in the amount of accompanying plant root RNA. We optimized the method for

the food-borne pathogen *Escherichia coli* O157:H7, frequently associated food-borne outbreaks from consumption of contaminated spinach and lettuce. Although roots of these plants are not consumed, the pathogen can colonize this habitat successfully (Wright et al., 2013), from where it can contaminate the edible portion, either directly or through cross-contamination during processing.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

BACTERIAL STRAINS AND GROWTH CONDITIONS

E. coli O157:H7 isolate Sakai *stx*-negative (Hayashi et al., 2001) was routinely cultured overnight in Luria broth at 37°C, with aeration. For plant-infection assays, the bacteria were sub-cultured at 1:50 dilution into 15 ml rich-defined MOPs media supplemented with 0.2% glucose (RD MOPS glucose; Neidhardt et al., 1974), in a 200 ml Erlenmeyer flask and incubated at 18°C, with aeration for ~18 h. Bacterial cultures were diluted to OD₆₀₀ of 0.2 (equivalent to ~2 × 10⁸ cfu ml⁻¹) in sterile phosphate buffered saline (PBS) prior to infecting plant roots.

PLANT PROPAGATION AND INFECTION

Lettuce (Lactuca sativa) cultivar All Year Round or spinach (Spinacia oleracea) cultivar Amazon seeds (Sutton Seeds, UK) were soaked in sterile distilled water for 2 h before being surface sterilized in 2% calcium hypochlorite solution (10 ml) for 10 min. The seeds were then washed vigorously six times with sterile distilled water and germinated on distilled water agar (0.5% w/v) in the dark for 3–5 days, at ~22°C. Seedlings were transplanted into 175 ml hydroponic tubes (Greiner, Frickenhausen, Germany) containing autoclaved perlite and sterile $0.5 \times$ Murashige and Skoog (MS) medium (Sigma Aldrich, USA). Seedlings were grown in a cabinet with a light intensity of 150 μ mol m² s⁻¹ (16 h photoperiod) for a further 21 days at 22°C. To assess bacterial numbers from infected plant material, the roots were washed with PBS to remove excess, non-adherent bacteria. The root sample was homogenized using mortar and pestle and serially diluted for viable counts on selective agar plates.

RNA EXTRACTION AND PURIFICATION

Total RNA was extracted from infected root samples either by the BPEX method (Schenk et al., 2008) or by the Bead/SDS/phenol method (**Figure 1**): a method which was adapted and optimized from Jahn et al. (2008) and Schenk et al. (2008).

Sample preparation

Sample preparation was common to both methods. Whole plants were gently removed from the hydroponic tubes and washed with sterile PBS to remove as much perlite as possible before bacterial infection. Plants were pooled into groups of 5 and the roots were submerged into 20-25 ml bacterial suspension ($OD_{600} = 0.2$ equivalent to $\sim 5 \times 10^7 - 1 \times 10^8$ cfu ml⁻¹), and incubated at 18°C for 2 h. After incubation, the plants were removed from the bacterial suspension and all the tissue above the crown (shoots, leaves, and petioles) were aseptically removed with a sterile scalpel and the roots immediately immersed into 20 ml ice-cold, 95% ethanol: 5% phenol (pH 4.0). The sample was incubated on ice for 5 min and gently agitated on a vortex mixer to remove any excess and

loosely attached bacteria. The root sample was placed into a foil packet and immediately stored in liquid nitrogen until all samples had been processed.

BPEX-Schenk method for extraction

The BPEX method was originally developed to recover Pseudomonas syringae phytopathogen mRNA from infected plant material (Schenk et al., 2008), and tested for recovery of E. coli mRNA from infected roots. The main change from the published method was in the tissue type (root vs leaf disks), although the protocol is provided to allow a direct comparison with the optimized method. Infected plant tissue was ground to a fine powder in liquid nitrogen with a pre-cooled pestle and mortar. The sample (\sim 1 g) was transferred to an Eppendorf containing 750 µl of bacteria plant extraction (BPEX) buffer [0.35 M glycine, 0.7 M NaCl, 2% (w/v) polyethylene glycol (PEG) 20000, 40 mM EDTA, 50 mM NaOH, 4% (w/v) SDS] supplemented with 100 mM βmercaptoethanol just prior to use. The sample was mixed on a vortex mixer in the buffer prior to incubation at 95°C for 90 s with shaking. An equal volume $(750 \,\mu l)$ of phenol/chloroform mix (5:1,pH 4.0) (Sigma, St. Louis, USA) was added and the sample shaken for 5 min to form an emulsion before centrifugation at $16,000 \times g$ for 7 min. The upper phase was collected and added to an equal volume of phenol/chloroform mix (5:1, pH 4.0), shaken, and centrifuged again as the previous step. The upper phase was collected and added to an equal volume of phenol/chloroform/isoamyl alcohol (IAA) mix (25:24:1, pH 4.0) (Sigma, St. Louis, USA) shaken and centrifuged again as before. A volume of 495 µl of the upper phase was added to 550 μ l chloroform/IAA mix (24:1) and overlayed with 55 µl pre-warmed (55°C) hexadecyltrimethyl ammonium bromide (CTAB)/NaCl (10% CTAB, 0.7 M NaCl) solution. The suspension was shaken and centrifuged as before. The upper phase was added to 1/4 vol 8 M LiCl solution, mixed by inversion and the RNA precipitated at -20°C for 30 min. To collect the RNA, the sample was centrifuged at $16,000 \times g$ for 20 min at 4°C and the RNA pellet resuspended in 100 µl RNase-free water. The RNA was cleaned and DNase treated using RNeasy Plant Mini kit (Qiagen, Limburg, Netherlands) as per the manufacturer's guidelines.

Bead/SDS/phenol method for extraction

The optimized method is represented in Figure 1. The samples were removed from the liquid nitrogen, beaten with a spatula to break up the root into smaller pieces, and transferred into an 1.5 ml micro-centrifuge tube (DNase, RNase free: Ambion, Austin, USA) preloaded with \sim 250 mg mixture of 1 mm glass and 0.1 mm silica beads (ThermoScientific Ltd., Waltham, USA), from which the weight was determined. Cooled, sterile equipment was used throughout the process. The micro-centrifuge tube was then returned to liquid nitrogen for processing subsequent samples until all of the samples were collected. For the lysis step, 800 µl of Tris-EDTA (TE) buffer (10 mM Tris-HCl; 1 mM EDTA) supplemented with 500 $\mu g \ ml^{-1}$ lysozyme, 0.1% SDS, and 100 mM $\beta\text{-mercaptoethanol}$ was added to each root sample. The tubes were placed into TissueLyser (Qiagen, Limburg, Netherlands) and agitated for 30 s with a 30 s interval on ice for three cycles. After the last cycle, the samples were



returned to ice before transfer to a heatblock set at 64° C for 2 min. To extract nucleic acids, the supernatant was collected and pooled after two centrifugation steps: first at $100 \times g$ for 1 min to pellet the beads and large fragments of root, followed by a second at 8,600 \times g for 2 min to compact the debris further, yielding more supernatant. One hundred millimolar sodium acetate (pH 5.2) and 2% (w/v) PEG 20000 was added to the supernatant and inverted to mix. An equal volume (~ 1 ml) of phenol (pH 4.0) was then added, mixed by inversion, and the sample incubated at 64°C for 6 min, with the tubes inverted every 40 s. The sample was transferred to an ice bath for 2 min before centrifugation at 16,000 \times g for 10 min at 4°C. The upper aqueous layer was added to an equal volume of chloroform/IAA mix (24:1) and 1/20 volume of pre-warmed (55°C) CTAB/NaCl solution in a fresh micro-centrifuge tube. The sample was mixed by inversion and then centrifuged at $16,000 \times g$ for 5 min at 4°C. The upper aqueous layer was added to 1/4 vol 8 M LiCl,

mixed by inversion, and then incubated at -20° C for 20 min to overnight to precipitate the nucleic acid. The nucleic acid was recovered by centrifugation at 16,000 × g for 30 min at 4°C. The pellet was resuspended in 100 µl RNase-free water and the sample cleaned and DNase treated using the RNeasy Plant Mini kit (Qiagen, Limburg, Netherlands) as per the manufacturer's instructions.

Total RNA concentration was determined using a NanoDrop (Wilmington, USA) spectrophotometer and the relative proportions of ribosomal RNA determined using a BioAnalyser 2100 (Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, USA), for both methods.

cDNA SYNTHESIS AND qPCR CONDITIONS

*c*DNA was transcribed from 1 μ g total RNA using Superscript II (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, USA) following the random primer protocol. A mixture of ten 11-mer oligonucleotide primers (Ea1 \pm Ea10)

at 100 nM (Fislage et al., 1997) designed specifically for Enterobacteriaceae mRNA was used. Quantitative reverse transcriptase PCR was carried out using specific primers for E. coli O157:H7 gyrB housekeeping gene (gyrB.RT.F = CATCAGAGAGGTCG-GCTTCC; gyrB.RT.R = CATGGAGCGTCGTTATCCGA) using StepOnePlusTM real-time PCR system (Applied Biosystems, Life Technologies, Carlsbad, USA) and iTaqTM Universal SYBR® Green Supermix (Bio-Rad, Hercules, USA). Each 20 µl reaction volume was composed of iTaq SuperMix, 300 nM of forward and reverse primers and 1 µl of cDNA (diluted 1:4). The PCR program consisted of an initial denaturation at 95°C for 10 min, followed by 40 cycles of denaturation at 95°C for 15 s, and annealing and extension at 60°C for 1 min. Melt curve analysis was also performed with an initial denaturation at 95°C for 15 s, followed by annealing at 60°C for 1 min with an 0.3°C increase (step and hold) and final step of 95°C for 15 s. Data were collected from three technical replicates and from two biological replicates.

RESULTS

EXTRACTION OF TOTAL RNA FROM PLANT ROOTS INFECTED WITH BACTERIA

An optimized method was previously reported for the extraction of P. syringae mRNA from infiltrated plant leaves (Schenk et al., 2008). A buffer system was developed that yielded 75–125 μ g of total RNA per 150-200 mg sample, from the equivalent of 20 infiltrated leaf disks (7 mm). We tested this protocol (termed the "BPEX" method) to determine if it could also be used to recover mRNA of a food-borne pathogen from infected roots. Our work focuses on the bacterial genes induced during the stages of colonization of lettuce and spinach roots, and as such the roots in our experiments are not infected via infiltration; rather the bacteria colonize the outer surface. This necessitated processing the entire root to recover sufficient RNA. Also, to obtain equivalent bacterial numbers to those reported, where each leaf disk was infiltrated with 1×10^8 cfu bacteria, at least 20 root samples were pooled for each extraction. In this method, the samples were ground to a fine powder in liquid nitrogen, prior to incubation in an extraction buffer (BPEX) coupled with cell lysis. RNA was purified using traditional acidic phenol extraction and LiCl-mediated precipitation.

Use of the BPEX method typically yielded 3.6–9.6 µg of total RNA from 250 mg E. coli O157:H7-infected lettuce roots. Analysis of the total RNA showed strong bands corresponding with 18S and 28S rRNA of lettuce (Figure 2A: Lanes 1, 2, 3) with only very faint bacterial RNA corresponding to 16S and 23S rRNA in mixed samples (Figure 2A; Lanes 1, 2, 3). Examination of the electropherogram trace showed that the bacterial rRNA peaks were considerably smaller than the plant rRNA peaks, e.g., BPEX sample 1 (Figure 2B). The pre-dominance of plant rRNA in the BPEXprepared samples indicated that plant mRNA would also dominate over bacterial transcripts. Therefore, to increase the levels of bacterial mRNA with a concomitant decrease in plant-derived RNA, a modified method was designed. The aim was threefold: (i) to reduce the number of plants required per extraction; (ii) to reduce the carry-over of plant tissue in the sample; and (iii) incorporate a lysis step which targeted bacterial cells.



FIGURE 2 |Total RNA from plant root extractions by BPEX and Bead/SDS/phenol methods. Intact plant roots were suspended in 20 ml of bacterial inoculum (OD₆₀₀ of 0.2) for 2 h at 18°C. Total RNA was extracted using either the BPEX or the Bead/SDS/phenol method and RNA quality was assessed by spectroscopy on a Bioanalyser 2100 machine (Agilent). (A) A montage of an electropherograph of the total RNA levels following extraction of inoculated plant material. The lanes show RNA from an in vitro culture of E. coli O157:H7 isolate Sakai only (lane S); uninfected lettuce roots (lane L); E. coli O157:H7 Sakai infected lettuce roots (Lane 1, 306 ng μl^{-1} ; Lane 4, 119 ng μl^{-1} ; Lane 5, 195 ng μl^{-1}); and E. coli O157:H7 Sakai infected spinach roots (Lane 2, 248 ng μ l⁻¹; Lane 3, 301 ng μ l⁻¹; Lane 6, 141 ng μ l⁻¹). Lanes 1, 2, and 3 show extraction using the BPEX method, and Lanes 4, 5, and 6 using the Bead method. The samples were run alongside a commercial RNA transcript ladder (0.2, 0.5, 1.0, 2.0, 4.0, and 6.0 kb, Agilent); the 16S and 23S (bacterial), and 18S and 28S (plant) rRNA bands are indicated. Electropherogram of E. coli O157:H7 Sakai infected lettuce roots extracted with (B) the BPEX method (sample derived from lane 1) or with (C) the novel Bead/SDS/phenol method (sample derived from lane 4). The uninfected spinach control was similar to lettuce (lane L) (not shown).

DEVELOPMENT OF THE BEAD/SDS/PHENOL PROTOCOL

Physical disruption of tissues and cells using inert beads has been used for nucleic acid extraction from filamentous fungi (Leite et al., 2012), microalgae (Kim et al., 2012), soil and sludge samples (Griffiths et al., 2000), and in commercial kits. We postulated that this method of disruption may also aid in bacterial RNA extraction and used a combination of 1 mm glass beads and 0.1 mm silica beads for sample lysis. Since tissue can become over-heated during agitation, which leads to nucleic acid degradation, the samples were "rested" for 30 s on ice between the three treatment cycles.

Bacterial cells were specifically targeted for lysis in an attempt to reduce plant-derived nucleic acid contamination, with the inclusion of lysozyme in the extraction buffer. However, a combination of the hot SDS/phenol extraction protocol described previously (Jahn et al., 2008) with the bead beating step resulted in very low RNA yields; not greater than 0.5 μ g. It was possible that contaminants or inhibitors from the plant material, such as polysaccharides, phenolic compounds, and secondary metabolites deleteriously affected RNA recovery. Therefore, the protocol was modified to include additional steps after the initial lysis and the incorporation of PEG and CTAB/NaCl treatments, followed by LiCl precipitation (Figure 1). The inclusion of high-molecularweight PEG in the extraction protocol promotes the removal of polysaccharides and phenolic compounds from plant tissues that bind to or co-precipitate with RNA (Gehrig et al., 2000). CTAB is a detergent that acts to separate polysaccharides from nucleic acids (Chang et al., 1993; Jaakola et al., 2001). Lithium chloride is inefficient at precipitating DNA, proteins, or carbohydrates, and thus improves RNA yield and purity compared to other nucleic acid precipitation methods, i.e., ethanol and sodium acetate (Barlow et al., 1963; Cathala et al., 1983).

ANALYSIS OF RNA YIELDS

A combination of physical disruption using beads together with the chemical treatments (**Figure 1**) resulted in total RNA concentrations that averaged 5.1 µg (range from 1.5 to 8.9 µg) from 250 mg of infected root tissue. Assessment of the RNA showed a substantial increase in bacterial-derived 16S and 23S *r*RNA in bead-treated samples compared to BPEX samples (**Figure 2A** – compare lanes 4–6 with lanes 1–3). The optimized method increased the bacterial *r*RNA to levels that were equivalent or close to plant *r*RNA (**Figure 2C**).

QUANTITATIVE REVERSE TRANSCRIPTASE PCR (qPCR) ANALYSIS

Bacterial gene expression was quantified from the samples obtained using the optimized method, by carrying out qPCR. The *gyrB* gene was selected as a housekeeping gene that was expected to be expressed under the conditions tested and expression from the root-derived samples was compared to samples obtained from bacteria grown under *in vitro* conditions. The amount of *gyrB* transcript was found to be similar between both lettuce roots and *in vitro* samples (**Table 1**), indicating similar copy numbers and stable *gyrB* expression under *in vitro* conditions and in plant extracts. It is of note that the amount of detectable *gyrB* was lower in the infected spinach root extracts compared to lettuce roots (higher *Ct* value for *gyrB*).

Table 1 | Comparison of Ct values from *E. coli* O157:H7 isolate Sakai for an *in vitro* culture and for infected plant roots.

Average Ct \pm SD
23.435 ± 0.415
23.525 ± 0.295
26.997 ± 0.527

In brief, plant roots were suspended in 20 ml bacterial inoculum (OD₆₀₀ of 0.2) for 2 h at 18° C, washed vigorously, and RNA prepared. The bacteria-only culture was suspended in 20 ml 1× PBS for 2 h at 18° C. The gyrB gene was quantified using a StepOnePlus PCR machine (Applied Biosystems). The values show the average of six samples from two independent experiments.

QUANTIFICATION OF BACTERIA

To quantify the bacteria present in the samples, the average number of *E. coli* O157:H7 (Sakai) cells present in a 250 mg root sample (typically from 7 to 8 roots) was determined. The experimental setup was as described for RNA extraction, although the roots were washed with PBS instead of the initial step of *m*RNA preservation in the ice-cold phenol/ethanol mixture. On average, 5.6×10^7 cfu of *E. coli* O157:H7 (Sakai) were present in each lettuce sample. The values for spinach roots were similar, which represent between 10 and 15% of the initial inoculum used for infection. These figures are equivalent to the limit of bacterial gene detection reported by Schenk et al. (2008) of ~ 5 10^7 cfu/sample derived from 20 leaf disks.

DISCUSSION

The isolation of total RNA from plant material is well defined for leaves, but less so for studies involving the roots or rhizosphere. The majority of reports focus on analysis of gene expression for phytopathogens and the number of examples describing the extraction of food-borne pathogen RNA from plants is limited. Here, we describe optimization of a method that resulted in high-quality bacterial *m*RNA from the infected roots of fresh produce plants: lettuce and spinach.

Reported investigations of gene expression of enteric bacteria, such as Salmonella enterica (Goudeau et al., 2013), E. coli K-12 and E. coli O157:H7 (Kyle et al., 2010; Fink et al., 2012) used large quantities of plant material, e.g., 100 g of leaf tissue coupled with high concentrations of bacteria, approx. 10⁸ cfu per sample. Samples were processed to separate bacteria from plant tissue using physical methods, such as a Stomacher (Kyle et al., 2010; Goudeau et al., 2013) or by shaking (Fink et al., 2012) followed by filtration to remove plant debris. RNA was prepared either using commercial kits (Kyle et al., 2010; Goudeau et al., 2013) or a hot-phenol method (Fink et al., 2012). Some of these studies investigated gene expression on post-harvest material, using prepackaged commercial leaves rather than propagating plants, where it is possible to obtain the large amount of material required. In contrast, investigation of bacteria gene expression on living plant roots presents challenges in obtaining similar weights of material. A hydroponic system for high-throughput propagation of lettuce plants was described recently (Hou et al., 2012, 2013), where sterilized seeds were germinated in 96-well pipette tip boxes. Whole transcriptome analysis of E. coli was examined three days after

E. coli O157:H7 RNA extraction from plants

inoculation with the plant roots, although the report does not state the weight of material required for RNA extraction. The main difference in our method was the amount of plant material required and the time at which the samples were taken. For example, our method allows for gene expression analysis after a short time of interaction, rather than after several days of colonization where the bacterial numbers are likely to have increased, dependent on the inoculation time and plant-bacterial system investigated.

The optimized method uses a combination of bead-beating, SDS lysis, phenol extraction, and CTAB purification to extract high-quality bacterial RNA from as little as 250-300 mg infected roots. Optimization has been carried out for two fresh produce plant species that have previously been associated with large-scale outbreaks of food-borne pathogens. It was interesting to note that the efficiency of recovery was lower for spinach root compared to lettuce, although the numbers of bacteria recovered from the plant tissue were similar. Since E. coli O157:H7 Sakai adheres to lettuce and spinach roots in comparable numbers (Wright et al., 2013), we anticipated similar levels of gyrB transcript. The reduction in level may be as a result of plant-associated inhibitors in spinach roots, or because of different plant-derived environmental cues acting on gyrB expression. Therefore, we suggest that the method needs to be validated if it is adopted for other plant species. Verification of the technique using qPCR shows that this method could be applied to food safety settings, e.g., for detection of food-borne pathogens in fresh produce. It may be possible to couple this technique to standard methods, which would enable examination of viability and expression of genes of interest, e.g., toxin genes. Furthermore, it facilitates analysis of bacterial gene expression in planta for not only food-borne pathogens but also other plant-associated bacteria, providing an insight into the adaptive processes that underpin host-microbe interactions.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Al authors were involved in the design of the work and interpretation of data; Ashleigh Holmes and Louise Birse were involved in data acquisition and analysis; Ashleigh Holmes, Louise Birse, and Nicola J. Holden drafted the work; all authors approved the final version.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The work was supported by BBSRC grant BB/I014179/1 and Scottish Government RESAS funding. The authors thank Pete Headley and Jenny Morris (James Hutton Institute) for technical assistance; Sonia Humphris and the reviewers for helpful suggestions.

REFERENCES

- An, S.-Q., Febrer, M., Mccarthy, Y., Tang, D.-J., Clissold, L., Kaithakottil, G., et al. (2013). High-resolution transcriptional analysis of the regulatory influence of cell-to-cell signalling reveals novel genes that contribute to Xanthomonas phytopathogenesis. *Mol. Microbiol.* 88, 1058–1069. doi: 10.1111/mmi.12229
- Barak, J. D., and Schroeder, B. K. (2012). Interrelationships of food safety and plant pathology: the life cycle of human pathogens on plants. *Annu. Rev. Phytopathol.* 50, 241–266. doi: 10.1146/annurev-phyto-081211-172936
- Barlow, J. J., Mathias, A. P., Williamson, R., and Gammack, D. B. (1963). A simple method for the quantitative isolation of undegraded high molecular weight ribonucleic acid. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 13, 61–66. doi: 10.1016/0006-291X(63)90163-3

- Brandl, M. T. (2006). Fitness of human enteric pathogens on plants and implications for food safety. Annu. Rev. Phytopathol. 44, 367–392. doi: 10.1146/annurev.phyto.44.070505.143359
- Buchholz, U., Bernard, H., Werber, D., Bohmer, M. M., Remschmidt, C., Wilking, H., et al. (2011). German outbreak of *Escherichia coli* O104:H4 associated with sprouts. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 365, 1763–1770. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1106482
- Cathala, G., Savouret, J. F., Mendez, B., West, B. L., Karin, M., Martial, J. A., et al. (1983). A method for isolation of intact, translationally active ribonucleic acid. *DNA* 2, 329–335. doi: 10.1089/dna.1983.2.329
- Chang, S., Puryear, J., and Cairney, J. (1993). A simple and efficient method for isolating RNA from pine trees. *Plant Mol. Biol. Rep.* 11, 113–116. doi: 10.1007/BF02670468
- Cooley, M., Carychao, D., Crawford-Miksza, L., Jay, M. T., Myers, C., Rose, C., et al. (2007). Incidence and tracking of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in a major produce production region in California. *PLoS ONE* 2:e1159. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0001159
- Fink, R. C., Black, E. P., Hou, Z., Sugawara, M., Sadowsky, M. J., and Diez-Gonzalez, F. (2012). Transcriptional responses of *Escherichia coli* K-12 and O157:H7 associated with lettuce leaves. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 78, 1752–1764. doi: 10.1128/aem.07454-11
- Fislage, R., Berceanu, M., Humboldt, Y., Wendt, M., and Oberender, H. (1997). Primer design for a prokaryotic differential display RT-PCR. *Nucl. Acids Res.* 25, 1830–1835. doi: 10.1093/nar/25.9.1830
- Gehrig, H. H., Winter, K., Cushman, J., Borland, A., and Taybi, T. (2000). An improved RNA isolation method for succulent plant species rich in polyphenols and polysaccharides. *Plant Mol. Biol. Rep.* 18, 369–376. doi: 10.1007/BF02825065
- Goudeau, D. M., Parker, C. T., Zhou, Y., Sela, S., Kroupitski, Y., and Brandl, M. T. (2013). The Salmonella transcriptome in lettuce and cilantro soft rot reveals a niche overlap with the animal host intestine. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 79, 250–262. doi: 10.1128/aem.02290-12
- Griffiths, R. I., Whiteley, A. S., O'Donnell, A. G., and Bailey, M. J. (2000). Rapid method for coextraction of DNA and RNA from natural environments for analysis of ribosomal DNA- and rRNA-based microbial community composition. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 66, 5488–5491. doi: 10.1128/AEM.66.12.5488-5491. 2000
- Hayashi, T., Makino, K., Ohnishi, M., Kurokawa, K., Ishii, K., Yokoyama, K., et al. (2001). Complete genome sequence of enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 and genomic comparison with a laboratory strain K-12. *DNA Res.* 8, 11–22. doi: 10.1093/dnares/8.1.11
- Hernandez-Morales, A., De La Torre-Zavala, S., Ibarra-Laclette, E., Hernandez-Flores, J., Jofre-Garfias, A., Martinez-Antonio, A., et al. (2009). Transcriptional profile of *Pseudomonas syringae* pv. *phaseolicola NPS*3121 in response to tissue extracts from a susceptible *Phaseolus vulgaris* L. cultivar. *BMC Microbiol.* 9:257. doi: 10.1186/1471-2180-9-257
- Holden, N., Pritchard, L., and Toth, I. (2009). Colonization outwith the colon: plants as an alternative environmental reservoir for human pathogenic enterobacteria. *FEMS Microbiol. Rev.* 33, 689–703. doi: 10.1111/j.1574-6976.2008.00153.x
- Hou, Z., Fink, R. C., Black, E., Sugawara, M., Zhang, Z., Diez-Gonzalez, F., et al. (2012). Gene expression profiling of *Escherichia coli* in response to interactions with the lettuce rhizosphere. *J. Appl. Microbiol.* 113, 1076–1086. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2672.2012.05412.x
- Hou, Z., Fink, R. C., Sugawara, M., Diez-Gonzalez, F., and Sadowsky, M. J. (2013). Transcriptional and functional responses of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 growing in the lettuce rhizoplane. *Food Microbiol.* 35, 136–142. doi: 10.1016/j.fm.2013. 03.002
- Jaakola, L., Pirttila, A. M., Halonen, M., and Hohtola, A. (2001). Isolation of high quality RNA from bilberry (*Vaccinium myrtillus* L.) fruit. *Mol. Biotechnol.* 19, 201–203. doi: 10.1385/mb:19:2:201
- Jahn, C. E., Charkowski, A. O., and Willis, D. K. (2008). Evaluation of isolation methods and RNA integrity for bacterial RNA quantitation. J. Microbiol. Methods 75, 318–324. doi: 10.1016/j.mimet.2008.07.004
- Kim, B.-H., Ramanan, R., Cho, D.-H., Choi, G.-G., La, H.-J., Ahn, C.-Y., et al. (2012). Simple, rapid and cost-effective method for high quality nucleic acids extraction from different strains of *Botryococcus braunii*. *PLoS ONE* 7:e37770. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0037770
- Kyle, J. L., Parker, C. T., Goudeau, D., and Brandl, M. T. (2010). Transcriptome analysis of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 exposed to lysates of lettuce leaves. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 76, 1375–1387. doi: 10.1128/AEM.02461-09

- Leite, G. M., Magan, N., and Medina, A. (2012). Comparison of different bead-beating RNA extraction strategies: an optimized method for filamentous fungi. *J. Microbiol. Methods* 88, 413–418. doi: 10.1016/j.mimet.2012. 01.011
- Mark, G. L., Dow, J. M., Kiely, P. D., Higgins, H., Haynes, J., Baysse, C., et al. (2005). Transcriptome profiling of bacterial responses to root exudates identifies genes involved in microbe-plant interactions. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 102, 17454–17459. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0506407102
- Matilla, M. A., Espinosa-Urgel, M., Rodriguez-Herva, J. J., Ramos, J. L., and Ramos-Gonzalez, M. I. (2007). Genomic analysis reveals the major driving forces of bacterial life in the rhizosphere. *Genome Biol.* 8, R179. doi: 10.1186/gb-2007-8-9-r179
- Neidhardt, F. C., Bloch, P. L., and Smith, D. F. (1974). Culture medium for enterobacteria. J. Bacteriol. 119, 736–747.
- Rossez, Y., Holmes, A., Wolfson, E. B., Gally, D. L., Mahajan, A., Pedersen, H. L., et al. (2013). Flagella interact with ionic plant lipids to mediate adherence of pathogenic *Escherichia coli* to fresh produce plants. *Environ. Microbiol.* doi: 10.1111/1462-2920.12315 [Epub ahead of print].
- Roy, D., Panchal, S., Rosa, B. A., and Melotto, M. (2013). Escherichia coli O157:H7 induces stronger plant immunity than Salmonella enterica Typhimurium SL1344. Phytopathology 103, 326–332. doi: 10.1094/PHYTO-09-12-0230-FI
- Schenk, A., Weingart, H., and Ullrich, M. S. (2008). Extraction of high-quality bacterial RNA from infected leaf tissue for bacterial in planta gene expression analysis by multiplexed fluorescent Northern hybridization. *Mol. Plant Pathol.* 9, 227–235. doi: 10.1111/j.1364-3703.2007.00452.x
- Schikora, A., Carreri, A., Charpentier, E., and Hirt, H. (2008). The dark side of the salad: Salmonella typhimurium overcomes the innate immune response of Arabidopsis thaliana and shows an endopathogenic lifestyle. PLoS ONE 3:e2279. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0002279
- Shidore, T., Dinse, T., Öhrlein, J., Becker, A., and Reinhold-Hurek, B. (2012). Transcriptomic analysis of responses to exudates reveal genes required for rhizosphere competence of the endophyte Azoarcus sp. strain BH72. Environ. Microbiol. 14, 2775–2787. doi: 10.1111/j.1462-2920.2012.02777.x

- Soto-Suarez, M., Bernal, D., Gonzalez, C., Szurek, B., Guyot, R., Tohme, J., et al. (2010). In planta gene expression analysis of *Xanthomonas oryzae* pathovar oryzae, African strain MAI1. *BMC Microbiol*. 10:170. doi: 10.1186/1471-2180-10-170
- Thilmony, R., Underwood, W., and He, S. Y. (2006). Genome-wide transcriptional analysis of the Arabidopsis thaliana interaction with the plant pathogen Pseudomonas syringae pv. tomato DC3000 and the human pathogen Escherichia coli O157:H7. Plant J. 46, 34–53. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-313X.2006.02725.x
- Wright, K. M., Chapman, S., Mcgeachy, K., Humphris, S., Campbell, E., Toth, I. K., et al. (2013). The endophytic lifestyle of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7: quantification and internal localization in roots. *Phytopathology* 103, 333–340. doi: 10.1094/PHYTO-08-12-0209-FI
- Zyśko, A., Sanguin, H., Hayes, A., Wardleworth, L., Zeef, L. H., Sim, A., et al. (2012). Transcriptional response of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* to a phosphate-deficient *Lolium perenne* rhizosphere. *Plant Soil* 359, 25–44. doi: 10.1007/s11104-011-1060-z

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 24 March 2014; paper pending published: 27 April 2014; accepted: 23 May 2014; published online: 10 June 2014.

Citation: Holmes A, Birse I, Jackson RW and Holden NJ (2014) An optimized method for the extraction of bacterial mRNA from plant roots infected with Escherichia coli O157:H7. Front. Microbiol. **5**:286. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2014.00286

This article was submitted to Plant–Microbe Interaction, a section of the journal Frontiers in Microbiology.

Copyright © 2014 Holmes, Birse, Jackson and Holden. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Pyrosequencing detects human and animal pathogenic taxa in the grapevine endosphere

Sohail Yousaf^{1,2†}, Daniela Bulgari^{3†}, Alessandro Bergna^{1,3}, Michael Pancher¹, Fabio Quaglino³, Paola Casati³ and Andrea Campisano¹*

¹ Sustainable Agro-Ecosystems and Bioresources Department, Research and Innovation Centre, Fondazione Edmund Mach, San Michele all'Adige, Italy

² Department of Environmental Sciences, Faculty of Biological Sciences, Quaid-i-Azam University, Islamabad, Pakistan

³ Dipartimento di Scienze Agrarie e Ambientali - Produzione, Territorio, Agroenergia, Università degli Studi di Milano, Milano, Italy

Edited by:

Nicola Holden, The James Hutton Institute, UK

Reviewed by:

Murali Gopal, Central Plantation Crops Research Institute, India Ana Catarina Gomes, Biocant, Portugal Vittoria Catara, University of Catania, Italy

*Correspondence:

Andrea Campisano, Fondazione Edmund Mach, via E. Mach 1, 38010 San Michele all'Adige, Italy e-mail: andrea.campisano@fmach.it

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work.

Generally, plants are not considered as hosts for human and animal pathogens (HAP). The recent produce-associated outbreaks of food-borne diseases have drawn attention toward significant deficiencies in our understanding of the ecology of HAP, and their potential for interkingdom transfer. To examine the association of microorganisms classified as HAP with plants, we surveyed the presence and distribution of HAP bacterial taxa (henceforth HAPT, for brevity's sake) in the endosphere of grapevine (Vitis vinifera L.) both in the plant stems and leaves. An enrichment protocol was used on leaves to detect taxa with very low abundance in undisturbed tissues. We used pyrosequencing and phylogenetic analyses of the 16S rDNA gene. We identified several HAPT, and focused on four genera (Propionibacterium, Staphylococcus, Clostridium, and Burkholderia). The majority of the bacterial sequences in the genus Propionibacterium, from grapevine leaf and stem, were identified as P. acnes. Clostridia were detected in leaves and stems, but their number was much higher in leaves after enrichment. HAPT were indentified both in leaves and wood of grapevines. This depicts the ability of these taxa to be internalized within plant tissues and maintain their population levels in a variety of environments. Our analysis highlighted the presence of HAPT in the grapevine endosphere and unexpected occurrence of these bacterial taxa in this atypical environment.

Keywords: endosphere, grapevine, pathogens, bacteria, pyrosequencing

INTRODUCTION

Endophytes (non-pathogenic microorganisms living inside plant tissues and cells) are common inhabitants of interior plant parts (the endosphere) universally present and found in all the species of plants studied up till now (Schulz and Boyle, 2006). Some endophytes are able to promote plant growth and to suppress plant diseases (Compant et al., 2005; Lugtenberg and Kamilova, 2009).

Intriguingly, among these endosphere-dwellers, we can occasionally find some human and animal pathogens (HAP) (Holden et al., 2009; Kirzinger et al., 2011). HAP not only contaminate plant surfaces, but also actively interact with plants and can colonize them as alternative hosts (Holden et al., 2009). Some human bacterial pathogens are capable to colonize inner plant tissues (Tyler and Triplett, 2008), a phenomenon that in most cases can be considered as an opportunistic exploitation of a short-term habitat (Campisano et al., 2014). Generally, pathogens are studied solely for their harmful impact on human and animal health, causing disease and epidemics. On the other hand, the regular interaction of human and animal carriers with their environment puts these pathogens in contact with alternative niches, including additional hosts (Enders et al., 1993; Lenz et al., 2003). It is then unsurprising that previous works found out well known and potential HAP

undergoing an endophytitc stage in their lifestyle (Kirzinger et al., 2011). Scientific literature often reports that members of the family *Enterobactericeae*, including pathogenic *Salmonella* and *Shigella* genus strains, *Vibrio cholerae* strains, and the human opportunistic pathogen *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* were found on plants or inside plants (Akhtyamova, 2013). *Salmonella enterica* strains have been isolated as endophytic colonizers of barley roots, spreading to the rhizodermis layers (Kutter et al., 2006).

Enteric bacterial pathogens, usually transmitted through foods, are well adapted to vertebrate hosts and generally colonize the gut (Wagenaar, 2008). Some have humans as their principal host, while many others are persistent in animal populations, adapted to a particular reservoir or environment, and affect humans only incidentally (Lynch et al., 2009). HAP on plants are generally thought of as having a reservoir in the intestines of a vertebrate host and, once discarded in manure, coming into direct or indirect contact with epigeous or hypogeous plant tissues in a variety of ways. Traditionally, they were considered to be fleeting on plant surfaces, persisting inertly in cracks, wounds, and stomatal openings. They were considered unable to aggressively modify or to communicate with the plant. However, it is now apparent that enteric bacteria do not just land on and reside in plants. These pathogens can stick tightly

to produce, multiply, and enter into the tissues of leaves or fruits, in some cases even moving into inner plant parts (Berger et al., 2010; Erickson, 2012). Whether endophytic growth may actually be part of HAP life cycle is under debate. Findings such as those mentioned before, reporting an endophytic stage for HAP, would explain why existing surface decontamination procedures may be inefficient in removing contaminants from plant produce (Rosenblueth and Martinez-Romero, 2006; Teplitski et al., 2009; Saldaña et al., 2011; Barak and Schroeder, 2012; Olaimat and Holley, 2012). The diffusion of HAP in ecosystems are of scrupulous importance from the perspectives of both biology and evolution of cross-kingdom pathogenesis and/or adaptation (Lenz et al., 2003; Kirzinger et al., 2011). While the majority of published research has focused on describing the enteric HAP, there is no doubt that other HAP can also interact with plants as part of their life-cycle. Here, we surveyed the presence and distribution of HAP taxa (HAPT) in the endosphere of grapevine (Vitis vinifera L.). We used pyrosequencing of the bacterial 16S rDNA gene to identify sequences belonging to genera where HAP are abundant. We present the first (to the authors' best knowledge) report of the occurrence of bacteria in taxa potentially pathogenic to human and animals in the grapevine endosphere.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

SAMPLE COLLECTION AND DNA EXTRACTION

Grapevines samples were taken in Northern Italy. For stem endophytes analysis, 12 plants (7 plants cv Chardonnay and 5 plants cv Merlot) were sampled from vineyards in Trentino, Italy with farmers permission (sites are mapped here: http://goo.gl/maps/ 7AI7j) during the fall of 2010, from October 27th to November 11th. One lateral shoot per plant was removed and stored briefly at 5-10°C. Plant material was pre-processed as described previously (Pancher et al., 2012) and DNA was extracted from surfacedisinfected and aseptically peeled grapevine stems. Briefly, plant material was pulverized in sterile steel jars using liquid nitrogen and a mixer-mill. DNA was extracted from each sample using FastDNA spin kit for soil and a FastPrep-24 mixer (MP Biomedical, USA) according to standard manufacturer protocols. Plants used for leaf endophytes analysis (cv Barbera) were sampled from a vineyard in Lombardia, Italy (site is mapped here: http://goo.gl/5Nfh9R) on October 15th, 2007. Plant leaves were surface-sterilized as previously described (Bulgari et al., 2009) and aseptically prepared for DNA extraction. In a subset of leaf samples DNA isolation was preceded by a microbe enrichment strategy as described in previous studies (Jiao et al., 2006; Bulgari et al., 2009, 2011). Briefly, plant tissues were sterilized, grounded in liquid nitrogen, and aseptically incubated at 28°C for 12 h in gentle agitation in an enzymatic solution (0.1% macerozyme, 1% cellulase, 0.7M mannitol, 5 mM N-morpholinoethanesulfonic acid, 9 mM CaCl₂, and 65 μ M KH₂PO₄). In another subsample, DNA isolation was performed directly after surface sterilization. DNA was extracted for each sample according to the protocol described by Prince et al. (1993) modified by the addition of lysozyme (3 mg/ml), L-lysine (0.15 mol/l), EGTA (6 mmol/l, pH 8.0), and by the incubation at 37°C for 30 min, before the lysis step.

PYROSEQUENCING OF ENDOPHYTIC COMMUNITIES

To obtain amplicons for pyrosequencing, we amplified the 16S rDNA gene from each sample using High Fidelity FastStart DNA polymerase (Roche, USA) and the universal primers 799f/1520r with 454 adaptors and a sample-specific 10-mer barcode (designed following the instructions for Roche 454 technology¹). These primers allow selective amplification of bacterial DNA, targeting 16S rDNA hypervariable regions v5-v9 (Chelius and Triplett, 2001) and minimize the chance of amplification of plastid DNA (Ghyselinck et al., 2013). The PCR product was separated on 1% agarose gel and gel-purified using Invitrogen PureLink (Invitrogen, USA). DNA was quantified via quantitative PCR using the Library quantification kit-Roche 454 titanium (KAPA Biosystems, USA) and pooled in a final amplicon library. The 454 pyrosequencing was carried out at the Sequencing Platform facility in Fondazione Edmund Mach, on the GS FLX+ system using the new XL+ chemistry dedicated to long reads of up to 800 bp, following the manufacturer's recommendations. The new XL+ chemistry coupled with the unidirectional sequencing strategy led to the sequencing of multiple variable regions on a single read and to overcome the bottleneck associated with a short read approach.

DATA ANALYSIS

We generated 16S rDNA gene sequences relative to endophytes from three batches of samples: leaf endophytes with bacterial enrichment, leaf endophytes without enrichment, and stem endophytes. We used Roche 454 GS FLX+ sequencing as described above and analyzed the sequencing output using a standard Qiime pipeline (Caporaso et al., 2010). As a first step we demultiplexed and filtered sequences on the basis of quality score and read length (only sequences with a minimum average score of 20 and length between 250 and 1000 bp were retained), in order to remove short and low quality reads. Moreover, in this step we removed sequences with more than 6 ambiguous bases or with homopolymers longer than 6 bases. We performed chimera identification and filtering using usearch61 (Edgar, 2010). After removing chimeras, we used uclust (Edgar, 2010) for clustering all the sequences into Operational Taxonomic Units (OTUs), by applying a similarity threshold of 97%. This is commonly used to represent species level similarity (although this threshold does not necessarily match with what is regarded as species for many microorganisms) (Crawford et al., 2009). For each OTU we picked a representative sequence using Qiime and we used these sequences to assign a taxonomical identity to each OTU using the RDP classifier (Wang et al., 2007). In this step we used a confidence threshold of 0.8 and e-value < 0.001 against the Greengenes 97% reference data set. Based on taxonomical identity, we manually selected OTUs corresponding to HAPT from all three datasets. To understand the distance between these OTUs and database reference strains, we downloaded 16S rDNA sequences of HAP and non-pathogenic microorganisms from NCBI (www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov) (Altschul et al., 1997) and aligned them to the representative sequences assigned to the

¹http://www.liv.ac.uk/media/livacuk/centreforgenomicresearch/The_GS_FLX_ Titanium_Chemistry_Extended_MID_Set.pdf

same taxon in our datasets. For the alignment we used MUSCLE (Edgar, 2004; Caporaso et al., 2010) and filtered the alignment using Qiime. Then, we built the phylogenetic trees shown in **Figures 1–4** from these alignments using DNAML (Maximum Likelihood) in BioEdit (Hall, 1999) and rendered them using Itol (Letunic and Bork, 2006, 2011). Information on OTU type and abundance was co-displayed with the generated trees. OTUs were colored according to the origin of samples (types: stem, leaf enriched, leaf non-enriched, HAP reference strain, non-pathogenic reference strain). Abundance was displayed as circles for every OTU (abundance is proportional to the circle radius).

The 16S rDNA gene nucleotide sequences, representative of the OTUs identified in this study, are available with NCBI GenBank accession numbers KJ851800-KJ851922 (Supplementary Table 1).

RESULTS

We investigated the composition of bacterial endophytic communities in the grapevine endosphere (both in the leaf and the stem) by pyrosequencing the bacterial 16S rDNA gene. Sequence analysis revealed the presence of several OTUs (70 from enriched leaves, 13 from non-enriched leaves, and 40 from stems, see **Table 1**) classified as HAPT or non-pathogenic taxa closely related to HAPT. We focused our subsequent analysis on four genera containing potential pathogens: *Propionibacterium, Staphylococcus, Clostridium,* and *Burkholderia.*

We inferred phylogenetic trees from the alignment of 16S rDNA nucleotide sequences. OTUs assigned to these taxa were identified, with varying abundance, in enriched and nonenriched leaves and in stems of grapevine. Most OTUs from grapevine leaves were assigned to genera Clostridium (44 and 4 OTUs from enriched- and not-enriched leaves, respectively) and Staphylococcus (17 and 6 OTUs from enriched- and notenriched leaves, respectively), albeit the most abundant OTU from enriched leaf samples (denovo115) was associated with non-pathogenic species of the genus Burkholderia (Figure 2). The most abundant OTU from non-enriched leaves (denovo703) was assigned to a cluster including both pathogenic and non-pathogenic species of the genus Staphylococcus. On the other hand, most OTUs from endophytic bacteria in grapevine stems were assigned to genera Burkholderia (19 OTUs) and Propionibacterium (10 OTUs), although the most abundant OTU





(denovo979) was taxonomically closer to pathogenic species *Staphylococcus epidermidis* (**Figure 3**).

The analysis of the phylogenetic tree of propionibacteria showed three main clades within the *Propionibacterium* genus (**Figure 1**). In detail, all sequences from grapevine leaves and most sequences from the stem clustered (cluster 1) with *Propionibacterium acnes* (which we previously demonstrated to be endocelluarly associated with grapevine stems, Campisano et al., 2014), while other sequences from the stem clustered with the species *P. granulosum* (cluster 2) and *P. avidum* (cluster 3).

Phylogenetic analysis indicated that sequences from grapevine endosphere assigned to the genus *Burkholderia* formed four distinct clusters (**Figure 2**). The first cluster included endophytic bacteria from grapevine leaves grouping with HAP and plant pathogens such as *B. latens*, *B. cepacia*, and *B. gladioli*. The second cluster included bacteria, identified exclusively in stems, grouping with *Burkholderia mallei* (HAP) and *B. pseudomallei* (non-pathogenic endophyte). The third cluster included endophytic bacteria from grapevine leaves and stem, grouping with environmental and endophytic bacteria such as *Burkholderia*

phytofirmans and *B. xenovorans.* The forth cluster included HAP species of the genus *Burkholderia* (*B. kururiensis* and *B. sac-chari*), and consisted of endophytic bacteria identified exclusively in grapevine wood tissues.

The tree obtained by analysis of 16S rDNA sequences assigned to the genus Staphylococcus (Figure 3) revealed that endophytes were distributed in six main clusters. Cluster 1 included sequences from grapevine leaf endophytes strictly related to the HAP species S. saprophyticus and S. haemolyticus, and to the non-pathogenic species S. succinus, S. xylosus, S. lugdunensis, and S. warneri. Cluster 2 included sequences from grapevine leaves and stems grouping with the pathogenic S. aureus, and one OTU from leaf strictly related to non-pathogenic species S. sciuri. The majority of OTUs from grapevine leaf and wood endophytic bacteria clustered together with the pathogenic species S. epidermidis (cluster 3). Cluster 4 included one OTU representing sequences from plant stems grouping closely to non-pathogenic species S. caprae and S. urealyticus. The remaining grapevine sequences, from both leaf and stem, grouped in two unassigned clusters (these OTUs shared sequence identity <97% in comparison with



16S rDNA gene nucleotide sequences previously deposited in GenBank). Blastn (best-hit) of these sequences indicated that the cluster 5 (represented by denovo411 and denovo2021) is related to *S. warneri*, while the cluster 6 (represented by denovo698, denovo2782, and denovo117) to *S. auricularis*.

Sequences identified as genus *Clostridium* (Figure 4) clustered into three groups relative to the tree inferred from the 16S rDNA sequence alignment. Most endophyte sequences in this genus were obtained from grapevine leaf. In detail, the first cluster included endophytic bacteria grouping with HAP such as *Clostridium difficile, C. tetani*, and with non-pathogenic environmental species (*C. vincentii* and *C. bijerinckii*). The second cluster included grapevine endophytic bacteria closely related to HAP *Clostridium botulinum* and *C. perfrigerans*, and non-pathogenic bacteria *C. drakei* and *C. ghonii*. The third cluster contained grapevine endophytic bacteria of the genus *Clostridium* related to unassigned species.

DISCUSSION

In the present study, we investigated microbial communities in the endosphere of grapevine leaves and stems by pyrosequencing and phylogenetic analyses of the 16S rDNA gene. Several endophytic OTUs belonging to four genera (Propionibacterium, Staphylococcus, Clostridium, and Burkholderia), known to include some species recognized as human- and animal-pathogens (HAP), were identified within the characterized microbial communities. Such OTUs were identified in enriched and not-enriched leaves and in grapevine stems. As reported in literature, the specific treatment of leaf samples with cell hydrolytic enzymes (microbe enrichment strategy) releases all microbes living in association with plant tissues (Jiao et al., 2006; Bulgari et al., 2009, 2011), improving the bacterial display and identification. The majority of the bacterial sequences in the genus Propionibacterium, from grapevine leaf and stem, were identified as P. acnes. This species is among the causing agents of acnes and its members are generally associated with human skin, where they feed on fatty acids secreted by sebaceous glands (Webster et al., 1981; Zouboulis, 2004). It also colonizes the human gut (Perry and Lambert, 2011), and is reported as an opportunistic pathogen in post-surgical infections (Nisbet et al., 2007). We previously identified genomic changes in P. acnes type Zappae, tightly associated with grapevines (Campisano et al., 2014). The



the source dataset

and non-pathogenic Reference). The tree was built using a maximum

wide diversity in sequences assigned to genus *Propionibacterium* shows that these endophytes are mostly present in the stem woody tissues (where the majority of sequences is amplified) and only marginally present in leaves, reinforcing the notion of a tight symbiosis of these bacteria with the plant.

The genus Burkholderia includes more than 60 species, some of which are known plant-dwellers (endophytes and epiphytes, Compant et al., 2008). Some species of Burkholderia, such as B. mallei and B. cepacia (Burkholderia cepacia complex, BCC), are recognized as HAP and plant pathogens (Govan et al., 1996; LiPuma, 1998; Coenye and Vandamme, 2003). Recently, Burkholderia species had gained considerable importance owing to their pathogenicity, but two findings had a strong impact on their ecological perception: (i) the identification of nitrogen fixation in Burkholderia species other than B. vietnamiensis (which belongs to the BCC), such as B. brasilensis M130 and B. kururiensis, and (ii) the description of legumenodulating Burkholderia and their subsequent characterization as genuine endosymbionts (Suarez-Moreno et al., 2012). We found sequences clustering with such pathogenic Burkholderia in grapevine leaves. Stem-associated Burkholderia OTUs either grouped with non-pathogenic (or plant beneficial) species such as *B. phytofirmans* (Sessitsch et al., 2005) and *B. xenovorans* (Caballero-Mellado et al., 2007), or formed a separate phylogenetic group very similar to *B. kururiensis* and *B. sacchari*, by blastn analysis of best hit.

We can speculate that the presence of potentially pathogenic Burkholderia associated sequences in leaf green tissues but not in the woody stems represents a difference in the ecology of the plant-beneficial burkholderias from the HAP ones. All tissues in the leaf are in close proximity of the plant surface, while stem-associated tissues are possibly more difficult to colonize by transient colonizers. This may explain why plant-beneficial burkholderias were found mainly in the plant woody stem, while HAP ones only survive in leaves. We also noted that highly represented Burkholderia OTUs belong to the cluster including plant-associated species B. phytofirmans and B. xenovorans or to the clusters including B. kururiensis and B. sacchari, while the potentially pathogenic ones are in much lower numbers. B. phytofirmans is one of most studied endophytes. This strain was visualized colonizing the grapevine root surface, entering the endorhiza and spreading to grape inflorescence stalks, pedicels

Dataset	Plant	Total		total		Б	OTUs of HAPT			Ŗ	Read of HAPT	
	samples	reads	reads filtering	OTUs B	3urkholderia	Clostridium	Propionibacterium	Staphylococcus	Burkholderia	Clostridium	Burkholderia Clostridium Propionibacterium Staphylococcus Burkholderia Clostridium Propionibacterium Staphylococcus	Staphylococcu
Leaf enriched	56	201517	175578	2937	ω	44	-	17	3095	3394	92	2139
Leaf not enriched	42	214376	186114	724	2	4	-	9	248	41	150	1652
Wood	12	97399	84750	1069	19	2	10	o	2922	42	2371	2748

Table 1 | Specifics for each datasets: number of samples collected, number of reads retained after quality filtering, OTUs retained after singleton removal, OTUs assigned to HAPTs and

and then to immature berries through xylem vessels (Compant et al., 2008). We also reported in this work as one of the most abundant burkholderias in grapevine.

OTUs from grapevine leaves were mostly identified as genera Clostridium and Staphylococcus. These taxa include endophytic OTUs closely related to the pathogenic species Staphylococcus saprophyticus, S. aureus, and S. epidermidis. Quite interestingly, most Staphylococcus sequences appeared to associate taxonomically with S. epidermidis (Figure 3). S. epidermidis colonizes the epithelial surfaces of every human being. Furthermore, it is one of the most common causes of nosocomial infections. In addition to the abundant prevalence of S. epidermidis on the human skin, this high incidence is mainly due to the exceptional capacity of S. epidermidis to stick to the surfaces of indwelling medical devices during device insertion (Otto, 2008, 2009). At our knowledge this is the first report of pathogenic Staphylococcus associated sequences in plants.

Almost all the endophytic sequences assigned to the genus Clostridium were amplified from grapevine leaf DNA. This group included sequences grouping with HAP such as Clostridium difficile, C. perfrigens, C. botulinum, and C. tetani. A major factor important to the colonization of plants is how long bacteria persist in the soil before dying. Clostridium spores persisted in soil for 16 months and were found on the leaves of parlsey grown in the contaminated soil (Girardin et al., 2005). We can speculate that the presence of *Clostridium*, human and animal pathogenic taxa (HAPT) in grapevine leaves could be related to long-lasting spore contamination. Honey sometimes contains spores of C. botulinum, which may cause infant botulism in humans 1 year old and younger. The toxin eventually paralyzes the infant's breathing muscles (Tanzi and Gabay, 2002). C. diffi*cile* can flourish when other bacteria in the gut are killed during antibiotic therapy, leading to pseudomembranous colitis (a cause of antibiotic-associated diarrhea).

HAPT were indentified both in leaves and wood of grapevines. This depicts the ability of these pathogens to be internalized within plant tissues. Isolation of human pathogenic enterobacteria from within the tissue of fresh and minimally prepared produce has been reported (Eblen et al., 2004; Shi et al., 2007; Soto et al., 2007; Holden et al., 2009). Furthermore, it appears that once a plant has been colonized by bacteria there is the potential for vertical transmission to successive generations, as demonstrated for S. typhimurium on tomatoes (Guo et al., 2001). The exploration of endophytic communities, using metagenomebased community analyses (Bulgarelli et al., 2012; Lundberg et al., 2012) coupled with the exploration of the pathogenic potential of pathogens, are beginning to reveal that many HAP are capable of exploiting plant hosts. This means the apparent pathogens may have adapted to the plants and have become plant symbionts, for at least one stage of their life cycle. This also shows the ability and potential of HAP to persist on multiple hosts, with plants serving as intermediate hosts or reservoirs for them. The ability of these pathogens to maintain their population levels in a variety of environments likely increases their pan genome and evolutionary potential (Campisano et al., 2014). Although we focused on four genera (Propionibacterium, Staphylococcus, Clostridium, and Burkholderia) only, we identified several other taxa known

for harboring HAP bacteria. Our analysis highlighted the presence of potential HAPT in the grapevine endosphere and, to the authors' knowledge, represents the first report of the unexpected occurrence of these bacterial taxa in this atypical (yet crucially important for agriculture) environment.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was funded by Provincia Autonoma di Trento, progetto PAT—Call 2 Team 2009—Incoming–Mecagrafic. We thank COST Action FA1103 for supporting this work.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: http://www.frontiersin.org/journal/10.3389/fmicb.2014. 00327/abstract

REFERENCES

- Akhtyamova, N. (2013). Human pathogens on or within the plant and useful endophytes. *Cell Dev. Biol.* 2:e119. doi: 10.4172/2168-9296.1000e119
- Altschul, S. F., Madden, T. L., Schäffer, A. A., Zhang, J., Zhang, Z., Miller, W., et al. (1997). Gapped BLAST and PSI-BLAST: a new generation of protein database search programs. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 25, 3389–3402. doi: 10.1093/nar/25.17.3389
- Barak, J. D., and Schroeder, B. K. (2012). Interrelationships of food safety and plant pathology: the life cycle of human pathogens on plants. *Annu. Rev. Phytopathol.* 50, 241–266. doi: 10.1146/annurev-phyto-081211-172936
- Berger, C. N., Sodha, S. V., Shaw, R. K., Griffin, P. M., Pink, D., Hand, P., et al. (2010). Fresh fruit and vegetables as vehicles for the transmission of human pathogens. *Environ. Microbiol.* 12, 2385–2397. doi: 10.1111/j.1462-2920.2010.02297.x
- Bulgarelli, D., Rott, M., Schlaeppi, K., Ver Loren van Themaat, E., Ahmadinejad, N., Assenza, F., et al. (2012). Revealing structure and assembly cues for *Arabidopsis* root-inhabiting bacterial microbiota. *Nature* 488, 91–95. doi: 10.1038/nature11336
- Bulgari, D., Casati, P., Brusetti, L., Quaglino, F., Brasca, M., Daffonchio, D., et al. (2009). Endophytic bacterial diversity in grapevine (*Vitis vinifera* L.) leaves described by 16SrRNA gene sequence analysis and length heterogeneity-PCR. *J. Microbiol.* 47, 393–401. doi: 10.1007/s12275-009-0082-1
- Bulgari, D., Casati, P., Crepaldi, P., Daffonchio, D., Quaglino, F., Brusetti, L., et al. (2011). Restructuring of endophytic bacterial communities in grapevine yellows-diseased and recovered *Vitis vinifera* L. plants. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 77, 5018–5022. doi: 10.1128/AEM.00051-11
- Caballero-Mellado, J., Onofre-Lemus, J., Estrada-de los Santos, P., and Martinez-Aguilar, L. (2007). The tomato rhizosphere, an environment rich in nitrogenfixing *Burkholderia* species with capabilities of interest for agriculture and bioremediation. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 73, 5308–5319. doi: 10.1128/AEM. 00324-07
- Campisano, A., Ometto, L., Compant, S., Pancher, M., Antonielli, L., Yousaf, S., et al. (2014). Interkingdom transfer of the acne causing agent, *Propionibacterium acnes*, from human to grapevine. *Mol. Biol. Evol.* 31, 1059–1065. doi: 10.1093/molbev/msu075
- Caporaso, J. G., Kuczynski, J., Stombaugh, J., Bittinger, K., Bushman, F. D., Costello, E. K., et al. (2010). QIIME allows analysis of high-throughput community sequencing data. *Nat. Methods* 7, 335–336. doi: 10.1038/nmeth.f.303
- Chelius, M. K., and Triplett, E. W. (2001). The diversity of archaea and bacteria in association with the roots of *Zea mays* L. *Microb. Ecol.* 41, 252–263. doi: 10.1007/s002480000087
- Coenye, T., and Vandamme, P. (2003). Diversity and significance of *Burkholderia* species occupying diverse ecological niches. *Environ. Microbiol.* 5, 719–729. doi: 10.1046/j.1462-2920.2003.00471.x
- Compant, S., Duffy, B., Nowak, J., Clement, C., and Barka, E. A. (2005). Use of plant growth-promoting bacteria for biocontrol of plant diseases: principles, mechanisms of action, and future prospects. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 71, 4951–4959. doi: 10.1128/AEM.71.9.4951-4959.2005
- Compant, S., Nowak, J., Coenye, T., Clement, C., and Ait Barka, E. (2008). Diversit and occurrence of *Burkholderia* spp. in the natural environment. *FEMS Microbiol. Rev.* 32, 607–626. doi: 10.1111/j.1574-6976.2008.00113.x

- Crawford, P. A., Crowley, J. R., Sambandam, N., Muegge, B. D., Costello, E. K., Hamady, M., et al. (2009). Regulation of myocardial ketone body metabolism by the gut microbiota during nutrient deprivation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 11276–11281. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0902366106
- Eblen, B. S., Walderhaug, M. O., Edelson-Mammel, S., Chirtel, S. J., De Jesus, A., Merker, R. I., et al. (2004). Potential for internalization, growth, and survival of *Salmonella* and *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in oranges. *J. Food Protect.* 67, 1578–1584.
- Edgar, R. C. (2004). MUSCLE: multiple sequence alignment with high accuracy and high throughput. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 32, 1792–1797. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkh340
- Edgar, R. C. (2010). Search and clustering orders of magnitude faster than BLAST. *Bioinformatics* 26, 2460–2461. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/btq461
- Enders, U., Karch, H., Toyka, K. V., Michels, M., Zielasek, J., Pette, M., et al. (1993). The spectrum of immune responses to *Campylobacter jejuni*and glycoconjugates in Guillain-Barre syndrome and in other neuroimmunological disorders. *Ann. Neurol.* 34, 136–144. doi: 10.1002/ana.410340208
- Erickson, M. (2012). Internalization of fresh produce by foodborne pathogens. Annu. Rev. Food Sci. Technol. 3, 283–310. doi: 10.1146/annurev-food-022811-101211
- Ghyselinck, J., Pfeiffer, S., Heylen, K., Sessitsch, A., and De Vos, P. (2013). The effect of primer choice and short read sequences on the outcome of 16S rRNAgene based diversity studies. *PLoS ONE* 8:e71360. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0071360
- Girardin, H., Morris, C. E., Albagnac, C., Dreux, N., Glaux, C., and Nguyen-The, C. (2005). Behaviour of the pathogen surrogates *Listeria innocua* and *Clostridium sporogenes* during production of parsley in fields fertilized with contaminated amendments. *FEMS Microbiol. Ecol.* 54, 287–295. doi: 10.1016/j.femsec.2005.04.003
- Govan, J. R., Hughes, J. E., and Vandamme, P. (1996). Burkholderiacepacia: medical, taxonomic and ecological issues. J. Med. Microbiol. 45, 395–407. doi: 10.1099/00222615-45-6-395
- Guo, X., Chen, J., Brackett, R. E., and Beuchat, L. R. (2001). Survival of Salmonellae on and in tomato plants from the time of inoculation at flowering and early stages of fruit development through fruit ripening. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 67, 4760–4764. doi: 10.1128/AEM.67.10.4760-4764.2001
- Hall, T. A. (1999). BioEdit: a user-friendly biological sequence alignment editor and analysis program for Windows 95/98/NT. Nucleic Acids Symp. Ser. 41, 95–98.
- Holden, N., Pritchard, L., and Toth, I. (2009). Colonization outwith the colon: plants as an alternative environmental reservoir for human pathogenic enterobacteria. *FEMS Microbiol. Rev.* 33, 689–703. doi: 10.1111/j.1574-6976.2008.00153.x
- Jiao, J. Y., Wang, H. X., Zeng, Y., and Shen, Y. M. (2006). Enrichmentfor microbes living in association with plant tissues. J. Appl. Microbiol. 100, 830–837. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2672.2006.02830.x
- Kirzinger, M. W. B., Nadarasah, G., and Stavrinides, J. (2011). Insights into cross-kingdom plant pathogenic bacteria. *Genes* 2, 980–997. doi: 10.3390/genes2040980
- Kutter, S., Hartmann, A., and Schmid, M. (2006). Colonization of barley (Hordeum vulgare) with Salmonella enterica and Listeria spp. FEMS Microbiol. Ecol. 56, 262–271. doi: 10.1111/j.1574-6941.2005.00053.x
- Lenz, L. L., Mohammadi, S., Geissler, A., and Portnoy, D. A. (2003). SecA2dependent secretion of autolytic enzymes promotes *Listeria monocytogenes* pathogenesis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 100, 12432–12437. doi: 10.1073/pnas.2133653100
- Letunic, I., and Bork, P. (2006). Interactive tree of life (iTOL): an online tool for phylogenetic tree display and annotation. *Bioinformatics* 23, 127–128. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/btl529
- Letunic, I., and Bork, P. (2011). Interactive tree of life v2: online annotation and display of phylogenetic trees made easy. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 39, W475–W478. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkr201
- LiPuma, J. J. (1998). Burkholderia cepacia. Management issues and new insights. *Clin. Chest Med.* 19, 473–486. doi: 10.1016/S0272-5231(05)70094-0
- Lugtenberg, B., and Kamilova, F. (2009). Plant-growth-promoting rhizobacteria. Annu. Rev. Microbiol. 63, 541–556. doi: 10.1146/annurev.micro.62.081307. 162918
- Lundberg, D. S., Lebeis, S. L., Paredes, S. H., Yourstone, S., Gehring, J., Malfatti, S., et al. (2012). Defining the core *Arabidopsisthaliana* root microbiome. *Nature* 488, 86–90. doi: 10.1038/nature11237

- Lynch, M. F., Tauxe, R. V., and Hedberg, C. W. (2009). The growing burden of foodborne outbreaks due to contaminated fresh produce: risks and opportunities. *Epidemiol. Infect.* 137, 307–315. doi: 10.1017/S0950268808001969
- Nisbet, M., Briggs, S., Ellis-Pegler, R., Thomas, M., and Holland, D. (2007). Propionibacterium acnes: an under-appreciated cause of post-neurosurgical infection. J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 60, 1097–1103. doi: 10.1093/jac/ dkm351
- Olaimat, A. N., and Holley, R. A. (2012). Factors influencing the microbial safety of fresh produce: a review. *Food Microbiol.* 32, 1–19. doi: 10.1016/j.fm.2012.04.016
- Otto, M. (2008). Staphylococcal biofilms. Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol. 322, 207–228. doi: 10.1007/978-3-540-75418-3_10
- Otto, M. (2009). Staphylococcus epidermidis the "accidental" pathogen. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* 7, 555–567. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro2182
- Pancher, M., Ceol, M., Corneo, P. E., Longa, C. M., Yousaf, S., Pertot, I., et al. (2012). Fungal endophytic communities in grapevines (*Vitisvinifera* L.) respond to crop management. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 78, 4308–4317. doi: 10.1128/AEM.07655-11
- Perry, A., and Lambert, P. (2011). Propionibacterium acnes: infection beyond the skin. Expert. Rev. Anti. Infect. Ther. 9, 1149–1156. doi: 10.1586/eri.11.137
- Prince, J. P., Davis, R. E., Wolf, T. K., Lee, I. M., Mogen, B. D., Dally, E. L., et al. (1993). Moleculardetection of diverse mycoplasma like organisms (MLOs) associated with grapevine yellows and their classification with asteryellows MLOs. *Phytopathology* 83, 1130–1137. doi: 10.1094/Phyto-83-1130
- Rosenblueth, M., and Martinez-Romero, E. (2006). Bacterial endophytes and their interactions with hosts. *Mol. Plant Microbe Interact.* 19, 827–837. doi: 10.1094/MPMI-19-0827
- Saldaña, Z., Sánchez, E., Xicohtencatl-Cortes, J., Puente, J. L., and Giron, J. A. (2011). Surface structures involved in plant stomata and leaf colonization by Shiga-toxigenic *Escherichia coli* O157:H7. *Front. Microbiol.* 2:119. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2011.00119
- Schulz, B., and Boyle, C. (2006). What are Endophytes? Berlin: Springer-Verlang.
- Sessitsch, A., Coenye, T., Sturz, A. V., Vandamme, P., Ait Barka, E., Faure, D., et al. (2005). Burkholderia phytofirmans sp. nov., a novel plant-associated bacterium with plant beneficial properties. *Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol.* 55, 1187–1192. doi: 10.1099/ijs.0.63149-0
- Shi, X., Namvar, A., Kostrzynska, M., Hora, R., and Warriner, K. (2007). Persistence and growth of different *Salmonellaserovars* on preand postharvest tomatoes. *J. Food Protect.* 70, 2725–2731.
- Soto, M., Chavez, G., Baez, M., Martinez, C., and Chaidez, C. (2007). Internalization of *Salmonella typhimurium* into mango pulp and prevention of fruit pulp contamination by chlorine and copper ions. *Int. J. Environ. Health Res.* 17, 453–459. doi: 10.1080/09603120701695593

- Suarez-Moreno, Z. R., Caballero-Mellado, J., Coutinho, B. G., Mendonça-Previato, L., James, E. K., and Venturi, V. (2012). Common features of environmental and potentially beneficial plant-associated burkholderia. *Microb. Ecol.* 63, 249–256. doi: 10.1007/s00248-011-9929-1
- Tanzi, M. G., and Gabay, M. P. (2002). Association between honey consumption and infant botulism. *Pharmacotherapy* 22, 1479–1483. doi: 10.1592/phco.22.16.1479.33696
- Teplitski, M., Barak, J. D., and Schneider, K. R. (2009). Human enteric pathogens in produce: un-answered ecological questions with direct implications for food safety. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.* 20, 166–171. doi: 10.1016/j.copbio.2009.03.002
- Tyler, H. L., and Triplett, E. W. (2008). Plants as a habitat for beneficial and/or human pathogenic bacteria. *Annu. Rev. Phytopathol.* 46, 53–73. doi: 10.1146/annurev.phyto.011708.103102
- Wagenaar, J. (2008). "Poultry colonization with *Campylobacter* and its control at the primary production level, Chapter 37," in *Campylobacter*, eds C. S. I. N. Nachamkin, C. M. Scymanski, and M. Blaser (Washington, DC: ASM Press), 667–678.
- Wang, Q., Garrity, G. M., Tiedje, J. M., and Cole, J. R. (2007). Naive Bayesian classifier for rapid assignment of rRNA sequences into the new bacterial taxonomy. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 73, 5261–5267. doi: 10.1128/AEM.00062-07
- Webster, G. F., Ruggieri, M. R., and McGinley, K. J. (1981). Correlation of *Propionibacterium acnes* populations with the presence of triglycerides on nonhuman skin. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 41, 1269–1270.
- Zouboulis, C. C. (2004). Acne and sebaceous gland function. Clin. Dermatol. 22, 360–366. doi: 10.1016/j.clindermatol.2004.03.004

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 01 April 2014; accepted: 14 June 2014; published online: 08 July 2014.

Citation: Yousaf S, Bulgari D, Bergna A, Pancher M, Quaglino F, Casati P and Campisano A (2014) Pyrosequencing detects human and animal pathogenic taxa in the grapevine endosphere. Front. Microbiol. **5**:327. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2014.00327

This article was submitted to Plant-Microbe Interaction, a section of the journal Frontiers in Microbiology.

Copyright © 2014 Yousaf, Bulgari, Bergna, Pancher, Quaglino, Casati and Campisano. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Colonization of plants by human pathogenic bacteria in the course of organic vegetable production

Andreas Hofmann[†], Doreen Fischer[†], Anton Hartmann and Michael Schmid *

Department of Environmental Sciences, Research Unit Microbe-Plant Interactions, Helmholtz Zentrum München, German Research Center for Environmental Health (GmbH), Neuherberg, Germany

Edited by:

Nicola Holden, The James Hutton Institute, UK

Reviewed by:

Eelco Franz, Centre for Infectious Disease Control, Netherlands Zhao Chen, Clemson University, USA

*Correspondence:

Michael Schmid, Department of Environmental Sciences, Research Unit Microbe-Plant Interactions, Helmholtz Zentrum München, German Research Center for Environmental Health (GmbH), Ingolstaedter Landstrasse 1, D-85764, Neuherberg, Germany e-mail: michael.schmid@ helmholtz-muenchen.de

[†]Present address:

Andreas Hofmann and Doreen Fischer, Research Unit Environmental Genomics, Helmholtz Zentrum München, German Research Center for Environmental Health (GmbH), Neuherberg, Germany

In recent years, increasing numbers of outbreaks caused by the consumption of vegetables contaminated with human pathogenic bacteria were reported. The application of organic fertilizers during vegetable production is one of the possible reasons for contamination with those pathogens. In this study laboratory experiments in axenic and soil systems following common practices in organic farming were conducted to identify the minimal dose needed for bacterial colonization of plants and to identify possible factors like bacterial species or serovariation, plant species or organic fertilizer types used, influencing the success of plant colonization by human pathogenic bacteria. Spinach and corn salad were chosen as model plants and were inoculated with different concentrations of Salmonella enterica sv. Weltevreden, Listeria monocytogenes sv. 4b and EGD-E sv. 1/2a either directly (axenic system) or via agricultural soil amended with spiked organic fertilizers (soil system). In addition to PCR- and culture-based detection methods, fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH) was applied in order to localize bacteria on or in plant tissues. Our results demonstrate that shoots were colonized by the pathogenic bacteria at inoculation doses as low as 4×10 CFU/ml in the axenic system or 4×10^5 CFU/g in the soil system. In addition, plant species dependent effects were observed. Spinach was colonized more often and at lower inoculation doses compared to corn salad. Differential colonization sites on roots, depending on the plant species could be detected using FISH-CLSM analysis. Furthermore, the transfer of pathogenic bacteria to plants via organic fertilizers was observed more often and at lower initial inoculation doses when fertilization was performed with inoculated slurry compared to inoculated manure. Finally, it could be shown that by introducing a simple washing step, the bacterial contamination was reduced in most cases or even was removed completely in some cases.

Keywords: organic food, vegetable, organic fertilizer, Salmonella enterica, Listeria monocytogenes

INTRODUCTION

The consumption of vegetables is essential for a healthy nutrition and is recommended by different health organization in order to provide minerals and vitamins as well as for the prevention of cardiovascular diseases (World Health Organization, 2003; United States Department of Agriculture, 2011). In the years 1997–1999 an increase of the consumption of fresh vegetables was recorded in the USA, staying on this high level for the following years (Blanck et al., 2008; Berger et al., 2010). Most of this food is consumed raw or after minimal processing. Therefore, it is crucial to avoid its contamination with human pathogenic bacteria, viruses or health threatening substances throughout the production chain. Nevertheless, in the last years an increasing number of outbreaks caused by the consumption of vegetables contaminated with human pathogenic bacteria were reported (Sivapalasingam et al., 2004; Heaton and Jones, 2008). For example, in 2007 lettuce was the one of the three most frequent sources of foodborne disease outbreaks in the USA (Center of Disease Control and Prevention, 2010).

Salmonella enterica and *Listeria monocytogenes* are two foodborne human pathogens involved in many outbreaks. In the years 2002-2007 S. enterica was the most frequent causative agent of foodborne diseases in the USA. The largest outbreak in this time period with 802 documented patients was traced back to the consumption of "hummus" (mashed chickpeas) contaminated with this bacterium (Center of Disease Control and Prevention, 2010). Hanning et al. (2009) summed up S. enterica outbreaks in the USA based on the consumption of fresh produce showing that many different vegetable plant species were involved in those outbreaks. Due to its importance as produce contaminant much research has been done in this direction proving the high potential of S. enterica to colonize surfaces as well as interior of various plants (Brandl, 2006; Berger et al., 2010; Krtinić et al., 2010). Listeria monocytogenes outbreaks based on the consumption of fresh produce were reported in lower numbers compared to those derived from other food sources (US Food and Drug Administration, 2003). Nevertheless, a recent outbreak of listeriosis in the USA in 2011 was caused by the consumption of contaminated cantaloupes (Center of Disease Control and Prevention, 2011). Also in sporadic cases of infections with L. monocytogenes, vegetables were identified as causative food source (Farber and Peterkin, 1991). However, in a high number of outbreaks or

single cases, no specific food source could be identified, because of the very long incubation time until appearance of listeriosis symptoms (McLauchlin, 1996). Therefore, the US food and drug administration (FDA) as well as the EU dictate a zero tolerance policy for *S. enterica* and *L. moncytogenes* in ready to eat food throughout the production chain, although the EU-legislation allows 100 CFU of *L. moncytogenes* in 25 g of sample material, for food already placed on the marked.

Various possibilities of contamination with human pathogenic bacteria exist within the vegetable production chain. For example, bacteria could be transferred to the plants by contaminated irrigation water, via soil or direct contact (Wachtel et al., 2002). Different wild animals were also proven to be possible carrier of various human pathogenic bacteria (Palmgren et al., 1997; Makino et al., 2000; Handeland et al., 2002; Millan et al., 2004; Renter et al., 2006; Hellström et al., 2008; Sánchez et al., 2010; Wacheck et al., 2010; Vieira-Pinto et al., 2011). It cannot be excluded that those animals can access the agricultural fields and directly contact the plants grown there. The fertilization with slurry or manure is an additional way of contamination (Chen and Jiang, 2014). It has been shown that organic fertilizers can contain various human pathogenic bacteria (Hutchison et al., 2004, 2005). A transfer via direct contact with the plants or indirectly via the fertilized soil is therefore possible. In order to enable a reduction of the pathogen load in the soil the US government dictates that organic fertilizer has to be incorporated not less than 120 days before harvest of plants. However, regulations regarding the time point of organic fertilizer application strongly differ between countries. Furthermore, contamination of produce may also occur in postharvest processing steps. For example L. monocytogenes was detected in samples of the food processing environment like door handles, floors and walls (O'Connor et al., 2010). Similar results for S. enterica were obtained in a comparable study (Lettini et al., 2012). Those bacteria can also form biofilms on stainless steel surfaces and by that be protected from disinfection (Sinde and Carballo, 2000).

Based on the hypothesis that most of the contaminations of vegetable plants by human pathogenic bacteria can effectively be reduced already at farm level, this study focuses on the first steps of the organic vegetable production chain at the farm level until harvest. In order to demonstrate the influence of plant host species and bacterial species on plant colonization success, the minimal bacterial infection doses of the selected bacterial strains S. enterica sv. Weltevreden, L. monocytogenes sv. 4b and L. monocytogenes EGD-E sv.1/2a needed for the colonization of spinach or corn salad plants were determined in inoculation experiments. The S. enterica sv. Weltevreden strain used in this study was originally isolated from an outbreak of salmonellosis caused by the consumption of contaminated alfalfa sprouts (Emberland et al., 2007). The L. monocytogenes serotypes 1/2a and 4b were selected because of their high clinical relevance as causative strains of a large number of listeriosis cases. To meet the zero tolerance policy in ready to eat foods throughout the production chain for the contamination with L. monocytogenes and S. enterica, another objective was to develop and apply a most sensitive and reliable combination of cultivation enrichment and PCR-detection approach for the studied pathogenic bacteria. Furthermore, the

colonization sites of the inoculated bacterial species on plant roots were identified by combining fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH) and confocal laser scanning microscopy (CLSM). The growth conditions in the axenic system as well as the absence of competition by soil bacteria might enhance bacterial colonization of plants (Klerks et al., 2007). Therefore, and in order to verify the results of the inoculation experiments, regarding the influence of plant- as well as bacterial species, in a more natural system, experiments in a soil system using spiked manure or slurry for fertilization of the plants were applied. By this, the influence of the type of organic fertilizer used, on plant colonization by the selected human pathogenic bacteria was analyzed. The results presented identified factors influencing the frequency of colonization of vegetable plants by human pathogenic bacteria. This may help to minimize the risk of produce contamination already at the farm level and thus may increase the safety for the consumer.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

PLANT SPECIES AND BACTERIAL STRAINS

Spinach (*Spinacia oleracea*) variety "Butterflay" and corn salad (*Vallerianella locusta*) variety "Verte á ceour plein 2" (Bingenheimer Saatgut AG, Echzell-Bingenheim, Germany) and three bacterial strains were used for inoculation experiments: *L. monocytogenes* EGD-E sv. 1/2a (DSM20600, Deutsche Stammsammlung von Mikroorganismen und Zellkulturen GmbH, DSMZ, Germany), *L. monocytogenes* sv. 4b (SLCC4013, special *Listeria* culture collection, Würzburg, Germany) and *S. enterica* sv. Weltevreden (2007-60-3289-, culture collection, zoonosis laboratory, DTU-FOOD, Denmark).

PREPARATION OF PLANT SEEDLINGS

Plant seeds were surface sterilized according to the protocol published by Rothballer et al. (2003) with slight modifications. The seeds were washed in 1% Tween80 (2 min) and subsequent in 70% ethanol (2 min) followed by three washing steps in sterile deionized water. After an incubation step in 13% sodium hypochlorite solution (Sigma-Aldrich® Co., St. Louis, USA) (20 min) seeds were again washed three times in sterile deionized water, incubated in sterile deionized water for 4 h followed by a second incubation step in 13% sodium hypochlorite solution for 10 min. Five washing steps in sterile deionized water completed the surface sterilization. Seeds were then placed on NB (Nutrient Broth) agar plates and incubated for 3 days at room temperature in the dark to allow germination and to control the success of surface sterilization. Only germinated seedling showing no visible contamination were used for further experiments.

INOCULATION EXPERIMENTS IN AN AXENIC MODEL SYSTEM

Listeria monocytogenes strains were cultivated in Brain-Heart-Infusion (BHI) liquid media at 30°C and *S. enterica* sv. Weltevreden in buffered peptone water (BPW) at 37°C over night. The bacterial cells were washed and afterwards diluted in 1 × PBS to a final density of 4×10^8 CFU/ml. The germinated seedlings were inoculated for 1 h in different dilutions ranging from 4×10 to 4×10^6 CFU/ml of the different bacterial strains. Non-inoculated seedlings were used as control. After inoculation seedlings were planted to sterile "Phytatray 2"-boxes (Sigma-Aldrich[®] Co., St. Louis, USA) filled with 20 ml sterile quartz sand and 10 ml MS (Murashige and Skoog) medium (Sigma-Aldrich[®] Co., St. Louis, USA). Three boxes with four seedlings per box were prepared for each inoculation dose. Plants were grown for 3 weeks in a phytochamber (humidity: 50%, day length: 14 h, day temperature: 23°C, night temperature: 18°C, light intensity: 360 μ mol/m²s) until harvest.

SPIKING EXPERIMENTS IN THE SOIL SYSTEM

Fresh, not processed organic bovine slurry and manure as well as organically managed agricultural soil (Ap horizon) obtained from the "Versuchsgut Scheyern" of the Helmholtz Zentrum München used in this study were initially tested for the presence of L. monocytogenes and S. enterica using enrichment as well as PCR-methods. Only organic fertilizer and soil considered free of those bacteria were used for further experiments. Bacterial strains were prepared as decribed above and added to slurry and manure at concentrations of 4×10^5 , 4×10^6 , 4×10^7 , and 4×10^8 CFU/ml slurry or CFU/mg manure. Five hundred grams of fresh weight of agricultural soil were mixed with 100 ml deionized water and 20 g of spiked manure or 30 ml of spiked slurry and filled into planting pots. The amount of organic fertilizer used is in accordance to usual farming practice (2-4 kg/m² for manure, $3-61/m^2$ for slurry). The final bacterial concentrations in the soil were 2.4×10^4 , 2.4×10^5 , 2.4×10^6 , and 2.4×10^7 CFU/g for slurry setups and 1.6×10^4 , 1.6×10^5 , 1.6×10^6 , and 1.6×10^7 CFU/g for manure. After a preincubation of the pots for 3 days at room temperature in a mini greenhouse (Edm. Romberg & Sohn GmbH & Co. KG, Ellerau, Germany), the sterile seedlings were planted in the pots. Three pots with four seedlings each were used per dilution step and incubated for 4 weeks in a phytochamber with the settings described above. Pots prepared with non-spiked organic fertilizer served as negative control.

SAMPLING AND SAMPLE PREPARATION

Plant samples of the axenic system were taken in triplicates whereas five samples per treatment were taken from the soil system. After harvest, root and shoot of the plants were separated aseptically. The plant parts were washed in 30 ml of $1 \times PBS$ and afterwards ground in $1 \text{ ml } 1 \times \text{PBS}$. One milliliter of the resulting cell suspension was used for enrichment cultures. Also the $1 \times PBS$ used for washing was further processed. After a cell harvest for 10 min at 6000 rpm the resulting pellet was resuspended in 2 ml of 1 × PBS. Again 1 ml of the cell suspension was used for further enrichment. Additionally, fixed samples of plant parts were prepared after cutting off parts of roots and shoots. Salmonella enterica inoculated or spiked samples were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) according to Amann et al. (1990), whereas L. monocytogenes inoculated or spiked samples were fixed in 1:1 Ethanol/PBS (Roller et al., 1994). Fixed plant samples were stored at -20°C in 1:1 Ethanol/PBS until further processing.

ENRICHMENT OF THE BACTERIA

For the selective enrichment of *Listeria* spp. 1 ml of cell suspension was added to 9 ml Buffered-*Listeria*-Enrichment-Broth (BLEB) (Merck KGaA, Darmstadt, Germany). After 2 h of

preincubation at 30°C *Listeria*-Selective-Enrichment supplement (Merck KGaA, Darmstadt, Germany) was added and the culture was further incubated at 30°C. After 24 h, 48 h, and 7 days 0.1 ml of the enrichment culture were transferred to 10 ml Half-Fraser-Bouillon (Merck KGaA, Darmstadt, Germany) and incubated aerobically at 37°C. Enrichment culture dependent detection of *Listeria* spp. was conducted after 24 and 48 h using Oxford-Agarplates (Merck KGaA, Darmstadt, Germany) and Palcam-Agarplates (Merck KGaA, Darmstadt, Germany) inoculated with the second enrichment culture. In case of a detection of *Listeria* spp. Rapid'L.mono medium (Bio-Rad Laboratories GmbH, Munich, Germany) plates were used to identify *L. monocytogenes*. After inoculation, the identification plates were incubated at 37°C for 48 h.

In order to enrich *S. enterica* cells, 1 ml of cell suspension was added to 9 ml of BPW and incubated aerobically 37°C for 24 h. Afterwards cultures were streaked out on Xylose-Lysine-Deoxycholat (XLD) agar plates (Fluka, Buchs, Switzerland) and incubated at 37°C for 24 h in order to identify *Salmonella* spp.

DNA-EXTRACTION

DNA-extraction was conducted for *L. monocytogenes* after 48 h of enrichment in BLEB and for *S. enterica* after 24 h of enrichment in BPW. Cells of 2 ml enrichment culture were harvested at 6000 rpm for 10 min. *Salmonella enterica* samples were processed directly whereas the pellet *L. monocytogenes* enrichment cultures was resuspended in 50 μ l of 300 U/ml Mutanolysin (Sigma-Aldrich® Co., St. Louis, USA) and incubated for 30 min at 37°C in order to increase the DNA-yield (Fliss et al., 1991). DNA-extraction was conducted using the "Bio 101 FastDNA® SPIN Kit for Soil" and the "Fast-Prep-Instrument" (MP-Biomedicals LLC., Solon, USA) following the manufacturers' instructions. Quality and quantity of the extracted DNA was analyzed using a ND-1000 Nanodrop-photometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, USA) and stored at -20° C until further processing.

PCR-BASED DETECTION OF L. MONOCYTOGENES AND S. ENTERICA

The specific PCR-detection of L. monocytogenes was conducted using the *iap* targeted primerset MonoA/MonoB described by Bubert et al. (1992) and the detection of S. enterica by using the inv-A specific Primerset inv-Af/inv-Ar described by Rahn et al. (1992). The "Top Tag Polymerase" system (QIAGEN, Hilden, Germany) was applied for all PCR reactions following the manufacturers protocols. In order to increase specificity a "Touchdown-PCR" program (Don et al., 1991) was used. Therefore, the annealing temperature was lowered by 1°C every cycle starting from 70°C down to 63°C followed by 35 cycles with 63°C annealing temperature. The initial denaturation of 94°C for 5 min was followed by cycles comprised of a denaturation of 94°C for 30 s, an annealing for 30 s and an elongation of 72°C for 1 min. A final elongation step at 72°C for 10 min was integrated before samples were stored at 4°C. Success of the PCR-reaction and length of the amplification product was controlled by applying horizontal gelelctrophoresis. To verify the correct amplification of a positive PCR-signal the resulting fragments were purified using the NucleoSpin® Extract II Kit (Macherey & Nagel, Düren, Deutschland) and sequenced with a capillary sequencer ABI 3730

(Applied Biosystems) following the chain termination method (Sanger et al., 1977).

FLUORESCENCE IN SITU HYBRIDIZATION (FISH) AND CONFOCAL LASER SCANNING MICROSCOPY (CLSM)

FISH was conducted on root samples of plants grown in the axenic system, initially inoculated with 4×10^6 CFU/ml of the respective bacteria. Since the plants were free of contamination, no species specific detection for L. monocytogenes or S. enterica was necessary and the application of bacteria-specific 16S-rRNA targeted EUB-338 probe mix (EUB-338 I Amann et al., 1990, EUB-338 II, and EUB-338 III Daims et al., 1999) was sufficient. FISH was conducted based on Manz et al. (1992) and Amann et al. (1992) with modifications. Hybridization was performed in a 2 ml tube as described by Grube et al. (2009). After dehydration in an ethanol-series of 50, 80, and 100% ethanol for 3 min each, 100 µl of hybridization buffer [360 µl of 5 M NaCl, 40 µl of 1 M Tris/HCl pH 8.0, 2 µl of 10% (m/v) SDS, 1.6 ml of deionized sterile water] as well as $10 \,\mu$ l of a $20 \,\text{ng/}\mu$ l probe solution was added to the fixed sample. The hybridization at 46°C for 2 h was followed by a stringent washing step for 15 min at 48°C in washing buffer [9 ml of 5 M NaCl, 1 ml of 1 M Tris/HCl pH 8.0, 50 µl of 10% (m/v) SDS, add 50 ml with sterile deionized water]. Afterwards, samples were placed on a microscope slide, embedded in Citifluor-A F1 (Citifluor Ltd., London, Großbritannien) and covered with a cover slid. CLSM analysis was performed using a LSM 510.meta (ZEISS, Oberkochen, Germany) equipped with a C-Apochromat® 63x/1.2 W Korr. objective. The "Zeiss LSM Image Browser version 4.2" software was used for image processing.

Table 1 | Results of the ineculation experiment in the avenic system

RESULTS

INOCULATION EXPERIMENTS IN THE AXENIC SYSTEM PCR and enrichment based detection of plant colonization

The detection of the inoculated bacteria was based on selective enrichment and specific PCR. In all samples qualified as "positive" the inoculated bacteria were detected with at least one of the applied methods. The results are summarized in **Table 1**.

In spinach and corn salad, *S. enterica* sv. Weltevreden was detected in all root samples and all samples of the root washing liquid. In spinach shoot and shoot washing liquid samples the bacteria also were found at initial inoculation doses as low as 4×10 CFU/ml. Nevertheless, in samples inoculated with 4×10 and 4×10^2 CFU/ml, *S. enterica* sv. Weltevreden was detected more often in shoot plant samples compared to washing liquid samples. In contrast, corn salad shoots and the according washing liquids were found to be positive for the bacteria at inoculation doses of 4×10^3 and 4×10^2 CFU/ml, respectively.

In spinach plants, both of the used *L. monocytogenes* strains were found in root and root washing liquid samples at all inoculation doses. In samples inoculated with *L. monocytogenes* sv. 4b the lowest inoculation dose which resulted in a contamination of spinach shoot but not the according washing liquid could be observed was 4×10^2 CFU/ml. Positive detection was possible in nearly all shoot and shoot washing liquid samples inoculated with higher bacterial doses. This was also found for *L. monocytogenes* EGD-E sv. 1/2a in samples inoculated with 4×10^2 CFU/ml or more. In corn salad plants inoculated with *L. monocytogenes* sv. 4b only few root and root washing liquid samples were positive at inoculation doses of less than 4×10^3 CFU/ml and only few shoots were colonized at inoculation doses below

		S .	enterica sv	. Weltevi	reden	L	monocyto	genes sv	/. 4b	L. mo	onocytogen	es EGD-E	sv. 1/2a
Plant	Inoculation (CFU/ml)	Root	Root washing liquid	Shoot	Shoot washing liquid	Root	Root washing liquid	Shoot	Shoot washing liquid	Root	Root washing liquid	Shoot	Shoot washing liquid
	control	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	4.00E+01	3	3	2	1	2	2	0	0	3	3	0	0
5	4.00E+02	3	3	3	1	3	3	2	0	3	3	2	3
	4.00E+03	3	3	3	3	3	3	2	3	3	3	2	1
	4.00E+04	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	2	3	3
	4.00E+05	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	2	3	3	3	3
	4.00E+06	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3
	control	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	4.00E+01	3	3	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0
	4.00E+02	3	3	0	1	0	0	0	0	2	2	0	0
	4.00E+03	3	3	3	3	2	3	1	1	2	1	1	0
	4.00E+04	3	3	2	2	2	3	0	1	3	2	1	1
	4.00E+05	3	3	3	3	3	3	0	0	3	3	0	0
	4.00E+06	3	3	2	3	3	3	2	2	3	3	2	1

Numbers and colors in the table indicate the numbers of positive detections of the bacterial strains of interest with at least one of the applied detection methods. For each dilution step three plants were analyzed. 4×10^6 CFU/ml. The same was true for corn salad inoculated with *L. monocytogenes* EGD-E sv. 1/2a, with the exception that root colonization took already place at an inoculation dose of 4×10^2 CFU/ml.

Combined FISH/CLSM analysis of inoculated roots

In order to localize the inoculated bacteria on the roots of spinach and corn salad and to identify preferential colonization sites, a combined FISH/CLSM analysis was conducted. *Salmonella enterica* sv. Weltevreden was found to colonize spinach roots preferentially in the root hair zone. It was detected both, on the surface of the root hairs (**Figure 1**) as well as in cell interspaces of the main root in this zone (**Figure 2**). On corn salad roots the bacteria were



FIGURE 1 | CLSM image of a spinach root hair. The plant seedling was inoculated for 1 h with *S. enterica* sv. Weltevreden at an inoculation density of 4×10^6 CFU/ml. The plant was harvested after 3 weeks of growth in an axenic system. Probe Cy3 marked EUB-338, I, II, III was applied during FISH procedure (red signal).

mainly detected on the surface of root tip cells (**Figure 3A**) and rarely in the root hair zone (data not shown). On the root tip even a colonization of the glycocalix was observed (**Figure 3B**). *Listeria monocytogenes* sv. 4b colonized spinach roots in the root hair zone in cell interspaces of the root (**Figure 4**). It was not detected on root hairs or on the root tips (data not shown). Corn salad plants were mainly colonized by *L. monocytogenes* sv. 4b shortly behind the root tip but were not detected at the root tip (**Figure 5**). They were also found in cell interspaces of older root parts, but only in rare cases and small numbers (**Figure 5**).

SPIKING EXPERIMENTS IN THE SOIL SYSTEM

The detection of *S. enterica* sv. Weltevreden was performed using *invA* gene specific PCR after enrichment in BPW, whereas colonization by the *L. monocytogenes* strains was analyzed using the *iap* gen targeted PCR as well as a selective enrichment. All obtained PCR-fragments were sequenced to avoid false positive results. In the samples qualified as "positive" at least one of the used methods of analysis was successful. The results are summarized in **Table 2**.

Colonization by S. enterica sv. Weltevreden

Spinach roots were colonized by *S. enterica* sv. Weltevreden at all investigated spiking densities independent from the organic fertilizer used. Shoot plant samples of spinach were exclusively tested "positive" when fertilized with spiked slurry even at the lowest spiking density of 4×10^5 CFU/ml. In contrast, in shoot washing liquid samples the bacteria were only detected at high spiking doses of at least 4×10^7 CFU/ml, independent of the organic fertilizer used.

Corn salad roots were found to be colonized by the tested bacteria in samples of all spiking doses. More frequent positive detection events were observed in root washing liquid samples compared to the root samples. *Salmonella enterica* sv. Weltevreden was detected in three shoot samples fertilized with spiked slurry at spiking densities of 4×10^6 and 4×10^7 CFU/ml



FIGURE 2 | CLSM images of a spinach root. The plant seedling was inoculated for 1 h with S. enterica sv. Weltevreden at an inoculation density of 4×10^6 CFU/ml. The plant was harvested after 3 weeks of

growth in an axenic system. Probe Cy3 marked 338, I, II, III was applied during FISH procedure (red signal). (B) is an enlarged capture of the area marked in (A).



FIGURE 3 | CLSM images of corn salad root tips. The plant seedlings were inoculated for 1 h with *S. enterica* sv. Weltevreden at an inoculation density of 4×10^6 CFU/ml. The plants were harvested after 3 weeks of growth in an

axenic system. Probe Cy3 marked EUB-338, I, II, III was applied during FISH procedures (red signal). The images show (**A**) surface colonization and (**B**) glycocalix colonization of the root tips.



FIGURE 4 | CLSM image of a spinach root. The plant seedling was inoculated for 1 h with *L. monocytogenes* sv. 4b at an inoculation density of 4×10^6 CFU/ml. The plant was harvested after 3 weeks of growth in an axenic system. Probe Cy3 marked EUB-338, I, II, III was applied during FISH procedure (red signal).

whereas only one washing liquid sample at a spiking density of 4×10^7 CFU/ml was found to be positive. Corn salad shoots of plants fertilized with spiked manure were exclusively colonized by the bacteria of interest at the highest spiking dose of 4×10^8 CFU/ml. Washing liquid samples also here were more often tested positive compared to plant samples.

Colonization by the L. monocytogenes serovariations

No bacterial colonization was found in plants when *L. monocy-togens* sv. 4b spiked slurry was used and for corn salad amended with *L. monocytogenes* EGD-E sv. 1/2a spiked organic fertilizer. In spinach samples, fertilized with *L. monocytogenes* sv. 4b spiked manure, the bacteria of interest were only detected in root and root washing samples of the two highest spiking doses. For corn

salad fertilized with spiked manure, only few samples independent of the spiking doses were tested positive. In this treatment even a contamination of a control plant was observed, which might be due to the fact that a contamination of soil or manure with *L. monocytogenes* cannot be excluded as those bacteria are very commonly found in this environments. Spinach fertilized with *L. monocytogenes* EGD-E sv. 1/2a spiked organic fertilizer was also only very rarely colonized.

DISCUSSION

The experiments presented in this study were conducted to identify the minimal infection doses of S. enterica sv. Weltevreden, L. monocytogenes sv. 4b, and L. monocytogenes EGD-E sv. 1/2 a needed for colonization of spinach or corn salad plants at axenic or at soil conditions. In order to achieve the highest sensitivity for the detection of a pathogen contamination, an enrichment step was used before DNA extraction and PCR analysis were performed. However, due to this enrichment step no complete quantitative analysis of the contamination was possible. In a similar experimental approach Arthurson et al. (2011) stated that the detection limit for S. enterica sv. Weltevreden is approximately 10⁴ CFU/g soil or plant material when quantitative PCR is applied. The same detection limit was reached for L. monocytogenes by Chen et al. (2011) when using direct PCR detection with different food matrices. In contrast, the authors were able to lower the detection limit down to 3 CFU/ml by introducing an enrichment step of 48 h in BLEB. Danyluk and Schaffner (2011) stated that on spinach plants E. coli O157:H7 cell numbers of 10⁻¹ CFU/g on 0.1% of the plants at the time point of harvest are enough to possibly cause an outbreak. This assumption was made using a model, based on data, which revealed a strong growth of contaminant bacteria on harvested plant material if no cooling was applied (Abdul-Raouf et al., 1993; Chang and Fang, 2007; Lee and Baek, 2008). This demonstrated the need of a method with an extremely low detection limit, when analyzing human pathogenic bacteria on plants.



In addition to the highly sensitive detection, we also intended to localize the inoculated or spiked pathogens using fluorescence labeling of the bacteria by FISH and CLSM-analysis. Earlier studies have already shown that S. enterica can form biofilms on leaf surfaces (Kroupitski et al., 2009b) and even colonize the leaf interior via open stomata (Kroupitski et al., 2009a), which supports our findings in the axenic inoculation experiments. Especially in spinach, S. enterica sv. Wletevreden and L. monocytogenes sv. 4b were often detected in shoot samples, but could not be washed off. Although, it was not possible with FISH/CLSM combined analyses of plant shoot material to clearly identify bacterial cells (data not shown) due to the strong auto-fluorescent properties of the plant material (Amann et al., 1990; Cheng et al., 2001; Ongeng et al., 2013), a strong colonization of spinach shoots could be demonstrated with the PCR-technique. In contrast, in all our experiments using corn salad or L. monocytogenes EGD-E sv. 1/2a as inoculant, the bacteria were detected more often in washing liquid samples compared to the plant samples. In those cases it was even possible to remove the bacteria completely by the simple washing step. FISH/CLSM combined analysis of the root samples from the axenic system nevertheless revealed

differential colonization sites depending on bacterial species as well as on plant species used for inoculation. Although no endophytic colonization which was observed for *S. enterica* and *E. coli* by Jablasone et al. (2005) was detected, the presence of the bacteria in cell interspaces of the root surface show a quite strong and persistent colonization of the plant roots.

The species or serovar of human pathogenic bacteria used for inoculation or spiking has a major influence on the extend of plant colonization. *Salmonella enterica* sv. Weltevreden was able to colonize the plants more efficiently and at lower initial inoculation or spiking dose compared to both serovariations of *Listeria monocytogenes*. This may be due to the fact that the strain used in this study was originally isolated from an outbreak traced back to the consumption of alfalfa sprouts (Emberland et al., 2007) and therefore was well adapted to colonize plants, in contrast to *L. monocytogenes* sv. 1/2a EGD-E which was isolated from rabbits (Murray et al., 1926) and *L. monocytogenes* sv. 4b isolated from a listeriosis patient (according to the Special *Listeria* Culture Collection, SLCC). Furthermore, it is known that *S. enterica* can be transferred to plants via contaminated organic fertilizer and soil (Klerks et al., 2007; Arthurson et al., 2011; Barak et al., 2011).

Table 2	Results of th	o enikina o	vnorimonte i	n the soil s	etom
Idule 2	nesults of th	ie spikilig e	spennents i	ii uie soli sy	stem.

			S .	enterica sv	. Weltev	reden	L.	monocyte	ogenes s	v. 4b	L. m	onocytoge	nes EGD	-E sv. 1/2a
Plant	Fertilizer	Spiking density (CFU/ml)	Root	Root washing liquid	Shoot	Shoot washing liquid	Root	Root washing liquid	Shoot	Shoot washing liquid	Root	Root washing liquid	Shoot	Shoot washing liquid
		control	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	>	4.0E+05	4	4	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Slurry	4.0E+06	5	5	2	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0
_	S	4.0E+07	5	5	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1
Spinach		4.0E+08	5	3	2	1	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	1
Spi		control	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	e	4.0E+05	2	4	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0
	Manure	4.0E+06	5	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Σ	4.0E+07	5	5	0	1	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
		4.0E+08	5	5	0	2	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0
		control	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	>	4.0E+05	1	4	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Slurry	4.0E+06	2	4	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
ad	0)	4.0E+07	3	4	2	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Corn salad		4.0E+08	5	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Cor		control	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0
	are	4.0E+05	0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Manure	4.0E+06	1	5	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0
	2	4.0E+07	4	5	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
		4.0E+08	4	5	1	3	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0

Numbers and colors indicate the number of positive detection events. For each dilution step five plants were analyzed.

In studies proving an endophytic colonization potential of S. enterica, L. monocytogenes was, in contrast, only detected on the plant surface (Jablasone et al., 2005; Kutter et al., 2006). Although being able to survive in soil (Botzler et al., 1974; Gorski et al., 2011) or manure amended soil (Jiang et al., 2004), L. monocytogenes was found to be inhibited by resident soil microbiota which can lead to a reduction of the cell numbers (McLaughlin et al., 2011). All this support our findings, that L. monocytogenes was only in few cases able to colonize plants in the soil system whereas colonization of plants grown in the axenic system was observed at even very low inoculation doses. Although differences in colonization success and interaction of some Salmonella spp. strains with lettuce cultivars have already been identified (Franz et al., 2007; Klerks et al., 2007), more research on the mechanisms of plant contamination by human pathogenic bacteria, including a higher number of bacterial strains is needed to clearly identify the reasons for the observed differences in the colonization success.

Furthermore, the plant species plays a crucial role in the colonization success by human pathogenic bacteria. *Salmonella enterica* and both *L. monocytogenes* serovariations were detected more frequently and at lower initial inoculation dose in spinach samples grown in the axenic system compared to corn salad plants. The same was true for the spiking experiments with *S. enterica*. Literature supports those findings. Yadav et al. (2005) for example showed that bacterial colonization of leaf surfaces strongly depends on the properties of those leaves, like water and phosphorus content or leafs and mesophyll thickness. Zhang et al. (2010) detected significantly different bacterial communities on leafs of different vegetable plant species. Even a plant cultivar based effect on the colonization of lettuce by *S. enterica* was proven by Klerks et al. (2007).

The type of organic fertilizer used also influences the colonization of the plants by the human pathogenic bacteria used. *Salmonella enterica* was detected more often and at lower spiking doses if the plants were grown in slurry amended soil. The reduction or removal of the plant contamination with simple washing of the vegetables was also less successful in those samples. Hutchison et al. (2004) found a direct influence of humidity and severity of pathogen contamination in a large sampling campaign of organic fertilizers. The higher humidity of the slurry compared to manure might therefore enhance survival of the pathogenic bacteria first in the organic fertilizer and later in soil. This is supported by findings of Semenov et al. (2009) showing that *S. enterica* as well as *E. coli* display an enhanced survival rate in slurry amended soil compared to manure amended soil due to the higher content of dissolved organic nitrogen and carbon in the slurry.

CONCLUSIONS

De Roever (1998) formulated research needs to improve safety of fresh produce for the consumer. One of the key issues, which were also addressed in our study, is to improve farming practice in order to decrease the potential for produce contamination. We were able to show that this potential is strongly depending on the plant species under consideration. Therefore, "high risk plants," in our case spinach, need to be treated with more care during production, harvest and processing. Furthermore, the type of organic fertilizer used also influences the colonization success. In order to minimize the risk of transfer of human pathogenic bacteria to produce, manure instead of slurry should preferably be used. Fermentation or composting increased the safety of the fertilizer by minimizing the number of pathogenic bacteria present (Vinnerås, 2007; Abdel-Mohsein et al., 2010). Plant roots were usually colonized more frequently compared to shoots. Therefore, co-harvesting of roots should be avoided as much as possible. Although the pathogenic bacteria were shown to colonize the plant surface, the possibility of an endophytic colonization, especially for S. enterica sv. Weltevreden cannot be excluded. We demonstrated that washing was suitable to reduce or even remove the bacterial contamination in most cases. Since the bacteria were frequently detectable in the washing liquid, it should not be reused. Washing of vegetable plants is therefore useful but should be performed under flowing water. By this simple means, the risk of contamination of produce with human pathogenic bacteria can already be reduced on farming level, which increases safety for the final consumer.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This study was financed by the EU project PATHORGANIC (Risks and Recommendations Regarding Human Pathogens in Organic Vegetable Production Chains) in the frame of CORE Organic (Core Organic 2006-1888, project number 07OE002).

REFERENCES

- Abdel-Mohsein, H., Yamamoto, N., Otawa, K., Tada, C., and Nakai, Y. (2010). Isolation of bacteriocin-like substances producing bacteria from finished cattle-manure compost and activity evaluation against some food-borne pathogenic and spoilage bacteria. J. Gen. Appl. Microbiol. 56, 151–161. doi: 10.2323/jgam.56.151
- Abdul-Raouf, U. M., Beuchat, L. R., and Ammar, M. S. (1993). Survival and growth of *Escherichia coli* O157: H7 on salad vegetables. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 59, 1999–2003.
- Amann, R. I., Krumholz, L., and Stahl, D. A. (1990). Fluorescent-oligonucleotide probing of whole cells for determinative, phylogenetic, and environmental studies in microbiology. *J. Bacteriol.* 172, 762–770.
- Amann, R. I., Zarda, B., Stahl, D. A., and Schleifer, K. H. (1992). Identification of individual prokaryotic cells by using enzyme-labeled, rRNA-targeted oligonucleotide probes. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 58, 3007–3011.
- Arthurson, V., Sessitsch, A., and Jäderlund, L. (2011). Persistence and spread of Salmonella enterica serovar Weltevreden in soil and on spinach plants. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.* 314, 67–74. doi: 10.1111/j.1574-6968.2010. 02140.x
- Barak, J. D., Kramer, L. C., and Hao, L. (2011). Colonization of tomato plants by Salmonella enterica is cultivar dependent, and type 1 trichomes are preferred colonization sites. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 77, 498–504. doi: 10.1128/AEM.01661-10

- Berger, C. N., Sodha, S. V., Shaw, R. K., Griffin, P. M., Pink, D., Hand, P., et al. (2010). Fresh fruit and vegetables as vehicles for the transmission of human pathogens. *Environ. Microbiol.* 12, 2385–2397. doi: 10.1111/j.1462-2920.2010.02297.x
- Blanck, H. M., Gillespie, C., Kimmons, J. E., Seymour, J. D., and Serdula, M. K. (2008). Trends in fruit and vegetable consumption among U.S. men and women, 1994-2005. *Prev. Chronic Dis.* 5, 1–9. Available online at: http://www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2008/apr/07_0049.htm
- Botzler, R., Cowan, A., and Wetzler, T. (1974). Survival of *Listeria monocytogenes* in soil and water. *J. Wildlife* 10, 204–212. doi: 10.7589/0090-3558-10.3.204
- Brandl, M. T. (2006). Fitness of human enteric pathogens on plants and implications for food safety. Annu. Rev. Phytopathol. 44, 367–392. doi: 10.1146/annurev.phyto.44.070505.143359
- Bubert, A., Köhler, S., and Goebel, W. (1992). The homologous and heterologous regions within the iap gene allow genus- and species-specific identification of *Listeria* spp. by polymerase chain reaction. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 58, 2625–2632.
- Center of Disease Control and Prevention. (2010). Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report Surveillance For Foodborne Disease Outbreaks—United States, 2007. Atlanta, GA.
- Center of Disease Control and Prevention. (2011). Multistate Outbreak of Listeriosis Associated with Jensen Farms Cantaloupe—United States, 2011. Atlanta, GA.
- Chang, J.-M., and Fang, T. J. (2007). Survival of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 and Salmonella enterica serovars Typhimurium in iceberg lettuce and the antimicrobial effect of rice vinegar against *E. coli* O157:H7. *Food Microbiol.* 24, 745–751. doi: 10.1016/j.fm.2007.03.005
- Chen, Y., Kumar, N., and Siddique, N. (2011). Development and evaluation of a real-time polymerase chain reaction assay targeting iap for the detection of *Listeria monocytogenes* in select food matrices. *Foodborne Pathog. Dis.* 8, 1063–1069. doi: 10.1089/fpd.2010.0820
- Chen, Z., and Jiang, X. (2014). Microbiological safety of chicken litter or chicken litter-based organic fertilizers: a review. *Agriculture* 4, 1–29. doi: 10.3390/agriculture4010001
- Cheng, P., Lin, B., Kao, F., Gu, M., Xu, M., Gan, X., et al. (2001). Multi-photon fluorescence microscopy-the response of plant cells to high intensity illumination. *Micron* 32, 661–669. doi: 10.1016/S0968-4328(00)00068-8
- Daims, H., Brühl, A., Amann, R., Schleifer, K. H., and Wagner, M. (1999). The domain-specific probe EUB338 is insufficient for the detection of all Bacteria: development and evaluation of a more comprehensive probe set. *Syst. Appl. Microbiol.* 22, 434–444. doi: 10.1016/S0723-2020(99)80053-8
- Danyluk, M. D., and Schaffner, D. W. (2011). Quantitative assessment of the microbial risk of leafy greens from farm to consumption: preliminary framework, data, and risk estimates. J. Food Protect. 74, 700–708. doi: 10.4315/0362-028X.JFP-10-373
- De Roever, C. (1998). Microbiological safety evaluations and recommendations on fresh produce. *Food Control* 9, 321–347. doi: 10.1016/S0956-7135(98)00022-X
- Don, R. H., Cox, P. T., Wainwright, B. J., Baker, K., and Mattick, J. S. (1991). Touchdown PCR to circumvent spurious priming during gene amplification. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 19, 4008. doi: 10.1093/nar/19.14.4008
- Emberland, K., Ethelberg, S., Kuusi, M., Vold, L., Jensvoll, L., Lindstedt, B., et al. (2007). Outbreak of salmonella weltevreden infections in Norway, Denmark and Finland associated with alfalfa sprouts, July-October 2007. *Euro Surveill.* 12, 1–4. Available online at: http://www.eurosurveillance.org/ViewArticle.aspx? ArticleId=3321
- Farber, J., and Peterkin, P. (1991). Listeria monocytogenes, a food-borne pathogen. Microbiol. Rev. 55, 476–511.
- Fliss, I., Emond, E., Simard, R. E., and Pandian, S. (1991). A rapid and efficient method of lysis of *Listeria* and other gram-positive bacteria using mutanolysin. *Biotechniques* 11, 453, 456–457.
- Franz, E., Visser, A. A., Van Diepeningen, A. D., Klerks, M. M., Termorshuizen, A. J., and Van Bruggen, A. H. C. (2007). Quantification of contamination of lettuce by GFP-expressing *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 and Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium. *Food Microbiol.* 24, 106–112. doi: 10.1016/j.fm.2006.03.002
- Gorski, L., Duhé, J. M., and Flaherty, D. (2011). The Sigma B operon is a determinant of fitness for a *Listeria monocytogenes* serotype 4b strain in soil. *Foodborne Pathog. Dis.* 8, 699–704. doi: 10.1089/fpd.2010.0752
- Grube, M., Cardinale, M., De Castro, J. V., Müller, H., and Berg, G. (2009). Speciesspecific structural and functional diversity of bacterial communities in lichen symbioses. *ISME J.* 3, 1105–1115. doi: 10.1038/ismej.2009.63

- Handeland, K., Refsum, T., Johansen, B. S., Holstad, G., Knutsen, G., Solberg, I., et al. (2002). Prevalence of salmonella typhimurium infection in Norwegian hedgehog populations associated with two human disease outbreaks. *Epidemiol. Infect.* 128, 523–527. doi: 10.1017/S09502688 02007021
- Hanning, I. B., Nutt, J. D., and Ricke, S. C. (2009). Salmonellosis outbreaks in the United States due to fresh produce: sources and potential intervention measures. *Foodborne Pathog. Dis.* 6, 635–648. doi: 10.1089/fpd.2008.0232
- Heaton, J. C., and Jones, K. (2008). Microbial contamination of fruit and vegetables and the behaviour of enteropathogens in the phyllosphere: a review. J. Appl. Microbiol. 104, 613–626. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2672.2007.03587.x
- Hellström, S., Kiviniemi, K., Autio, T., and Korkeala, H. (2008). *Listeria monocytogenes* is common in wild birds in Helsinki region and genotypes are frequently similar with those found along the food chain. *J. Appl. Microbiol.* 104, 883–888. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2672.2007.03604.x
- Hutchison, M., Walters, L., Avery, S., Munro, F., and Moore, A. (2005). Analyses of livestock production, waste storage, and pathogen levels and prevalences in farm manures. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 71, 1231–1236. doi: 10.1128/AEM.71. 3.1231
- Hutchison, M., Walters, L., Avery, S., Synge, B., and Moore, A. (2004). Levels of zoonotic agents in British livestock manures. *Lett. Appl. Microbiol.* 39, 207–214. doi: 10.1111/j.1472-765X.2004.01564.x
- Jablasone, J., Warriner, K., and Griffiths, M. (2005). Interactions of Escherichia coli O157:H7, Salmonella typhimurium and Listeria monocytogenes plants cultivated in a gnotobiotic system. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 99, 7–18. doi: 10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2004.06.011
- Jiang, X., Islam, M., Morgan, J., and Doyle, M. P. (2004). Fate of *Listeria monocy-togenes* in bovine manure-amended soil. *J. Food Prot.* 67, 1676–1681. Available online at: http://www.ingentaconnect.com/content/iafp/jfp/2004/00000067/00000008/art00018?token=005012ec145a666f3a7b6c2a40636f316b41523e6b25 49264f65263a3d4f58762f46a3d1aca5225f
- Klerks, M. M., Franz, E., Van Gent-Pelzer, M., Zijlstra, C., and Van Bruggen, A. H. C. (2007). Differential interaction of Salmonella enterica serovars with lettuce cultivars and plant-microbe factors influencing the colonization efficiency. *ISME J.* 1, 620–631. doi: 10.1038/ismej.2007.82
- Kroupitski, Y., Golberg, D., Belausov, E., Pinto, R., Swartzberg, D., Granot, D., et al. (2009a). Internalization of Salmonella enterica in leaves is induced by light and involves chemotaxis and penetration through open stomata. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 75, 6076–6086. doi: 10.1128/AEM.01084-09
- Kroupitski, Y., Pinto, R., Brandl, M. T., Belausov, E., and Sela, S. (2009b). Interactions of Salmonella enterica with lettuce leaves. J. Appl. Microbiol. 106, 1876–1885. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2672.2009.04152.x
- Krtinić, G., Đurić, P., and Ilić, S. (2010). Salmonellae in food stuffs of plant origin and their implications on human health. *Eur. J. Clin. Microbiol. Infect. Dis.* 29, 1321–1325. doi: 10.1007/s10096-010-1001-4
- Kutter, S., Hartmann, A., and Schmid, M. (2006). Colonization of barley (Hordeum vulgare) with Salmonella enterica and *Listeria* spp. *FEMS Microbiol. Ecol.* 56, 262–271. doi: 10.1111/j.1574-6941.2005.00053.x
- Lee, S.-Y., and Baek, S.-Y. (2008). Effect of chemical sanitizer combined with modified atmosphere packaging on inhibiting *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in commercial spinach. *Food Microbiol.* 25, 582–587. doi: 10.1016/j.fm.2008. 02.003
- Lettini, A. A., Barco, L., Mancin, M., Ramon, E., Longo, A., Pozza, M. C. D., et al. (2012). A pilot study for identification of Salmonella in food processing plants by real-time PCR screening. *Food Anal. Methods* 5, 988–994. doi: 10.1007/ s12161-011-9352-8
- Makino, S., Kobori, H., Asakura, H., Watarai, M., Shirahata, T., Ikeda, T., et al. (2000). Detection and characterization of Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* from seagulls. *Epidemiol. Infect.* 125, 55–61. doi: 10.1017/S0950268899004100
- Manz, W., Amann, R., Ludwig, W., Wagner, M., and Schleifer, K. H. (1992). Phylogenetic oligodeoxynucleotide probes for the major subclasses of proteobacteria: problems and solutions. *Syst. Appl. Microbiol.* 15, 593–600. doi: 10.1016/S0723-2020(11)80121-9
- McLaughlin, H. P., Casey, P. G., Cotter, J., Gahan, C. G. M., and Hill, C. (2011). Factors affecting survival of *Listeria monocytogenes* and *Listeria* innocua in soil samples. *Arch. Microbiol.* 193, 775–785. doi: 10.1007/s00203-011-0716-7
- McLauchlin, J. (1996). The relationship between Listeria and listeriosis. Food Control 7, 187–193. doi: 10.1016/S0956-7135(96)00038-2

- Millan, J., Aduriz, G., Moreno, B., Juste, R. A., and Barral, M. (2004). Salmonella isolates from wild birds and mammals in the Basque Country (Spain). *Rev. Sci. Tech.* 23, 905–911. Available online at: http://web.oie.int/boutique/index.php? page=ficprod&id_prec=90&id_produit=415&lang=en&fichrech=1
- Murray, E. G. D., Webb, R. A., and Swann, M. B. R. (1926). A disease of Rabbits characterised by a large mononuclear Leucocytosis, caused by a hitherto undescribed bacillus Bacterium monocytogenes. J. Pathol. Bacteriol. 29, 407–439. doi: 10.1002/path.1700290409
- O'Connor, L., O'Leary, M., Leonard, N., Godinho, M., O'Reilly, C., Coffey, L., et al. (2010). The characterization of *Listeria* spp. isolated from food products and the food-processing environment. *Lett. Appl. Microbiol.* 51, 490–498. doi: 10.1111/j.1472-765X.2010.02928.x
- Ongeng, D., Geeraerd, A. H., Springael, D., Ryckeboer, J., Muyanja, C., and Mauriello, G. (2013). Fate of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 and Salmonella enterica in the manure-amended soil-plant ecosystem of fresh vegetable crops: a review. *Crit. Rev. Microbiol.* 7828, 1–22. doi: 10.3109/1040841X.2013. 829415
- Palmgren, H., Sellin, M., Bergström, S., and Olsen, B. (1997). Enteropathogenic bacteria in migrating birds arriving in Sweden. Scand. J. Infect. Dis. 29, 565–568. doi: 10.3109/00365549709035895
- Rahn, K., De Grandis, S., Clarke, R. C., McEwen, S., Galán, J. E., Ginocchio, C., et al. (1992). Amplification of an invA gene sequence of Salmonella typhimurium by polymerase chain reaction as a specific method of detection of Salmonella. *Mol. Cell. Probes* 6, 271–279. doi: 10.1016/0890-8508(92)90002-F
- Renter, D. G., Gnad, D. P., Sargeant, J. M., and Hygnstrom, S. E. (2006). Prevalence and serovars of Salmonella in the feces of free-ranging white-tailed deer (Odocoileus virginianus) in Nebraska. J. Wildlife Dis. 42, 699–703. doi: 10.7589/0090-3558-42.3.699
- Roller, C., Wagner, M., Amann, R., and Ludwig, W. (1994). In situ probing of Gram-positive bacteria with high DNA G + C content using 23s rRNA- targeted oligonucleotides. Microbiology 140, 2849–2858. doi: 10.1099/00221287-140-10-2849
- Rothballer, M., Schmid, M., and Hartmann, A. (2003). *In situ* localization and PGPR-effect of Azospirillum brasilense strains colonizing roots of different wheat varieties. *Symbiosis* 34, 261–279. Available online at: http://www.bashanfoundation.org/hartmann/hartmannwheatvarieties.pdf
- Sánchez, S., Martínez, R., García, A., Vidal, D., Blanco, J., Blanco, M., et al. (2010). Detection and characterisation of O157:H7 and non-O157 Shiga toxinproducing *Escherichia coli* in wild boars. *Vet. Microbiol.* 143, 420–423. doi: 10.1016/j.vetmic.2009.11.016
- Sanger, F., Nicklen, S., and Coulson, A. R. (1977). DNA sequencing with chainterminating inhibitors. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 74, 5463–5467. doi: 10.1073/pnas.74.12.5463
- Semenov, A. V., Van Overbeek, L., and Van Bruggen, A. H. C. (2009). Percolation and survival of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 and Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium in soil amended with contaminated dairy manure or slurry. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 75, 3206–3215. doi: 10.1128/AEM.01 791-08
- Sinde, E., and Carballo, J. (2000). Attachment of Salmonella spp. and Listeria monocytogenes to stainless steel, rubber and polytetrafluorethylene: the influence of free energy and the effect of commercial sanitizers. *Food Microbiol.* 17, 439–447. doi: 10.1006/fmic.2000.0339
- Sivapalasingam, S., Friedman, C. R., Cohen, L., and Tauxe, R. V. (2004). Fresh produce: a growing cause of outbreaks of foodborne illness in the United States, 1973 through 1997. J. Food Prot. 67, 2342–2353. Available online at: http://www.ingentaconnect.com/content/iafp/jfp/2004/00000067/ 00000010/art00041?token=00491780a164ad57b76504c486646255049446c7b31 6359386a332b25757d5c4f6d4e227a
- United States Department of Agriculture. (2011). USDA and HHS Announce New Dietary Guidelines To Help Americans Make Healthier Food Choices And Confront Obesity Epidemic. Washington, DC: USDA Office of Communications and HHS Press Office.
- US Food and Drug Administration. (2003). Quantitative Assessment Of Relative Risk To Public Health From Foodborne Listeria Monocytogenes Among Selected Categories Of Ready-To-Eat Foods. Silver Spring, MD: FDA/Center for Food Safety and Applied Nutrition.
- Vieira-Pinto, M., Morais, L., Caleja, C., Themudo, P., Torres, C., Igrejas, G., et al. (2011). Salmonella sp. in game (Sus scrofa and Oryctolagus cuniculus). *Foodborne Pathog. Dis.* 8, 739–740. doi: 10.1089/fpd.2010.0742

- Vinnerås, B. (2007). Comparison of composting, storage and urea treatment for sanitising of faecal matter and manure. *Bioresour. Technol.* 98, 3317–3321. doi: 10.1016/j.biortech.2006.07.011
- Wacheck, S., Fredriksson-Ahomaa, M., König, M., Stolle, A., and Stephan, R. (2010). Wild boars as an important reservoir for foodborne pathogens. *Foodborne Pathog. Dis.* 7, 307–312. doi: 10.1089/fpd. 2009.0367
- Wachtel, M. R., Whitehand, L. C., and Mandrell, R. E. (2002). Association of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 with preharvest leaf lettuce upon exposure to contaminated irrigation water. *J. Food Prot.* 65, 18–25. Available online at: http://www.ingentaconnect.com/content/iafp/jfp/2002/00000065/00000001/art 00003?token=00511fc040e62c577176fec405847447b496e2f2a31346f386b35663 633757e6f4f2858592f3f3b57
- World Health Organization. (2003). Fruit and Vegetable Promotion. Geneva: World Health Organization.
- Yadav, R. K. P., Karamanoli, K., and Vokou, D. (2005). Bacterial colonization of the phyllosphere of mediterranean perennial species as influenced by leaf structural and chemical features. *Microb. Ecol.* 50, 185–196. doi: 10.1007/s00248-004-0171-y
- Zhang, B., Bai, Z., Hoefel, D., Wang, X., Zhang, L., and Li, Z. (2010). "Microbial diversity within the phyllosphere of different vegetable species," in *Current*

Research, Technology and Education Topics in Applied Microbiology and Microbial Biotechnology, ed A. Mendez-Vilas (Badajoz: Formatex Research Center), 1067–1077.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 29 January 2014; paper pending published: 24 March 2014; accepted: 10 April 2014; published online: 05 May 2014.

Citation: Hofmann A, Fischer D, Hartmann A and Schmid M (2014) Colonization of plants by human pathogenic bacteria in the course of organic vegetable production. Front. Microbiol. 5:191. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2014.00191

This article was submitted to Plant-Microbe Interaction, a section of the journal Frontiers in Microbiology.

Copyright © 2014 Hofmann, Fischer, Hartmann and Schmid. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

ADVANTAGES OF PUBLISHING IN FRONTIERS



FAST PUBLICATION Average 90 days from submission to publication



COLLABORATIVE PEER-REVIEW

Designed to be rigorous – yet also collaborative, fair and constructive



RESEARCH NETWORK Our network increases readership for your article



OPEN ACCESS

Articles are free to read, for greatest visibility



TRANSPARENT

Editors and reviewers acknowledged by name on published articles



GLOBAL SPREAD Six million monthly page views worldwide



COPYRIGHT TO AUTHORS

No limit to article distribution and re-use



IMPACT METRICS Advanced metrics track your article's impact



SUPPORT By our Swiss-based editorial team



EPFL Innovation Park \cdot Building I \cdot 1015 Lausanne \cdot Switzerland T +41 21 510 17 00 \cdot info@frontiersin.org \cdot frontiersin.org